

Volume 7 · Issue 6 · November 2021 e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal



Copyright © 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj



The European Research Journal

Aim and Scope

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) is an international, independent, double-blind peer reviewed, Open Access and online publishing journal, which aims to publish papers on all the related areas of basic and clinical medicine.

Editorial Board of the European Research Journal complies with the criteria of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

The journal publishes a variety of manuscripts including original research, case reports, invited review articles, technical reports, how-to-do it, interesting images and letters to the editor. The European Research Journal has signed the declaration of the Budapest Open Access Initiative. All articles are detected for similarity or plagiarism. Publication language is English. The journal does not charge any article submission or processing charges.

EuRJ recommends that all of our authors obtain their own ORCID identifier which will be included on their article.

The journal is published bimonthly (January, March, May, July, September, and November).

Abstracting and Indexing

The journal is abstracted and indexed with the following: ULAKBIM TR Index (ULAKBİM TR DİZİN), NLM Catalog (NLM ID: 101685727), Google Scholar (h-index: 6), Index Copernicus (ICV 2019: 100), EMBASE, ProQuest Central, ROAD, SciLit, MIAR (ICDS 2021: 3.8), J-Gate, SHERPA/RoMEO, BASE, EZB, CrossRef, JournalTOCs, WorldCat, TURK MEDLINE, Turkish Citation Index, EuroPub, OpenAIRE, ResearhGate, SOBIAD, Publons, (Clarivate Web of Science).



Publisher

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) The Association of Health Research & Strategy Kırcaali Mah. Fevziçakmak Cd. Göktaş İş Mrk. Kat:3 No:62/12 Osmangazi/BURSA-TURKEY www.dergipark.org.tr/eurj/



e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal, hosted by Turkish JournalPark ACADEMIC, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



EDITORIAL BOARD

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Senol YAVUZ, MD,

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

MANAGING EDITOR

Nizameddin KOCA, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

FOUNDING EDITOR

Rustem ASKIN, MD,

Professor of Psychiatry Head of the Association of Health Research & Strategy, Bursa, Turkey

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT

Ugur BOLUKBAS

EDITORS

Davut AKDUMAN, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Keçiören Training & Research Hospital Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Ankara, Turkey

Mehmet HAKSEVER, MD,

Associate Professor, Medical Park Bursa Hospital Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bursa, Turkey

Omer SENORMANCI, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey

Rahmi DUMAN, MD,

Associate Professor, Ankara LIV Hospital, Department of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Turkey

Ali ASAN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Disease, Bursa, Turkey

Meliha KASAPOGLU AKSOY, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

Sinem KIYICI, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Soner CANDER, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University Medical School, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Metin GUCLU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Cuma Bulent GUL, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Nephrology Bursa, Turkey

Sedat ONER, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology Bursa, Turkey

Burcu METIN OKMEN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

Arda ISIK, MD

Associate Professor, Binali Yildirim University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Erzincan, Turkey

Emin USTUNYURT, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gynecology & Obstetrics, Bursa, Turkey

Mehtap BULUT, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

Mete KAYA, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

Melih CEKINMEZ, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, Bursa, Turkey

Serhat YALCINKAYA, MD

Associate Professor, Kutahya University of Health Sciences, Department of Thoracic Surgery Kutahya, Turkey

Korgun OKMEN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology & Reanimation, Bursa, Turkey

Derya KARASU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology & Reanimation, Bursa, Turkey

Hasan ARI, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey

Kadir Kaan OZSIN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey Nurullah DOGAN, MD,

> Associate Professor, Doruk Medical Center, Department of Radiology, Bursa, Turkey

Alper KARAKUS, MD

Consultant Cardiolog, Besni State Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Adiyaman, Turkey

Gokhan OCAKOGLU, PhD,

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Bursa, Turkey

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Ahmet KIZILAY, MD

Professor, Inönü University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Malatya, Turkey

Alparslan ERSOY, MD

Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine Department of Nephrology & Transplantation Bursa, Turkey

Aron Frederik POPOV, MD

Professor, University of Frankfurt, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Frankfurt, Germany

Cristina FLORESCU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Craiova, Department of Medicine & Pharmacy, Romania

Elif EKINCI,, MD

MBBS, FRACP, PhD University of Melbourne Department of Medicine, Melbourne, Australia

Erdem CUBUKCU, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

Essam M MAHFOUZ, MD

Professor, University of Mansoura School of Medicine Department of Cardiology, Mansoura, Egypt

Francesco CARELLI, MD

Professor, University of Milan School of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Milan, Italy

Gary TSE, MD, PhD

Assistant Professor, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, Hong Kong, China

Ibrahim TAYMUR, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey Kendra J. GRUBB, MD, MHA, FACC

> Assistant Professor, Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Atlanta, GA, USA

Koray AYAR, MD

Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Bursa, Turkey

Muhammet GUZELSOY, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Urology Bursa, Turkey

Muzaffer DEMIR, MD

Professor, Trakya University School of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Edirne, Turkey

Nader D NADER, MD

Professor, University of Buffalo School of Medicine Department of Anesthesiology, NY, USA

Omer Fatih OLMEZ, MD

Professor, Medipol University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey

Ozen OZ GUL, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey Ozkan KANAT, MD, Professor, Acibadem University Hospital Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

Sait Ait BENALI, MD

Professor, Cadi Ayyad University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Marrakech, Morocco

Sedat ALTIN, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Yedikule Training & Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Istanbul, Turkey

Semih HALEZEROGLU, MD, FETCS

Professor, Acibadem University School of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Veysel TAHAN, MD, FACP, FACG, FESBGH

Assistant Professor, University of Missouri, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Columbia, Missouri, USA

Yenal DUNDAR, MD

University of Liverpool School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Liverpool, UK

Table of Contents

Original Articles

The infection rate in new diagnosis and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma patients who 541-549 had bortezomib-based chemotherapy and relationship between development of infection and lymphocyte/monocyte ratio

Merve PAMUKCUOGLU, Nuran Ahu BAYSAL, Mehmet Sezgin PEPELER

Turkish adaptation of the undergraduate nursing clinical evaluation form: a validity and 550-558 reliability study *Burcu ARKAN, Seda PEHLİVAN, Dilek YILMAZ, Nursel VATANSEVER*

Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 390 patients hospitalized with 559-565 COVID-19 pneumonia in a tertiary hospital

Songül ARAÇ, Mehmet ÖZEL, Aydın ASLAN, Suleyman ALPAR, Eşref ARAÇ

Prediction value of creatine kinase level in conservative treated unruptured tubal ectopic 566-574 **pregnancies** Sakine RAHIMLI OCAKOGLU, Osman Haldun DEVELİOĞLU

Predictive value of calculated plasma osmolality and atherogenic index of plasma for chronic 575-583 limb-threatening ischemia in lower extremity artery disease *Arda Aybars PALA*, *Yusuf Salim URCUN*

A clue for obstructive sleep apnea hidden in tomographic images of idiopathic pulmonary 584-592 fibrosis patients

Sezgi ŞAHİN DUYAR, Hakan ERTÜRK, Selma FIRAT, Deniz ÇELİK

Is there a difference between normotensive and hypertensive patients in terms of blood 593-600 parameters and cardiovascular diseases?

Cihan AYDIN, Şeref ALPSOY, Mesut ENGİN, Senol YAVUZ

Prevalence of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance in neurovascular stenting: a single-center 601-609 experience

Dilara ATASOY, Hasan DİNÇ Şükrü OĞUZ, Mehmet SÖNMEZ

Is red blood cell distribution width an indicator of prognosis and mortality in respiratory 610-616 intensive care unit?

Güler ERASLAN DOĞANAY, Mustafa Özgür CIRIK

Assessement of neonatal sepsis and associated factors among neonates admited neonatal 617-627 intensive care unit in selected public hospitals in Somali Region, Ethiopia Abdikani NUR, Mohamed OSMAN

The effect of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio on admission to postoperative intensive care and628-634mortality in elderly patients undergoing hip fracture surgery with spinal anesthesiaÖkkeş Hakan MİNİKSAR, Osman KAÇMAZ

The impact of weight loss on thyroid autoimmunity - Weight loss decreases thyroid peroxidase 635-644 antibody levels: a retrospective cohort study *Hacer Hicran MUTLU, Hasan Hüseyin MUTLU* **Preferences of speech and language therapists for telepractice in the COVID-19 pandemic** 645-657 **and factors affecting their acceptance of the delivery model** *Mehmet Emrah CANGİ, İbrahim Can YAŞA, Ayşe IŞILDAR*

Type, source, adequacy and outcome of consultations requested from the department of 658-666 general surgery: a retrospective cohort study *Metin LEBLEBİCİ, Orhan ALİMOĞLU*

Melin LEDLEDICI, Omun ALIMOO

Case Report

Hypofibrinogenemia caused by tigecycline use in a patient with acute cholecystitis: a case 667-671 report and review of the literature

Müge AYHAN, Ferda CAN, Selma KARAAHMETOĞLU, Rahmet GÜNER

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.855510

The infection rate in new diagnosis and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma patients who had bortezomib-based chemotherapy and relationship between development of infection and lymphocyte/monocyte ratio

Merve Pamukçuoğlu¹^o, Nuran Ahu Baysal²^o, Mehmet Sezgin Pepeler¹^o

¹Department of Hematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, Ankara City Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Hematology, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Multiple Myeloma (MM) is a disease caused by the clonal proliferation of plasma cells. In recent years, proteozom inhibitors, immunomodulatory agents and monoclonal antibodies have been used in the treatment of MM. In this study, the relation of bortezomib, one of the proteozoma inhibitors used in the treatment of MM, with the development of infection was investigated.

Methods: We retrospectively evaluated 56 patients who had MM treated with bortezomib-based regimen. We tried to determine the relationship between infection with immunoglobulin G levels at the time of diagnosis, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of diagnosis, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of chemotherapy, neutrophil absolute value at the time of chemotherapy, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of infection, monocyte absolute value at the time of infection, and the lymphocyte/monocyte (L/M) ratio at the time of infection. The effects of L/M ratio on progression free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were also examined.

Results: Thirty (53.6%) of the 56 patients were newly diagnosed, 26 (46.4%) of 56 patients were relapsed/refractory MM. The bortezomib-based regimen was given to all patients. Of the 56 patients included in the study, 21 (37.5%) were female, 35 were male (62.5%). The ages of the patients was 28-79 years (median: 58.5 years). No infection attack was observed in 31 (55.4%) patients. Disease stage (R-ISS) (p = 0.032), presence or absence of co-morbid disease (p = 0.035), disease status during an infection attack (p < 0.01), lymphocytopenia at the time of chemotherapy (p = 0.003), absolute value of lymphocytopenia at the time of infection attack (p < 0.01) had a significant relation with development of infection. Lymphocytopenia at the time of infection attack (p < 0.01, OR < 1, 94.6% CI) and L/M ratio (p < 0.01, OR < 1, 91.1% CI) had been found significant in univariate logistic regression analysis. Lymphocytopenia at the time of infection attack (p = 0.002, OR < 1, 95% CI) and L/M ratio (p = 0.003, OR < 1, 95% CI) had been found significant in multivariate logistic regression analysis. L/M ratio as significant effect on OS (p < 0.017) but not on PFS (p > 0.05).

Conclusions: It was determined that L/M ratio has an effect on OS and it is also an independent factor on the development of infection. OS was decreasing and the risk of developing infection was increasing, when the L/M ratio was low.

Keywords: bortezomib, infection, lymphocyte/monocyte ratio

Received: January 7, 2021; Accepted: February 5, 2021; Published Online: August 1, 2021



How to cite this article: Pamukçuoğlu M, Baysal NA, Pepeler MS. The infection rate in new diagnosis and relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma patients who had bortezomib-based chemotherapy and relationship between development of infection and lymphocyte/monocyte ratio. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):541-549, DOI: 10.18621/eurj.855510

⁹ Address for correspondence: Merve Pamukçuoğlu, MD., Ankara City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Hematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, Bilkent, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: drmpamuk@yahoo.com, Tel: +90 505 2458374

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj **W**uliple Myeloma (MM) is a disease caused by clonal proliferation of plasma cells. It constitutes 10% of hematological cancers. For diagnosis, \geq 10% clonal bone marrow plasma cells in bone marrow or a biopsy proven plasmacytoma plus evidence of one or more multiple myeloma defining events (MDE) namely CRAB (hypercalcemia, renal failure, anemia, or lytic bone lesions). Plasma cell disorder defined as bone marrow clonal plasmacytosis \geq 60%, serum involved/uninvolved free light chain (FLC) ratio \geq 100 (provided involved FLC is \geq 100 mg/L), or > 1 focal lesion on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [1].

Many chemotherapeutic agents are used in the treatment of MM. The use of melphalan in the treatment of MM was a revolution in the 1950s [2], and then the demonstration of the effect of high-dose melphalan and autologous stem cell transplantation on progression-free survival changed the standard treatment approaches in MM [3] In the last 10 years, immunomodulatory drugs such as Thalidomide, Lenalidomide, Pomalidomid (IMID) and proteasome inhibitors such as Bortezomib have been started to use [4, 5]. Subsequently, CD38-targeted monoclonal antibody 'Daratumumab' was added in the MM patients' treatment [6]. Bortezomib is still being the first treatment option in MM in Turkey.

With the use of high-dose melphalan and bortezomib and new agents in the IMID group, there was a dramatic change in the mean survival in MM patients. Overall survival had been extended from 3 years to 8-10 years. This increase in efficacy also led to changes in the spectrum of side effects. Humoral immunodeficiency has been usually seen in MM patients. After using these drugs in the MM patients' treatment, they began to affect cellular immune functions, and changing infectious complication processes were begun [7, 8].

Bortezomib is a molecule that reversibly and selectively inhibits the 26S proteasome and shows its effect through nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) [7, 9-11]. It causes apoptosis by inhibition of NF-kB. It also performs T cell suppression through the same mechanism. Therefore, T cells containing high levels of NF-kB are more sensitive to bortezomib treatment. CD4⁺ T cells affected by bortezomib treatment produce less IFN-gamma and IL-2 [10]. This explains the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effect of bortezomib [7]. Hematological side effects occur due to the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulating effects of bortezomib. The most important of these are neutropenia and thrombocytopenia [7]. Monocytopenia and lymphocytopenia (T-cell suppression) associated with bortezomib treatment may also occur [8, 9].

In this study, it is aimed to reveal the relationship between infection development with variables such as absolute lymphocyte value, lymphocyte/monocyte ratio (L/M), and IgG level in newly diagnosed and relapsed/refractor MM patients who had treated with bortezomib-based chemotherapy. At the same time, the L/M ratio and overall survival relationship had been determined.

METHODS

We retrospectively evaluated 56 patients who had MM treated with bortezomib based regimen. Type of Infection were determined. Lymphocyte absolute values at the time of diagnosis, immunoglobulin G levels at the time of diagnosis, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of chemotherapy, neutrophil value at the time of chemotherapy, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of infection, and monocyte absolute value at the time of infection were recorded from the file information. The L/M ratio of the patients at the time of infection were calculated and transferred to the SPSS database. We tried to determine the relationship between infection with immunoglobulin G levels at the time of diagnosis, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of diagnosis, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of chemotherapy, lymphocyte absolute values at the time of infection, monocyte absolute value at the time of infection, and the L/M ratio at the time of infection. The effects of L/M ratio on progression free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were also examined.

Gazi University Faculty of Medicine ethical committee has approved this study on 12/09/2014 with the number of 25901600-3086.

Determinations

International staging system (ISS):

- Stage-I: serum beta - 2 microglobulin level < 3.5 mg/dl and serum albumin level \geq 3.5 g/dl

- Stage-II: out of ISS stage I and stage III criteria

- Stage-III: serum beta-2 microglobulin level \geq 5.5 mg/L [12].

Revised International Staging System (R-ISS):

- R-ISS I: serum β 2-microglobulin level < 3.5 mg/L, serum albumin level > 3.5 g/dL, no high-risk

cytogenetic anomaly (CA) [del(17p) and/or t(4;14) and/or t(14;16)], and normal LDH level (less than the upper limit of normal range)

- R-ISS II : out of ISS stage I and stage III criteria

- R-ISS III: serum β 2-microglobulin level > 5.5

mg/L and high-risk CA or high LDH level [13].

 Table 1. Patients' MM subtypes, M protein level, ISS and R-ISS stages and Comorbidity at the diagnosis

	Number of the patients	%
MM subtypes		
IgG kappa	24	42.9
IgG lambda	13	23.2
Ig A kappa	3	5.4
Ig A lambda	4	7.1
Ig D lambda	3	5.4
kappa light chain	4	7.1
lambda light chain	4	7.1
non-secretory	1	1.8
M protein level		
< 3 g/dl	13	23.2
>3g/dl	43	76.8
ISS stage		
stage-1		21.4
stage-2	10	17.9
stage-3	34	60.7
R-ISS stage		
stage-1	10	17.9
stage-2	29	51.8
stage-3	17	30.4
Co-morbidity		
no co-morbidity	22	39.3
DM	9	16.1
CRF	10	17.9
HT	9	16.1
AHD	3	5.4
COPD	1	1.8
HF	1	1.8
ARF+SM+COPD+HT	1	1.8

MM = multple myeloma, ISS = international scoring system, R-ISS = revised international scoring system, DM = diabetes mellitus, CRF = chronic renal failure, HT = hypertension, AHD = atherosclerotic heart disease, COPD = chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, HF = heart failure, ARF = acute renal failure, SM =secondary malignancy

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation and median (minimum-maximum) for numerical variables, and as percentages for categorical variables. The normal distribution of parametric values was determined by the Shapiro-Wilk Test. For determining the significance In statistical analysis, the T-test was used for parametric variables, Mann Whitney U test was used for non-parametric variables. Pearson Chi-Square Test was used to comparing two categorical variables. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyzes were performed for advanced statistical analysis. Log-Rank test was used to calculate survival analysis. All statistical evaluations were made using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows 16 (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) program. Statistical significance p-value was accepted as < 0.05 in all analyzes.

RESULTS

Of the 56 patients included in the study, 21 (37.5%) were females and 35 (62.5%) were males. The median age of the patients was 58.5 years (minmax: 28-79 years). Thirty (53.6%) of 56 patients were newly diagnosed, 26 (46.4%) of 56 patients were relapsed/refractor MM. Table 1 show the patients' MM subtypes, M protein level, ISS and R-ISS stages and co-morbidity at the time of diagnosis. The bortezomibbased regimen was given to all patients. Accordingly, 43 (76.8%) patients had bortezomib 1.3 mg/m2 sc (1, 8, 15, and 22 days), cyclophosphamide 300 mg/m2 PO (1, 8, 15, and 22 days) (VCD) regimen, 13 patients (23.2%) had bortezomib 1.3 mg/m² sc (Days 1, 8, 15, and 22), melphalan 9 mg/m2 PO, (1-4 Days) and prednisone 60 mg/m² PO, (Days 1-4) (VMP) chemotherapy regimen.

Thirty-one (55.4%) patient did not have any infection. Pulmonary infection was seen in 17 (30.4%) patients, urinary system infection was seen in 3 (5.4%) patients, lung and urinary system infection was seen in 2 (3.6%) patients, cellulitis was seen in 1 (1.8%) patient, psoas abscess was seen in 1 (1.8%) patient, the unknown origin of fever was seen in 1 (1.8%) patient. Twelve (21.4%) of the patients had an infection in the first cycle, others had an infection in the second or more cycles. Infection agents could be isolated in only 7 (12.5%) patients. Accordingly: E. Coli infection was seen in 5 (8.9%) patients, viral infection was seen in 1 (1.8%) patient, and coagulase-negative staphylococcal infection was seen in 1 (1.8%) patient. While the patients received bortezomib-based chemotherapy, the median neutrophil values was 0 /mcL (min-max: 0-4000/ mcL). In 8 (14.3%) patients; neutrophil level was ≤ 1000 /mcL, and in 48 (85.7%) patients; neutrophil level was > 1000 /mcL. Before starting chemotherapy, median basal lymphocyte absolute values was 14051/mcL (min-max: 320-3190 /mcL). The median lymphocyte values measured while receiving chemotherapy was 636/mcL (min-max: 32-1890 mcL). The median lymphocyte absolute values of the patients in the infection attack was 1775/mcL (min-max: 30-4000/mcL). In twenty (35.7%) patients; lymphocyte values was $\leq 1000/\text{mcL}$, in 36 patients (64.3%) lymphocyte values was >1000/mcL. The median monocyte absolute values of the patients in the infection attack was 434/mcL (min-max: 80-1000/mcL). The median IgG value at diagnosis was 3000 mg/dl

 Table 2. Value of age, median level of Ig G level at diagnosis, lymphocytopenia at the time of chemotherapy and L/M ratio

	Infection negative	Infection positive	<i>p</i> value
Age	55.87±11.0	61.6±112.2	0.07t
Ig G level at diagnosis	3325 (305-10800)	3000 (141-13800)	0.93MU
Lymphocytopenia at the time of chemotherapy	780 (50-1890)	300 (32-1780)	0.003MU
L/M ratio	4.6 (1.5-45)	0.88 (0.04-5)	0.00MU
	11 1	$\mathbf{I} / \mathbf{M} = 1$	

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or median (min-max). L/M = lymphocyte/monosyte T-test, MU: Mann Whitney U test

	Infection negative	Infection positive	p value
Gender, n (%)			
Female	12 (38.7)	9 (36)	0.83x2
Male	19 (61.3)	16 (64)	
Total	31 (100)	25 (100)	
Subtypes of MM, n (%)			
Ig G kappa	15 (48.4)	9 (36)	0.35x2
Others	16 (51.6)	16 (64)	
Total	31 (100)	25 (100)	
ISS. $n(\%)$		()	
Stage-I	8 (25.8)	4 (16)	0.29x2
Stage -II	7 (22.6)	3(12)	0,2,112
Stage -III	16 (51.6)	18 (72)	
Total	31 (100)	25 (100)	
R-ISS n (%)	51 (100)	25 (100)	
Stage -I	6 (19 4)	4 (16)	0.032 x2
Stage-II	20 (64 5)	9 (36)	0.052 A2
Stage-III	5 (16.1)	12 (48)	
Total	31 (100)	25 (100)	
C_{0} -morbidity $n(%)$	51 (100)	25 (100)	
No	16 (51.6)	6 (24)	0.035 x^2
Var	10(31.0) 15(48.4)	0(24) 10(76)	0.033 AZ
Total	13(40.4)	19(70) 25(100)	
Diagon state $n(0/)$	51 (100)	25 (100)	
CP	21 (100)	1 (1)	$< 0.01 \text{ y}^{2}$
Othors	0	1(4)	< 0.01 X2
Total	21 (100)	24 (90)	
I otal	51 (100)	25 (100)	
$\leq 2 \operatorname{gr}/d1$	0(20)	1 (16)	$0.25 v^{2}$
$\sim 3 \text{gr}/\text{dl}$	9(29)	4(10) 21 (84)	0.2382
≥ 5 gl/dl	22(71)	21(64) 25(100)	
I otal L ovel of creatinin	51 (100)	25 (100)	
	22 (71)	14(56)	0.24-2
$\sim 2 \ln g/d1$	22(71)	14(30)	0.2482
> 2 IIIg/ul Total	9 (29)	25 (100)	
Turn a stable mother any	51 (100)	25 (100)	
VCD	25(906)	19 (77)	0.442
	23(80.0)	10(72)	0.44XZ
	0 (19.4)	7 (28)	
I Otal Number of Dortomore ib sucles	51 (100)	25 (100)	
Number of Bortezomib cycles	07(071)	(0.0)	0.520
≤ 4 cycle	27 (87.1)	21(88)	0.53X2
> 4 cycle	4 (12.9)	4(12)	
lotal	31 (100)	25 (100)	
Neutropenia	0 ((5)	(\mathbf{A})	0.06.0
< 1000	2 (6.5)	6 (24)	0.06x2
> 1000	29 (93.5)	19 (76)	
lotal	31 (100)	25 (100)	
Lymphocytopenia			
< 1000	0	20 (80)	< 0.01 x2
> 1000	31 (100)	5 (20)	
Total	31 (100)	25 (100)	

Table 3. Variables that are found to be statistically significant/not statistically significant

L/M = lymphocyte/monosyte, ISS = international scoring system, R-ISS = revised- international scoring system, VCD = bortezomib, cyclophosphamide, dexamethasone, VMP =bortezomib, melphalan, prednisolone, x2: chi-quare test

able 4. Univariate and multivariate analysis of variables							
	UNI	VARIATE ANA	ALYSIS	MUL	TIVARIATE A	ANALYSIS	
	OR	95% CI	p value	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> value	
Co-morbidity	3.37	1.06-10.7	0.039	0.4	0.17-1.29	0.146	
Diseade State	0.99	0.99-1	< 0.01	3.6	0-1	0.95	
Lymphocytopenia at the time of chemotherapy	0.99	0.99-1	0.018	0.96	0.06-15	0.99	
Lymphocytopenia	0.99	0.994-0.998	< 0.01	0.99	0.99-1	0.002	
L/M ratio	0.173	0.065-0.45	< 0.01	0.007	055-0.88	0.003	

Table 4.	Univariate	and mu	ltivariate	analysis	of	variables
				- /		

L/M = lymphocyte/monosyte, CI = confidental interval, OR = odss ratio

(min-max: 141-13800 mg/dl). The median value of L/M ratio was 2.00 (min-max: 0.04-45).

A statistically significant correlation was seen in disease stage (R-ISS) (p = 0.032), presence or absence of co-morbid disease (p = 0.035), disease status during an infectious attack (p < 0.01), lymphocytopenia at the time of chemotherapy (p = 0.003), absolute value of lymphocytopenia at the time of infection (p < 0.01) and the L/M ratio (p < 0.01) with the development of infection. According to the R-ISS, patients who had stage 3 and in the presence of co-morbid disease had a higher infection risk while the infection rates were low in patients who had a complete response. Lymphocytopenia was related to the development of infection. Especially, patients who had $\leq 1000 \text{ /mcL}$ (p <0.01) lymphocyte level and who had a low L/M ratio (< 2) had a high risk of development of infection. Variables that are found to be statistically significant (or not statistically significant) relation with development of infection are shown in Table 2 and Table 3.

Disease status during infection (p < 0.01, OR<1, 98.2% CI), lymphocytopenia at the time of infection (p < 0.01, OR < 1, 94.6% CI) and L/M ratio (p < 0.01, p < 0.01)OR < 1, 91.1% CI) were significant in univariate logistic regression analysis. Infection rate was lower in



Fig. 1. Relationship between lymphocyte/monosyte (L/M) ratio and survival.

patients with complete response. Accordingly, infection rates increase in patients who had lymphocytopenia and in patients who had a low level of L/M ratio. Significant parameters in univariate analysis were reevaluated in multivariate logistic regression analysis, lymphocytopenia at the time of infection and L/M ratio were found significant (respectively: p = 0.002, OR < 1, 95% CI; p = 0.003, OR < 1, 95% CI). The variables that are significant in univariate and multivariate analysis are shown in Table 4.

When the effects of the independent variable of L/M ratio on PFS and OS were examined; L/M ratio had no significant effect on PFS (p > 0.05), while had a significant effect on OS (p < 0.017). The mean OS was 33 ± 2.7 months (min-max: 27.53-38.47 months). The cut-off value of the L/M ratio was 2 (this is the median value of the L/M ratio). Mean OS survival of patients who had $L/M \ge 2$ was 37 ± 2.5 months (minmax: 32-41.96 months), mean OS of patients who had L/M < 2 was 28 ± 3.2 months (min-max: 21.7-34.27/ months). Fig. 1 show relationships between the OS and the L/M ratio.

DISCUSSION

It has been reported in the literature that the frequency of viral infections is high in MM patient who had a bortezomib therapy. Especially, it has been emphasized that there is a relationship between bortezomib and Herpes Zoster infection [10, 11, 14]. As we have been stated, the relationship between bortezomib and infection development is due to the lymphocytopenia-inducing effect of bortezomib [6]. The result we obtained in this study also supports these findings. It has been shown that lymphocytopenia and the decrease in the L/M ratio are independent variables on

the development of infection. We also find that R-ISS, co-morbidity, disease state have significant affect on development of infection in MM patients, however, were not found an independent factors.

Pang et al. [15] claimed that neutrophile+monocyte/lymphocyte ratio (NMLR) is an independent variable on progression-free survival. Newly diagnosed patients who received VCD chemotherapy regimen were included in this study. The NMLR ratio was calculated for each patient and a value of 1.9 was taken as the cut-off value. It has been shown that immune restructuring is more effective and disease exacerbation is less in patients who had a NMLR < 1.9. On the other hand, it is known that the microenvironment is important in the course of the disease in MM patients. Neutrophils, lymphocytes and monocytes are being in this microenvironment [16, 17]. In some studies, it has been shown that the ratio of absolute neutrophil value to absolute lymphocyte value and the ratio of absolute lymphocyte value to absolute monocyte value are effective in immune remodeling in MM patients, and this affects progression-free survival [16, 18, 19]. It is also emphasized that the cells that are particularly effective in the microenvironment of MM are neutrophils and monocytes, and the treatment options may change according to the neutrophil lymphocyte ratio and the lymphocyte-monocyte ratio in patients with MM [20]. In recent years, the use of immunomodulatory drugs and the use of CAR-T cell therapy, especially in patients with relapsed / refractory MM, have shown the importance of immune abnormality in the course of the disease in patients with MM. In vivo balance to be established in the immune environment affects the course of the disease [21].

It has been shown that absolute neutrophil value, absolute lymphocyte value, and absolute monocyte value and their ratio to each other are independent variables in solid tumors and hematological cancers and in the course of the disease after autologous stem cell transplantation [22-26]. In most of these studies, it was shown that high neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and low lymphocyte/monocyte ratio were associated with poor prognosis. On the contrary, there are studies in the literature that showing the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio is not effective on survival [19]. Romena *et al.* [20], showed that the monocyte ratio is effective on the microenvironment in myeloma bone marrow. Especially, it is emphasized that it enables growth in

myeloma cells. When all these are taken into consideration, it is emphasized that neutrophil, lymphocyte and monocytes and especially NMLR parameter are effective on survival in MM patients. The reason for better progression-free survival in patients with a low NMLR rate may be due to the low monocyte ratio that enables the growth of the myeloma cell. There are also studies claiming that the increase in the L/M ratio is associated with a good prognosis [26] It is still unknown how the changes in lymphocyte and monocyte ratio affect the risk of infection. However, absolute lymphocyte value, absolute monocyte value and L/M ratio are closely related to the immune system [27]. It is also known that alloreactive T lymphocytes are suppressed, especially in bortezomib-based regimens [10]. As a result of all these, it can be said that absolute lymphocyte and monocyte values and L/M ratio might be occurred predisposition for infections. It is also known that bortezomib prevents the growth of myeloma cells with causing to monocytopenia.

Decreasing in the L/M ratio, in other words, higher monocyte value relative to lymphocyte value, might be associated with infection in bortezomib-based regimens. If bortezomib-based regimen is used in relapsed refractory cases or newly diagnosed cases of MM, lymphocytopenia should be tried to prevent. On the other hand, it is necessary to keep the monocyte value at certain rates in order to prevent tumor growth. Yang *et al.* [27], examined the relationship between L/M ratio and OS. The median L/M ratio in our study is the 2. Overall survival was longer in patients who had L/M ratio ≥ 2 .

CONCLUSION

It was determined that L/M ratio has an effect on OS and it is also an independent factor on the development of infection. OS was decreasing and the risk of developing infection was increasing, when the L/M ratio was low. We have to say that; there is some restriction in this study such as number of patients and power effect of lymphocytopenia in multivariate analysis. Therefore; more studies which are including more patients, are needed for claiming the lymphocytopenia and L/M ratio are an independent variable on the development of infection and L/M ratio has an effect on OS. After then, L/M will be a follow-up parameter in the development of infection in bortezomibbased regimens and it will be considered as an effective parameter on OS.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MP, NAB, MSP; Study Design: MP, NAB, MSP; Supervision: MP, NAB, MSP; Funding: MP, NAB, MSP; Materials: MP, NAB, MSP; Data Collection and/or Processing: MP, NAB, MSP; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MP, NAB, MSP; Literature Review: MP, NAB, MSP; Manuscript Preparation: MP, NAB, MSP and Critical Review: MP, NAB, MSP.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Rajkumar SV. Multiple myeloma: 2020 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification and management. Am J Hematol 2020;95:548-67.

2. Bergsagel DE, Sprague CC, Austin C, Griffith KM. Evaluation of new chemotherapeutic agents in the treatment of multiple myeloma: IV. L-Phenylalanine mustard (NSC-8806). Cancer Chemother Rep 1962;21:87-99.

3. Attal M, Harousseau JL, Stoppa AM, Sotto JJ, Fuzibet JG, Rossi JF et al. A prospective, randomized trial of autologous bone marrow transplantation and chemotherapy in multiple myeloma. Intergroupe Français du Myélome. N Engl J Med 1996;335:91-7.

4. Morgan GJ1, Davies FE. Role of thalidomide in the treatment of patients with multiple myeloma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2013;88 Suppl 1:S14-22.

5. Abe Y, Ishida T. Immunomodulatory drugs in the treatment of multiple myeloma. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2019;49:695-702.

6. Touzeau C, Moreau P. Daratumumab for the treatment of multiple myeloma. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2017;17:887-93.

7. Pamukçuoğlu M, Emmez H, Tunçcan OG, Oner AY, Cırak MY, Senol E, et al. Brain abscess caused by Nocardia cyriacigeorgica in two patients with multiple myeloma: novel agents, new spectrum of infections. Hematology 2014;19:158-62.

8. Kim SJ, Kim K, Kim BS, Lee HJ, Kim H, Lee NR, et al. Bortezomib and the increased incidence of herpes zoster in patients with multiple myeloma. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 2008;8:237-40. 9. Basler M, Lauer C, Beck U, Groettrup M. The proteasome inhibitor bortezomib enhances the susceptibility to viral infection. J Immunol 2009;183:6145-50.

10. Tung D, Cheung PH, Kaur P, Foreman O, Kavirayani A, Hain HS, et al. Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects of bortezomib in various in vivo models. Pharmacology 2011;88:100-13.

11. Wu KL, van Wieringen W, Vellenga E, Zweegman S, Lokhorst HM, Sonneveld P. Analysis of the efficacy and toxicity of bortezomib for treatment of relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma in community practice. Haematologica 2005;90:996-7.

12. Greipp PR, Miguel JS, Durie BGM, Crowley JJ, Barlogie B, Blad J, et al. International staging system for multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:3412-20.

13. Palumbo A, Loiseau HA, Oliva S, Lokhorst HM, Goldschmidt H, Rosinol L, et al. Revised International Staging System for Multiple Myeloma: a report From International Myeloma Working Group. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:2863-9.

14. Kropff M, Bisping G, Schuck E, Liebisch P, Lang N, Hentrich M, et al. Bortezomib in combination with intermediate-dose dexamethasone and continuous low-dose oral cyclophosphamide for relapsed multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol 2007;138:330-7.

15. Pang Y, Shao H, Yang Z, Fan L, Liu W, Shi J, et al. The neutrophils+monocyte/lymphocyte ratio is an independent prognostic factor for progression-free survival in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma patients treated with BCD regimen. Front Oncol 2020;10:1617.

16. Zeng Q, Liu Z, Li Q, Liu T. Prognostic value of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and clinicopathological characteristics for multiple myeloma. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97:e12678.

17. Suriu C, Akria L, Azoulay D, Shaoul E, Barhoum M, Braester A. Absolute lymphocyte count as prognostic marker in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma patients. Int J Lab Hematol 2016;38:e56-9.

18. Romano A, Parrinello NL, Consoli ML, Marchionni L, Forte S, Conticello C, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) improves the risk assessment of ISS staging in newly diagnosed MM patients treated upfront with novel agents. Ann Hematol 2015;94:1875-83.

19. Wang J, Sun C, Xia J, Zhou X, Guo HF. Limited prognostic value of pretreatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratios in elderly patients with multiple myeloma. Clin Lab 2018;64:507-13.

20. Romano A, Laura PN, Cerchione C, Letizia CM, Parisi M, Calafiore V, et al. The NLR and LMR ratio in newly diagnosed MM patients treated upfront with novel agents. Blood Cancer J 2017;7:649.

21. Raje N, Berdeja J, Lin Y, Siegel D, Jagannath S, Madduri D, et al. Anti-BCMA CAR T-cell therapy bb2121 in relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med 2019;380:1726-37.

22. Binder M, Rajkumar SV, Lacy MQ, Gertz MA, Buadi FK, Dispenzieri A, et al. Peripheral blood biomarkers of early immune reconstitution in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. Am J Hematol 2019; 94:306-11.

23. Ueda T, Chikuie N, Takumida M, Furuie H, Kono T, Taruya T, et al. Baseline neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is associated with clinical outcome in recurrent or metastatic head and

neck cancer patients treated with nivolumab. Acta Otolaryngol 2020;140:181-7.

24. Kosuga T, Konishi T, Kubota T, Shoda K, Konishi H, Shiozaki A, et al. Clinical significance of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as a predictor of lymph node metastasis in gastric cancer. BMC Cancer 2019;19:1187.

25. Bento L, Díaz-López A, Barranco G, Martín-Moreno AM, Baile M, Martín A, et al. New prognosis score including absolute lymphocyte/monocyte ratio, red blood cell distribution width and beta-2 microglobulin in patients with diffuse large B-cell lym-

phoma treated with R-CHOP: Spanish Lymphoma Group Experience (GELTAMO). Br J Haematol 2020;188:888-97.

26. Dosani T, Covut F, Beck R, Driscoll JJ, de Lima M, Malek E. Significance of the absolute lymphocyte/monocyte ratio as a prognostic immune biomarker in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. Blood Cancer J 2017;7:e579.

27. Yang Y, Liu Z, Wang H. Peripheral absolute lymphocyte count: an economical and clinical available immune-related prognostic marker for newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. Med Sci Monit 2020;26:e923716.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.885563

Turkish adaptation of the undergraduate nursing clinical evaluation form: a validity and reliability study

Burcu Arkan¹[®], Seda Pehlivan²[®], Dilek Yılmaz³[®], Nursel Vatansever⁴[®]

¹Department of Psychiatric Nursing, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Health Sciences, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Internal Medicine Nursing, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Health Sciences, Bursa, Turkey ³Department of Fundamentals of Nursing, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Health Sciences, Bursa, Turkey ⁴Department of Surgical Nursing, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Health Sciences, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The study was conducted for the purpose of determining the validity and reliability of the "Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF)" in a Turkish sample.

Methods: One hundred sixty-seven students enrolled in Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Nursing participated in the study. Study data were collected via the Student Description Form and CEF. The Cronbach's α internal consistency coefficient was calculated for the reliability of the total scale. Pearson correlation analysis was used to determine the correlation between items and total scores.

Results: In the validity of the scale, CFA was used to investigate the consistency of the scale with the original scale. When the fit indices of the model tested using CFA were examined, it was seen that the chi-square value was significant. When the Cronbach's α reliability coefficients were examined, the reliability of the form was found to be quite good in terms of domains and total score. The correlations between the items and total scale score ranged between 0.42 and 0.77. Cronbach's α coefficient was greater than 0.90 for each item.

Conclusions: Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form is a valid and reliable tool that can be used in the Turkish culture.

Keywords: Nursing, clinical evaluation, validity, reliability

Theoretical knowledge and clinical teaching are inseparable parts of nursing education as in the education programs of all practice-based disciplines [1, 2]. Students gain professional confidence in the fields where clinical teaching is applied. Clinical practice provides students the opportunity to integrate the theoretical knowledge and practice taught in the school by experiencing and practicing in a real environment. It also allows students to use their knowledge in a realworld environment, develop their psychomotor skills, and improve professional relationships [3, 4]. In clinical practice, students have the opportunity to practice what they learn and to see role models that prepare them for the future. At the same time, they develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills and receive the opportunity to see the relationships between health team members [4-7].

Factors such as the type of clinical setting, attitudes, and the experiences of the instructor are important in shaping the clinical experience of students [8]. Relevant studies have focused on identifying students' current and previous clinical practice experiences, and their perceptions of the clinical training process [1, 9, 10-12]. In the study conducted by Chan [13], it was

Received: February 23, 2021; Accepted: June 18, 2021; Published Online: September 9, 2021



How to cite this article: Arkan B, Pehlivan S, Yılmaz D, Vatansever N. Turkish adaptation of the undergraduate nursing clinical evaluation form: a validity and reliability study. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):550-558. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.885563

Address for correspondence: Burcu Arkan, Associate Professor, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Psychiatric Nursing, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: arkanburcu@yahoo.com, GSM: +90 532 7764843, Tel: +90 224 2942477, Fax: +90 224 2942451

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

reported that clinical practice environments could not provide a positive learning environment for students. In the study conducted by Papathanasiou et al. [14] in order to evaluate nursing students' perceptions of clinical learning environments, it was determined that there was a significant gap between the students' expectations of the clinical learning environment and the reality. As a result of the study, it was recommended that the education framework be reorganized. In another study, it was stated that instructors and nurses in the clinic play a particularly important role in integrating nursing students into the clinical environment during clinical practice [15]. In a qualitative study conducted by Serçekuş and Başkale [16] in Turkey, it was determined that nursing students were negatively affected if feedback was given by instructors in front of patients. In the study conducted by Arkan et al. [17], it was emphasized that the most significant factor in students' clinical learning was the attitude of instructors.

During clinical practices, the psychomotor skills students have acquired previously are evaluated alongside their cognitive and affective capacities [18]. The evaluation of students during clinical practice is one of the main focuses of nursing education, in order to ascertain that clinical learning goals have been met. Evaluation is an inseparable part of education and is a dynamic process that aims to ensure students learn and develop [19, 20]. On the other hand, students are also expected to give feedback about their experiences after the clinical practice. It is very important for the evaluation process that educators be provided with feedback that adequately represents the views of the students because health care organizations require student feedback to shape educational programs and activities for personal development [8].

There are limited evaluation tools that nursing students can use to provide feedback at the end of clinical practice. In addition, it has been reported that some tools available are problematic in terms of their ability to provide correct evaluation, since they are hard to understand and there are too many deficiencies in the open-ended question format [21, 22]. Therefore, there is a need to develop a tool that can provide feedback which helps instructors to provide a successful clinical practice environment. It was determined in the literature review that there is no evaluation tool that nursing students in Turkey can use to give feedback about their clinical practice. It is thought that the use of a measurement tool in which nursing students evaluate the current state of clinical practice in all its aspects will contribute to identify and solve problems in clinical training.

This study was thus conducted to test the Turkish validity and reliability of the Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF) developed by Porter *et al.* [8].

Research Questions

Is the Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF) for nursing students valid and reliable?

METHODS

The study was conducted methodologically with nursing students between December 2018 and January 2019.

The sample of the research consisted of second, third and fourth-year students at the Nursing Department of the Faculty of Health Sciences at Bursa Uludag University at the end of the fall semester of the 2018-2019 academic year. Among the students included in the sample, second-year students had completed internal medicine nursing internship practices; third-year students had completed obstetrics and gynecology nursing internship practices; and fourth-year students had completed public health nursing, psychiatric nursing, and surgical diseases nursing internship practices. First-year nursing students were excluded from the research since they had not yet had clinical practice experience at the time of the study.

In the literature, three rules are mentioned for the determination of the sample size in validity and reliability studies. It is emphasized that at least five people should be included per item in order to perform factor analysis. It is recommended that there be 10 people per item if there is no problem in reaching the sample [23]. If there is a serious limitation in sampling it is recommended that the size of the sample be at least 100 people. Ten students were included per item in order to perform the validity and reliability study of the 30-item CEF, and the size of the sample was calculated as 210 students. Two hundred twenty students who met the research criteria were included from the sample. However, 53 students were excluded from the sample

since they did not fully complete the form and analyses were performed on 167 students. The percentage of the sample reached was 75%.

Data Collection Tools

The data of the research were collected using the Student Introduction Form and the CEF.

Student Introduction Form

This form includes questions about the age, gender, year-of-study, and clinical practice fields of the students.

Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF)

This was developed by Porter *et al.* [8] in 2011. It is an evaluation tool that can be used by nursing students to provide feedback at the end of the clinical practice process. The form consists of 21 items and five domains. The domains are "Orientation", "Clinical Educator/Teacher", "Ward Staff and Environment", "Clinical Hurdles" and "University". The form has a 5-point Likert type (1 = never, 2 = rarely, 3 = sometimes, 4 = often, 5 = always). The lowest score that can be obtained from the form is 21 and the highest score is 105. The Cronbach's α value of the form is 0.90 [8].

Data Collection

1. Language Validity

For language validity, the form was translated from English to Turkish independently by three Turkish linguistic scientists. Afterward, the researchers evaluated the most appropriate translation for each item and prepared a common Turkish text. The scale, which was translated into Turkish, was retranslated to English by two linguistic scientists who were fluent in both Turkish and English and the translated form was compared with the original form. Inappropriate statements were revised to ensure language validity.

2. Content Validity

After language validity had been ascertained, the draft form was presented to 10 experts in psychiatry, internal medicine, surgery, nursing principles, pediatric nursing, and nursing management to obtain their opinions. The experts were asked to evaluate the draft form in terms of both language and content. The experts scored each item as follows: "4" if an item did not need to be changed; "3" if a minor change was recommended; "2" if a major change was recommended; and "1" if it was recommended that an item be removed for being inappropriate.

3. Application Process

The draft scale developed was given nursing students who were not included in the sample for a pilot application and its intelligibility and the application process were evaluated.

4. Construct Validity

Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was used to validate the factors present in the original form of the scale for construct validity. Prior to the analysis, the data set was examined and missing data, extreme values, and normality were checked. The data were analyzed using the lavaan 0.6-3 package in the CFA RStudio Desktop 1.2.1335 for the construct validity of the scale.

5. Determination of Reliability

To determine the reliability of the CEF, which was developed by Porter *et al.* and consists of 21 items and 5 domains (orientation, clinical educator/teacher, ward staff and environment, clinical hurdles, and university), the Cronbach's α reliability coefficients were calculated from among the internal consistency methods and item-total score analyses were performed.

The students were asked to fill out the questionnaire given by the researchers. Care was taken that the time taken to complete questionnaires did not interfere with students' lecture hours. The maximum length of time it took for students to complete the form was calculated to be 15 minutes. The completed questionnaires were collected and evaluated.

Ethical Consideration

Written permission was obtained by email from the corresponding author Joanne Porter, who developed the form, in order to use the CEF in the research. Written permission was obtained from the Health Sciences Research and Publication Ethics Committee of Bursa Uludag University (Decision No: 2018-06). Students who agreed to participate in the research were informed that all of the data would be used for scientific purposes and that their answers would not affect their course marks in any way. Their informed consent was then obtained.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was performed in the SPSS 23.0 (IBM Corp. Released 2015. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) statistics package program. The demographic data of the students were presented as frequency and percentage for qualitative variables and mean and standard deviation for qualitative variables. The Cronbach's α internal consistency coefficient was calculated for the reliability of the total scale and five domains. Pearson correlation analysis was used to determine the correlation between items and total scores. In the validity of the scale, CFA was used to investigate the consistency of the scale with the original scale. Prior to the analysis, the data set was examined and missing data, extreme values, and normality were checked. The data were analyzed using the lavaan 0.6-3 package in the CFA RStudio Desktop 1.2.1335 for the construct validity of the scale. In the interpretation of the CFA result, the ratios of the chi-squared value to the degree of freedom, CFI, RMSEA, and SRMR fit indices were used. The significance level was accepted as $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS

The sociodemographic characteristics of the nursing students included in the study are given in Table 1. When the students evaluated their clinical practice with the CEF, it was determined that the highest score was in the "clinical educator/teacher" domain and the lowest score was in the "ward staff and environment" domain (Table 2).

Construct Validity of Undergraduate Nursing Clin ical Evaluation Form (CEF)

When the fit indices of the model tested using CFA were examined, it was seen that the chi-square value was significant ($\chi 2 = 370.543$; p < 0.001). Fit indices and acceptable values obtained in the study are given in Table 3. According to these results, it was determined that the $\chi 2/sd$, CFI, SRMR, and RMSEA values were within the acceptable limits and that the study provided construct validity.

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of students

Characteristics	n	%
Year		
Second	77	46.1
Third	57	34.1
Fourth	33	19.8
Age		
18-23	160	95.8
24-29	6	3.6
30-35	1	0.6
Gender		
Male	31	18.6
Female	136	81.4
Educational Status		
High School	28	16.8
Vocational High School	39	23.4
Anatolian-Science High School	100	59.9
Income status		
Bad	21	12.6
Medium	130	77.8
Good	16	9.6
Working status		
Working	14	8.4
Not working	153	91.6
Total	167	100.0

Reliability of Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF)

The reliability coefficient obtained in the study of Porter *et al.* [8] and reliability coefficients obtained in our study are given in Table 4. When the Cronbach's α reliability coefficients were examined, the reliability of the form was found to be quite good in terms of domains and total score. Pearson's Moment Correlation Coefficient was calculated for the CEF items used in the study and the internal consistency of each item with the scale as a whole was determined (Table 5). The correlations between the items and total scale score ranged between 0.42 and 0.77, and the Cronbach's α coefficient was greater than 0.90 for each item. According to the results of the item analysis, it was found that the reliability of the form was good.

1 able 2. If equency distribution of the enhical evaluation form scores	Table 2. Freque	ncy distribution	of the clinical	evaluation	form scores
--	-----------------	------------------	-----------------	------------	-------------

Domains/Items	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Always	Mean ± SD
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
	Domain: Ori	entation				$\textbf{3.32} \pm \textbf{0.82}$
1. Orientation was relevant and well organized	10 (6)	23 (13.8)	66 (39.5)	55 (32.9)	13 (7.8)	3.23 ± 0.99
2. I was made to feel welcome by the educator	5 (3)	15 (9)	55 (32.9)	69 (41.3)	23 (13.8)	3.54 ± 0.94
3.Clinical expectations were defined and discussed during orientation	13 (7.8)	24 (14.4)	63 (37.7)	50 (29.9)	17 (10.2)	3.2 ± 1.06
Domain: Clinical educator/Clinical teacher						3.59 ± 0.76
4. The educator was available and easily contactable during placement	2 (1.2)	19 (11.4)	58 (34.7)	53 (31.7)	35 (21)	3.6±0.98
5. The educator was approachable and friendly	3 (1.8)	16 (9.6)	46 (27.5)	69 (41.3)	33 (19.8)	3.68 ± 0.96
6.Debriefing sessions were relevant and educational.	4 (2.4)	17 (10.2)	65 (38.9)	51 (30.5)	30 (18)	3.51 ± 0.98
7.The in-service and educational sessions were relevant	5 (3)	14 (8.4)	63 (37.7)	54 (32.3)	31 (18.6)	3.55 ± 0.99
8.Rosters were available to me in a reasonable timeframe	8 (4.8)	17 (10.2)	47 (28.1)	57 (34.1)	38 (22.8)	3.6 ± 1.09
Domain: Ward staff/preceptors and ward en	vironment					3.1 ± 0.95
9. The staff were friendly and approachable	8 (4.8)	33 (19.8)	59 (35.3)	49 (29.3)	18 (10.8)	3.22 ± 1.04
10.I was made to feel welcome on the ward	11 (6.6)	32 (19.2)	49 (29.3)	56 (33.5)	19 (11.4)	3.24 ± 1.09
11. The staff facilitated learning	8 (4.8)	27 (16.2)	60 (35.9)	46 (27.5)	26 (15.6)	3.33 ± 1.07
opportunities for me	~ /	~ /	× ,	× /	× ,	
12. The staff involved me in clinical decision	37 (22.2)	48 (28.7)	36 (21.6)	34 (20.4)	12 (7.2)	2.62 ± 1.24
making						
Domain: Final assessment/clinical hurdles						$\textbf{3.26} \pm \textbf{0.93}$
13.Clinical hurdles were achieved in corporation with the clinical educator	7 (4.2)	26 (15.6)	54 (32.3)	56 (33.5)	24 (14.4)	3.38 ± 1.05
14.Clinical hurdles were achievable within the time frame of the clinical placement	10 (6)	26 (15.6)	58 (34.7)	55 (32.9)	18 (10.8)	3.27 ± 1.04
15.An interim evaluation of clinical competencies was conducted and goals set for the remainder of placement	15 (9)	29 (17.4)	55 (32.9)	53 (31.7)	15 (9)	3.14 ± 1.09
16. During the final evaluation I received constructive feedback	17 (10.2)	18 (10.8)	58 (34.7)	57 (34.1)	17 (10.2)	3.23 ± 1.1
Domain: University						3.4 ± 0.82
17. The clinical placement details were made available prior to commencement of the placement	9 (5.4)	19 (11.4)	68 (40.7)	52 (31.1)	19 (11.4)	3.32±1
18. Clinical hurdles. assessment tasks and University expectations were outlined by unit coordinator	5 %3)	17 (10.2)	68 (40.7)	53 (31.7)	24 (14.4)	3.44 ± 0.96
19. A contact person was available to answer clinical questions	8 (4.8)	17 (10.2)	46 (27.5)	67 (40.1)	29 (17.4)	3.55 ± 1.05
20. The clinical office was approachable and friendly	15 (9)	19 (11.4)	53 (31.7)	59 (35.3)	21 (12.6)	3.31 ± 1.11
21. The placement was relevant to the unit content	7 (4.2)	21 (12.6)	59 (35.3)	58 (34.7)	22 (13.2)	3.4 ± 1.01

Table 3. Confirmatory factor analysis fit indices

Fit Indices	Turkish Form	Acceptable Values
χ^2 /SD	2.07	<i>≤</i> 5
Comparative Fit Index (CFI)	0.911	≥ 0.90
Standardized Root Mean Square Residuals (SRMR)	0.059	≤ 0.080
Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA)	0.080	≤ 0.080

The European Research Journal • Volume 7 • Issue 6 • November 2021

Factors	Item number	Original Form	Cronbach α coefficient
Orientation	3	0.77	0.77
Clinical educator/clinical teacher	5	0.76	0.82
Ward staff/preceptors and ward environment	4	0.91	0.88
Final assessment/clinical hurdles	4	0.73	0.89
University	5	0.79	0.86
Total	21	0.90	0.94

Table 4. Domains of CEF and Cronbach's a Reliability Coefficients

Table 5. Results of Individual Item Analysis for CEF

	Scale Mean if Item is Deleted	Scale Variance if Item is Deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
Item 1	67.1377	197.372	0.525	0.936
Item 2	66.8263	196.482	0.587	0.935
Item 3	67.1617	193.389	0.622	0.935
Item 4	66.7665	194.144	0.649	0.934
Item 5	66.6886	194.517	0.653	0.934
Item 6	66.8503	194.646	0.631	0.934
Item 7	66.8144	194.453	0.635	0.934
Item 8	66.7665	198.614	0.425	0.938
Item 9	67.1497	194.297	0.606	0.935
Item 10	67.1257	192.653	0.627	0.935
Item 11	67.0359	194.444	0.578	0.935
Item 12	67.7485	194.876	0.478	0.938
Item 13	66.9820	190.259	0.746	0.932
Item 14	67.0958	189.425	0.779	0.932
Item 15	67.2216	188.957	0.756	0.932
Item 16	67.1317	190.766	0.686	0.933
Item 17	67.0479	196.564	0.546	0.936
Item 18	66.9222	194.000	0.671	0.934
Item 19	66.8144	192.297	0.673	0.934
Item 20	67.0539	191.244	0.662	0.934
Item 21	66.9641	194.204	0.630	0.934

n = 167, No. of Items = 21, Cronbach's Alpha = 0.940

DISCUSSION

In this study, conducted to determine the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the CEF developed by Porter *et al.* [8], the opinions of ten experts about language and content validity were obtained The fit index of the form in terms of items and scale was found to be greater than 0.90. The data obtained from the study shows that the language and content validity of the form was ensured and that the form measures the subject sufficiently.

Construct Validity of Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF)

The construct validity of the 21-item CEF and its five domains, (orientation, clinical educator/teacher, ward staff and environment, clinical hurdles, and university) was investigated through CFA. In the CFA, a number of fit indices are used to determine the construct validity of the scale. Fit indices are used in order to evaluate the fitness between the theoretical model and the actual data. Since the fit indices have different advantages compared to each other, it is recommended that more than one fit index be used in the CFA [24]. Accordingly, it was determined that the chi-square value of the model tested with the CFA was significant ($\chi 2=370.543$; p < 0.001). Moreover, it is stated that the possibility that the chi-square test will be significant may increase significantly with an increase in the sample size and it is recommended that the $\chi 2/SD$ ratio be considered [25]. In order to test which CFA model best represented the present dataset several fit indices were selected: root-mean-squared error of approximation (RMSEA) [26], comparative fit index (CFI) [27], chisquare, and change in chi-square/degrees of freedom between models [25]. RMSEA is a measure of the average of the residual variance and covariance; good models have RMSEA values that are at or less than 0.08 [8]. CFI is an index that falls between 0 and 1, with values greater than 0.90 considered to be indicators of good fitting models [28]. In the current study, the $\gamma 2/SD$, CFI, SRMR, and RMSEA values were found to be within acceptable limits. It can therefore be stated that the study provides construct validity.

Reliability of Undergraduate Nursing Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF)

The Cronbach's α coefficient indicates whether the items measure the same characteristic and whether the items are associated with the measured subject. This value should be as close to 1 as possible in scales. A value between 0.60 and 0.80 indicates that the scale is very reliable; a value between 0.80 and 1.00 indicates that the scale is highly reliable [29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34]. When the Cronbach's α reliability coefficients obtained in our study were examined, the reliability of the Turkish version of the Clinical Evaluation Form (CEF) was found to be good in terms of the domains and the total score. In the original study, the Cronbach's α values of the form in terms of domains and total score were also found to be greater than 0.70 [8]. This result shows that the Turkish version of the form is similar to the original version and has a strong internal consistency.

The correlation coefficient is an indicator of whether the items in the scale measure the desired quality in item analysis [29-32, 34, 35]. This value should be greater than 0.20 in a positive direction [30]. In our study, the correlation of items with the total scale score ranged between 0.42 and 0.77. Item-total score correlation coefficients were found to be in a positive direction and greater than 0.20. According to these results, it can be stated that all items of the scale had a high correlation with total score, that the desired quality of the scale was measured sufficiently, and that the item reliability of the scale was high. Since item-total score correlations were not given in the original study, our results could not be compared with the original form [8].

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, clinical practice can only be successful if the instructor is able to comprehensively evaluate the process and eliminate any deficiencies. In this process, obtaining feedback from students about their clinical practice is very important. Thanks to this feedback, problems can be detected and the necessary precautions taken; thus, a more effective learning environment can be achieved. There is thus a need for a valid and reliable evaluation tool that students can use to correctly evaluate their experience of the process. This study has demonstrated that the Turkish version of the CEF is a valid and reliable measurement tool. It is suggested that nursing students use this form to evaluate clinical practice and thus eliminate a significant gap in this field.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: BA, SP, DY, NV; Study Design: BA, SP, DY, NV; Supervision: BA; Funding: BA, SP, DY, NV; Materials: BA, SP, DY, NV; Data Collection and/or Processing: BA, SP, DY, NV; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: BA, SP, DY, NV; Literature Review: BA, SP, DY, NV; BA, SP, DY, NV: BY, MOK, EP and Critical Review: BA, SP, DY, NV.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Karadağ G, Kılıç SP, Ovayolu N, Ovayolu Ö, Kayaaslan H. [Difficulties encountered by nursing students in practices and their views about nurses]. TAF Prev Med Bull 2013;12:665-72. [Article in Turkish]

2. Sharif F, Masoumi S. A qualitative study of nursing student experiences of clinical practice. BMC Nurs 2005;4:1-7.

3. Bisholt B, Ohlsson U, Engtrom AK, Johansson AS, Gustafsson M. Nursing students' assessment of the learning environment in different clinical settings. Nurse Educ Pract 2014;14:304-10.

4. Moonaghi HK, Mirhaghi A, Oladi S, Zeydi AE. A journey across an unwelcoming field: a qualitative study exploring the factors influencing nursing student's clinical education. Health Sci J 2015;9:1-7.

5. Ha EH. Attitudes toward clinical practice in undergraduate nursing students: a Q methodology study. Nurse Educ Today 2015;35:733-9.

6. Hassan S. Challenges in clinical learning: experiences of Maldivian nursing students. Maldives National J Res 2017;5:79-94.
7. O'Mara L, McDonald J, Gillespie M, Brown H, Miles L. Challenging clinical learning environments: experiences of undergraduate nursing students. Nurse Educ Pract 2014;14:208-13.

8. Porter J, Al-Motlaq M, Hutchinson C, Sellick K, Burns V, James A. Development of an undergraduate nursing clinical evaluation form (CEF). Nurse Educ Today 2011;31:58-62.

9. D'Souza MS, Karkada SN, Parahoo K, Venkatesaperumal R. Perception of and satisfaction with the clinical learning environment among nursing students. Nurse Educ Today 2015;35:833-40.

10. Midgley K. Pre-registration student nurses perception of the hospital-learning environment during clinical placements. Nurse Educ Today 2006;26:338-45.

11. Mthimunye KDT, Daniels FM. Student nurses' perceptions of their educational environment at a school of nursing in Western Cape province, South Africa: a cross-sectional study. Curationis 2019;42:e1-e11.

12. Taştekin A, Türkdönmez B, Güler M, Yılmaz A, Erşahan T. [Related factors and satisfaction levels of nursing students in clinical setting]. FN Hem Derg 2016;24:24-9. [Article in Turkish] 13. Chan D. Development of the clinical learning environment inventory: using the theoretical framework of learning environment studies to assess nursing students' perceptions of the hospital as a learning environment. J Nurs Educ 2002;41:69-75.

14. Papathanasiou IV, Tsaras K, Sarafis P. Views and perceptions of nursing students on their clinical learning environment: teaching and learning. Nurse Educ Today 2014;34:57-60.

15. Yonge O, Myrick F, Haase M. Student nurse stress in the preceptorship experience. Nurse Educ 2002;27:84-8.

16. Serçekuş P, Başkale H. Nursing students' perceptions about clinical learning environment in Turkey. Nurse Educ Pract 2016;17:134-8.

17. Arkan B, Ordin, Y, Yılmaz D. Undergraduate nursing students' experience related to their clinical learning environment and factors affecting to their clinical learning process. Nurse Educ Pract 2018;29:127-32.

18. Arrigoni C, Grugnetti AM, Caruso R, Gallotti ML, Borrelli P, Puci M. Nursing students' clinical competencies: a survey on clinical education objectives. Ann Ig 2017;29:179-88.

19. Glick S, Fernandez L, Irby DM, Harleman E, Fernandez A. Teaching about health care disparities in the clinical setting. J Gen Int Med 2010;25(Suppl 2):95-101.

20. Nikbakht-Nasrabadi A, Mohammadpour A, Abbasi M, Javadi M. Iranian nursing students perspective of their rights in clinical evaluation: a thematic analysis study. Life Sci J 2012;9:5568-74. 21. Booth J, Collins S, Hammond A. Considered evaluation of clinical placements in a new medical school. Asses Eval High Educ 2008;34:7-29.

22. Penman J, Oliver M. Meeting the challenges of assessing clinical placement venues in a bachelor of nursing program. J Uni Teach Learn Pract 2004;1:59-73.

23. Tavşancıl E. Tutumların ölçülmesi ve SPSS ile veri analizi. Ankara: Nobel Yayın Dağıtım; 2010.

24. Kline RB. Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling. 3rd ed. New York: The Guilford Press; 2011.

25. Büyüköztürk Ş, Akgün ÖE, Özkahveci Ö, Demirel F. The validity and reliability study of the Turkish version of the motivated strategies for learning questionnaire. Educational Scienses: Theory&Practice 2004;4:231-9.

26. Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Newbury Park, CA: Sage. 1993.

27. Bentler PM. Comparative fit indixes in structural models. Psychol Bull 1990;107:238-46.

28. Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indices in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Struct Equ Modeling 1999;6:1-55.

29. Aksayan S, Gözüm S. [A guide for transcultural adaptation of the scale]. Hemşirelik Araştırma Dergisi 2002;4:9-14. [Article in Turkish]

30. Şencan H. Reliability and validity in social and behavioral measurement. 1. ed., Ankara: Seçkin Publishing, 2005.

31. Rattray J, Jones MC. Essential elements of questionnaire design and development. J Clin Nurs 2007;16:234-43.

32. Şimşek ÖF. Introduction to Structural Equation Modeling, LISREL Fundamental Principles and Practices. İstanbul: Ekinoks, 2010.

33. Hayran M. Basic statistic for health research. Art Ofset Mat-

bacılık Yayıncılık Org. Ltd Şti, Ankara: 2011.

- 34. DeVellis RF. Scale development, theory and applications. 3rd
- ed. India: SAGE Publication Inc; 2012.
- 35. Terwee CB, Bot SD, de Boer MR, van der Windt DA, Knol

DL, Dekker J, et al. Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. J Clin Epidemiol 2007;60:34-42.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 390 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 pneumonia in a tertiary hospital

Songül Araç¹^o, Mehmet Özel¹^o, Aydın Aslan²^o, Süleyman Alpar³^o, Eşref Araç⁴^o

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Diyarbakır Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey

²Department of Radiology, University of Health Sciences, Diyarbakır Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey ³Department of Emergency Medicine, Diyarbakır Ergani State Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey

⁴Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Diyarbakır Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: In this study, demographic characteristics, comorbidities, presenting symptoms, physical examination findings, laboratory findings, and administered drugs of the discharged or deceased patients admitted to our hospital and hospitalized with the COVID-19 diagnosis were compared to investigate the factors that affect mortality.

Methods: A retrospective study was performed and included COVID-19 pneumonia patients. 390 consecutive discharged or deceased patients, who were hospitalized in our hospital between March 20 and May 20, 2020, after detection of pneumonia and diagnosis of COVID-19, were included in the study.

Results: Of the 390 patients included in the study, 352 (90.25%) were discharged after recovery, while 38 (9.75%) were deceased. The average age of all the patients was 49.46 ± 17.86 years, the average age of the discharged patients was 47.19 ± 16.76 years, and the average age of the deceased patients was 70.42 ± 13.7 years. The average age of deceased patients was significantly higher. Of all the patients, 40.8% was PCR positive.

Conclusions: The present study revealed that the drugs that patients take due to their comorbidities have no effect on the prognosis of the disease and that the presence of comorbidity itself is indicative of the poor prognosis. Taking into account the PCR positivity of 57.9%, even in deceased patients, we believe PCR is inadequate in the diagnosis, and CT is much more valuable in this regard.

Keywords: COVID-19 disease, CT images, pneumonia, reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

Since December 2019, the new Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) outbreak has turned from a small unknown atypical pneumonia cluster into a global pandemic. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) now affects over 200 countries with more than 11 669 259 confirmed cases and nearly 539 906 deaths worldwide [1]. SARS-CoV-2 has similar features to Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS-CoV) and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) coronavirus, and enters the cells through Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor, as the main entry point to infect cells [2, 3].

Received: February 25, 2021; Accepted: April 6, 2021; Published Online: May 25, 2021



How to cite this article: Araç S, Özel M, Aslan A, Alpar S, Araç E. Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 390 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 pneumonia in a tertiary hospital. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):559-565. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.886378

Address for correspondence: Esref Araç, MD., Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Diyarbakır Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research
 Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine,, Elaziğ Yolu 10. Km, Üçkuyular Mevki, 21070 Kayapınar, Diyarbakır, Turkey
 E-mail: esrefarac@gmail.com, Phone: +90 553 6848621, Fax: +90 412 2580060

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj Its mortality rate varies according to age and the presence of a chronic disease. While the mortality rate is 0.2% in healthy young adults, this rate is >10% in the elderly with chronic diseases [4]. Limited information has been available to describe the presenting characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 patients requiring hospitalization in Turkey. In a retrospective cohort study from China, hospitalized patients were predominantly men with a median age of 56 years; 26% required intensive care unit (ICU) care, and there was a 28% mortality rate [5]. Italy is among the most severely affected countries, with 242.173 confirmed cases, 34.026 deaths, and an observed lethality rate of 14.1%, according to the most recent estimates of July 9th, 2020 [6]. Turkey has reported total of 209.962 confirmed cases along with 5300 deaths due to COVID-19 until July 9th, 2020 [7]. Although it is not yet possible to say anything about the differences between mortality rates, there are differences between demographic characteristics and comorbidity prevalences[8]. Research on the potentially modifiable risk factors related to the increased susceptibility to infection or worse outcomes among those infected, focuses on cardiovascular comorbidity, cerebrovascular diseases, hypertension, and diabetes [8, 9].

In this study, demographic characteristics, comorbidities, presenting symptoms, physical examination findings, laboratory findings, and administered drugs of the discharged or deceased patients admitted to our hospital and hospitalized with the COVID-19 diagnosis were compared to investigate the factors that affect mortality.

METHODS

Following the approval of the ethics committee of our hospital for this retrospective research, 390 consecutive discharged or deceased patients, who hospitalized in our hospital between March 20 and May 20, 2020, after detection of pneumonia and diagnosis of COVID-19, were included in the study. Patients whose hospitalization continued, patients under the age of 18, patients with CT findings incompatible with COVID-19 pneumonia, and patients whose data were not available were excluded from the study.

All the patients had specific symptoms of COVID-19 infection, specific signs of viral pneumonia were present in computerized thoracic tomography (CT) in addition to laboratory findings. Infection in 159 patients was confirmed using reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Two hundred thirty-one patients with negative RT-PCR results were diagnosed with COVID-19 by clinical, laboratory and imaging findings in accordance with Ministry of Health COVID-19 guidelines. In line with our hospital protocol, all COVID-19 patients underwent a detailed history, electrocardiography, standard biochemical and hematological tests after their admission to the emergency room. Patients included in the study were treated in accordance with the COVID-19 guidelines of the Ministry of Health. The patients were divided into two groups: those who were recovered and discharged and those who were deceased.

Clinical data of all patients, including gender, age, risk factors (coronary artery disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, etc.) drugs used were collected through the hospital information management system and Social Security Institution Medulla system.

The institutional ethics board of the Gazi Yasargil Training and Research Hospital, an affiliate of the University of Health Science, reviewed and approved this retrospective study.

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS Version 22.0 (IBM Corp. Released 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) was used for statistical analysis. The normality of data was tested by using the Kolmogorov Smirnov test, continuous variables were compared with the Mann Whitney U test, and categorical variables were compared using the chi-square test. A p - value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Of the 390 patients included in the study, 352 (90.25%) were discharged after recovery, while 38 (9.75%) were deceased. The average age of all the patients was 49.46 \pm 17.86 years, the average age of the discharged patients was 47.19 \pm 16.76 years, and the average age of the deceased patients was 70.42 \pm 13.7 years. The average age of the deceased patients was significantly higher (p < 0.001). Of all the patients,

Table 1. Clinical findings of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia All patients Discharged

	All patients	Discharged	Exitus	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 390)	(n = 352)	(n = 38)	
Age (years)	49.46 ± 17.86	47.19 ± 16.76	70.42 ± 13.7	< 0.001
Sex				
Female	188 (48.2)	171 (48.6)	17 (44.7)	0.652
Male	202 (51.8)	181 (51.4)	21 (55.3)	
PCR result, n (%)	. ,		~ /	
Negative	231 (59.2)	215 (61.1)	16 (42.1)	0.024
Positive	159 (40.8)	137 (38.9)	22 (57.9)	
First symptom onset to admission, days	5.32 ± 2.81	5.33 ± 2.89	5.18 ± 1.93	0.733
Symptoms, n (%)				
Fever	149 (38.2)	133 (37.8)	16 (42.1)	0.602
Cough	203 (52.1)	183 (52.0)	20 (52.6)	0.94
Dispne	88 (22.6)	70 0 (19.9)	18 (47.4)	< 0.001
Sputum	9 (2.3)	8 (2.3)	1 (2.6)	0.88
Sore throat	40 (10.3)	34 (9.7)	6 (15.8)	0.23
Myalgia	47 (12.1)	41 (11.6)	6 (15.8)	0.45
Chest distress	13 (3.3)	11 (3.1)	2 (5.3)	0.48
Smell and taste disorders	8 (2.1)	8 (2.3)	0	0.34
Diarrhea	12 (3.1)	10 (2.8)	2 (5.3)	0.41
Headache	20 (5.1)	19 (5.4)	1 (2.6)	0.46
Nausea, vomiting	19 (4.9)	19 (5.4)	0	0.14
Fatigue	117 (30.0)	107 (30.4)	10 (26.3)	0.6
Systolic blood pressure	116.53 ± 13.26	116.12 ± 12.8	120.32 ± 16.69	0.560
Diastolic blood pressure	72.1 ± 8.43	72.08 ± 8.26	72.24 ± 10	0.41
Temperature (°C)	37.1 ± 0.61	37.11 ± 0.61	37.09 ± 0.68	0.58
Pulse rate	84.22 ± 12.64	84.25 ± 12.49	83.97 ± 14.15	0.47
Oxygen saturation	$96,17 \pm 4.15$	96.84 ± 3.49	90.03 ± 4.78	< 0.001
Underlying comorbidities, n (%)	153 (39.2)	122 (34 7)	31 (81.6)	< 0.001
Hypertension	82 (21.0)	59 (16.8)	23 (60.5)	< 0.001
Diabetes	59 (15.2)	47 (13.4)	12 (31.6)	0.003
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	42 (10.8)	34 (9.7)	8 (21.1)	0.032
Chronic Heart Disease	39 (10.0)	33 (9.4)	6 (15.8)	0.211
Malignancy	6 (1.5)	5 (1.4)	1 (2.6)	0.56
Chronic Kidney Disease	12 (3.1)	11(3.1)	1 (2.6)	0.86
Cerebrovascular diseases	9 (2.3)	6 (1.7)	3 (7.9)	0.016
Dementia	4 (10)	2 (0.6)	2 (5.3)	0.006
Medications Used by COVID-19 Patients Befo	ore Admission, n (%)		
Antithrombotic	61 (15.6)	43 (12.2)	18 (47.4)	< 0.001
Diuretic	31 (7.9)	22 (6.3)	9 (23.7)	< 0.001
Beta blocker	44 (11.3)	35 (9.9)	9 (23.7)	0.011
Calcium channel blockers	48 (12.3)	34 (9.7)	14 (36.8)	< 0.001
ACE inhibitor	25 (6.4)	21 (6.0)	4 (10.5)	0.27
Angiotensin receptor blocker	34 (8.7)	22 (6.3)	12 (31.6)	< 0.001
Oral antidiabetic	43 (11.1)	35 (9.9)	8 (21.6)	0.031
Insulin	20 (5.1)	13 (3.7)	7 (18.4)	< 0.001
Inhaled drugs	40 (10.3)	32 (9.1)	8 (21.1)	0.021
Stay at hospital (days)	10.18 ± 8.02	9.65 ± 5.87	15.08 ± 17.94	0.224

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or n (%)

	All patients	Discharged	Exitus	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 390)	(n = 352)	(n = 38)	1
WBC (10 ⁹ /L)	8.1 ± 5.59	7.63±4.22	12.5 ± 11.73	0.001
Neutrophil (10 ⁹ /L)	5.77 ± 4.46	5.54 ± 4	7.86 ± 7.21	0.46
Lymphocyte $(10^9 / L)$	1.78 ± 2.47	1.67 ± 0.76	2.8 ± 7.57	< 0.001
Platelets $(10^9 / L)$	232.92 ± 83.52	232.84±79.92	233.66 ± 112.9	0.638
Hb (g/dL)	13.49 ± 2.05	13.59±1.95	12.61 ± 2.69	0.011
Htc (%)	41.74 ± 5.67	42.1±5.04	38.43 ± 9.23	0.003
Albumin (g/L)	42.43 ± 5.62	43.36 ± 4.48	33.79 ± 7.58	< 0.001
ALT (U/L)	28.88 ± 32.05	28.32 ± 26.42	34.08 ± 64.39	0.69
AST (U/L)	31.28 ± 34.61	29.39 ± 26.34	48.76 ± 75.25	0.002
CRP (mg/L)	51.33 ± 68.44	40.95 ± 58.55	147.51 ± 78.7	<0.001
Ca (mg/dL)	8.58 ± 0.5	8.63 ± 0.46	8.1 ± 0.56	< 0.001
Cl (mmol/ L)	103.48 ± 4.2	103.34 ± 3.29	104.84 ± 8.95	0.905
Creatinin (mg/dL)	0.96 ± 0.78	$0.91\pm0,76$	1.4 ± 0.84	< 0.001
LDH (U/L)	$280.75 \pm 1 \ 29.05$	267.69 ± 116.95	401.68 ± 169.41	< 0.001
K (mmol / L)	4.11 ± 0.51	4.09 ± 0.49	4.28 ± 0.66	0.167
Na (mEq/L)	137.16 ± 3.53	137.16 ± 2.74	137.08 ± 7.71	0.02
Urea (mg/dL)	33.33 ± 28.03	29.25 ± 20.02	71.11 ± 53.27	< 0.001
D-dimer (ng/mL)	$395,\!05\pm553,\!88$	$342,\!24 \pm 480,\!2$	$884,\!21\pm 875,\!02$	< 0.001
Troponin (ng/mL)	0.14 ± 0.39	0.13 ± 0.35	0.25 ± 0.66	< 0.001

Table 2. Laboratory	/ findings of pa	atients with CC	OVID-19 pneumonia
----------------------------	------------------	-----------------	--------------------------

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or n (%)

40.8% was PCR positive. PCR positivity was significantly higher by 57.9% in deceased patients (p = 0.024). There were no gender differences between the two groups and in all patients (Table 1).

The duration between symptom onset and hospitalization was 5.32 ± 2.81 days in all patients included in the study. The most common symptoms were cough by 52.1%, fever by 38.2%, and fatigue by 30%, respectively. In the comparison of the symptoms of the patient groups, there was no significant difference between symptoms other than dyspnea, and the incidence of dyspnea was found to be higher in deceased patients (47.4%) than in the discharged patients (19.9%) (p < 0.001).

According to the results of the physical examination between the groups, the mean saturation in deceased patients was 90%, and 96% in the discharged patients. The mean saturation was significantly lower in the deceased group (p < 0.001).

The presence of comorbidity was significantly

	Total	Discharged	Exitus	<i>p</i> value
Ventral and dorsal	62 (15.9)	41 (11.6)	21 (55.3)	< 0.001
Bilateral	291 (74.6)	254 (72.2)	37 (97.4)	0.001
Perihilar	89 (22.8)	72 (20.5)	17 (44.7)	0.001
Peripheral	359 (92.1)	325 (92.3)	34 (89.5)	0.536

Tablo 3. CT features of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia

Data are shown as n (%)

higher in the deceased group (p < 0.001).). The most common additional disease in the deceased group was hypertension by 60%. HT, DM, cerebrovascular disease and dementia were significantly higher in the deceased group (p < 0.001, p = 0.003, p = 0.016 and p = 0.006, respectively) (Table 1).

Considering the drug use in the deceased group, antithrombotic, diuretic, beta blocker, ARB, calcium channel blocker, oral antidiabetic and insulin use was significantly higher (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p = 0.011, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p = 0.031 and p < 0.001, respectively), whereas there was no statistical difference in the use of ACE inhibitors compared to the discharged patients (p = 0.27).

In the examination of the laboratory findings of the patient groups, hemogram parameters leukocyte and lymphocyte counts were significantly higher in the deceased patients (p = 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively), while hemoglobin and hematocrit levels were significantly lower (p = 0.011, p = 0.003, respectively) (Table 2). Of the biochemical parameters, albumin was significantly lower, while CRP, LDH, urea, creatine, D-dimer and troponin were significantly higher (p < 0.001).

In the evaluation of lung involvement in thoracic CT, perihilar involvement, ventral and dorsal involvement, and bilateral lung involvement were significantly higher in the deceased patients (p < 0.001) (Tablo 3) (Fig. 1).

DISCUSSION

In the study, advanced age and comorbid factors such as hypertension and diabetes were found to be significantly higher in deceased patients in line with the literature. In deceased patients, the most common comorbidity was hypertension by 60%, in line with the literature [8, 10]. Although preliminary studies reported higher COVID-19 incidence in the male gender, subsequent studies found no difference between



Fig.1. CT scan of 53-year old female with COVID-19. Bilateral ventral and dorsal located ground glass opacities.

the genders as in the present study [11, 12]. We believe, the higher infection incidence in the male gender in the preliminary research was due to the fact that most of affected patients associated with the seafood wholesale market were male workers.

The most common presenting symptoms of the patients were cough by 52.1%, fever by 38.2%, and fatigue by 30%, respectively, in line with the literature [8, 13]. As expected, dyspnea incidence was higher in the deceased group, and thus saturations were lower. Some studies have reported that ACE/ARB use increases mortality [3, 14-16]. However, many studies and meta-analysis studies have shown no such risk [17–19], and major cardiology scientific associations, including the ACC, HFSA, AHA, and ESC Hypertension Council, have rejected these correlation hypothesignificantly higher use ses [20]. The of antithrombotics, diuretics, beta blockers, ARBs, calcium channel blockers, oral antidiabetics and insulin in the deceased group in the study is believed to be due to the presence of hypertension and diabetes, not the drugs used. Although the use of all antihypertensives was significantly higher in the deceased group compared to the discharged group, it is important to note that the use of ACE inhibitors did not differ between the groups, indicating that the use of ACE inhibitors does not increase the risk of mortality.

In the laboratory findings, the infection indicators CRP, leukocyte and albumin (as negative acute phase reactants) were significantly different between the two groups as expected. (Table 2). In the deceased group, CRP, LDH, urea, creatine, D-dimer, troponin, leukocyte and lymphocyte levels were significantly higher, while albumin, hemoglobin, and hematocrit levels were significantly lower. Many studies have shown similar results to our findings, but despite the fact that lymphopenia was observed in COVID-19 patients with particularly poor prognosis and in many patients in our study, the mean lymphocyte levels in both groups were within the normal limits, but the lymphocyte count in deceased patients was found to be significantly higher compared to discharged patients [10–12].

Laboratory values suggest that COVID-19 infection may be associated with cellular immunodeficiency, coagulation activation, myocardial damage, hepatic damage, and kidney damage. We believe that the cause of mortality in COVID-19 pneumonia is hypoxia and shock caused by the direct effect of the virus, and the cytokine storm that develops due to inflammatory response.

In the evaluation of lung involvement in thoracic CT, perihilar involvement, ventral and dorsal involvement, and bilateral lung involvement were significantly higher in the deceased patients. In the literature review, it was found that there are findings indicating that bilateral lung involvement increases mortality, similar to the results of this study [21]. However, there was no study of perihilar involvement in particular.

CONCLUSION

The present study suggests that advanced age, presence of comorbidity, the levels of laboratory parameters such as CRP, creatine, D-dimer, troponin, hemoglobin and albumin, and bilateral and perihilar involvement in CT can be considered as a sign of poor prognosis in COVID-19 patients. The present study revealed that the presence of comorbidity itself is indicative of the poor prognosis. More comprehensive and detailed studies are needed to determine the death effect of drug use. Taking into account the PCR positivity of 57.9%, even in deceased patients, we believe PCR is inadequate in the diagnosis, and CT is much more valuable in this regard.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Study Design: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Supervision: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Funding: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Materials: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Data Collection and/or Processing: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Literature Review: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA; Manuscript Preparation: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA and Critical Review: EA, SA, MÖ, SA, AA.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.
REFERENCES

1. World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Situation Report – 170. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situationreports/20200708-covid-19-sitrep-170.pdf?sfvrsn=bca86036_2. Accessed in 2020 (Aug 28).

2. Liu J, Zheng X, Tong Q, Li W, Wang B, Sutter K, et al. Overlapping and discrete aspects of the pathology and pathogenesis of the emerging human pathogenic coronaviruses SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV, and 2019-nCoV. J Med Virol 2020;92:491-4.

3. Selçuk M, Çınar T, Keskin M, Çiçek V, Kılıç Ş, Kenan B, et al. Is the use of ACE inb/ARBs associated with higher in-hospital mortality in Covid-19 pneumonia patients? Clin Exp Hypertens 2020;42:738-42.

4. Bravi F, Flacco ME, Carradori T, Volta CA, Cosenza G, De Togni A, et al. Predictors of severe or lethal COVID-19, including angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers, in a sample of infected Italian citizens. PLoS One 2020;15:e0235248.

5. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2020;395:1054-62.

6. Istituto Superiore di Sanità. Dati della Sorveglianza integrata COVID-19 in Italia [COVID-19 integrated surveillance data in Italy]. Available from: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/coronavirus/sars-cov-2-dashboard.

Accessed in 2020 (Aug 28). 7. T.C Sağlık Bakanlığı Korona Tablosu. Available from:

https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/. Accessed in 2020 (Aug 28). 8. Richardson S, Hirsch JS, Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW, et al. Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 5700 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 in the New York City Area. JAMA 2020;323:2052-9.

9. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang W, Ou C, He J, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 2020;382:1708-20.

10. Fang L, Karakiulakis G, Roth M. Are patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus at increased risk for COVID-19 infection? Lancet Respir Med 2020;8:e21.

11. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 2020;395:507-13.

12. Liu Y, Du X, Chen J, Jin Y, Peng L, Wang HHX, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as an independent risk factor for mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Infect 2020;81:e6-e12.

13. Liabeuf S, Moragny J, Bennis Y, Batteux B, Brochot E, Schmit JL, et al. Association between renin-angiotensin system inhibitors and COVID-19 complications. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother 2020 Jun 12;pvaa062. doi: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvaa062.

14. Sommerstein R, Kochen MM, Messerli FH, Gräni C. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): do angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors/angiotensin receptor blockers have a biphasic effect? J Am Heart Assoc 2020;9:e016509.

15. Rico-Mesa JS, White A, Anderson AS. Outcomes in patients with COVID-19 infection taking ACEI/ARB. Curr Cardiol Rep 2020;22:1-4.

16. Mehra MR, Desai SS, Kuy S, Henry TD, Patel AN. Cardiovascular disease, drug therapy, and mortality in Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020;382:e102.

17. Pranata R, Permana H, Huang I, Lim MA, Soetedjo NNM, Supriyadi R, et al. The use of renin angiotensin system inhibitor on mortality in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14:983-90.

18. Patients taking ACE-i and ARBs who contract COVID-19 should continue treatment, unless otherwise advised by their physician. American Heart Association. Available from: https://newsroom.heart.org/news/patients-taking-ace-i-and-arbs-who-contract-covid-19-should-continue-treatment-unless-otherwise-advised-by-their-physician. Accessed in 2020 (Aug 28).

19. Mahdjoub E, Mohammad W, Lefevre T, Debray MP, Khalil A. Admission chest CT score predicts 5-day outcome in patients with COVID-19. Intensive Care Med 2020;46:1648-50.

20. Yuan M, Yin W, Tao Z, Tan W, Hu Y. Association of radiologic findings with mortality of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. PLoS One 2020;15:1-10.

21. Hu L, Chen S, Fu Y, Gao Z, Long H, Ren HW, et al. Risk factors associated with clinical outcomes in 323 COVID-19 hospitalized patients in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis 2020;71:2089-98.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.938646

Prediction value of creatine kinase level in conservative treated unruptured tubal ectopic pregnancies

Sakine Rahımlı Ocakoğlu¹^o, Osman Haldun Develioğlu²^o

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Private Doctor's Office, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: An ectopic pregnancy (EP) occurs when a fertilized ovum implants outside the endometrial cavity. We investigated the creatine kinase (CK) enzyme in conservatively treated EP to determine the resolution time and predict cases that may progress to surgical intervention.

Methods: We include 43 patients with stable vital signs at recruitment. All participants were examined by using transvaginal ultrasound (TVUS). Beta human chorionic gonadotropin (β -hCG) and creatine kinase (CK) levels were also measured. In cases diagnosed with EP, intramuscular methotrexate (MTX) at a dose of 50 mg / m2 was administered and monitored with β -hCG titers. Follow-up continued until β -hCG titer became negative, or surgery became mandatory due to acute abdominal pain.

Results: The mean β -hCG Level in the presence of an adnexal mass was statistically significantly higher than the mean level in patients in whom TVUS failed to define a mass. The mean β -hCG level in the surgical exploration group of patients was significantly higher than in those who did not require surgery. At a cut-off of 6486 mIU/mL, β -hCG could predict the emergence of acute abdomen with a sensitivity of 75% and a specificity of 94.3%. We examined CK level to contribute the test's specificity, but we found no difference among cases with and without surgical exploration.

Conclusions: In patients treated conservatively for EP, CK levels at the outset neither predict an acute abdomen to emerge nor shed light on the resolution period in patients who respond to medical therapy. **Keywords:** Ectopic pregnancy, creatine kinase enzyme, β -hCG level, methotrexate

Ectopic pregnancy (EP) is a condition when fertilized ovum implants anywhere other than the endometrial cavity [1, 2]. EP is a life-threatening condition if it is not detected, monitored, and treated in time. Many risk factors have been identified for EP [3]. We might divide them into three main groups: high, moderate, and low-risk factors. High risk is: if previous pregnancy of the patient was an EP; previous tubal surgery or tubal sterilization; tubal pathology defined by hysterosalpingography or laparoscopy; use of the intrauterine device (IUD); surgical sterilization; intrauterine diethylstilbestrol (DES) exposure. The moderate-risk group is a history of genital infections (gonorrhea, chlamydia), smoking, and patient infertility. The low-risk group includes a history of previous pelvic or abdominal surgery, vaginal douche, and early sexual intercourse in patients.

As we know, some pathophysiological changes occur in ectopic pregnancy. In the literature, 95% of EPs are tubal pregnancies [4]. The authors reported

Received: June 4, 2021; Accepted: August 31, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021

How to cite this article: Rahmlı Ocakoğlu S, Develioğlu OH. Prediction value of creatine kinase level in conservative treated unruptured tubal ectopic pregnancies. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):566-574. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.938646

Address for correspondence: Sakine Rahımlı Ocakoğlu, MD., Bursa City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey *E-mail: dr.sakineocakoglu@gmail.com, Tel: +90 224 9750000*

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj that implantation takes place in the lumen, and then infiltration continues extraluminal by penetrating the lamina propria and muscularis layer [5]. We already know three scenarios for tubal pregnancies: involution, tubal abortion, or rupture of EP. The rupture of the fallopian tubes occurs between 6 and 12 weeks, depending on the location and early diagnosis of the EP [6]. Ampullar EP, most common type of tubal EP. In that localization, tubal rupture most frequently occurs on the 12th of the gestational week. Isthmus is the second most common place for implantation of EP [7]. In this part of the tube, the lumen is narrow, the rupture of the tube occurs in an earlier pregnancy period.

Creatine kinase (CK) is a protein with a molecular weight of 86,000 kDa. There are three types (isoenzymes) of CK: CK-I or BB is primarily found in the brain and smooth muscle, CK-II or MB primarily in the heart, CK-III or MM primarily in skeletal muscle [8-10].

CK activity is associated with gender, age, race, and muscle mass and shows physiological variations. The reference range for women is 10-79 U/L, and men are 17-148 U/L. The height of CK occurs primarily as a result of brain, heart, or muscle damage.

CK is not a frequently used test in gynecology and obstetrics practice. Maternal serum CK level has been investigated as a marker in the diagnosis of EP. It was significantly higher in patients with tubal pregnancy than patients with missed abortion or normal intrauterine pregnancy [11]. Develioglu *et al.* [12] found out to CK levels were higher in isthmic than ampullary and higher in ruptured than in unruptured cases of EP. CK levels were higher in the isthmic localization of EP because damage to muscle infiltration in this part of the tuba occurs more rapidly in less time. Currently, the most valuable tests for the diagnosis of EP are the measurement of human beta-chorionic gonadotropin (β -hCG) in serum and transvaginal ultrasound (TVUS) screening [13].

The use of these tests separately and in combination can be diagnostic but does not always determine treatment modalities. There are previously published studies to utilize biomarkers to manage and treat the patient promptly [14, 15]. In this study, we planned to examine the CK enzyme in conservatively treated ectopic pregnancies to determine the resolution period of ectopic pregnancy and predict cases that may progress to tubal rupture.

METHODS

Forty-three patients treated conservatively for EP at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of Uludag University Medical School during the period extending from March 2004 to November 2007 were included in this study. All included cases had stable vital signs at admission evaluated by TVUS, β -hCG, and CK measurements. Exclusion criteria for this study were: patients with acute abdomen, factors that increase CK and CK-MB levels (trauma, muscle damage, intramuscular injection, diagnosed cardiac disease), and contraindication to the use of methotrexate (liver diseases, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, aplastic anemia). Patients diagnosed with EP were given intramuscular MTX at a dose of 50 mg/m² and were followed up with β -hCG titers. β -hCG values were measured on the 4th and 7th days of MTX administration. Patients with the β -hCG decline of 15% or more were followed weekly until they became negative. At the same dose, the second MTX administration was given to the patient whose β -hCG titers decreased by less than 15% on the 4th and 7th days of the first MTX dose. The patients were divided into two groups according to their response to MTX treatment: medical treatment responders and group requiring surgical exploration due to acute abdomen after MTX treatment. Gestational age at the time of diagnosis, β -hCG and CK levels, and TVUS findings were determined in both groups. We also compared the mean size of the extra-ovarian mass, presence of gestational sac, mean size of gestational sac, presence and size of fetal nodes, and fetal cardiac activity in both groups. We also evaluated the factors that can affect the resolution time in MTX responded group: age of the patients, obstetric history, ectopic pregnancy history, gestation period, MTX dose, and BMI. Uludag University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee approved this study.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were given with their mean and standard deviations. Mann-Whitney U-test was used for intergroup comparisons, and the Spearman correlation coefficient was used to define the relationship between variables. Linear regression analysis was used to evaluate the independent variables that were shown to be separately correlated with the dependent variable. Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) analysis was used to determine the sensitivity and specificity of the diagnostic tests. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. SPSS 13.0 (Chicago, IL, USA) program was used for statistical evaluations.

RESULTS

The mean gestational age of the 43 patients included in the study were 48.9 ± 13.6 days, mean age of patients 29.7 ± 5.5 years (29; 22-44), mean body weight 65.5 ± 10.3 kg; mean BMI 24.6 ± 3.3 kg/m²; mean body area 1.71 \pm 0.1; mean β -hCG level was 3584 \pm 5165 mIU/mL; mean MTX dose was 84.7 \pm 7.0 mg.

Seven patient had previous EP history. TVUS revealed an extra-ovarian adnexal mass in 31 (72.1%) patients, the mean size of the mass was measured as 21.8 ± 6.5 (20; 11-35) mm. Gestational sac within the mass in 18 (41.9%), a fetal node in 3 (7.0%), and fetal cardiac activity in 2 patients (4.7%) were found out. The β -hCG levels detected on the day of diagnosis did not show a statistically significant difference with the age of patients (r = 0.120; *p* = 0.44). Comparison of β -hCG level according to obstetric and ultrasonographic variables are presented in Table 1.

There was no relationship between β -hCG levels

Table 1. Comparison of β -hCG levels according to obstetric and ultrasonographic variables

n = 43	β-hCG level	p value
Primigravid		
Yes $(n = 16)$	3474 ± 6200	0.19
No (n = 27)	3650 ± 4573	
Nulliparity		
Yes (n = 29)	3631 ± 5306	0.82
No (n = 14)	3488 ± 5054	
Abortion History		
Yes $(n = 12)$	2448 ± 1920	0.34
No $(n = 31)$	4024 ± 5940	
Elective Curettage History		
Yes (n = 6)	5730 ± 6992	0.42
No (n = 37)	3236 ± 4842	
Ectopic Pregnancy History		
Yes (n = 7)	5070 ± 5034	0.12
No (n = 36)	3296 ± 5210	
Extra-overian Mass		
Yes (n = 31)	4634 ± 5725	0.003
No (n = 12)	873 ± 1163	
Gestation Sac		
Yes $(n = 18)$	5577 ± 6086	0.11
No (n = 13)	3329 ± 5128	
Fetal Node		
Yes (n = 3)	12908 ± 5777	0.027
No (n = 15)	4110 ± 5137	

Data were presented as mean \pm standart deviation.

n = 43	Creatine Kinase	<i>p</i> value
Primigravid		
Yes (n = 16)	69.8 ± 41.0	0.29
No (n = 27)	78.4 ± 45.8	
Nulliparity		
Yes $(n = 29)$	67.2 ± 33.1	0.14
No (n = 14)	91.8 ± 58.4	
Abortion History		
Yes $(n = 12)$	82.2 ± 54.3	0.55
No $(n = 31)$	72.5 ± 39.7	
Elective Curettage History		
Yes (n = 6)	91.2± 56.5	0.57
No (n = 37)	72.6 ± 41.8	
Ectopic Pregnancy History		
Yes (n = 7)	82.9 ± 24.8	0.11
No (n = 36)	73.7 ± 46.7	
Extra-ovarian Mass		
Yes (n = 31)	81.7 ± 48.9	0.096
No (n = 12)	58.3 ± 19.2	
Gestation Sac		
Yes (n = 18)	76.7 ± 47.0	0.31
No (n = 13)	88.8 ± 52.5	
Fetal Node		
Yes $(n = 3)$	94.3 ± 83.5	0.95
No (n = 15)	73.1 ± 40.0	

 Table 2. Comparison of Creatine kinase levels according to obstetric and ultrasonographic variables

Data were presented as mean± standart deviation.

and obstetric variables (Table 1). However, the mean β -hCG level of 31 patients with an extra-ovarian mass statistically significantly higher than the mean level in patients in whom TVUS failed to define a mass (4634 ± 5725 vs. 873 ± 1163 mIU/mL; p = 0.003). In addition, in three cases with fetal nodes, β -hCG levels are significantly higher compared to cases where gestational sacs are seen as an embryonic.

Comparison of Creatine Kinase level according to obstetric and ultrasonographic variables are presented in Table 2.

There were no relationship between CK levels and obstetric variables (p > 0.05). Although the mean CK level of 31 patients with an extra-ovarian mass de-

tected TVUS seemed to be higher than those without a mass. Still, this difference was of no statistical significance (p = 0.096). The size of the extra-ovarian masses also did not correlate with CK levels. Additionally, CK levels detected on the day of diagnosis of EP did not show a statistically significant difference with the age of patients (r = 0.099; p = 0.53).

Surgical exploration was indicated for acute abdominal pain in eight (18.6%) patients during the follow-up after MTX administration. Characteristics of cases requiring surgical exploration are presented in Table 3.

The variables between the surgical intervention group and the medically treated group were investi-

Case	Gestation period (Day)	β-hCG (mIU/mL)	CK (IU/L)	US findings*	Follow- up time	Ectopic localization	Operation findings
1	42	7133	54	EM/GS	2	Isthmic	Rupture
2	40	730	77	EM/GS	2	Ampulla	Abortus
3	45	18840	93	EM	4	Isthmic	Rupture
4	48	610	71	EM/GS	2	Ampulla	Rupture
5	34	7073	125	EM	2	Ampulla	Abortus
6	46	19101	36	EM/GS/FN/FCA	18	Ampulla	Rupture
7	54	7665	190	EM/GS/FN	5	Ampulla	Rupture
8	57	18696	53	EM/GS	24	Ampulla	Abortus

Table 3.	Characteristics	of cases	requiring	surgical	exploration
I abit J.	Character istics	UI Cases	requiring	surgicar	capioi auton

EM = Extra-ovarian mass, GS = Gestation sac, FN = Fetal node, FCA = Fetal cardiac activity

Table 4. Comparison of Weight, BMI, and MTX dose in cases with and without surgical exploration.

	Surgical I	<i>p</i> value	
	Yes (n = 8)	No (n = 35)	
Weight (kg)	66.9 ± 8.8	65.2 ± 10.7	0.55
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.6 + 3.4	24.6 ± 3.3	0.80
MTX dose (mg)	81.6 ± 13.7	83.4 ± 9.3	0.77

Data were presented as mean \pm standart deviation. BMI = Body mass index, MTX = Methotrexate döşe

Table 5	. Comparison	of gestational	age a	and β-hCG	and	CK	levels	in	cases	with	and
without	surgical explo	oration									

	Surgical Ex	Surgical Exploration			
	Yes (n = 8)	No (n = 35)			
Gestation age (Day)	45.8 ± 7.4	49.6 ± 14.6	0.84		
β-hCG (mIU/mL)	9981 ± 7865	2122 ± 2898	0.003		
CK (IU/L)	87.4 ± 49.7	72.4 ± 42.6	0.29		

Data were presented as mean \pm standart deviation.

gated. There was no difference between these two groups in terms of weight, BMI and MTX dose (p > 0.05). (Table 4)

Comparisons of the gestational age, β -hCG and CK levels between the patients with and without surgical exploration are presented in Table 5 There was no difference between the groups in terms of gestational age and CK levels on the day of the diagnosis of EP (p > 0.05). But the mean β -hCG level in the surgically explorated group was significantly higher

 $(9981 \pm 7865 \text{ vs. } 2122 \pm 2898 \text{ mIU/mL}; p = 0.003).$

According to the ROC analysis the cut-off value of β -hCG level in of ectopic pregnancy was 6486 (AUC = 0.829; SE = 0.093, Sensitivity= 75% and Specificity 94.30%) with the 90.70% accuracy level (Fig. 1).

Eight of 31 patients (25.8%) who had extra-ovarian mass at the time of hospitalization required surgery. But an acute abdomen did not develop in any of the patients whose extra-ovarian mass could not be identified by TVUS. For the prediction of acute abdomen, identification of an extra-ovarian adnexal mass had a sensitivity of 100%, with the specificity of 34.3%. In the subgroup that underwent surgery among patients with extra-ovarian mass, the mean size of mass, defined as $(25.6 \pm 7.9 \ [22; 18-35])$ mm, were larger than in patients without an surgery intervention $(20, 5 \pm 5.5 \ [20]); 11-31]$ mm) with (p = 0.10).

According to the ROC analysis, the theoretical accuracy rate of extra-ovarian mass dimensions in predicting the development of acute abdomen due to EP was 69.8% (AUC = 0.698; SE = 0.110, Sensitivity = 100% and Specificity = 30.40%) (Fig. 2).

In 35 patients who did not undergo surgery, EP recovered in an average of 24.8 ± 12.4 days following MTX administration. We found no correlation between MTX doses and β -hCG (r = -0.063; p = 0.69), CC (r = 0.254; p = 0.10) levels. The resolution period was longer in patients with higher β -hCG levels at the outset (r=0.556; p = 0.001). The presence of an adnexal mass was also an independent determinant of the regression in β -hCG levels that reflected the resolution of EP (p = 0.081). CK levels at admission were not predictive of this resolution time.

Comparison of resolution period according to obstetric and ultrasonographic variables in patients with MTX response is presented in Table 6.

There was no relationship between the resolution

period and ultrasonographic variables obstetric variables except primigravid. We found that the resolution period was shorter in primigravida patients (20.6 \pm 12.1, 27.6 \pm 12.7; p = 0.048).

DISCUSSION

EP incidence dramatically increased in the last two decades. Every woman in reproductive age admitted to the emergency department with abdominal pain should be investigated for EP. Early diagnosis reduces complications and mortality from EP and allows patients to be treated conservatively [16].

Some of the EP resolves spontaneously without medical treatment or surgical intervention [7]. Current research shows no available method that differentiates which cases can progress to rupture of the fallopian tubes and have to be treated surgically as a first-line treatment. In our study, we aimed to investigate creatine kinase (CK) levels for this purpose.

Lavie *et al.* [11] conducted CK research as a marker for EP diagnosis. In their study, CK levels were significantly higher in tubal EP than in missed abortion and intrauterine pregnancies. Elevation of CK level in maternal serum has been explained by damage caused by the invasion of trophoblasts in the muscular layer of the Fallopian tube.



Fig. 1. The value of β -hCG in predicting acute abdomen.



Fig. 2. The value of extra-ovarian mass size in predicting the acute abdomen.

n = 35	Resolution Period (Day)	<i>p</i> value
Primigravid		
Yes $(n = 14)$	20.6 ± 12.1	0.048
No (n = 21)	27.6 ± 12.7	
Nulliparity		
Yes $(n = 25)$	25.0 ± 14.0	0.68
No (n = 10)	24.1 ± 7.7	
Abortion history		
Yes (n = 11)	28.7 ± 14.7	0.22
No (n = 24)	23.0 ± 11.1	
Elective curettage history		
Yes (n = 4)	22.0 ± 3.6	0.99
No (n = 31)	25.1 ± 13.1	
Ectopic pregnancy history		
Yes (n=6)	30.3 ± 9.7	0.084
No (n=29)	23.6 ± 12.8	
Extra-ovarian mass		
Yes $(n = 23)$	27.0 ± 13.0	0.099
No (n = 12)	20.4 ± 10.5	
Gestation sac		
Yes (n = 12)	28.4 ± 12.0	0.12
No (n = 23)	22.9 ± 12.5	

Table 6. Resolution period in responders to methotrexate therapy

Data were presented as mean± standart deviation.

However, most other studies in the literature disagree with Lavie *et al.* [11]'s study. Vandermolen *et al.* [17] found that the Level of CK at EP was within the normal range, and there is no diagnostic value of creatine in EP. Sarı *et al.* [18] found out in their study what the CK levels of the induced, spontaneous, or missed miscarriages and EP were not significantly different. Horne *et al.* [19] noted that biomarkers had been studied extensively about EP, but the results have been so conflicting that none have been put into clinical use. And they have also pointed out the limitation of the clinical utility of markers because of the variable results of studies.

Develioğlu *et al.* [12], in their study, examined 32 tubal ectopic pregnancies which are undergoing salpingectomy. In ruptured isthmic ectopic pregnancies, β -HCG levels were lower, but CK levels were higher than in other EP localizations. An elevated CK level in isthmic localization was explained with rapid invasion progression in a shorter time [12].

Seven of our cases (16.3%) had a history of the previous EP. This finding confirmed that it increases the risk of recurrence of ectopic in patients with a previous EP [20].

Our data shows that the duration of pregnancy and the results of TVUS are not related. On the other hand, TVUS results were more closely correlated with β -hCG levels. These findings suggest a similar inference to the study by Sivalingam et al. [14]. They highlight the importance of using a combination of TVUS and beta-hCG in the diagnosis of EP [14].

Tawfiq *et al.* [21]'s study pointed out that MTX should not be used to treat EP when initial beta-hCG is > 4000 IU/L.

In our study, we found that the most effective producers for acute abdomen were β -hCG values of \geq 6486 mIU/ml and above, and an extraovarian mass of \geq 17.5 mm. Combining these tests has a very high sensitivity, but low specificity creates diagnostic inadequacy in predicting acute abdominal development due to EP. To increase the specificity of diagnostic tests, we aimed to benefit from CK levels in our study. Previously, Develioğlu et al. [12] examined CK in this prospect and found that the highest CK values were founded in ruptured isthmic pregnancy. In our study, for patients with adnexal mass greater than 17.5 mm defined by TVUS, the mean CK level (86.6 ± 57.3) of the patients without acute abdomen was not different from the patients with acute abdomen with the mean CK level (87.4 ± 49.7). Although there was no relationship between CK and β-hCG level, it was found that the level of CK did not differ according to TVUS findings and gestational age. Our study shows that we cannot benefit from CK levels as a predictor of resolution time for medically treated and a predictor for cases where surgical exploration is possible.

CONCLUSION

As a result, In patients treated conservatively for ectopic pregnancies, CK levels at the outset neither predict an acute abdomen to emerge nor shed light on the resolution period in patients who respond to medical therapy. We determined that the most effective β -hCG value that could be used to predict acute abdomen was 6486 mIU/mL.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: OHD; Study Design: OHD; Supervision: OHD; Funding: SRO; Materials: SRO; Data Collection and/or Processing: SRO; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: SRO, OHD; Literature Review: SRO; Manuscript Preparation: SRO and Critical Review: SRO, OHD.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Della-Giustina D, Denny M. Ectopic pregnancy. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2003;21:565-84.

2. Greer IA, Lowe GD, Walker JJ, Forbes CD. Haemorrhagic problems in obstetrics and gynaecology in patients with congenital coagulopathies. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1991;98:909-18.

3. Varma R, Gupta J. Tubal ectopic pregnancy. BMJ Clin Evid 2009;2009:1406.

4. Cunningham FH, MacDonald PC, Grant NF, et al (eds): Williams Obstetrics. 20th ed. Stamford, CT: Appleton & Lange. Prentice-Hall International, Inc., 1997: pp.607-634.

5. Budowick M, Johnson TR, Genadry R, Parmley TH, Woodruff JD. The histopathology of the developing tubal ectopic pregnancy. Fertil Steril 1980;34:169-71.

6. Mhaskar R, Harish M, Jaiprakash T. Unruptured ampullary ectopic pregnancy at 16-week period of gestation with live fetus. J Obstet Gynaecol India 2014;64:73.

7. Kumar V, Gupta J. Tubal ectopic pregnancy. BMJ Clin Evid 2015;2015:1406.

8. Lang H, Würzburg U. Creatine kinase, an enzyme of many forms. Clin Chem 1982;28:1439-47.

9. Jones M, Swaminathan R. The clinical biochemistry of creatine kinase. J Int Fed Clin Chem 1990;2:108-14.

10. Lang H. Creatine kinase isoenzymes: pathophysiology and clinical application. Springer Verlag, 1981.

11. Lavie O, Beller U, Neuman M, Ben-Chetrit A, Gottcshalk-Sabag S, Diamant YZ. Maternal serum creatine kinase: a possible predictor of tubal pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993;169:1149-50.

12. Develioglu OH, Askalli C, Uncu G, Samli B, Daragenli O. Evaluation of serum creatine kinase in ectopic pregnancy with reference to tubal status and histopathology. BJOG 2002;109:121-8.

13. Hsu S, Euerle BD. Ultrasound in pregnancy. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2012;30:849-67.

14. Sivalingam VN, Duncan WC, Kirk E, Shephard LA, Horne AW. Diagnosis and management of ectopic pregnancy. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care 2011;37:231-40.

15. Senapati S, Barnhart KT. Biomarkers for ectopic pregnancy and pregnancy of unknown location. Fertil Steril 2013;99:1107-16.

16. Barnhart KT. Ectopic pregnancy. N Eng J Med 2009;361:379-87.

17. Vandermolen DT, Borzelleca JF. Serum creatine kinase does not predict ectopic pregnancy. Fertil Steril 1996;65:916-21.

18. Sarı N, Işık H, Başar H, Seven A, Bostancı A. The role of Beta-hCG progesterone and creatine kinase in the early diagnosis of ectopic pregnancies. Gynecol Obstet Reprod Med 2013;19:133-8.

19. Horne AW, Duncan WC, Critchley HO. The need for serum biomarker development for diagnosing and excluding tubal ectopic pregnancy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2010;89:299-301.

20. Stowall T, McCord ML. Early pregnancy loss and ectopic pregnancy. In: Berek JS. Adashi EY, Hillard PA, eds. Novak's Gynecology. 12th ed. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1999: p. 487-523.

21. Tawfiq A, Agameya AF, Claman P. Predictors of treatment failure for ectopic pregnancy treated with single-dose methotrexate. Fertil Steril 2000;74:877-80.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.925688

Cardiovascular Surgery

Predictive value of calculated plasma osmolality and atherogenic index of plasma for chronic limb-threatening ischemia in lower extremity artery disease

Arda Aybars Pala^o, Yusuf Salim Urcun^o

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital, Adıyaman, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Chronic limb-threatening ischemia (CLTI) is the end-stage form of lower extremity artery disease (LEAD) whose main reason is atherosclerosis. Plasma osmolality (PO) and plasma lipid levels affect the development and progression of atherosclerosis directly. The purpose of this study was to investigate the predictive effect of PO and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) for the development of CLTI.

Methods: A total of 324 patients who were diagnosed with LEAD were analyzed retrospectively. The clinical stage of the disease was evaluated according to the Rutherford classification, and patients without CLTI were defined as "Group 1" and patients with CLTI as "Group 2".

Results: There were 248 patients (mean age 64.44 ± 9.05 years and 73.4% male) in Group 1, and 76 patients (mean age 66.62 ± 8.22 years and 76.3% male) in Group 2. In the multivariate regression analysis, CAD, PO, CRP and AIP were defined as independent predictive factors for the development of CLTI (p = 0.015, p < 0.001, p = 0.007, p < 0.001; respectively). ROC curve analysis showed that, PO cut-off value for CLTI development was 293.28 mOsm/kg (AUC: 0.821, p < 0.001) with 75% sensitivity and 74.2% specificity, and AIP cut-off value was 0.23 (AUC: 0.740, p < 0.001) with 67.1% sensitivity and 68.5% specificity.

Conclusions: The PO and AIP values in LEAD patients may be used as the new biomarkers of atherosclerosis progression, and therefore as predictive factors for the development of CLTI.

Keywords: Atherogenic index of plasma, chronic limb-threatening ischemia, osmolality, lower extremity artery disease

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) is a common disease with its main cause as atherosclerosis. Globally, more than 200 million adults live with PAD. PAD is more common in men and its incidence is increasing, especially in women over the age of 50. The most significant risk factors identified for PAD are diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, chronic renal disease and smoking [1, 2]. Lower extremity artery disease (LEAD) affects the lower extremity arteries and although it is mostly asymptomatic, patients often present with a hospital admission of intermittent claudication. The end-stage form of LEAD associated with high mortality and morbidity is chronic limb-threatening ischemia (CLTI). The diagnosis of CLTI is made clinically, and is characterized by ischemic resting pain, ulcerations and gangrene as a result of arterial blood flow insufficiency due to atherosclerosis progression [3].

Received: April 27, 2021; Accepted: June 28, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Pala AA, Urcun YS. Predictive value of calculated plasma osmolality and atherogenic index of plasma for chronic limb-threatening ischemia in lower extremity artery disease. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):575-583. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.925688

Address for correspondence: Arda Aybars Pala, MD., Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Yunus Emre Mahallesi, 1164. Sk. No:13, 02200 Merkez/Adiyaman, Turkey

E-mail: ardaaybars@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 532 710 45 87, Tel: +90 416 214 53 99

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj Plasma osmolality (PO) is associated with the amount of minerals and particles dissolved in the blood. Since it is accepted as an indicator of body hydration, and since it affects endothelial cells, it has been associated with the prognosis of diseases [4, 5]. Fasting blood glucose, sodium (Na) and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) are the main components of PO; and seperate studies were conducted previously on the effects of each one on vascular diseases [6-8]. However, there are no studies in the literature regarding the effect of changes in PO calculated from these components on LEAD.

After understanding the role of plasma lipids in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, studies have been conducted to investigate the relationships between lipid profiles and LEAD. Low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are among the strongest plasma lipid risk factors for LEAD. There is a relationship between triglyceride (TG) levels and LEAD progression [9]. In the Framingham Offspring Study, increased TG levels and decreased HDL-C levels were associated with increased LEAD risk [10]. In recent years, atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) has been identified as a new predictor of atherosclerosis. AIP is calculated with the logarithmic transformation of TG/HDL-C ratio [11]. Based on this information, we established the hypothesis that AIP could be a powerful biomarker for the development of CLTI.

It is important to know the predictors of CLTI development in patients diagnosed with LEAD, to detect them earlier, and to plan the treatment strategy early for these patients. For this reason, the purpose of this study was to investigate the relation between the development of CLTI and PO values and AIP values to predict the progression of atherosclerosis in patients with LEAD diagnosis, and to contribute to the preventability of atherosclerosis progression with more effective treatment and follow-up.

METHODS

A total of 324 patients diagnosed with LEAD between January 2018 and June 2020 admitting to our outpatient clinic were included in this study retrospectively, and study approved by local ethics committee (Adıyaman University Clinical Research Ethics Committee, 21.07.2020, 2020/7-3). The patient data were found from the patient files and the hospital registration system.

The LEAD diagnosis in our outpatient clinic is made with clinical examination of patients, ankle brachial systolic pressure index (ABI) measurement and color doppler ultrasonography [12]. Clinical stage evaluation of the disease is done according to the Rutherford classification. In the Rutherford Classification, asymptomatic patients are expressed as "Category 0", mild claudication presence is expressed as "Category 1", moderate claudication presence is expressed as "Category 2", severe claudication presence is expressed as "Category 3", presence of ischemic rest pain is expressed as "Category 4", presence of minor tissue loss presence is expressed as "Category 5", presence of major tissue loss is expressed as "Category 6" [13]. In recent years, "CLTI" definition has been used for category 4 and above in the Rutherford classification [3].

The patients who had a history of surgical or endovascular intervention with a diagnosis of LEAD, patients with acute limb ischemia, patients with diabetes mellitus diagnosis and using antidiabetic drugs, patients with chronic liver or renal disease, patients with known malignancy or systemic inflammatory disease, patients using steroid or statin group drug and patients with familial hyperlipidemia were excluded from the study. After applying these exclusion criteria, patients diagnosed with LEAD and in categories 0, 1, 2 and 3 according to the Rutherford classification were included in the study as "Group 1"; and the patients in categories 4, 5 and 6, that is, those who developed CLTI, were included in the study as "Group 2". The demographic data, comorbidities, and routine blood tests of the patients were evaluated.

Laboratory analysis and calculation of PO and AIP

The venous blood samples of patients diagnosed with LEAD were evaluated after 12 hours of fasting by taking blood from the antecubital vein into EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) tubes. The automatic analyzer (Abbott CELL-DYN Ruby; Illinois, USA) was used for complete blood count. Fasting blood glucose, creatinine, BUN, Na, HDL-C, TG, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), total cholesterol (TC) and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were analyzed with (Abbott 16000; Illinois, USA) automatic analyzer.

The following formula was used to calculate the

PO: Osmolality = $(BUN / 2.8) + (Glucose / 18) + (2 \times Na)$. And the normal PO value range was described as 275 - 295 mOsm/kg [14].

The following formula was used to calculate the AIP: AIP = log10 (TG / HDL-C). In this calculation, concentrations are expressed in mmol/L [11].

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed with SPSS 11.5 Program. As descriptive, mean \pm standard deviation and median (minimum-maximum) values were used for quantitative variables, and number of patients (percent) was used for qualitative variables. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test the normality distribution of the data. In terms of the quantitative variable, the difference between the two categories of qualitative variable categories was checked by Student-t test if the normal distribution assumptions were met; and if not by Mann-Whitney U test. When wanted to examine the relation between qualitative variables, the Chi-Square test was used. The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) analysis was performed to find a method for determining the development of CLTI for the quantitative variable. The cut-off value for the quantitative variable was determined with the Youden Index. The univariate logistic regression and multivariate logistic

Variables		Gr((n =	oup 1 = 248)	Grou (n =	up 2 76)	<i>p</i> value
		Mean ± SD / n (%)	Median (Min-Max)	Mean ± SD / n (%)	Median (Min-Max)	
Age (years)		64.44 ± 9.05	65.00 (44.00-86.00)	66.62 ± 8.22	67.00 (45.00-85.00)	0.061 ^[a]
Gender Male Female		182 (73.4%) 66 (26.6%)		58 (76.3%) 18 (23.7%)		0.610 ^[c]
BMI (kg/m ²)		25.84 ± 3.47	25.80 (18.60-34.60)	26.07 ± 2.63	26.40 (19.40-33.10)	0.542 ^[a]
Hypertension		167 (67.3%)		54 (71.1%)		0.543 ^[c]
CAD		106 (42.7%)		47 (61.8%)		0.004 ^[c]
Atrial fibrillation		41 (16.5%)		13 (17.1%)		0.907 ^[c]
CVD		74 (29.8%)		28 (36.8%)		0.250 ^[c]
Current smoking		127 (51.2%)		43 (56.6%)		0.412 ^[c]
COPD		55 (22.2%)		18 (23.7%)		0.783 ^[c]
ABI		0.59 ± 0.12	0.57 (0.43-0.89)	0.36 ± 0.07	0.37 (0.19-0.48)	< 0.001 ^[a]
Rutherford category						
	0	23 (9.3%)		0		< 0.001 ^[c]
	1	73 (29.4%)		0		
	2	89 (35.9%)		0		
	3	63 (25.4%)		0		
	4	0		37 (48.7%)		
	5	0		28 (36.8%)		
	6	0		11 (14.5%)		

$1 a \nabla 1$ $1 a $	Table 1.	Comparison	of clinical and	l demographic	characteristics	of patient groups
--	----------	------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------------

SD = Standard deviation, Min = Minimum, Max =Maximum; ^[a]Student-t test, ^[c]Chi-square test, BMI = Body mass index, CAD = Coronary artery disease, CVD = Cerebrovascular disease, COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, ABI = Ankle brachial index

Variables	Gro (n =	oup 1 : 248)	Gro (n =	oup 2 = 76)	<i>p</i> value
	Mean ± SD / n (%)	Median (Min-Max)	Mean ± SD / n (%)	Median (Min-Max)	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dL)	112.68 ± 23.95	112.00 (65.00-193.00)	121.97 ± 24.30	120.00 (74.00-182.00)	0.003 ^[a]
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.91 ± 0.30	0.86 (0.50-2.38)	0.90 ± 0.21	0.93 (0.70-2.21)	0.423 ^[b]
Blood urea nitrogen (mg/dL)	20.96 ± 5.35	20.00 (11.00-37.00)	24.79 ± 6.94	24.50 (14.00-42.00)	$< 0.001^{[a]}$
Sodium (mEq/L)	137.31 ± 3.22	137.00 (129.00-147.00)	140.91 ± 2.92	141.00 (133.00-145.00)	$< 0.001^{[a]}$
PO (mOsm/kg)	288.36 ± 7.22	287.36 (272.38-312.54)	297.45 ± 6.78	297.32 (280.37-311.94)	< 0.001 ^[a]
TC (mmol/L)	5.19 ± 0.61	5.28 (3.58-6.50)	5.16 ± 0.67	5.26 (3.65-6.72)	0.694 ^[a]
TG (mmol/L)	1.66 ± 0.41	1.67 (0.78-2.89)	1.83 ± 0.42	1.85 (0.91-2.81)	$0.002^{[a]}$
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.13 ± 0.16	1.16 (0.80-1.45)	0.96 ± 0.10	0.93 (0.80-1.19)	< 0.001 ^[a]
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.29 ± 0.55	3.41 (2.02-4.40)	3.36 ± 0.58	3.48 (2.04-4.73)	0.372 ^[a]
AIP	0.16 ± 0.14	0.17 (-0.26-0.55)	0.27 ± 0.11	0.28 (-0.02-0.54)	$< 0.001^{[b]}$
C-reactive protein (mg/dL)	4.77 ± 2.95	3.56 (0.70-13.70)	5.84 ± 3.18	5.01 (1.02-12.80)	0.005 ^[b]
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	13.34 ± 1.77	13.50 (9.20-16.90)	12.95 ± 1.80	12.75 (9.80-17.40)	0.094 ^[a]
White blood cell (103/µL)	8.57 ± 2.26	8.42 (4.89-14.12)	8.84 ± 2.19	8.57 (5.14-14.85)	0.361 ^[a]
Platelet (103/µL)	247.01 ± 64.69	238.50 (104.00-496.00)	237.34 ± 67.85	224.00 (129.00-479.00)	0.149 ^[b]
Mean platelet volume (fL)	8.83 ± 1.18	8.77 (6.45-11.24)	9.27 ± 1.30	9.53 (6.26-11.35)	0.006 ^[a]

Table 2. Comparison of laboratory variables of patient groups

SD = Standard deviation, Min = Minimum, Max =Maximum; [a]Student-t test, [b]Mann-Whitney U test, PO = Plasma osmolality, TC = Total cholesterol, TG = Triglyceride, HDL-C = High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, AIP = Atherogenic index of plasma

regression analyzes were performed to show risk factors for CLTI development. Statistical significance level was accepted as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

This study included 324 patients diagnosed with LEAD. There were 248 patients in Group 1 (mean age 64.44 ± 9.05 years; 73.4% male) and 76 patients in Group 2 (mean age 66.62 ± 8.22 years; 76.3% male). The mean ABI measurement of patients in Group 1 was 0.59 ± 0.11 ; and that of patients in Group 2 was 0.36 ± 0.08 (p < 0.001). No significant difference was found between the patient groups in terms of gender, age, body mass index, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, cerebrovascular disease, current smoking status, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Patients in Group 2 had significantly higher concomitant coronary artery disease (CAD) compared to Group 1 (61.8% vs 42.7%, p = 0.004). The clinical and demographic characteristics of the patient groups are shown in Table 1.

When the laboratory variables of patient groups were compared, it was found that the values of Na, BUN, fasting blood glucose and PO were significantly higher in Group 2 (p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p = 0.003, p < 0.001; respectively). HDL-C value, which is one of the lipid profile variables, was significantly lower in Group 2, while TG and AIP values were found to be high (p < 0.001, p = 0.002, p < 0.001; respectively). CRP and mean platelet volume (MPV) values were also found to be significantly higher in Group 2 (p =0.005, p = 0.006; respectively) (Table 2).

When the results of univariate logistic regression analysis that was done to determine possible predictors of the development of CLTI were evaluated, CAD, PO, AIP, MPV and CRP variables were found to be significant risk factors, and these variables were included in the multivariate analysis (Table 3). And according to this analysis, CAD, PO, CRP and AIP variables were found to be independent predictive factors for the development of CLTI (p = 0.015, p < 0.001, p = 0.007, p < 0.001; respectively).

To determine the predictive effect of PO and AIP levels in the development of CLTI, ROC Curve analysis was done. The ideal cut-off value for calculated PO was 293.28 mOsm/kg (Area Under the Curve [AUC]: 0.821, p < 0.001) with 75% sensitivity and 74.2% specificity. The ideal cut-off value for AIP was 0.23 (AUC: 0.740, p < 0.001) with 67.1% sensitivity and 68.5% specificity (Fig. 1).

DISCUSSION

The relation between CLTI development and calculated PO values and AIP values was investigated in

Variables		Univariate	e analysis	Multivariate analysis		e analysis
	<i>p</i> value	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> value	OR	95% CI
			Lower-Upper			Lower-Upper
Age	0.062	1.028	0.999-1.059			
Gender (Male)	0.610	1.168	0.642-2.127			
CAD	0.004	2.171	1.282-3.677	0.015	2.245	1.171-4.304
Smoking	0.413	1.241	0.740-2.083			
PO	< 0.001	1.182	1.131-1.236	< 0.001	1.168	1.114-1.225
AIP	< 0.001	1406.004	120.477-16408.483	< 0.001	735.730	41.043-1188.634
CRP	0.008	1.115	1.028-1.208	0.007	1.156	1.040-1.285
MPV	0.007	1.352	1.087-1.680			

 Table 3. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis to determine predictors of the development of chronic limb-threatening ischemia

OR = Odds ratio, CI = Confidence interval, CAD = Coronary artery disease, PO = Plasma osmolality, AIP = Atherogenic index of plasma, CRP = C-Reactive protein, MPV = Mean platelet volume



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Fig. 1. ROC curve of calculated PO and AIP for predicting the development of chronic limb-threatening ischemia.

this retrospective study. We found that the increase in PO values and AIP values was related with the development of CLTI in patients with LEAD. In the multivariate logistic regression analysis, CAD, CRP, PO and AIP variables were found as independent predictive factors for CLTI development. In patients with LEAD diagnosis, it was found that having concomitant CAD increased the risk of developing CLTI by 2.245 times, one unit increase in CRP quantitative variable increased the risk of developing CLTI by 1.156 times, one unit increase of PO quantitative variable increased the risk of developing CLTI by 1.168 times, and 0.1 unit increase in AIP quantitative variable increased the risk of developing CLTI by 1.935 times. To the best of our knowledge, we determined for the first time in the literature with this study that the development of CLTI can be predicted with PO values and AIP values in patients with LEAD diagnosis.

CLTI is the end-stage of LEAD, and is related with high morbidity and mortality. It was reported that, major amputation rate was 30% and mortality rate was 25% in patients within 1 year after the development of CLTI [15]. Therefore, it is important to plan the treatment of LEAD patients before CLTI develops. In addition to medical treatments (antithrombotic, lipidlowering, antihypertensive agents) and treatment approaches such as exercise, diet, smoking cessation, and preventive foot care applied in symptomatic LEAD patients, early revascularization options are also recommended for patients at high risk of developing CLTI [1, 3]. In recent years, many predictors of CLTI development have been identified in patients diagnosed with LEAD [16, 17]. Since atherosclerosis is the underlying cause of LEAD pathology, the identified predictors are focused on atherosclerosis, which is considered an inflammatory process.

Atherosclerosis is multifactorial and inflammation plays an important role in its patagonesis from its development to its progression. Plasma osmolality can be defined as the solite load in the body, and indicates body hydration. The increase in PO increases the inflammation and atherosclerosis progression in vascular endothelial cells by increasing the hemoconcentration [18, 19]. In their study of 315 patients, Rasouli et al. [4] reported that calculated PO, which is one of the markers of dehydration and hemoconcentration, showed correlations with CAD severity. In a study on 3748 acute coronary syndrome patients conducted by Tatlisu et al. [20], it was reported that PO at admission could be used to identify high-risk patients and is a predictor of in-hospital and long-term

mortality. Similar to these studies in the literature, statistically significant high PO values were found in patients who developed CLTI in our study (p < 0.001). In addition, PO has been found to be an independent predictor of CLTI development (odds ratio (OR): 1.168, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.114-1.225, p < 0.001). It is known that diabetes mellitus is an important risk factor in LEAD etiology, increasing the risk of LEAD development by three-four times. It also accelerates the development of CLTI by increasing vascular inflammation and delaying the diagnosis and treatment of the disease with peripheral neuropathy effect [15]. In addition, since diabetes mellitus would increase PO alone, and reduce the reliability of the results of our study; patients with diabetes mellitus diagnosis and using antidiabetic drugs were not included in the study. Also, patients with chronic renal disease, which has close relations with atherosclerosis progression, and which might change PO with direct effect on plasma electrolyte values, were also excluded from the study [21].

Dyslipidemia causes the development and progression of atherosclerosis by affecting vascular endothelial cells. High TC and LDL-C levels are considered to be risk factors for LEAD, and low HDL-C levels were significantly associated with increased mortality and other cardiovascular complications in LEAD patients [22, 23]. Small dense LDL-C is the subfraction of LDL-C with high atherogenic potential, and increases in direct proportion with TG levels. For this reason, there is a strong relation between the increase in TG levels and atherosclerotic diseases [24]. Recently, AIP, which is calculated with the logarithmic transformation of plasma TG and HDL-C molar levels, has been described as a novel and powerful clinical biomarker for atherosclerotic diseases [11, 25]. In their prospective studies in which 2676 middle-aged individuals were included with a follow-up period of 7.8 years, Onat et al. [26] reported that AIP variable was an independent predictive factor for CAD. In the case-control study of 696 individuals conducted by Wu et al. [27], AIP was reported to be a strong predictive biomarker for CAD risk in women (OR: 3.290, 95% CI: 1.842-5.877, *p* < 0.001). In a meta-analysis summarizing the data related to AIP calculated in 8394 individuals, it was reported that the values -0.3 to 0.1 were associated with low, 0.1 to 0.24 were associated with medium and above 0.24 were associated with

high cardiovascular disease risk [28]. In our study, which included patients with LEAD diagnosis, statistically significant high AIP values were detected in patient group with CLTI, and AIP was detected as an independent predictive factor for CLTI development. The ideal AIP cut-off value for CLTI development was found as 0.23 with 67.1% sensitivity and 68.5% specificity.

In our study, statistically significant low HDL-C levels and high CRP levels were noted in patient group with CLTI (p < 0.001, p = 0.005; respectively). HDL-C is known as antiatherogenic lipoprotein due to its reverse cholesterol transport properties. Additionally, it has antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, and in particular, it inhibits vascular inflammation by inhibiting the expression of adhesion molecules from endothelial cells. For this reason, there is a negative correlation between HDL-C and CRP, which are inflammatory biomarkers [23]. It was also shown that there is a relation between elevation in CRP levels and the severity of atherosclerosis and LEAD [1]. Swastini et al. [29] investigated the relationship between CRP and atherosclerosis severity measured by ABI and doppler ultrasonography in 388 patients with dyslipidemia. They published that there was a important correlation between CRP levels and the severity of atherosclerosis. Barani et al. [30] associated CRP levels with 1-year mortality in CLTI patients. Based on our findings, we found that the CRP level is an independent predictive factor for CLTI development (OR: 1.156, 95% CI: 1.040-1.285, *p* = 0.007).

Atherosclerosis is a systemic disease, affecting many arteries simultaneously. Patients with LEAD diagnosis have concomitant CAD at a rate between 40% and 55% [15, 31]. It has been reported that the presence of CAD is an independent risk factor for mortality [32]. A total of 47.2% of the patients who were included in our study had concomitant CAD, and there were significantly higher CAD in patient group with CLTI. It was found that concomitant CAD in LEAD patients is an independent predictive factor for CLTI development (OR: 2.245, 95% CI: 1.171-4.304, p = 0.015).

Limitations

Our study had several limitations to consider. First of all, our study was single-centered, and was designed retrospectively. Patients who were diagnosed with LEAD, that is, mostly symptomatic, with outpatient clinic application were included in our study. The rate of presence of symptoms in LEAD patients is 35% [33]. For this reason, studies that involve wider patient populations, including asymptomatic LEAD patients, should be planned to ensure that these two laboratory parameters we calculated to enter clinical use. In addition, stating the smoking status as only current smokers, not as pack years or former smokers, can be considered as another limitation of our study.

CONCLUSION

According to the data of our study, it was found that PO values and AIP values that are calculated simply from routine biochemical tests in patients with LEAD diagnosis were associated with the development of CLTI. Our analysis showed that CAD, PO, AIP and CRP are independent predictive factors for for CLTI development in patients with LEAD diagnosis. Since these patients may benefit from aggressive management of risk factors and intensified treatment options to prevent CLTI-related morbidity and mortality, we believe that identifying the high-risk population for the development of CLTI in patients with a diagnosis of LEAD is of great importance.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: AAP; Study Design: AAP, YSU; Supervision: AAP; Funding: AAP; Materials: AAP; Data Collection and/or Processing: AAP, YSU; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: AAP, YSU; Literature Review: AAP; Manuscript Preparation: AAP and Critical Review: AAP, YSU.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Conte MS, Bradbury AW, Kolh P, White JV, Dick F, Fitridge

R, et al. Global vascular guidelines on the management of chronic limb-threatening ischemia. J Vasc Surg. 2019;69(6S):3S-125S.e40. Erratum in: J Vasc Surg 2019;70:662.

2. Yavuz Ş, Özsin KK, Sanrı US, Toktaş F. Peripheral artery disease in women. Eur Res J 2020;6:178-86.

3. Aboyans V, Ricco JB, Bartelink MEL, Björck M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, et al. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS): Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteries. Eur Heart J 2018;39:763-816.

4. Rasouli M, Kiasari AM, Arab S. Indicators of dehydration and haemoconcentration are associated with the prevalence and severity of coronary artery disease. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2008;35:889-94.

Kanat S, Demirci H, Üstündağ Y, Can FE, Aydın U, Ocakoğlu G. Effect of serum osmolality on 6-year survival rates in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Turk J Clin Lab 2020;1:24-32.
 Beckman JA, Paneni F, Cosentino F, Creager MA. Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: part II. Eur Heart J 2013;34:2444-52.

7. Bae MH, Kim JH, Jang SY, Park SH, Lee JH, Yang DH, et al. Hyponatremia at discharge as a predictor of 12-month clinical outcomes in hospital survivors after acute myocardial infarction. Heart Vessels 2017;32:126-133.

8. Gary T, Pichler M, Schilcher G, Hafner F, Hackl G, Rief P, et al. Elevated blood urea nitrogen is associated with critical limb ischemia in peripheral arterial disease patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015;94:e948.

9. Aday AW, Everett BM. Dyslipidemia profiles in patients with peripheral artery disease. Curr Cardiol Rep 2019;21:42.

10. Murabito JM, Evans JC, Nieto K, Larson MG, Levy D, Wilson PW. Prevalence and clinical correlates of peripheral arterial disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. Am Heart J 2002;143:961-5.

11. Shen S, Lu Y, Qi H, Li F, Shen Z, Wu L, et al. Association between ideal cardiovascular health and the atherogenic index of plasma. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e3866. Erratum in: Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e5074.

12. Crawford F, Welch K, Andras A, Chappell FM. Ankle brachial index for the diagnosis of lower limb peripheral arterial disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;9:CD010680.

13. Rutherford RB, Baker JD, Ernst C, Johnston KW, Porter JM, Ahn S, et al. Recommended standards for reports dealing with lower extremity ischemia: revised version. J Vasc Surg 1997;26:517-38. Erratum in: J Vasc Surg 2001;33:805.

14. Fazekas AS, Funk GC, Klobassa DS, Rüther H, Ziegler I, Zander R, et al. Evaluation of 36 formulas for calculating plasma osmolality. Intens Care Med 2013;39:302-8.

15. Norgren L, Hiatt WR, Dormandy JA, Nehler MR, Harris KA, Fowkes FG, et al. Inter-Society Consensus for the Management of Peripheral Arterial Disease (TASC II). J Vasc Surg 2007;45 Suppl S:S5-67.

16. Guetl K, Raggam RB, Muster V, Gressenberger P, Vujic J, Avian A, et al. The white blood cell count to mean platelet volume ratio for the prediction of chronic limb-threatening ischemia

in lower extremity artery disease. J Clin Med 2019;8:1593.

17. Teperman J, Carruthers D, Guo Y, Barnett MP, Harris AA, Sedlis SP, et al. Relationship between neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and severity of lower extremity peripheral artery disease. Int J Cardiol 2017;228:201-4.

18. Mathur RK. The role of hyperosmolal food in the development of atherosclerosis. Med Hypotheses 2005;64:579-81.

19. Moriya J. Critical roles of inflammation in atherosclerosis. J Cardiol. 2019;73:22-7.

20. Tatlisu MA, Kaya A, Keskin M, Uzman O, Borklu EB, Cinier G, et al. Can we use plasma hyperosmolality as a predictor of mortality for ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction? Coron Artery Dis 2017;28:70-6.

21. Valdivielso JM, Rodríguez-Puyol D, Pascual J, Barrios C, Bermúdez-López M, Sánchez-Niño MD, et al. Atherosclerosis in chronic kidney disease: more, less, or just different? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2019;39:1938-66.

22. Martinez-Aguilar E, Orbe J, Fernández-Montero A, Fernández-Alonso S, Rodríguez JA, Fernández-Alonso L, et al. Reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: A valuable, independent prognostic marker in peripheral arterial disease. J Vasc Surg 2017;66:1527-33.e1.

23. Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye KA, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. Circ Res 2004;95:764-72.

24. Peng J, Luo F, Ruan G, Peng R, Li X. Hypertriglyceridemia and atherosclerosis. Lipids Health Dis 2017;16:233.

25. Sayın S, Kutlu R, Koçak A. The relationship between atherogenic index of plasma and major risk factors of cardiovascular disease in obese and nonobese individuals. Eur Res J 2019;5:678-

85.

26. Onat A, Can G, Kaya H, Hergenç G. "Atherogenic index of plasma" (log10 triglyceride/high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol) predicts high blood pressure, diabetes, and vascular events. J Clin Lipidol 2010;4:89-98.

27. Wu TT, Gao Y, Zheng YY, Ma YT, Xie X. Atherogenic index of plasma (AIP): a novel predictive indicator for the coronary artery disease in postmenopausal women. Lipids Health Dis 2018;17:197.

28. Dobiásová M. [AIP--atherogenic index of plasma as a significant predictor of cardiovascular risk: from research to practice]. Vnitr Lek 2006;52:64-71. [Article in Czech]

29. Swastini DA, Wiryanthini IAD, Ariastuti NLP, Muliantara A. Atherosclerosis prediction with high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and related risk factor in patient with dyslipidemia. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2019;7:3887-90.

30. Barani J, Nilsson JA, Mattiasson I, Lindblad B, Gottsäter A. Inflammatory mediators are associated with 1-year mortality in critical limb ischemia. J Vasc Surg 2005;42:75-80.

31. Hur DJ, Kizilgul M, Aung WW, Roussillon KC, Keeley EC. Frequency of coronary artery disease in patients undergoing peripheral artery disease surgery. Am J Cardiol 2012;110:736-40.

32. Chen DC, Singh GD, Armstrong EJ, Waldo SW, Laird JR, Amsterdam EA. Long-term comparative outcomes of patients with peripheral artery disease with and without concomitant coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 2017;119:1146-52.

33. Sigvant B, Lundin F, Wahlberg E. The risk of disease progression in peripheral arterial disease is higher than expected: a meta-analysis of mortality and disease progression in peripheral arterial disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;51:395-403.



DOI: 10.18621/eurj.768970

A clue for obstructive sleep apnea hidden in tomographic images of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients

Sezgi Şahin Duyar¹^o, Hakan Ertürk²^o, Selma Fırat¹^o, Deniz Çelik³^o

¹Sleep Disorders Center, University of Health Sciences, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

²Department of Radiology, University of Health Sciences, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

³Department of Pulmonology, Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Medical Faculty, Alanya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The most common opinion about apnea/hypopnea formation in restrictive pulmonary diseases is based on decreased lung volumes causing upper airway collapse. This study targets to reveal some evidence for this pathophysiological pathway in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and obstructive sleep apnea (OSA).

Methods: The clinical, demographical, and polysomnographic characteristics of 19 patients with OSA and IPF who underwent all-night polysomnography (PSG) were retrospectively evaluated for investigating the correlations between lung volumes calculated on the images of high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) and polysomnographic findings. Supine HRCT images performed at the time of diagnosis of IPF were used for the calculation of total lung volume and low attenuation areas of the lung (LAA). The results were compared with the results of the PSG and pulmonary function tests (PFT).

Results: The study group comprised 19 patients (3 female, 16 male) with a median apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) of 23.5/h. AHI in this IPF cohort was not correlated with body-mass index, neck circumference, age, or PFT. However, overall AHI and non-rapid eye movement (non-REM) AHI had a trend of positive correlation with LAA. We also showed a positive correlation between the LAA and forced vital capacity (FVC) (r = 0.682 and, p = 0.003).

Conclusions: The severity of OSAS in IPF patients is well correlated with LAA. This result supports the gravitational and the volumetric effect of the lung in apnea-hypopnea formation.

Keywords: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; low attenuation areas of the lung; obstructive sleep apnea; pulmonary function tests; quantitative imaging

Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) was defined as one of the comorbidities of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) which is the most common type of idiopathic interstitial pneumonia [1]. Sleep disorders accompanying obstructive or restrictive lung diseases were classified under 'Sleep-Related Hypoventilation/Hypoxemia Due to Medical Condition' in the "International classification of sleep disorders-3" which was published in 2014 [2]. Rather than being a coincidence, OSAS and IPF may have a role in the pathogenesis of each other. Gastroesophageal reflux disease, oxidative distress, and nocturnal desaturations are seen in OSAS may cause alveolar damage leading to IPF [3]. Mutually, the reduction of lung volumes in

Received: July 13, 2020; Accepted: May 1, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Şahin Duyar S, Ertürk H, Fırat S, Çelik D. A clue for obstructive sleep apnea hidden in tomographic images of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients. Eur Res J 2021;7(6): 584-X592 DOI: 10.18621/eurj.768970

Address for correspondence: Deniz Çelik, MD., Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Medical Faculty, Department of Pulmonology, Alanya, Turkey E-mail: drdenizcelik@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 552 4036040

> [©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

IPF facilitates apnea/hypopnea formation by increasing the collapsibility of upper airways due to the decrease in the caudal retraction effect of lungs over upper airways [3].

However previous studies investigating the relationship between forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume during the first second (FEV1) and severity of OSAS reported conflicting results [4]. The results of the study held by Lancaster et al. [5] could not support the previous evidence indicating a negative correlation between pulmonary function tests and apnea-hypopnea index. Pulmonary function tests performed at the sitting position may conceal the real fact of pulmonary function impairment on polysomnography obtained during sleep in the supine position. Therefore, the radiologic calculation of lung volumes by using tomographic images taken in supine position before the treatment can be more informative than conventional pulmonary function tests in uncovering the pathophysiology of OSA in restrictive lung diseases.

This study is conducted to enlighten the correlations between total lung volumes (total lung volume and low attenuation areas of the lung) on high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) and the severity of OSAS in IPF patients.

METHODS

Study Population

The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board of our hospital (decision no: 610 decision date: 02/11/2018). All procedures performed in this study comply with the ethical standards of the institutional review board and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments. We analyzed only records of patients who agreed to the use of their data.

The study group comprises 23 IPF patients who were consecutively referred to sleep disorders center due to clinical suspicion of OSA and underwent allnight polysomnography (PSG) between March 2016 and June 2017. The diagnosis of IPF (either radiological or pathological) was based on the final decision of the multidisciplinary council for interstitial lung diseases at our hospital as recommended in the available guideline published for the diagnosis of IPF [1]. Medical records of 23 patients were retrospectively evaluated. OSA was defined as an apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) of \geq 5 events/h on PSG [2]. Out of 23 patients who were polysomnographically diagnosed as OSAS, one patient with congestive heart failure and three patients whose HRCT scans were not available were excluded. The remaining 19 patients were sleepmodifying drugs free and at the time of the computed tomography (CT) scan, either corticosteroids or antifibrotic drugs had not been initiated yet. The patients did not have any comorbidity like cerebrovascular diseases or obstructive lung diseases, which could affect the results of the study.

A pulmonary function test (PFT) was performed for all capable patients. Measurements including spirometry (n = 17) and diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide divided by the alveolar volume (DLCO/VA) (n = 12) by the single breath technique were performed according to current guidelines, in the seated position [6].

Age, gender, body mass index (BMI), symptoms, neck circumference (NC), smoking status, and scores on the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) and the results of PSG were obtained from the medical records of the remaining 19 patients.

Polysomnography

PSG including four channels of electroencephalography, two channels of electrooculography, one channel of chin electromyography, thermistor and nasal pressure transducer monitoring to measure airflow, thoracic and abdominal wall motion monitoring to measure respiratory effort, pulse oximetry to measure oxygen saturation, electrocardiography, and a microphone to record snoring was performed using a digital system (Neuron-Spectrum EEG and EP neurophysiological system version 1.6.9.6, Neurosoft, Russia). The records were manually scored based on the criteria of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) Scoring Manual Version 2.2 by a sleep specialist [7].

High-Resolution Computed Tomography Imaging

HRCT examinations were performed in the supine position and deep inspiration by using Siemens Emotion 6 (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany) and Toshiba Alexion 16 (Nasu, Japan) for the diagnosis of IPF. No contrast medium was injected. CT images were reviewed by using the picture archiving and communication system (PACS). Parameters were each set to 80-135kV, 50-300 mA with dose modulation, a 1 mm and -1.25 mm thickness, and reconstruction. All axial and reconstructed CT images were reviewed in the PACS by using mediastinal (width, 340 HU; level, 50 HU) and lung (width, 1500 HU; level, -500/-600 HU) window settings. After CT scanning, images were reconstructed by using a pre-installed post-processing program (General Electric GEAW Server 3.2 Thoracic VCAR). Thoracic VCAR is a non-invasive CT image analysis software package, by which areas of the lung with a preset value of Hounsfield Units (HU) can be determined in conjunction with CT lung images. These areas are shown color (blue) for the assessment of the lung diseases [8]. The percentage and volume of low attenuation areas of the lung (LAA) were calculated by the density mask method which was set to show lung voxels with a density lower than 950 HU [9]. (Fig. 1) Total lung volume (TLV), which was reported by this software was also analyzed.

analyzed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation for the normally distributed variables and median (minimum-maximum) for randomly distributed variables. Nominal variables were presented as the number and percentage of cases. Most of the variables were randomly distributed and the study comprised a small number of patients. Hence, the Spearman correlation coefficient (r) was employed to examine the relationship between lung volumes and results of PSG, demographic characteristics, or PFT. A multiple linear regression model was used to identify the predictive value of LAA (L) and BMI for AHI. Before the analysis, the logarithmic transformation of the non-normally distributed data was performed to obtain a normal distribution. The model fit was assessed using appropriate residual and goodness-of-fit statistics. Pvalue < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS for Windows 15 software. Normality for the continuous variables was

Out of 23 patients with IPF whose PSG results revealed accompanying OSAS, 19 patients (3 female, 16 male) were included in the analysis. The baseline



Fig. 1. Representative HRCT scan of a patient. A male patient, 56 years old. The percentage of low attenuation areas (shown as blue) was 10.2%.

characteristics of the study subjects were shown in Table 1. Most patients had moderate/severe OSAS (n = 16, 84.2%) and the median AHI was 23.5/h. The details of PSG results were represented in Table 2. It was found that an averagely of 89.1% of respiratory events comprised hypopneas.

The correlation coefficients (r values) between the parameters of PSG and demographic characteristics, pulmonary function tests, or quantitative CT results were shown in Table 3. Correlation analysis showed that age was positively correlated with nREM1% (p = 0.019 and r = 0.531). The amount of smoking (packages/year) was correlated negatively with REM% (r = -0.657) and the percentage of slow-wave sleep (nREM3%) (r = -0.728) and positively with nREM1% (r = 0.858), nREM2% (r = -0.728) (p < 0.05). The ratio of FEV1/FVC had a positive correlation with REM% and nREM3% (r = 0.523 and, r = 0.610, respectively).

	(n = 19)
	mean ± SD
	median (25th -75th percentile)
	n (%)
Age	66.4 ± 9.4
Gender	
Female	3 (15.8%)
Male	16 (84.2%)
BMI	26.7 ± 3.7
Smoking status	
none smoker	6 (31.6%)
quitted/active smoker	13 (68.4%)
Smoking (packages/year)	45 (20-55)
Diagnosis	
Clinical-radiological	15 (78.9%)
VATS	3 (15.8%)
Open lung biopsy	1 (5.3%)
PFT (n = 17)	
FVC	2.4 ± 0.85
FVC (%)	69.7 ± 19.6
FEV1	1.6 (1.42-2.62)
FEV1 (%)	73.6 ± 21.8
FEV1/FVC	83.2 ± 8.8
DLCO (%) (n = 10)	51.5 (24.5-82.8)
DLCO/VA (%) (n = 12)	79.7 ± 39.9
Neck circumference (cm)	38.8 (37.5–41)
ESS (n = 17)	4 (2-6,5)
Total lung volume (L)	3.37 ± 1.38
LAA (L)	0.22 (0.16-0.65)
LAA (%)	9 2 (6 2-15 4)

	Table1.	Clinical an	d demographic	al characteristics	of the patients
--	---------	-------------	---------------	--------------------	-----------------

BMI = body mass index, DLCO/VA = diffusing capacity divided by the alveolar volume, ESS = Epworth Sleepiness Scale, FVC = forced vital capacity, FEV1 = forced expiratory volume during the first second, LAA = low-attenuation areas of the lungs PFT = pulmonary function test, VATS = Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery

	mean ± SD median (25 th -75 th percentile) n (%)
TST (min)	321.9 ± 70.3
Sleep efficiency (%)	66.0 ± 14
REM sleep (%)	11.5 ± 5.7
nREM1 (%)	9.6 ± 5.6
nREM2 (%)	59.3 ± 14.1
nREM3 (%)	17.3 (5.8-27.3)
AHI	23.5 (16.6-43.4)

Table 2. Polysomnographic characteristics

AHI = apnoea-hypopnea index, REM = rapid eye movement, TST = total sleep time

Variables	LA	A (L)	LAA	. (%)
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value
Age	0.156	0.523	0.272	0.229
BMI (n = 18)	-0.173	0.494	-0.208	0.408
Smoking (pack year) $(n = 13)$	0.646	0.017	0.623	0.023
FVC (L) (n = 17)	0.682	0.003	0.587	0.013
FEV1 (L) (n = 17)	0.527	0.03	0.477	0.053
FVC (%) (n = 17)	0.466	0.06	0.434	0.082
FEV1 (%) (n = 17)	0.378	0.135	0.352	0.166
FEV1/FVC (n = 17)	-0.583	0.014	0.538	0.026
DLCO (%) (n = 10)	-0.179	0.558	-0.16	0.602
DLCO/VA (%) (n = 12)	-0.203	0.527	-0.189	0.556
NC (cm)	0.174	0.477	0.075	0.761
ESS $(n = 17)$	-0.009	0.974	0.048	0.855
TLV (L)	-0.184	0.45	0.166	0.497
Sleep efficiency	-0.161	0.509	-0.108	0.66
REM %	-0.311	0.195	-0.423	0.071
NREM 1%	0.518	0.023	0.477	0.039
NREM 2%	0.503	0.028	0.514	0.024
NREM 3%	-0.652	0.002	-0.574	0.01
AHI	0.543	0.016	0.526	0.021
ODI	0.445	0.064	0.457	0.056

Fable 3. Correlations be	etween polysomnog	graphic and clinical	radiological variables
---------------------------------	-------------------	----------------------	------------------------

*r values represent correlation coefficients. BMI = body mass index, DLCO = diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide, <math>DLCO/VA = diffusing capacity divided by the alveolar volume, ESS = Epworth Sleepiness Scale, FVC = forced vital capacity, FEV1 = forced expiratory volume during the first second, NC = neck circumference, LAA = low-attenuation areas of the lungs, REM = rapid eye movement, TLV = total lung volume



Fig. 2. a) Relationship between AHI and LAA%, b) Relationship between AHI and LAA(L). AHI = apnea-hypopnea index, LAA = low-attenuation areas of the lungs

DLCO or DLCO/VA was not correlated with any of the variables. There was a weak positive correlation between ESS scores and nREM1% (r = 0.498). Total lung volume was negatively correlated with the percentage of slow-wave sleep.

Any of the classical predictors of OSAS including BMI, neck circumference, age, pulmonary function tests, or radiologically calculated TLV did not demonstrate a correlation with AHI (p > 0.05). However, as shown in Fig. 2, the results indicated that AHI was positively correlated with LAA% and LAA (L) (p =0.016, r = 0.526 and, p = 0.021, r = 0.543, respectively). After obtaining normal distribution for LAA (L) and AHI via logarithmic transformation a multiple linear regression model including log [LAA (L)] and BMI was performed. This analysis proved that log [LAA (L)] can be used to predict log (AHI) for IPF patients, regardless of BMI. As the values were shown in Table 4, log (AHI) can be calculated with this formula: log (AHI) =1.58 + 0.31x log [LAA (L)].

DISCUSSION

This study shows that LAA has a positive correlation with the severity of OSAS. Additionally, our results present proof for the clinical parameters effecting sleep architecture in patients with IPF.

Prior studies dating back to the mid-1980s pointed out poor sleep quality and oxygen desaturation during sleep in patients with interstitial lung diseases [10, 11]. The first study describing sleep-related disorders in a sole group of patients with IPF demonstrated a decrease in sleep efficiency, slow-wave sleep, and REM sleep with an overall AHI in the moderate range [4]. Likewise, the decrease in REM sleep (%11.5 \pm 5.7) in our study group indicates the disruption of sleep architecture in IPF. Due to the increased respiratory

variables	B ± SH					
	constant		<i>p</i> value			
Log (AHI score)	1.305					
BMI (kg/m ²)		0.011 ± 0.014	0.464			
Log [(LAA (L)]		0.31 ± 0.109	0.013			
Log [(LAA (L)]	1.582	0.31 ± 0.107	0.011			
R ² :0.385, * <i>p</i> = 0.033						

Table 4. Multivariate regression analysis for AHI

* p-value for ANOVA test, $\beta \pm SH =$ regression coefficient \pm standard error

AHI = apnea-hypopnea index, dependent variable=AHI, BMI = body mass index, LAA = low-attenuation areas of the lungs

drive and hypocapnia which were suggested as the conservation mechanisms against apnea formation in IPF, the median AHI was in the moderate range and hypopnea predominant. Our data also showed the negative effect of smoking and age on sleep architecture in IPF patients. Smoking cessation may have a positive effect on sleep quality for IPF patients.

Additionally, our results pointed out a trend of a positive correlation between FEV1/FVC, and slowwave sleep and REM sleep. Despite this impact of FEV1/FVC on sleep architecture, we could not show any correlations between pulmonary function tests and the severity of OSAS. For the general population age, BMI and NC are commonly accepted as predictors for the severity of OSAS [12, 13]. However, the most common opinion about apnea/hypopnea formation in restrictive pulmonary diseases is based on decreased lung volumes causing upper airway collapse, especially during REM sleep due to a decreased traction on the upper airway [4, 5]. This hypothesis was also supported by an animal study demonstrating that the caudal tracheal traction could decrease upper airway collapsibility by reducing extraluminal tissue pressure in rabbits [13]. Similarly, Mermigkis et al. [4] noted impairment in pulmonary function tests as potential predictors of OSA in IPF. However, two years later the contradictory results published by Lancaster et al. [5] could not indicate any correlations between spirometry or lung volumes with the AHI. A recent metaanalysis elucidated the influence of body position on PFT of the patients with heart, lung, neuromuscular disease, obesity, or spinal cord injury [14]. As PFT is performed while sitting upright and in the daytime, the results can not reflect the pathogenetic pathway of upper airway collapse in a supine position at night during sleep. The results of our study revealed that supine volumes calculated by quantitative analysis of HRCT scan well-correlated with AHI while conventional PFT, DLCO, and DLCO/VA failed to show any correlations in this group of IPF patients. The last guideline proposed the usage of radiologic findings of HRCT as the key factor for the diagnosis of IPF. The same statement called attention to comorbidities like pulmonary hypertension, gastroesophageal reflux disease, and OSAS for IPF patients [16]. Although the effects of these comorbidities need to be further evaluated, some evidence about the unfavorable effects of OSAS in disease progression and life quality of IPF patients has

been published [17, 18].

Besides the visual assessment of CT images, a quantitative method using digital data for calculating lung volumes and low attenuation areas of the lung has become a scientific attraction point recently. This method was recommended for representing macroscopic and microscopic emphysematous changes of the lung in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma [19-21]. It was also proposed as a routine follow-up for chronic pulmonary emphysema patients with low radiation at a level of 25% of the routine [22]. LAA% seems to be correlated with pulmonary function tests in asthma and COPD [20, 21, 23].

Some researchers managed to reach positive results outlining the importance of some novel radiologic findings in the assessment of OSA patients. The evaluation of airway ellipticity, water content around the airway, and fat distributions by magnetic resonance imaging were proposed as quick alternatives for identifying the severity of OSA [24-26]. Additionally, CT images obtained during apneic episodes can be used for defining the level of obstruction [27]. In this study, a different radiologic finding was evaluated in an overlapping situation of OSA and IPF. Our results showed that the lung volumes obtained by software from HRCT scans at the supine position may enlighten the caudal traction hypothesis and expressed the effect of low attenuation areas on the severity of OSA for IPF patients. Hochhegger et al. [28] investigated air trapping in patients with IPF and other interstitial lung diseases quantitatively by using automated-software and found that air trapping on CT was a common finding for IPF patients as well. The previous studies indicated that the vertical gradient of lung density in the supine position was less at total lung capacity than at residual volume in healthy people. The vertical gradient of an emphysematous lung is less than that of normal healthy men, even at residual volume [29, 30]. Therefore, the higher volumes or percentages of LAA facilitate apnea-hypopnea formation in IPF due to the increase in collapsibility of upper airways.

Our results point out an easily available parameter for evaluating the OSA severity in IPF patients. It presents a new perspective for using radiologic findings in sleep medicine. These results also support the hypothesis of caudal retraction in the pathophysiology of apnea formation. Nevertheless, the small number of patients and the lack of control group must be considered as the limitations of our study. Also, the effect of smoking must be highlighted in a larger scale study in which regression models with more variables can be established.

CONCLUSION

Although LAA may include either emphysematous or hyperinflated areas, the positive correlation between AHI and LAA supports the hypothesis for the pathophysiology of OSA overlapping with restrictive lung diseases. Despite the small number of patients, the results of this study are informative for explaining the effect of LAA on the severity of OSAS in IPF patients. The caudal traction hypothesis can be based on the density of the lung considering the mixture of areas with different densities. The quantitative HRCT results which can be easily calculated via software can be used to predict the severity of OSAS in IPF patients. It is known that OSA had an impact on the quality of life for IPF patients. All IPF patients undergo HRCT. However, due to the limited number of sleep laboratories with busy schedules, PSG may be delayed. LAA which can be easily calculated from sections of CT scans can be used as a predictive factor for OSA in this population. The effect of LAA in the diagnosis and treatment of OSAS must be further investigated especially in patients who smoke or with underlying lung diseases.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Study Design: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Supervision: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Funding: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Materials: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Data Collection and/or Processing: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Literature Review: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ; Manuscript Preparation: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ and Critical Review: SŞD, HE, SF, DÇ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any

grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Raghu G, Collard HR, Egan JJ, Martinez FJ, Behr J, Brown KK, et al., ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT Committee on Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. An official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT statement: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: evidence-based guidelines for diagnosis and management. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011;14:788-824.

2. American Academy of Sleep Medicine. International Classification of Sleep Disorders, 3rd ed. American Academy of Sleep Medicine, Darien, IL:2014.

3. Schiza S, Mermigkis C, Margaritopoulos GA, Daniil Z, Harari S, Poletti V, et al. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and sleep disorders: no longer strangers in the night. Eur Respir Rev 2015;24:327-39.

4. Mermigkis C, Chapman J, Golish J, Mermigkis D, Budur K, Kopanakis A, et al. Sleep-related breathing disorders in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Lung 2007;185:173-8.

5. Lancaster LH, Mason WR, Parnell JA, Rice TW, Loyd JE, Milstone AP, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea is common in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 2009;136:772-8.

6. Miller MR, Crapo R, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, et al. General considerations for lung function testing. Eur Respir J 2005;26:153.

7. Berry RB, Brooks R, Gamaldo CE, Harding SM, Lloyd RM, Marcus CL, Vaughn BV; for the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. The AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events: Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications, Version 2.2. www.aasmnet.org. Darien, Illinois: American Academy of Sleep Medicine:2015.

8. Shaikh M, Sood RG, Sarkar M, Thakur V. Quantitative computed tomography (CT) assessment of emphysema in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and its correlation with age, sex, pulmonary function tests, BMI, smoking, and biomass exposure. Pol J Radiol 2017;82:760-6.

9. Wang Z, Gu S, Leader JK, Kundu S, Tedrow JR, Sciurba FC, et al. Optimal threshold in CT quantification of emphysema. Eur Radiol 2013;23:975-84.

10. Perez-Padilla R, West P, Lertzman M, Kryger M. Breathing during sleep in patients with interstitial lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985;132:224-9.

11. Bye P, Issa F, Berthon-Jones M, Sullivan C. Studies of oxygenation during sleep in patients with interstitial lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984;129:27-32.

12. Partinen M. Body mass index and neck circumference in obstructive sleep apnoea. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991;143:204.

13. Davies RJO, Ali NJ, Stradling JR. Neck circumference and other clinical features in the diagnosis of the obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. Thorax 1992;47:101-5.

14. Kairaitis K, Byth K, Parikh R, Stavrinou R, Wheatley JR, Amis TC. Tracheal traction effects on upper airway patency in rabbits: the role of tissue pressure.Sleep 2007;30:179-86.

15. Katz S, Arish N, Rokach A, Zaltzman Y, Marcus EL. The ef-

fect of body position on pulmonary function: a systematic review. BMC Pulm Med 2018;18:159.

16. Raghu G, Remy-Jardin M, Myers JL, Richeldi L, Ryerson CL, Lederer DJ. Diagnosis of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis An Official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT Clinical Practice Guideline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018;198:44-68.

17. Kolilekas L, Manali E, Vlami KA, Lyberopoulos P, Triantafillidou C, Kagouridis K. Sleep oxygen desaturation predicts survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Clin Sleep Med 2013;9:593-601.

18. Bosi M, Milioli G, Fanfulla F, Tomassetti S, Ryu JH, Parrino L. OSA and prolonged oxygen desaturation during sleep are strong predictors of poor outcome in IPF. Lung 2017;195:643-51.

19. Gevenois PA, Duyst PD, Sy M, Scillia P, Chaminade L, de Maertelaer V, et al. Pulmonary emphysema: quantitative CT during expiration. Radiology 1996;199:825-9.

20. Mitsunobu F, Mifune T, Ashida K, Hosaki Y, Tsugeno H, Okamoto M, et al. Low-attenuation areas of the lungs on high-resolution computed tomography in asthma. J Asthma 2001;38:413-22.

21. Nakano Y, Sakai H, Muro S, Hirai T, Oku Y, Nishimura K, et al. Comparison of low attenuation areas on computed tomographic scans between inner and outer segments of the lung in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: incidence and contribution to lung function. Thorax 1999;54:384-89.

22. Mishima M, Hirai T, Jin Z, Oku Y, Sakai N, Nakano Y, et al. Standardization of low attenuation area versus total lung area in chest X-ray CT as an indicator of chronic pulmonary emphysema. Front Med Biol Eng 1997;8:79-86. 23. Kumar I, Verma A, Jain A, Agarwal SK. Performance of quantitative CT parameters in assessment of disease severity in COPD: a prospective study. Indian J Radiol Imaging 2018;28:99-106.

24. Rahmawati A, Chishaki A, Ohkusa T, Hashimoto S, Adachi K, Nagao M, et al. Evaluation of water content around airway in obstructive sleep apnea patients using peripharyngeal mucosal T2 magnetic resonance imaging. Clin Respir J 2017;11:713-20. 25. Kojima T, Kawakubo M, Nishizaka MK, Rahmawati A, Ando SI, Chishaki A, et al. Assessment by airway ellipticity on cine-MRI to differentiate severe obstructive sleep apnea. Clin Respir J 2018;12:878-84.

26. Turnbull CD, Wang SH, Manuel AR, Keenan BT, McIntyre AG, Schwab RJ, et al. Relationships between MRI fat distributions and sleep apnea and obesity hypoventilation syndrome in very obese patients. Sleep Breath 2018;22:673-81.

27. Chousangsuntorn K, Bhongmakapat T, Apirakkittikul N, Sungkarat W, Supakul N, Laothamatas J. Computed tomography characterization and comparison with polysomnography for obstructive sleep apnea evaluation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2018;76:854-72.

28. Hochhegger B, Sanches FD, Altmayer SPL, Pacini GS, Zanon M, Guedes ÁDCB, et al. Air trapping in usual interstitial pneumonia pattern at CT: prevalence and prognosis. Sci Rep 2018;8:17267.

29. Millar AB, Denison DM. Vertical gradients of lung density in healthy supine men. Thorax 1989;44:485-90.

30. Millar AB, Denison DM. Vertical gradients of lung density in supine subjects with fibrosing alveolitis or pulmonary emphysema. Thorax 1990;45:602-5.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.990051

Is there a difference between normotensive and hypertensive patients in terms of blood parameters and cardiovascular diseases?

Cihan Aydın¹^o, Şeref Alpsoy¹^o, Mesut Engin²^o, Şenol Yavuz²^o

¹Department of Cardiology, Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Medicine, Tekirdağ, Turkey ²Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, , Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: It has been stated in various studies that there is a difference in some blood parameters between hypertensive and normotensive patients for a long time. Mean platelet volume (MPV), and red blood cell distribution width (RDW), have been studied in hypertensive patient groups in many studies. Hypertension is a classic risk factor for ischemic stroke and myocardial ischemia, as known. In our study, we examined whether there was a difference between hypertensive patient groups and normotensive patients in terms of blood parameters such as MPV and RDW, and the incidence of stroke and myocardial infarction.

Methods: Blood samples and twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) results of 552 patients admitted to our outpatient clinic with a pre-diagnosis of hypertension were retrospectively analyzed. According to ABPM results, we divided the study participants into four groups; dippers, non-dippers, extreme dippers, and normotansives. Complete blood count and biochemical test results were found in the database of our hospital for all patients and differences between groups were investigated.

Results: One hundred seventy three normotensives (Group 1) (mean age, 47.4 ± 15.4 years), 210 non-dippers (Group 2) (mean age, 53.8 ± 15.8 years), 67 extreme dippers (Group 3) (mean age, 49.1 ± 15.9 years) and 102 dippers (Group 4) (mean age, 52.2 ± 12.5 years). Daytime mean systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and night-time mean SBP and DBP were significantly different in groups (Group 1: 117 [90-193] mmHg and 71 [55-87] mmHg; Group 2: 137 [107-188] mmHg and 83 [107-188] mmHg; Group 3: 143 [115-193] mmHg and 88 [56-122] mmHg; and Group 4: 140.5 [116-173] mmHg and 76 [55-124] mmHg), p < 0.001; respectively. MPV and RDW levels were different in all four groups (p < 0.001). We found a significant difference in the rates of stroke and coronary artery disease between the four groups (p = 0.018 and p = 0.002, respectively). In the ROC curve analysis MPV had sensitivity of %77. 8 and specificity of 78. 1% for stroke when the cut-off value MPV was 9.25 (Area under curve: 0.808, 95% confidence interval: 0.726-0.889, p < 0.001).

Conclusions: In our study, MPV and RDW levels and the rates of stroke and cardiovascular disease were significantly higher in non-dipper patients compared to other groups.

Keywords: Hypertension, platelet, inflammation, complications





How to cite this article: Aydın C, Alpsoy Ş, Engin M, Yavuz Ş. Is there a difference between normotensive and hypertensive patients in terms of blood parameters and cardiovascular diseases?. *Eur Res J 2021;7(6):594-600. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.990051*

Address for correspondence: Cihan Aydın, MD., Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Namık Kemal Kampüs Street, 59030 Tekirdağ, Turkey. E-mail: drcihanaydin@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 282 250 00 00

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

A rterial blood pressure has a circadian rhythm that affects cardiovascular outcomes [1]. In a normal population, average night-time systolic and diastolic blood pressure (BP) decrease %10-%20 compared to daytime BP. The dipping pattern is a 10% to 20% decrease in night-time mean systolic or diastolic BP relative to mean daytime BP. This drop rate is below 10% in the non-dipper group. The average night BP drop is over 20% in extreme dippers [2]. Previous studies demonstrated that as in the non-dipper group, the frequency of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events increases in the extreme dipper group. Especially silent cerebral infarct rate increases in this group [3].

Red cell distribution width (RDW) increases due to increased erythrocyte destruction or ineffective erythropoiesis. Changes in the RDW interval may predict other cardiovascular disease outcomes [4, 5]. Previous studies demonstrated that hypertensive patients might have higher RDW levels according to patients with normal BP. In addition, in some studies, RDW levels were higher in the non-dipper group compared to the dipper group [6]. Mean platelet volume (MPV) is an indicator of platelet activation and platelet size, which is an independent risk factor for hypertension, myocardial infarction, and stroke [7, 8]. It is known that active large platelets containing denser granules are metabolically and enzymatically more active in triggering thrombosis than small ones [9].

In our study, we planned to compare MPV and RDW levels and the frequency of stroke and cardiovascular disease in between dippers, non-dippers, extreme-dippers, and normotensives.

METHODS

Study Population

The data and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) results of 552 patients over the age of 18 who were diagnosed with hypertension between January 2019 and June 2020 in our outpatient clinic were evaluated retrospectively. The patients were divided into four groups (dippers, non-dippers, normotensives, and extreme dippers) based on the results of ABPM. The exclusion criteria of this study were as follows; secondary hypertension, congestive heart failure, recent myocardial infarction (MI), peripheral vascular disease, valvular disease, having a history of metallic prosthetic valve surgery, angina pectoris, chronic renal failure (serum creatinine >1.5 mg/dl), chronic liver diseases, thromboembolic disorders, hematological disorders, acute or chronic infections. Patients under antiplatelet and warfarin treatment were also excluded from the study. Informed consent was obtained from all participants, and the study protocol was approved by the Namık Kemal University ethics committee.

Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring

Hypertension was defined as the mean of three different BP measurements above 140/90 mmHg. In ABPM average SBP > 135 mmHg, DBP > 85 mmHg at daytime (awake), average SBP >120 mmHg, DBP >70 mmHg at nighttime (asleep), or in average 24hour measurements SBP >130 mmHg, DBP >80 mmHg defined as hypertension. Patients with a mean of three measurements below 140/90 in-office BP measurements and those with BP measurements below the above-mentioned values in ABPM were considered normotensive.

Blood pressure, heart rate was measured and recorded automatically by the ABPM system. (Darwin Professional Medilog; Schiller BR-102, Switzerland). The recorder was programmed to record at 30-minute intervals during the day (7:00 am-10:00 pm) and 1hour intervals during the night (10:00 pm-7:00 am). Patients were subclassified according to the percentage difference between day and night systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Average nighttime SBP and DBP decrease %10-%20 compared to daytime BP. This group was named as dipper (Group 4). One hundred two patients who met this criterion were included in this group. The group with a decrease of 20% or more in systolic or diastolic BP at night compared to the daytime was named as extreme-dipper (Group 3). Sixty-seven patients were in the extreme dipper group. The group in which SBP or DBP at night decreased by 10 percent or less compared to daytime was named as non-dipper (Group 2). Two hundred ten patients were in this group. There were 173 normotensive patients as a control group (Group 1).

Baseline demographic data, current medications, and blood chemistry test results were collected from their medical records in our hospital. Blood samples were drawn from the antecubital vein between 08:00 am and 10:00 am after overnight fasting. EDTA (dipotassium ethylendinitrotetraacetic acid) containing tubes were used for blood samples.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS for Windows Version 22, 0 (SPSS Inc., IL, USA) was used for all statistical analysis. Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and categorical variables were expressed as per-

centage. Whether the parameters conformed to the normal distribution was evaluated with the Kolmogorov Smirnov test. In statistical parameters such as RDW, MVP with normal distribution One-way ANOVA test was used for 4 groups. In post hoc analysis, parameters with equality of variance according to Levene's test were evaluated with Tukey's test, and parameters without equality of variance were evalu-

Table 1	Baseline	characteristics	of the	patient groups
---------	----------	-----------------	--------	----------------

Variables	GROUP 1	GROUP 2	GROUP 3	GROUP 4	Total	p value
	(n = 173)	(n = 210)	(n = 67)	(n = 102)	(n = 552)	
Age (years)	47.4 ± 15.4	53.8 ± 15.8	49.1 ± 15.9	52.2 ± 12.5	50.9 ± 15.3	< 0.001°
Male, n (%)	49 (28.3%)	99 (47.1%)	26 (38.8%)	47 (46.1%)	221 (40%)	0.001 ^a
Female, n (%)	124 (71.7%)	111 (52.9%)	41 (61.2%)	55 (53.9%)	331 (60%)	0.001 ^a
CAD, n (%)	12 (6.9%)	34 (16.2%)	2 (3%)	16 (15.7%)	64 (11.6%)	0.002 ^a
Stroke, n (%)	9 (5.2%)	27 (12.9%)	4 (6%)	5 (4.9%)	45 (8.2%)	0.018 ^a
DM, n (%)	28 (16.2%)	48 (22.9%)	12 (17.9%)	23 (22.5%)	111 (20.1%)	0.358 ^a
Glucose, mg/dl	100 (75.6-176)	101.65 (78.6-592)	99 (76-264)	102 (76-438)	95.9 (75.6-592)	0.060 ^b
Hemoglobin, gr/dL	13.19 ± 1.49	13.48 ± 1.73	13.3 ± 1.52	13.87 ± 1.56	13.47 ± 1.51	0.070 ^c
Hematocrit, %	40.1 ± 5.85	406 ± 4.84	41.04 ± 4.37	41.3 ± 4.52	40.76 ± 4.89	0.236 ^c
Medical Treatment						
Beta blocker, n (%)	62 (35.8%)	134 (63.8%)	36 (53.7%)	60 (58.8%)	292 (52.9%)	< 0.001ª
Ca-channel blocker, n (%)	26 (15%)	71 (33.8%)	18 (27.5%)	28 (27.5%)	143 (25.9%)	0.001 ^a
ACE-I/ARB, n (%)	62 (35.8%)	134 (63.8%)	36 (53.7%)	60 (58.8%)	292 (52.9%)	< 0.001ª
Diuretic, n (%)	40 (23.1%)	95 (45.2%)	26 (38.8%)	43 (42.2%)	204 (37%)	< 0.001ª
OAD, n (%)	25 (14.5%)	41 (19.5%)	8 (11.9%)	23 (22.5%)	97 (17.6%)	0.177 ^a
Insulin, n (%)	6 (3.5%)	9 (4.3%)	2 (3%)	5 (4.9%)	22 (4%)	0.903 ^a
Ambulatory blood pressure data						
24 hours mean SBP	115	137.5	135	136.5	123	< 0.001 ^b
(mmHg)	(90-132)	(107-184)	(111-189)	(111-169)	(90-189)	
24 hour mean DBP	69	81.5	81	83	74	< 0.001 ^b
(mmHg)	(56-83)	(61-122)	(52-109)	(56-105)	(52-122)	
24 hour mean HR beat/min	73.9 ± 8.9	74.8 ± 9.9	74.2 ± 8.3	74.9 ± 9.2	74.5 ± 9.3	0.762°
Daytime mean SBP	117	137	143	140,5	125	< 0.001 ^b
(mmHg)	(90-193)	(107-188)	(115-193)	(116-173)	(90-193)	0.0047
Daytime mean DBP	71	83	88	87	76	< 0.001b
	(55-87)	(60-124)	(56-122)	(58-111)	(55-124)	0 7 4 2 h
beat/min	/0 (47,108)	/8 (50,111)	(60, 104)	(55.08)	/3,5	0.743°
Night-time mean SBP	109.4 + 8.6	(30-111) 139 5 + 17	1235 ± 164	(33-98) 129.8 + 11.4	(47-111) 1263 + 187	< 0.001°
(mmHg)	109.4 ± 0.0	139.5 ± 17	125.5 ± 10.4	129.0 ± 11.4	120.5 ± 16.7	< 0.001
Night-time mean DBP	64	80	70	76	68	<0.001 ^b
(mmHg)	(49-78)	(58-120)	(45-90)	(52-95)	(45-120)	0.1 00 h
Night-time mean HR	6/	/0	68 (52,01)	68 (50.05)	64	0.132
Destine meen exterial	(37-93)	(47-102)	(55-91)	(30-93)	(37-102)	< 0.001b
pressure (mmHg)	07 (48 67-101 67)	(79.33-145.33)	(91 67-145 67)	(84 7-131 7)	95 (48 67-145 67)	< 0.001
Night-time mean arterial	79.09 ± 5.9	(7).55-1+5,55) 101 1 + 11 9	875+91	94.4 + 7.5	913 ± 131	< 0 001°
pressure (mm Hg)	17.07 - 5.7	101.1 ± 11.7	07.5 ± 7.1	71.7 ± 7.5)1.5 ± 15.1	. 0.001
24 hour mean arterial	83.6	99	97	101.5	90.67	< 0.001 ^b
pressure (mmHg)	(68.67-97)	(82-142)	(85.33-135.67)	(80.7-126.3)	(68.67-142)	

BMI = Body mass index, SBP = Systolic blood pressure, DBP = Diastolic blood pressure, DM = Diabetes mellitus, HR = Heart rate, CAD = Coronary artery disease, OAD = Oral anti-diabetic. ^aChi square test (percentage), ^bKruskal Wallis (median [minimum-maximum]) ^cOne Way Anova (mean \pm standard deviation)

Group 1 = normotensives, Group 2 = non-dippers, Group 3 = extreme dippers, Group 4 = dippers

ated with Tamhane's test.Data that did not conform to normal distribution were compared using the Kruskal Wallis test.Mann-Whitney U test was used in subgroup analysis among 4 groups for parameters with significant differences. Frequency data were compared using the chi-square test. The cut-off value for MPV was calculated by performing roc analysis in individuals with strokes. *P*-value less than 0.05 was accepted statistically significant.

RESULTS

The mean age of 552 patients was 50.9 ± 15.3 years and 221 (40%) were males, 331 (60%) were females. The patients were divided into 4 groups according to their 24-hour ambulatory BP measurements; Group 1: normotensives (mean age: 47.4 ± 15.4 years; 49 (28.3%) males, 124 (71.1%) females), Group 2 : non-dippers (mean age: 53.8 ± 15.8 years; 99 (47.1%) males, 111 (52.9%) females), Group 3: extreme dippers (mean age: 49.1 ± 15.9 years; 26 (38.8%) males, 41 (61.2%) females) and Group 4: dippers (mean age: 52.2 ± 12.5 years; 47 (46.1%) males, 55 (53.9%) females). The four groups were similar in terms of the number of diabetic patients (p = 0.358). There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of insulin and oral antidiabetic use (p = 0.903 and p =0.177, respectively). Twenty-four-hours, daytime and night-time mean heart rates of patients were similar in the measurements of ambulatory BP (p = 0.762, p =0.743 and p = 0.132, respectively). Their baseline characteristics were summarized in Table 1.

Subgroup analysis of patients characteristics between four groups were presented in Table 2. The mean age of the other three groups was higher than Group 1 (p < 0.001). Coronary artery disease rate was statistically similar in Group 3 and Group 4 (p > 0.05) but higher than normotensives (p = 0.002). The stroke rate was highest in Group 2, and it was observed at a statistically similar rate in the other groups (p = 0.018). Except for Group 1, the lipid levels of the patients in the three groups were similar. Compared with Group 1 in terms of total cholesterol, (TC) triglyceride and low-density lipoprotein cholestrerol (LDL-C) levels were higher in Group 2 (p < 0.005, p < 0.001 and p <0.05 respectively). Triglyceride levels in Group 3 and LDL-C levels in Group 4 were higher than Group 1. When we evaluated the biochemical parameters, the levels of MPW and RDW values were significantly higher in Group 2 (p < 0.001 for two values). These parameters were similar among other groups (p > 0.05). There was no difference between the groups in terms of other complete blood parameters and biochemical parameters.

The highest use of BP medication was in the nondipper group (p < 0.001) and it was similar in Group 3 and Group 4 (p > 0.05). Daytime /Night-time mean DBP, Daytime/Night-time mean SBP, Day/Night-time mean arterial pressures were significantly different between groups. 24-hour mean SBP / DBP and 24-hour mean arterial pressure was similar in the 3 groups but higher than Group 1.

ROC curve analysis showed that MPV had a sensitivity of 77.8% and specificity of 78.1% for stroke in individuals who participated in the study when the cut- off value of MPV was 9.25 fl (p < 0.001) (Fig. 1).

DISCUSSION

In our study, we found higher levels of MPV and RDW showing platelet activation in the non-dipper group compared to the other groups. Also, the frequency of cerebrovascular and coronary artery disease was higher in the non-dipper group.

In the long term, hypertension is a risk factor that should be controlled, causing end-organ damage and poor cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events [10]. Especially the non-dipper pattern is associated with target organ damage and poor cardiovascular outcomes in many studies [11]. In a meta-analysis in which prospective studies were examined, the dipping pattern and the mean night/day BP ratio significantly predicted mortality and cardiovascular events [12].

High MPV and RDW levels, which shown to be associated with inflammation and platelet activation, have been found to increase cardiovascular disease and mortality in hypertensive patients [13]. The underlying causes of high RDW levels are chronic inflammation, erythropoiesis disorders, increased erythrocyte destruction, and oxidative stress. RDW, a marker of inflammation, was found to be increased in non-dipper and dipper hypertensive patients compared to normotensive patients [14].

Ongoing oxidative stress and inflammation, in-

Table 2. Subgroup analysis of patients characteristics between rour groups							
Variables	GROUP 1	GROUP 2	GROUP 3	GROUP 4	Total	<i>p</i> value	
	(n = 173)	(n = 210)	(n = 67)	(n = 102)	(n = 552)		
Age, (years) ^{3a}	47.4 ± 15.4	53.8 ± 15.8	49 1 ± 15.9	52.2 ± 12.5	50.9 ± 15.3	< 0.001 ^a	
MPV, fl ^{3a}	8.52 ± 0.8	9.13 ± 1.05	8.74 ± 0.78	8.8 ± 0.79	8.83 ± 0.95	< 0.001 ^{a,d,e}	
RDW, % ^{3a}	13.1 ± 1.4	13.8 ± 1.39	13.3 ± 1.27	13.01 ± 1.2	13.42 ± 1.38	< 0.001 ^{a,d,e}	
Hemoglobin, g/dL ^{3a}	13.19 ± 1.49	13.48 ± 1.73	13.3 ± 1.52	13.87 ± 1.56	13.47 ± 1.51	0.008°	
Platelet $(10^3/\mu L)^2$	254 (131-448)	242 (72-542)	198 (155.2-330)	197.15 (98.2-352)	229 (72-547)	0.024	
Creatinine(mg/dL) ²	0.72 (0.36-0.9)	0.78 (0.43-3.89)	0.73 (0.34-1.85)	0.76 (0.49-1.68)	0.69 (0.34-6.89)	0.005 ^a	
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL) ²	185 (59.5-354.4)	201.4 (98.9-357)	198 (155.2-330)	197.15 (98.2-352)	179.5 (59.5-357)	0.003 ^{a,b,c}	
LDL-C (mg/dL) ²	106.78 (19.8- 254.32)	120 (35-232.7)	120 (68-220)	117.71 (31.96-256)	101.16 (19.8- 256)	0.009 ^{a,b}	
HDL-C (mg/dL) ²	48 (21-125)	45 (20-97)	48 (32-84)	49 (30-106)	41(20-125)	0.015a,d,e	
Triglyceride (mg/dL) ²	117.3 (35.6- 1119)	149.75 (47-650)	136 (50-478)	120.4 (45.7-526.2)	105 (35.6-1119)	< 0.001 ^a	
CAD, n (%) ¹	8 (4.62%) ^x	34 (16.2%) ^y	5 (7.46%) ^z	7 (6.8%) ^z	54 (9.7%)	0.002	
Stroke, n (%) ¹	9 (5.2%) ^x	27 (12.9%) ^y	4 (6%) ^x	5 (4.9%) ^x	45 (8.2%)	0.018	
Gender ¹							
Male, n (%) ¹	49 (28.3%) ^x	99 (47.1%) ^y	26 (38.8%) ^z	47 (46.1%) ^y	221 (40%)	0.001	
Female, n (%) ¹	124 (71.7%) ^x	111 (52.9%) ^y	41 (61.2%) ^z	55 (53.9%) ^y	331 (60%)	0.001	
Beta blocker, n (%) ¹	62 (35.8%) ^x	134 (63.8%) ^y	36 (53.7%) ^z	60 (58.8%) ^z	292 (52.9%)	< 0.001	
Ca –channel blocker, n (%) ¹	26 (15%) ^x	71 (33.8%) ^y	18(26.9%) ^z	28 (27.5%) ^z	143 (25.9%)	0.001	
ACE I/ARB, n (%) ¹	62 (35.8%) ^x	134 (63.8%) ^y	36 (53.7%) ^z	60 (58.8%) ^y	292 (52.9%)	< 0.001	
Diuretic, n (%) ¹	40 (23.1%) ^x	95 (45.2%) ^y	26 (38.8%) ^z	43 (42.2%) ^y	204 (37%)	< 0.001	
24 hours mean SBP $(mmHa)^2$	115	137.5	135	136,5	123	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}	
(mming)	(90-132)	(107-184)	(111-169)	(111-109)	(90-189)	< 0.001abc	
$(mmHg)^2$	(56-83)	(61-122)	(52-109)	83 (56-105)	(52-122)	< 0.001	
Davtime mean SBP	117	137	143	140.5	125	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
(mmHg) ²	(90-193)	(107-188)	(115-193)	(116-173)	(90-193)		
Daytime mean DBP	71	83	88	87	76	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
(mmHg) ²	(55-87)	(60-124)	(56-122)	(58-111)	(55-124)		
Night-time mean SBP	109.4 ± 8.6	139.5 ± 17	123.5 ± 16.4	129.8 ± 11.4	126.3 ± 18.7	< 0,001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
(mmHg) ^{3b}							
Night-time mean DBP	64	80	70	76	68	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
(mmHg) ²	(49-78)	(58-120)	(45-90)	(52-95)	(45-120)		
Daytime mean arterial	87	100.33	105	105.15	93	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
pressure (mmHg) ²	(48.67-101.67)	(79.33-145.33)	(91.67-145.67)	(84.7-131.7)	(48.67-145.67)		
Night-time mean arterial pressure (mmHg) ^{3b}	79.09 ± 5.9	101.1 ± 11.9	87.5 ± 9.1	94.4 ± 7.5	91.3 ± 13.1	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f}	
24 hour mean arterial	83.6	99	97	101.5	90.67	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}	
pressure (mmHg) ²	(68.67-97)	(82-142)	(85.33-135.67)	(80.7-126.3)	(68.67-142)		

Table 2.	Subgroup	analysis o	f patients	characteristics	between	four g	roups
	Subgroup	anary 515 0	i patients	o character istics	Detween	ioui ș	toups

MPV = Mean platelet volume, RDW = Red cell distribution width, LDL-C = Low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C = High density lipoprotein cholesterol, CAD = Coronary artery disease, ACEI = Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor ARB = Angiotensin receptor blocker, SBP = Systolic blood pressure, DBP = Diastolic blood pressure. Group 1 = normotensives, Group 2 = non-dippers, Group 3 = extreme dippers, Group 4 = dippers

 ${}^{a}p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 1 and Group 2, ${}^{b}p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 1 and Group 3, ${}^{c}:p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 1 and Group 4, ${}^{d}p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 2 and Group 3, ${}^{c}:p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 2 and Group 4, ${}^{f}:p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 2 and Group 4, ${}^{f}:p < 0.05$ in subgroup analysis compare to Group 4.

Each subscript letter ((shown as (x, y, z)) denotes a subset of grup categories whose column proportions do not differ significantly from each other at the 0.05 level in Chi square subgroup analysis. Bonferroni correction was made in subgroup analysis of parameters with kruskal wallis test. *p* value < 0.008 was considered significant. ¹Chi square test(percentage), ²Kruskal Wallis (median (minimum-maximum)), ³One Way Anova (mean \pm standard deviation). ^{3a}; post hoc analysis with Tukey test, ^{3b}; post hoc analysis with Tamhane test

creased cytokine levels, especially in atherosclerosis and hypertension may have caused an increase in RDW levels by suppressing erythrocyte production in the bone marrow. Also increased sympathetic activity and angiotensin II levels, especially in non-dipper patients can stimulate the proliferation of erythrocyte

progenitors and increase the RDW range [15]. In our study, we found higher RDW levels in non-dipper patients compared to the control group and the other two groups.

Mean platelet volume is the quantitative indicator of mean platelet size. Platelets are small, seedless,





Fig. 1. ROC (Receiver operation characteristic) curve and AUC (Area under the curve) for mean platelet volume for predicting stroke in hypertensive patients (Cut off: 9.25, AUC: 0.808, 95% CI:0,726- 0.889, p < 0.001, 77.8% sensitivity and 78.1% specificity).

round-shaped specialized blood cells 2-4 μ m in diameter. Large platelets are metabolically and enzymatically more active than small ones, which increases the susceptibility to thrombosis. As the MPV increases, the expression of glycoprotein Ib and glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptors on its surface increases. Large platelets have denser granules where more proagretory factors [16, 17]. In our study, we found higher MPV levels in non-dipper patients compared to the control group and the other two groups. Stroke and coronary artery disease rates were again higher in the non-dipper group.

In studies conducted with healthy volunteers, platelet aggregation has been shown to increase in the morning hours of the day [18]. This situation increases the risk of acute myocardial infarction in non-dipper patients with increased MPV levels. An increase in BP has been closely associated with mortality in ischemic events. Moreover, every 20 mmHg increase in SBP and every 10 mmHg increase in DBP increase the mortality rate two-fold indicated that the development of atherosclerotic plaque increased in non-dipper hypertensive patients and high BP at night caused endothelial damage [19].

In various studies, extreme dipper and dipper hypertensives were found to be similar in terms of cardiovascular prognosis [20]. However, different studies are documenting a better or worse prognosis in extreme dipper patients. The extreme dipper pattern ranges from 5% to 30% depending on the diagnostic criteria, clinical and demographic characteristics of the individuals [20]. In a study by Ohkubo et al. [21], the mortality risk was highest in reverse dippers, followed by non dippers; the lowest risk was associated with extreme dipping and dipper patients. In subgroup analysis, there was no difference between dipper and extreme dipper groups [21]. Additionally, a metaanalysis of several studies providing data on echocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy indicates that extreme dippers have a lower risk of subclinical cardiac injury than dippers and reverse dippers [22]. Evidence of the relationship between symptomatic or silent cerebral ischemic lesions assessed by imaging techniques and nocturnal BP reduction is limited to a few studies in elderly hypertensive patients [22]. Severe nighttime BP reduction leading to cerebral hypoperfusion possibly related to antihypertensive therapy. However, the presence of an extreme dipper pattern, potentially harmful to cerebral perfusion, should be excluded in treated elderly hypertensive patients (especially if taking antihypertensive drugs in the afternoon or evening). However, data from the large database suggest that extreme dippers tend to be younger, less frequently obese, diabetic, or affected by cardiovascular disease. In our study, stroke rates were the highest in the non-dipper group [22]. In our study, it was similar in the extreme dipper, dipper, and normotensive groups. Coronary artery disease rates were highest in the non-dipper group. This ratio was similar in extreme dipper and dipper groups.

Limitations

The fact that our study was planned in a single center and the low number of patients participating in the study limits the power of our findings. In addition, in our study, we did not include patients with advanced heart failure, secondary hypertension, new heart attack, or valvular heart disease. Therefore, the results of our study cannot be attributed to all hypertensive patient groups.

CONCLUSION

In our study, we found higher levels of MPV and RDW showing platelet activation in the non-dipper group compared to the other groups. Also, the frequency of cerebrovascular and coronary artery disease was higher in the non-dipper group. In addition, as mentioned in some studies, we found the frequency of cerebrovascular and coronary artery disease, which is claimed to be more common in extreme dipper patients, to be similar to the dipper group.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: CA, ŞA; Study Design: CA, ŞA; Supervision: CA, ŞA, ME, ŞY; Funding: CA, ŞA; Materials: CA, ŞA; Data Collection and/or Processing: CA, ŞA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: CA, ŞA, ME, ŞY; Literature Review: CA, ŞA, ME, ŞY; CA, ŞA, ME, ŞY: AAP and Critical Review: CA, ŞA, ME, ŞY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Özünal ZG, Tahirbegolli İA, Baykal M, Ateş B, Tahirbegolli B, Kılıç Y, et al. The drug adherence and lifestyle factors that contribute to blood pressure control among hypertensive patients. Eur Res J 2019;5:853-60.

2. Gu JW, Liu JH, Xiao HN, Yang YF, Dong WJ, Zhang QB, et al. Relationship between plasma levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and arterial stiffness in elderly Chinese with non-dipper hypertension: an observational study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99:e19200.

3. Kario K, Pickering TG, Umeda Y, Hoshide S, Hoshide Y, Morinari M, et al. Morning surge in blood pressure as a predictor of silent and clinical cerebrovascular disease in elderly hypertensives: a prospective study. Circulation 2003;107:1401-6.

4. Allen LA, Felker GM, Mehra MR, Chiong JR, Dunlap SH, Ghali JK, et al. Validation and potential mechanisms of red cell distribution width as a prognostic marker in heart failure. J Cardiac Fail 2010;16:230-8.

5. Hampole CV, Mehrotra AK, Thenappan T, Gomberg–Maitland M, Shah SJ. Usefulness of red cell distribution width as a prognostic marker in pulmonary hypertension. Am J Cardiol 2009;104:868-72.

6. Felker GM, Allen LA, Pocock SJ, Shaw LK, McMurray JJ, Pfeffer MA, et al. Red cell distribution width as a novel prognostic marker in heart failure: data from the CHARM program and the duke databank. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50:40-7.

7. Bath P, Algert C, Chapman N, Neal B. Association of mean platelet volume with risk of stroke among 3134 individuals with a history of CVD. Stroke 2004;35:622-6.

8. Akgül E, Engin M, Özyazıcıoğlu AF. Effects of mean platelet volume and platelet counts on peripheral biodegradable stent restenosis. J Surg Med. 2019;3:663-5.

9. Erdolu B, Engin M. The effect of mean platelet volume-tolymphocyte ratio on symptom onset in patients with carotid artery stenosis. Turk J Vasc Surg 2021;30:7-12.

10. Bofosa T, Miangindula B, Kusuayi G, Kiana N, Nkiama C. Effect of an adapted physical activity program on the morphological and physiological profile of hypertensive patients of University Clinics of Kinshasa. Eur Res J 2019;5:618-22.

11. Sega R, Facchetti R, Bombelli M, Cesana G, Corrao G, Grassi G, et al. Prognostic value of ambulatory and home blood pressures compared with office blood pressure in the general population: follow-up results from the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate e Loro Associazioni (PAMELA) study. Circulation 2005;111:1777-83.

12. Fagard RH, Thijs L, Staessen JA, Clement DL, De Buyzere ML, De Bacquer DA. Night-day blood pressure ratio and dipping pattern as predictors of death and cardiovascular events in hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 2009;23:645-53.

13. Tonelli M, Sacks F, Arnold M, Moye L, Davis B, Pfeffer M. for the Cholesterol and Recurrent Events (CARE) Trial Investigators. Relation between red blood cell distribution width and cardiovascular event rate in people with coronary disease. Circulation 2008;117:163-8.

14. Tosu AR, Demir S, Selcuk M, Kaya Y, Akyol A, Ozdemir M, et al. Comparison of inflammatory markers in non-dipper hypertension vs. dipper hypertension and normotensive individuals: uric acid, C-reactive protein, and red blood cell distribution width readings. Postepy Kardiol Interwencyjnej 2014;10:98-103.

15. Seo SG, Lee MY, Park SH, Han JM, Lee KB, Kim H, et al. The association between red cell distribution width and incident hypertension in Korean adults. Hypertens Res 2020;43:55-61.

16. Villmann JM, Burkhardt R, Teren A, Villmann T, Thiery J,

Drogies T. Atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction and primary hemostasis: impact of platelets, von Willebrand factor and soluble glycoprotein VI. Thromb Res 2019;180:98-104.

17. Korniluk A, Koper-Lenkiewicz OM, Kamińska J, Kemona H, Dymicka-Piekarska V. Mean platelet volume (MPV): new perspectives for an old marker in the course and prognosis of inflammatory conditions. Mediators Inflamm 2019;2019:9213074.

18. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R. Agespecific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 2002;360:1903-13.

19. Vasunta RL, Kesaniemi YA, Ylitalo A, Ukkola O. Nondipping pattern and carotid atherosclerosis in a middle-aged population: OPERA study. Am J Hypertens 2012;25:60-6.

20. Cuspidi C, Tadic M, Sala C, Gherbesi E, Grassi G, Mancia G. Extreme dipping: is the cardiovascular risk increased? An unsolved issue. J Hypertens 2019;37:1917-26.

21. Ohkubo T, Imai Y, Tsuji I, Watanabe N, Minami N, Kato J, et al. Relation between the nocturnal decline in blood pressure and mortality. Am J Hypertens 1997; 10:1201-7.

22. Cuspidi C, Tadic M, Sala C, Carugo S, Mancia G, Grassi G. Reverse dipping and subclinical cardiac organ damage: a metaanalysis of echocardiographic studies. J Hypertens 2021;39:1505-12.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.
DOI: 10.18621/eurj.848440

Prevalence of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance in neurovascular stenting: a single-center experience

Dilara Atasoy¹^o, Hasan Dinç²^o, Şükrü Oğuz²^o, Mehmet Sönmez³^o

¹Department of Radiology, Sivas Numune Hospital, Sivas, Turkey

²Department of Radiology, Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Farabi Hospital, Trabzon, Turkey ³Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Farabi Hospital, Trabzon, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The objective of this study was to determine the frequency of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance of patients undergoing neurovascular stenting procedure in the interventional radiology unit.

Methods: The Multiplate[®] Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Germany) test data of 250 patients who underwent carotid or intracranial artery stenting due to atherosclerotic stenosis or treatment of intracranial aneurysms between 2013-2017 in the Interventional Radiology Unit of our hospital were evaluated retrospectively to detect the aspirin and clopidogrel resistance. Aspirin or clopidogrel resistance defined as the higher AUC value than 40U and 46U, respectively. The patients who did not have a result of the Multiplate[®] test; had anemia, known coagulation disorder or thrombocytopenia were excluded.

Results: Among the 172 patients who met the inclusion criteria, 59 (34.3%) were those who had an intracranial stent during aneurysm treatment, and 113 (65.7%) had carotid stenting due to atherosclerotic stenosis. The prevalence of aspirin resistance was 9.4% (16/170) whereas that of clopidogrel resistance was 23.8% (41/172). Among the patients with atherosclerotic stenosis, aspirin resistance accounting for 3.6%, and clopidogrel resistance was 23.0%. Furthermore, the resistance in the patients with stent-assisted coiling for aneurysm treatment was 20.7% for aspirin and 25.4% for clopidogrel.

Conclusions: In our study, the prevalence of aspirin resistance was found 9.4% and clopidogrel resistance 23.8% in patients who had neurovascular stenting. The effect of this condition on clinical outcomes in these patients should be investigated by randomized controlled trials.

Keywords: Neurovascular stenting, aspirin resistance, clopidogrel resistance, multiplate test, antiplatelet resistance

Dual antiplatelet treatment with aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) and clopidogrel has been readily accepted regiment of antithrombotic therapy in patients undergoing neurovascular stenting [1]. Although these antithrombotics have been used in patients as premedication and after neurovascular stenting procedure, thromboembolic complications have still been encountered during or/and after the procedure [2].

Insufficient in vivo platelet inhibition with aspirin and clopidogrel have been accused of thromboembolic complications theoretically. If inadequate platelet inhibition is demonstrated with a laboratory test, the terms 'resistance to aspirin or clopidogrel', 'low response to aspirin-clopidogrel', or 'nonresponse to aspirin-clopidogrel' have been used. In vitro laboratory tests detecting platelet function, namely Multiplate®,

Received: December 28, 2020; Accepted: February 3, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Atasoy D, Dinc H, Oğuz Ş, Sönmez M. Prevalence of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance in neurovascular stenting: A singlecenter experience. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):601-609. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.848440

Address for correspondence: Dilara Atasoy, MD., Sivas Numune Hospital, Department of Radiology, Yeşilyurt Mah., Şifa Cad., 58040 Sivas, Turkey. E-mail: dilara.gungor@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 533 2508032, Tel: +90 4444458

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

VerifyNow®, Light Transmission Aggregometry (LTA), PFA-100 (Platelet Function Assay), VASP (vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein), have been used excessively among patients with cardiovascular intervention in order to indicate patients with inadequate platelet inhibition [3]. This trend has been adopted in the field of neurovascular intervention by some centres and the Multiplate® test has been used in our neurovascular interventional unit for this purpose.

Providing antiplatelet drug resistance could be determined before neurovascular stenting, antiplatelet dosage and combination might be adjusted on an individual basis to prevent new thromboembolic events [4]. Therefore, it might be important to know the inadequate response to aspirin and clopidogrel in patients who will have neurovascular stent-placement procedures. In this study, we aimed to detect the frequency of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance in patients undergoing neurovascular stenting in the interventional radiology unit of our hospital.

METHODS

Patient Group

Patients who underwent elective intracranial or extracranial stent placement with different indications at the Interventional Radiology Unit of our (the name hidden for blinded review) University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology between January 1, 2013 and January 31, 2017 were assessed.

The patients who did not receive aspirin or clopidogrel for any reason or did not have a complete result of the resistance test; had anemia (Hg level < 8 g/dl), known coagulation disorder or thrombocytopenia (< $50.000 / \text{m}^3$), polycythemia, leukopenia (leukocytes < 4.000 / mm), bone marrow disease or blood transfusion were excluded. In addition, those whom taken blood samples could not be processed between 30 minutes and 3 hours were not included.

Records of patients in the study were retrospectively reviewed and the data were collected including age, sex, and presence of concomitant diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, cerebrovascular event (CVO), coronary artery disease (CAD), hypercholesterolemia, chronic kidney disease (CKD) and chronic liver disease. Moreover, results of the fasting blood samples obtained on the day before or on the day of the procedure were evaluated to note blood glucose, creatinine, hemoglobin, platelet, and leukocyte counts.

Routine screening for clinically silent ischemic strokes with diffusion-weighted imaging was not performed. Post-procedural images of patients (unenhanced computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging) were retrospectively examined for possible new ischemic findings by comparison with pre-procedural imaging.

Medication of Patients

Patients scheduled for elective neurovascular stent placement received 100 mg aspirin and 75 mg clopidogrel per day for 7 days prior to the procedure normally. If there were less than 7 days to the procedure, 300 mg clopidogrel and aspirin per day were given for 3 days and then continued with 100 mg aspirin and 75 mg clopidogrel daily. None of our patients received 600 mg clopidogrel as a loading dose just before the day of the procedure.

If the clopidogrel resistance was demonstrated by Multiplate[®] test, the premedication was adjusted as 500 mg of ticlopidine and 100 mg of aspirin for 7 days before the procedure. In case of still antiplatelet resistance presence, prasugrel 10 mg per day alone was given 7 days before the procedure.

Multiplate[®] test

Venous blood samples were collected 24 hours before the procedure from the peripheral antecubital vein by nurses. Blood samples were filled into hirudin filled tubes after which they were sent to the hematology laboratory within 30 minutes. Platelet function tests were studied with the Multiplate[®] analysis system (Fig. 1). Blood samples were stored at room temperature for 30 minutes. Platelet aggregation was evaluated using the impedance method within 30-180 minutes in total after samples were collected. 300 microliters of the blood sample were taken and were diluted again with 300 microliters of 0.9% saline at room temperature. 20 microliters ADP or ASP test agents were added into these sample after 3 minutes incubation period.

The results were obtained by calculating the area under the curve (AUC) at the end of the 6 minute evaluation period. The recommended range for AUC values is 71-115U for aspirin and 57-113U for clopidogrel. Aspirin Multiplate[®] test results above 40U



Fig. 1. Multiplate Test Machine. Multiplate test machine in our hospital is located in Hematology laboratary; however, it is possible to be situated and utilized it with a trained staff in interventional radiology units.

were recorded as the group showing aspirin resistance while for clopidogrel, those with a result above 46U were recorded as with clopidogrel resistance. Followup platelet-activity testing was not performed after the procedure.

Statistical Analysis

SSPS version 23.0 was used for statistical analysis. The patients were divided into two groups as stenting due to atherosclerotic stenosis and stent-assisted coil embolization for aneurysm treatment. For these two groups, separately, and all patients are searched for aspirin and clopidogrel resistance. The two groups were compared in terms of the frequency of resistance. Clinical characteristics were also compared between these two groups, as well as the resistant versus nonresistant groups. The independent samples t-test, Mann Whitney U test, and Chi square tests were used to determine the correlations between the variables. A p value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The study was approved by the ethics committee of our hospital.

RESULTS

In this study, 250 patients who underwent neurovascular stenting in the Interventional Radiology Unit of our hospital between 2013 and 2017 were identified. 78 of these were excluded since 74 of them those whom could not be reached the complete Multiplate® test results, 2 of them had severe anemia and the remaining 2 had severe thrombocytopenia. 57 (33.1%) of the patients were female while 115 (66.9%) were male. The mean age was 65.6 (20-92) years. Of the remaining 172 patients, 59 (34.3%) were those the intracranial stents were implanted during aneurysm embolization, and 113 (65.7%) were the ones who had stenting for the treatment of atherosclerotic stenosis. Flow diverter devices were used in 35 (20.3%) patients who had stent placement during aneurysm treatment. The prevalance of aspirin resistance was 9.4% (16/170) in all patients whereas that of clopidogrel was 23.8% (41/172). There were 9 (5%) patients with both aspirin and clopidogrel resistance.

When the group with aspirin resistance was compared with the group without resistance, a significant difference was found between the ages (p = 0.005). The mean age was 57.4 \pm 12.2 years in the resistant group while it was 66.6 \pm 12.8 years in the nonresistant group. There were no significant difference between resistant and non-resistant groups in terms of concomitant diseases; diabetes, hypertension, coronary artery disease, and dyslipidemia. Moreover, no significant difference was found between the two groups concerning thromboembolic findings in the cranial MR or CT (Table 1).

When the group with clopidogrel resistance and the one without resistance were compared; the presence of diabetes was found 63.4% in the resistant group, while it was 26.0% in the non-resistant group (p < 0.001). There was no significant difference between the two groups in other parameters (Table 2).

Aspirin resistance was 3.6% and clopidogrel resistance was 23.0% in the stent-implanted group due to atherosclerotic stenosis, whereas the resistance in the stent-assisted aneurysm treatment group was

Parameter	Group with Aspirin resistance (n = 16)	Group without Aspirin resistance (n = 154)	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)	57.38 ± 12.2	66.61 ± 12.8	0.005
Gender (female)	43.8%	31.2%	0.457
Diabetus mellitus	37.5%	33.8%	0.982
Hypertension	56.3%	63.0%	0.796
Coronary arterial disease	25.0%	26.0%	1.000
Dyslipidaemia	18.8%	38.3%	0.203
Chronic kidney disease	0.0%	3.2%	1.000
Radiologic thromboembolic findings	20.0%	32.2%	0.720
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.77 ± 0.2	0.89 ± 0.25	0.026
Glucose (mg/dl)	144.9 ± 65.2	132.5 ± 91.7	0.187
Leukocyte ($\times 10^9$)	8.4 ± 3.2	8.6 ± 3.2	0.839
Platelet ($\times 10^9$)	225.6 ± 72.8	229.2 ± 71.1	0.892
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	12.8 ± 1.3	12.9 ± 1.6	0.764

Table 1. Comparison between the group with aspirin resistance and without resistance

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or n (%)

Table 2. Comparison between the group with clopidogrel resistance and without resistance

Parameter	Group with Clopidogrel resistance (n = 41)	Group without Clopidogrel resistance (n = 131)	<i>p</i> value
Age (years	65.9 ± 11.4	65.60 ± 13.4	0.960
Gender (female)	36.6%	32.1%	0.729
Diabetus mellitus	63.4%	26.0%	< 0.001
Hypertension	68.3%	61.1%	0.516
Coronary arterial disease	25.0%	26.0%	0.259
Dyslipidaemia	41.5%	34.4%	0.521
Chronic kidney disease	4.9%	2.3%	0.594
Radiologic thromboembolic findings	20.0%	34.7%	0.261
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.88 ± 0.28	0.88 ± 0.24	0.934
Glucose (mg/dl)	128.4 ± 51.4	135.5 ± 97.9	0.994
Leukocyte ($\times 10^9$)	8.5 ± 3	8.5 ± 3.2	0.872
Platelet ($\times 10^9$)	238 ± 53.6	225 ± 75.6	0.118
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	12.6 ± 1.5	12.9 ± 1.5	0.237

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or n (%)

Table 3. The Aspirin and Cl	opido	grel resistance literature among patie	nts with neurovascular procedures				
Author and year P	Numbe r of atients	Procedure	Antiplatelet treatment	Antiplatelet Resistance test	Test Cut-off value	Prevalence of Aspirin Resistance	Prevalence of Clopidogrel Resistance
Lee et al. 2008	86	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Clp 300 mg loading dose followed by 75 mg Clp daily +325 mg Asp (5- 10 days before)	VerifyNow	ARU ≥550, P2Y12% İnhibition ≤40%	2.1%	42.9%
Müller-Schunk et al. 2008	50	Stent placement (intra-extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 100 mg+ 300 mg Clp loading dose 12 hours before procedure or if there were more than 48 hours to procedure75 mg Clp daily	Multiplate	>52 ARU		28%
Prabhakaran <i>et al.</i> 2008	76	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Only Asp. Only CIp or Asp + Clp (1week before procedure)	VerifyNow	ARU ≥550, P2Y12 % İnhibition ≤40%	4.2%	50.9%
Reavey-Cantwell et al. 2009	81	Aneurysm embolization with or without stent placement or stent placement for intra-extracranial artery stenosis	Asp 325 mg + Clp 75 mg daily (7 days before)	PFA-100	PFA1 >209 or if PFA1 between 189-210 PFA2 >126	21%	
Dal-Sung Ryu et al. 2010	53	Coil embolization of aneurysm or intracranial stent placement or both	100 mg Asp + 75 mg Clp daily (at least 3 days before)	VerifyNow	ARU≥550 P2Y12 % inhibition≤40%	17%	62.3%
Pandya <i>et al.</i> 2010	216	A neurysm embolization and stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra-extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 81 mg + Clp 75 mg daily (if there is 7 days before procedure) or Clp 300-600 mg + Asp 325 mg loading dose (just before the procedure)	VerifyNow	ARU≥550 P2Y12 % inhibition≤50%	12%	34%
Drazin <i>et al.</i> 2011	52	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	81 mg Aspiriti+600 mg Clp (12 hours before the procedure) followed by 75 mg Clp + 81 mg Asp daily (fir testistance shown 300 mg or 600 mg loading dose of Clp)	VerifyNow	ARU >550, P2Y12 % İnhibition <20%	13.5%	36.5%
Koemer et al. 2012	44	Stent placement (intra-extracranial artery percutan transluminal angioplasty)	Asp 100 mg + Clp 75 mg (at least 3 days before) or Clp 300 mg + Asp 500 mg loading dose (just before the procedure)	Multiplate	> 468 ARU		25%
Delgado Almandoz <i>er al.</i> 2013 Fili <i>er al.</i> 2013	44 96	Aneurysm treatment with Pipeline stent placement Stent placement (intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 315 mg+Clp 75 mg daily Asp 81 mg+75 mg Clp daily (5 days before) or 600 mg Clp loading dose in emergency cases)	VerifyNow VerifyNow	PRU >200 ARU ≥ 550 P2Y12 % inhibition ≤20%	5.2%	26.2% 36.5%
Heller et al. 2013	25	Aneurysm treatment with Pipeline stent placement	Asp (325 or 81 mg) and Clp 75 mg daily (7 days before)	LTA	ASA maximum platelet aggregation >20%, CLP MPA >60%	16%	4%
Nordeen et al. 2013	81	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 325 mg+75 mg Clp daily (5-7 days before) (600 mg Clp and 650 mg Asp loading dose in emergency cases)	VerifyNow	P2Y12% inhibition <20%		21%
Kashiwazaki <i>et al.</i> 2014	66	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 100 mg+ Cip 75 mg daily (14 days before) or Clp 300 mg+ Asp 500 mg loading dose(just before the procedure)	VerifyNow	P2Y12 % inhibition ≤26%		28.8%
Oran <i>et al.</i> 2015	68	Aneurysm treatment with flow diverter devices	Asp 300 mg+ Clp 600 mg loading dose (8-12 hours before)	Multiplate	Asp AUC >500, CLP AUC >468		25%
Hwang <i>et al.</i> 2015	228	The treatment of unruptured aneurysm with coil embolization	Asp 100 mg +75 mg Clp daily (5 days before) If resistance shown Asp 300 mg+ 200 mg cilastazol	VerifyNow	ARU ≥550 PRU ≥213	Resistance in general 55.3%	Resistance in general 55.3%
Tan et al. 2015	74	Aneurysm treatment with Pipeline stent placement	Asp 325 mg +75 mg Clp daily (5 day before) or Clp 600 mg, Asp 325 mg loading dose (2 hours before)	VerifyNow	PRU >208		52.7%
Wong et al. 2015	32	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 325 mg +75 mg Clp daily (7 days before)	VerifyNow	PRU 120-180 normal		53.1%
Flechtenmacher et al. 2015	67	Stent placement (Intracranial aneurysm treatment or intra- extracranial artery stenosis)	Asp 100 mg +75 mg Clp daily (5 days before) or Clp 600 mg loading dose (1 day before)	LTA VerifyNow Multiplate	>40% PRU>236 ARU>40 U		47.6% 50.5% 35.9%
Asai <i>et al.</i> 2015 Kim <i>et al.</i> 2016	189 338	Aneurysm embolization with or without stent placement The treatment of unruptured aneurysms with coil embolization (with or without stent placement)	Asp and Clp daily (5-7 days before) Asp 100 mg+75 mg Clp daily (7 days before)	VerifyNow VerifyNow	PRU ≥ 230 ARU ≥550 PRU ≥240	5.8% 9.5%	34.9% 31.1%
Song et al. 2017	66	The treatment of unruptured aneurysms with stent-assisted coil embolization	100 mg asp+75 mg Clp daily (5-7 days before) or 300mg asp+ 600 mg Clp loading dose (on the procedure day)	VerifyNow	ARU>550 PRU>240	12%	62.6%
				LTA VerifyNow	ASA platelet aggregation >20%,		28.8%
Adeeb et al. 2017	402	Aneurysm treatment with Pipeline stert placement	325 mg asp+ 75 mg Clp daily (3-14 days before)	Whole-blood lumiaggregomet rv	PRU>208 >6 Ω		

Clp = clopidogrel, Asp = Aspirin, ARU = aspirin reaction unit, PRU = P2Y12 reaction unit, LTA = Light Transmission Aggregometry, AUC = area under curve, ASA = acetylsalicylic acid, PFA-100 = Platelet Function Assay

20.7% and 25.4%, respectively. Aspirin resistance was significantly higher in the latter group compared to the former (p < 0.001). However, there was no difference between these two groups in terms of clopidogrel resistance. The resistance frequency in the patients who had flow diverter device was 17.6% for aspirin and 25.7% for clopidogrel.

DISCUSSION

In patients undergoing cerebrovascular stenting, development of thromboembolic complications due to platelet aggregation induced by usage of endovascular devices is the main problem [2]. Dual antiplatelet therapy with asprin and clopidogrel has been accepted as premedication method and post-procedural treatment in order to prevent these complications. However, the use of platelet function tests before neurosurgical procedures remains controversial. In contrast to lack of literature in neuravascular patients, the frequency of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance has been shown in different groups of patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy (percutaneous coronary intervention, peripheral arterial disease, ischemic stroke, diabetes mellitus, etc.) and its effect on clinical outcomes is discussed [3, 5-10].

Several studies in the cardiology literature have shown that the incidence of aspirin resistance varies according to how it is defined and the differences in dosage and population used. The prevalence of aspirin resistance in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention has been in a wide range of 1-55% [5]. In addition, clopidogrel resistance has been reported up to 35% in that patient group so far [3]. However, a number of multicenter, randomized controlled trials (GRAVITAS, ARCTIC, TRIGGER-PC), which were subsequently performed in patients with percutaneous coronary interventional procedures, did not show the overall clinical benefit of antiplatelet therapy according to the results of platelet function tests [6-8].

In studies conducted into patients with peripheral arterial disease, the incidence of aspirin resistance has been reported up to 60% and clopidogrel resistance up to 65% [9]. In several studies on ischemic stroke patients, aspirin and clopidogrel resistance rate was found to be 23% and 27%, respectively. Moreover, the risk of recurrent ischemic stroke or transient ischemic

attack was reported higher in those patients with resistance to antiplatelets [10].

In patients undergoing neurovascular interventional procedures, platelet resistance tests, frequency of resistance and their association with clinical outcomes have been investigated in retrospective, singlecenter studies. In our study, the frequency of resistance was found to be 9.4% for aspirin and 23.8% for clopidogrel by Multiplate® test and they were similar to the frequency rates found in in the studies conducted so far. In these studies the prevelance of aspirin resistance was found to be between 2.1-17% and the frequency of clopidogrel resistance was found between 21-62.6% (Table 3) [2, 4, 11-28].

The patients with flow diverter stents evaluated seperately given the being more excessively used in last ten years and the frequency of resistance was found to be 17.6% for aspirin and 25.7% for clopidogrel in 35 patients with flow diverter devices at our hospital. Delgado Almandoz et al. [14] and Heller et al. [23] found the low response rate of clopidogrel in patients who underwent aneurysm treatment with flow diverter devices 26.2% (n = 44) and 4 % (n = 24), respectively. Oran et al. [4] revealed the low response rate of clopidogrel to be 25% (n = 100) with Multiplate[®] test in a group of patients with FDD and this rate is similar to ours. Moreover, Tan et al. [24] found the frequency of low response to clopidogrel to be 52.7% (n = 74) using FDD by VerifyNow test, which is the highest frequency of resistance reported to clopidogrel among patients with FDD.

The premedications with new antiplatelets, such as prasugrel and ticagrelor, are becoming increasingly used in neurovascular stenting, particularly with FDDs. In our unit, we prefer ticlopidine and prasugrel as premedication in patients who are resistant to clopidogrel. In a systematic review, dual antiplatelet regimens including ticagrelor or prasugrel are found to be safe for patients undergoing FDD procedures [29]. Besides, in another research, it was demonstrated that more than 98% of patients were within the optimal range with Multiplate[®] test after half-dose (30 mg) loading of prasugrel [30].

Although there are several ways of detecting platelet aggretation inhibition, Multiplate[®] test is used as resistance test in our center. Flechtenmacher *et al.* [28] compared antiplatelet resistance with LTA, Veri-fyNow and Multiplate[®] test in 97 patients who under-

went cerebrovascular stenting and found clopidogrel resistance to 47.6%, 50.5% and 35.9%, respectively. Accordingly, the highest resistance frequency was determined by VerifyNow test and the lowest resistance was reported by Multiplate[®] test. In the same study, the correlation between resistance results reported with LTA test and the risk of thromboembolic complications was found to be better than Multiplate[®] and VerifyNow tests. The LTA test is the gold standard for antiplatelet resistance; however, it is a time consuming test because of necessity to be used in a laboratory environment. The tests that can be performed patientbased are Multiplate® and VerifyNow. The VerifyNow test is widely used because it has the same principle as the LTA test and is a fully automated system. The Multiplate® test is a semi-automated system and can be performed at the bedside, such as VerifyNow, in the presence of trained stuffs [31].

As it can be understood from studies ever published, there is variability in the dose and duration of antiplatelet therapy and the cut-off values of antiplatelet resistance, as well as the patient population and stent indication in patients undergoing neurovascular procedure (Table 3). Therefore, it is inevitable that the frequency of resistance ranges in a wide variation. The general term is the presence of a group of patients in whom platelet inhibition is not sufficient despite dual antiplatelet therapy. However, there are usually single-center, retrospective studies investigating the prognosis in this patient group.

In our study, the frequency of detecting thromboembolic findings by radiological methods in patients with aspirin or clopidogrel resistance was lower in the resistant group but there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups. However, we reckon that the reason for the lower rate of thromboembolism in the resistant group is the change of medication in the patients who was with resistance to clopidogrel. Shim et al., in their meta-analysis, which reviewed the studies performed on patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures, emphasized that patients resistant to antiplatelet treatments had a higher risk of thromboembolic events than those with normal responses. They found stent placement was associated with thromboembolic risk in the resistant group in patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures. In addition, studies suggesting that re-regulated antiplatelet therapy regimens may help to reduce the risk of thromboembolic events in patients with resistance demonstrated by antiplatelet resistance test. However, due to the variable results between single-center studies, they emphasized that cautious approach should be taken among adjusting antiplatelet therapy with the results of antiplatelet resistance tests [32].

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. The most important one is that it is a single-centered study. Hence, it reflects the frequency of drug resistance on a single region. In addition, the effect of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance on clinical outcomes could not be evaluated due to the regulation of medication after resistance was demonstrated and absence of a control group owing to retrospective design of the study.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, in this study the incidence of aspirin resistance was 9.4% and clopidogrel resistance was 23.8% in patients who underwent neurovascular stenting. The frequency of antiplatelet resistance is very variable among these patients, mainly due to variency in the patient population, stent indication, dose-duration of antiplatelet therapy administered and the tests used to determine antiplatelet resistance as well as the cut-off values of the tests. However, as it is seen in our study, there is a group of patients who do not have sufficient platelet aggregation inhibition despite antiplatelet therapy. For this reason, the resistant patient group can be determined by performing platelet inhibitation tests before the interventional procedure. The presence of antiplatelet resistance in these patients and the effect of individual-based antiplatelet therapy on clinical outcomes should be investigated in prospective randomized controlled trials.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Study Design: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Supervision: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Funding: DA; Materials: DA; Data Collection and/or Processing: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Literature Review: DA, HD, ŞO, MS; Manuscript Preparation: DA, HD, ŞO, MS and Critical Review: DA, HD, ŞO, MS.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

 Fiorella D, Thiabolt L, Albuquerque FC, Deshmukh VR, Mc-Dougall CG, Rasmussen PA. Antiplatelet therapy in neuroendovascular therapeutics. Neurosurg Clin N Am 2005;16:517-40.
 Qureshi AI, Luft AR, Sharma M, Guterman LR, Hopkins LN. Prevention and treatment of thromboembolic and ischemic complications associated with endovascular procedures: Part II--Clinical aspects and recommendations. Neurosurgery 2000;46:1360-75; discussion 1375-6.

3. Bonello L, Tantry US, Marcucci R, Blindt R, Angiolillo DJ, Becker R, et al. Consensus and future directions on the definition of high on-treatment platelet reactivity to adenosine diphosphate. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;56:919-33.

4. Oran I, Cinar C, Bozkaya H, Korkmaz M. Tailoring platelet inhibition according to multiple electrode aggregometry decreases the rate of thrombotic complications after intracranial flow-diverting stent implantation. J Neurointerv Surg 2015;7:357-62.

5. Tantry US, Mahla E, Gurbel PA. Aspirin resistance. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2009;52:141-52.

6. Price MJ. Standard- vs high-dose clopidogrel based on platelet function testing after percutaneous coronary intervention. JAMA 2011;305:1097.

7. Collet J-P, Cuisset T, Rangé G, Cayla G, Elhadad S, Pouillot C, et al. Bedside monitoring to adjust antiplatelet therapy for coronary stenting. N Engl J Med 2012;367:2100-9.

8. Trenk D, Stone GW, Gawaz M, Kastrati A, Angiolillo DJ, Müller U, et al. A randomized trial of prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with high platelet reactivity on clopidogrel after elective percutaneous coronary intervention with implantation of drug-eluting stents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012;59:2159-64.

9. Guirgis M, Thompson P, Jansen S. Review of aspirin and clopidogrel resistance in peripheral arterial disease. J Vasc Surg 2017;66:1576-86.

10. Fiolaki A, Katsanos AH, Kyritsis AP, Papadaki S, Kosmidou M, Moschonas IC, et al. High on treatment platelet reactivity to aspirin and clopidogrel in ischemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol Sci 2017;376:112-6.

11. Asai T, Miyachi S, Izumi T, Matsubara N, Haraguchi K, Yamanouchi T, et al. Relationship between low response to clopidogrel and periprocedural ischemic events with coil embolization for intracranial aneurysms. J Neurointerv Surg 2016;8:752-5.

12. Drazin D, Choulakian A, Nuno M, Kornbluth P, Alexander MJ. Body weight: a risk factor for subtherapeutic antithrombotic therapy in neurovascular stenting. J Neurointerv Surg

2011;3:177-81.

13. Lee DH, Arat A, Morsi H, Shaltoni H, Harris JR, Mawad ME. Dual antiplatelet therapy monitoring for neurointerventional procedures using a Point-of-Care platelet function test: a single-center experience. Am J Neuroradiol 2008;29:1389-94.

14. Delgado Almandoz JE, Crandall BM, Scholz JM, Fease JL, Anderson RE, Kadkhodayan Y, et al. Pre-procedure P2Y12 reaction units value predicts perioperative thromboembolic and hemorrhagic complications in patients with cerebral aneurysms treated with the Pipeline Embolization Device. J Neurointerv Surg 2013;5 Suppl 3:iii3-10.

15. Fifi JT, Brockington C, Narang J, Leesch W, Ewing SL, Bennet H, et al. Clopidogrel resistance is associated with thromboembolic complications in patients undergoing neurovascular stenting. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2013;34:716-20.

16. Kashiwazaki D, Kuwayama N, Akioka N, Hayakawa Y, Kuroda S. The roles and issues of P2Y12 percent inhibition assessed by VerifyNow assay for patients undergoing neurointervention: a prospective study. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2014;23:1830-6.

17. Koerner H, Derveaux C, Alexandrou M, Graeber S, Roth C, Papanagiotou P, et al. Do clopidogrel nonresponders have an increased risk of adverse events during supra-aortal angioplasty and stenting? Stroke Res Treat 2012;2012:904534.

18. Müller-Schunk S, Linn J, Peters N, Spannagl M, Deisenberg M, Brückmann H, et al. Monitoring of clopidogrel-related platelet inhibition: correlation of nonresponse with clinical outcome in supra-aortic stenting. Am J Neuroradiol 2008;29:786-91.

 Pandya D, Fitzsimmons B, Wolfe T, Hussain S, Lynch J, Ortega-Gutierrez S, et al. Measurement of antiplatelet inhibition during neurointerventional procedures: the effect of antithrombotic duration and loading dose. J Neuroimaging 2010;20:64-9.
 Wong P, Tesoro E, Aletich V, Alaraj A. Accumetrics-based clopidogrel dosing in endovascular neurosurgery. Neurol Res 2015;37:998-1005.

21. Song J, Shin YS. Antiplatelet drug resistance did not increase the thromboembolic events after stent-assisted coiling of unruptured intracranial aneurysm: a single center experience of 99 cases. Neurol Sci 2017;38:879-85.

22. Nordeen JD, Patel A V, Darracott RM, Johns GS, Taussky P, Tawk RG, et al. Clopidogrel resistance by P2Y12 platelet function testing in patients undergoing neuroendovascular procedures: incidence of ischemic and hemorrhagic complications. J Vasc Interv Neurol 2013;6:26-34.

23. Heller RS, Dandamudi V, Lanfranchi M, Malek AM. Effect of antiplatelet therapy on thromboembolism after flow diversion with the Pipeline Embolization Device. J Neurosurg 2013;119:1603-10.

24. Tan LA, Keigher KM, Munich SA, Moftakhar R, Lopes DK. Thromboembolic complications with Pipeline Embolization Device placement: impact of procedure time, number of stents and pre-procedure P2Y12 reaction unit (PRU) value. J Neurointerv Surg 2015;7:217-21.

25. Nishi H, Nakahara I, Matsumoto S, Hashimoto T, Ohta T, Sadamasa N, et al. Platelet reactivity and hemorrhage risk in neurointerventional procedures under dual antiplatelet therapy. J Neurointerv Surg 2016;8:949-53.

26. Reavey-Cantwell JF, Fox WC, Reichwage BD, Fautheree GL, Velat GJ, Whiting JH, et al. Factors associated with aspirin resistance in patients premedicated with aspirin and clopidogrel for endovascular neurosurgery. Neurosurgery 2009;64:890-6.

27. Ryu D-S, Hong C-K, Sim Y-S, Kim C-H, Jung J-Y, Joo J-Y. Anti-platelet drug resistance in the prediction of thromboembolic complications after neurointervention. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 2010;48:319.

28. Flechtenmacher N, Kämmerer F, Dittmer R, Budde U, Michels P, Röther J, et al. Clopidogrel resistance in neurovascular stenting: correlations between light transmission aggregometry, VerifyNow, and the Multiplate. Am J Neuroradiol 2015;36:1953-8.

29. Podlasek A, Al Sultan AA, Assis Z, Kashani N, Goyal M,

Almekhlafi MA. Outcome of intracranial flow diversion according to the antiplatelet regimen used: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurointerv Surg 2020;12:148-55.

30. Oran I, Cinar C, Gok M, Duzgun F. Aggregometry response to half-dose prasugrel in flow-diverting stent implantation. Clin Neuroradiol 2020;30:463–9.

31. Oran I, Cinar C. Nöroendovasküler Girişimsel Tedavilerde Anti-trombotik İlaç Kullanımı. Türk Radyoloji Semin 2018;6:11-26.

32. Shim EJ, Ryu C-W, Park S, Lee HN, Shin HS, Kim S-B. Relationship between adverse events and antiplatelet drug resistance in neurovascular intervention: a meta-analysis. J Neurointerv Surg 2018;10:942-8.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.878028

Is red blood cell distribution width an indicator of prognosis and mortality in respiratory intensive care unit?

Güler Eraslan Doğanay[®], Mustafa Özgür Cırık[®]

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The range of variation of erythrocytes measured as Red blood cell distribution width (RDW). Mortality indicators in patients in intensive care depend on variation of physiological variables. High RDW rates have been commonly associated with heart disease, pulmonary embolism and pulmonary hypertension, peripheral artery disease, heart failure, liver disease and infectious diseases. We aimed in this study to determine the effect of RDW on prognosis and mortality in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) patients in intensive care unit (ICU).

Methods: The cases who are treated for COPD in ICU between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2019 reviewed. Demographic data, Charlson Comorbidite Index (CCI), Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II), Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) scores, procalcitonin, white blood cell, RDW, C-reactive protein, duration of mechanical ventilation, inotrope requirement, length of stay ICU, and 30-day mortality reviewed.

Results: Total number of 369 cases are included into the study and divided in two groups according to their RDW values (High RDW and normal RDW group). High RDW group had longer length of stay in ICU and hospital, mechanical ventilation duration, higher APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, white blood cell and procalcitonin values and lower C-reactive protein compared to normal RDW group. First outcome was hospital 30-day mortality in ICU. The age, RDW, inotrope use, MV duration, LOS H, APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, procalcitonin, CRP, HGB and HCT levels were found to be higher in patients with mortality compared those without. With the sensitivity value of 70.9% and the specificity of 47.7%, RDW the cut off value was found to be 16.5. **Conclusions:** The risk of 30-day mortality, length of stay ICU and hospital and mechanical ventilation duration

was higher in COPD patients with high RDW levels.

Keywords: RDW, ICU, COPD, mortality, indicator

The range in the volume and size of the red blood cells are measured with the test named red cell distribution width (RDW) [1]. RDW is always included in the complete blood count panel and inexpensive to do. The normal range is 11.6-17.2%. Although RDW is traditionally used to differentiate

the type of anema, in recent studies, high RDW rates are found to be associated with heart disease, heart failure, acute pulmonary embolism and pulmonary hypertension, peripheral artery disease, liver disease, and infectious diseases [2-7]. Additionally, the RDW values have also been shown to be high in other critically

Received: February 10, 2021; Accepted: August 6, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Eraslan Doğanay G, Curik MÖ. Is red blood cell distribution width an indicator of prognosis and mortality in respiratory intensive care unit? Eur Res J 2021;7(6):610-616. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.878028

Address for correspondence: Mustafa Özgür Cırık, MD., University of Health Sciences, Atatürk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: dr.ozgurr@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 532 1756455

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj ill patients with pneumonia, Gr (-) bacteriemia, and sepsis in intensive care unit (ICU) and it was a risk factor for hospital mortality [8-11].

Metabolic abnormalities like oxidative stress and inflamation in the cells are linked to high RDW levels and might be the main cause of the mortality in critically ill patients [12]. Mortality indicators in patients admitted to ICU depend on many physiological variables.

This research is aimed to determine the prognostic value of RDW and its relationship with mortality in patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in intensive care.

METHODS

The retrospective study was initiated after approval from the Medical Specialization Training Board of Ataturk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital (approval date & number: 12/17/2020 & 705).

The cases who were admitted to ICU between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2019 were reviewed retrospectively. The study included patients aged 18 years and older, admitted to ICU with a diagnosis of COPD between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2019.

Exclusion criteria were as follows; cases with

Table 1. Demographics and prognostic factors of the patients according to RDW distribution

n	=369		RDV	V (%)		<i>p</i> value
		Norma	Normal RDW		RDW	
		(n =	216)	(n =	153)	
		$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Median (IQR)	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Median (IQR)	
Gender	Female	84 (3	8.9%)	55 (3	5.9%)	0.566
	Male	132 (6	51.1%)	98 (64	4.1%)	
Age (year)		72.76	± 11.45	71.14 =	± 11.17	0.178
30 day mor	rtality	68 (3	1.5%)	66 (43.1%)		0.022
Inotrope us	se	51 (2	3.6%)	37 (24.2%)		0.899
LOS H (da	y)	15	(15)	19	(16)	0.009
LOS ICU ((day)	30	(4)	4	(7)	0.016
MV duration	on (day)	0	0 (2)		0 (4)	
APACHE	II	20	(7)	20	(11)	0.046
CCI		6	6 (3)		(3)	0.027
SOFA		5	(2)	5	(4)	0.021
WBC (×10	³ /ml)	11 ((6.9)	12.4	(7.6)	0.050
Procalcitor	nin (ng/ml)	0.18	(0.64)	0.29 (2.8)		0.037
CRP (mg/l)	33.84	(54.12)	7.7 (2	21.83)	0.015
HGB (g/dl))	12.2	(3.35)	11.3	3 (4)	0.055
HCT (%)		38.6	(11)	37.7	(13.2)	0.471

Continuous variables are expressed as either the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or the median (IQR), and categorical variables are expressed as either $^{\delta}$ frequency or percentage. Continuous variables were compared with a student t test or the mann whitney u test, and categorical variables were compared using Pearson's chi-square test or fisher exact test. RDW = Red blood cell distribution width, LOS H = Length of stay Hospital, LOS ICU = Length of stay Intensive Care Unit, MV = Mechanical Ventilation, APACHE II = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II, CCI = Charlson Comorbidite Index, SOFA = Sequential Organ Failure Assessment, WBC = White blood cell, CRP = C-reactive protein, HGB = Hemoglobin, HCT = Hematocrit

known hematological malignancy, recent blood transfusion and anemia (hemoglobin < 13.5 g/dl in males, hemoglobin < 12.0 g/dl in females are accepted as anemia), cases who were stayed in ICU less than one day and cases who had a pathology or medical condition makes RDW lower than 11.6.

The normal range of RDW is 11.6-17.2, the cases with RDW \geq 17.3 are included into the high RDW group.

Clinical data like demographics, Charlson Comorbidite Index (CCI), Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II) and Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) scores, procalcitonin, white blood cell (WBC), C-reactive protein (CRP) values, length of stay ICU (LOS ICU), length of stay hospital (LOS H), mechanical ventilation (MV) duration, inotrope use, hemoglobin (HGB), hematocrit (HCT) and RDW values are noted. The mortality data has been taken from the Death Notification System.

Statistical Analysis

The results were compared using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). Whether the distribution of continuous variables was normal or not was determined by Kolmogorov Smirnov test. Continuous data were described as mean \pm SD and median (interquartile range) for skewed distributions. Categorical data presented as numbers and percentages. Categorical variables were compared using Pearson's chi-square test or fisher's exact test. Firstly, possible risk factors that thought to be related with mortality were analyzed in one variable multinominal logistic regression analyzed. Variables with p < 0.25 in univariate logistic regression analysis were included in multivariate logistic regression analysis. The Backward Wald method was used for multivariate logistic regression analysis. ROC curve analysis was used to determine the cut off points. The *p* -value < 0.05 is accepted as significant

n = 369		Univa	riate Ana	lysis			Multiv (Backwa	variate A	nalysis 6 th step)	
	Wald	<i>p</i> value	OR	95% (EXI	CI for P(B)	Wald	<i>p</i> value	OR	95% EX	CI for P(B)
				Lower	Upper				Lower	Upper
Age (year)	7.332	0.007	1.027	1.007	1.047					
Gender	0.306	0.580	1.132	0.729	1.758					
RDW (%)	5.822	0.016	1.076	1.014	1.141					
LOS H (day)	2.042	0.153	0.989	0.975	1.004	10.049	0.002	0.966	0.946	0.987
LOS ICU (day)	9.141	0.002	1.056	1.019	1.095					
MV duration (day)	20.847	< 0.001	1.111	1.062	1.163	11.650	0.001	1.081	1.034	1.130
APACHE II	45.444	< 0.001	1.130	1.090	1.170	10.350	0.001	1.073	1.028	1.121
CCI	19.046	< 0.001	1.295	1.153	1.455					
SOFA	67.431	< 0.001	1.751	1.532	2.001	30.189	< 0.001	1.519	1.309	1.763
WBC(×10 ³ /ml)	0.138	0.710	0.997	0.983	1.012					
Procalcitonin (ng/ml)	0.647	0.421	1.006	0.991	1.021					
CRP (mg/l)	7.780	0.005	1.005	1.001	1.008	4.232	0.040	1.005	1.000	1.009
HGB (g/dl)	5.109	0.024	0.903	0.827	0.987					
HCT (%)	7.299	0.007	0.965	0.940	0.990	7.175	0.007	0.957	0.927	0.988

Table 2. The factors affecting mortality in COPD patients

OR = odds ratio. Multinominal Logistic Regression Nagelkerke R²=0.512 (Hosmer ve Lemeshow p > 0.05)

RDW = Red blood cell distribution width, LOS H = Length of stay Hospital, LOS ICU = Length of stay Intensive Care Unit, MV = Mechanical Ventilation, APACHE II = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II, CCI = Charlson Comorbidite Index, SOFA = Sequential Organ Failure Assessment, WBC = White blood cell, CRP = C-reactive protein, HGB = Hemoglobin, HCT = Hematocrit

			J.			
Test vari	ables: RDW					
AUC	<i>p</i> value	95% Confide	95% Confidence Interval		Sensitivity	Specifity
		Lower	Upper			
0.580	0.002	0.539	0.658	16.5	70.9%	47.7%

Table 3	The RDW	cut_off value	for mortality
I apre 5.		cut-on value	IOF MOLTANLY

AUC = area under the curve

and p value between 0.05 and 0.10 are excepted borderline significant level on all statistical analysis.

RESULTS

The comparison of the demographic, clinical and laboratory data of patients (n = 369) admitted to ICU with COPD, according to RDW groups are given in the Table 1. According to the results, 30-day mortality, LOS ICU, LOS H, MV duration, APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, WBC and procalcitonin values were found to be significantly higher and CRP levels were significantly lower in the group with high RDW values (Table 1).

Logistic regression analysis was done usin the possible factors that might affect mortality in cases with COPD. After the last step of the analysis (6th step), six parameters (LOS H, MV duration, APACHE II, SOFA, CRP and HCT) were found to be the significant determinators for hospital mortality in cases with COPD, treated in ICU. The increase in MV duration, APACHE II scores, SOFA scores and CRP values and decrease in LOS H and HCT values are associated with increase hospital mortality in cases with COPD (Table 2).

A ROC curve analysis was applied to find the RDW cut off value in cases with COPD that determines the success of the RDW value in predicting mortality. It shows that RDW can differentiate in determining the mortality risk at COPD patients correctly at a rate of 58% (moderate). To answer the question of which value should be taken as the cut-off value for this test, the sensitivity value was 70.9% and the specificity value was 47.7%, the cut off value was found to be 16.5. The risk of mortality was found statistically higher in patients with RDW of 16.5 and above (Table 3) (Fig. 1).

The age, RDW, inotrope use, MV duration, LOS H, APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, procalcitonin, CRP, HGB and HCT levels were found to be higher in patients with mortality compared to those without mortality (Table 4).

Spearman correlation analysis was applied to determine the relationship between RDW values and other variables of patients with COPD in intensive care and the results are given in the Table 5. Accordingly, there is a low level positive correlation between RDW and LOS H, LOS ICU, MV duration, APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, and WBC. There is a low level negative relationship between RDW and CRP, and HGB (Table 5).



Fig. 1. ROC Curve Analysis for RDW value in predicting mortality.

n = 369	Mortality (+)	Mortality (-)	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 134)	(n = 235)	
Sex, n (%)			0.580
Female	48 (35.8%)	91 (38.7%)	
Male	86 (64.2%)	144 (61.3%)	
Age (year)	75 (15)	71 (17)	0.003
RDW	17.2 (4.32)	16.2 (3.9)	0.002
Intrope use. n (%)	70 (52.2%)	18 (7.7%)	< 0.001
MV duration (day)	3 (6)	0 (0)	< 0.001
LOS ICU (day)	4.5 (7)	3 (4)	0.003
LOS H (day)	17 (19)	16 (15)	0.235
APACHE II	24 (11)	19 (6)	< 0.001
CCI	7 (3)	6 (3)	< 0.001
SOFA	7 (4)	4(2)	< 0.001
WBC ($\times 10^3$ /ml)	12.05 (6.85)	11.5 (6.7)	0.616
Procalcitonin (ng/ml)	0.31 (2.2)	0.15 (0.71)	0.002
CRP (mg/l)	17.4 (54.55)	8 (25.79)	0.002
HGB (g/dl)	12.2 (3.8)	11.65 (3.4)	0.039
HCT (%)	38.7 (12.4)	37.1 (12)	0.018

Table 4. Compar	ison between o	cases with and	without mortal	ity
-----------------	----------------	----------------	----------------	-----

Continuous variables are expressed as the median (IQR) and categorical variables are expressed as either frequency or percentage. Continuous variables were compared with the mann whitney u test and categorical variables were compared using Pearson's chi-square test or fisher exact test. RDW = Red blood cell distribution width, LOS H = Length of stay Hospital, LOS ICU = Length of stay Intensive Care Unit, MV = Mechanical Ventilation, APACHE II = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II, CCI = Charlson Comorbidite Index, SOFA = Sequential Organ Failure Assessment, WBC = White blood cell, CRP = C-reactive protein, HGB = Hemoglobin, HCT = Hematocrit

DISCUSSION

In this study, we detected an association between RDW values and prognosis-mortality of patients with COPD in ICU. Our findings are as follows; firstly; 30day mortality, LOS H, LOS ICU and MV duration are higher in patients with high RDW values compared to those with normal RDW. Secondly; RDW is moderately succesfull in determining the mortality risk at COPD patients, with an accuracy of 58 percent. Thirdly; RDW is found to be one of the predictor for mortality. The other predictors of mortality was older age, inotrope use, MV duration, LOS H, APACHE II, CCI, SOFA, procalcitonin and CRP levels.

Similarly to our study, Osadnik *et al.* [13] also found an association between RDW and mortality. They thought that this association was due to the pos-

sitive correlation between RDW and inflammation [13].

In a study of Lorente *et al.* [14]; septic patients who died had higher RDW values compared to survivors in the the first week of ICU admission. They also found association between RDW and SOFA, COPD, ischemic heart disease [14]. In our study, we used CCI for defining comorbidities and found COPD patients with higher RDW levels had also higher 30-day mortality. Lorente *et al.* [14] showed that patients with RDW more than 15.5% had a 70% higher risk of death in the first 30 days than those with a lower RDW values.

Similar to our study, other researchers found that high RDW levels were a risk factor for mortality in patients with some certain medical conditions. RDW has been associated with increased mortality in inten-

		RDW
		n = 369
Age	r	-0.041
	р	0.438
LOS H	r	0.162
	р	0.002
LOS ICU	r	0.144
	р	0.005
MV Duration	r	0.170
	р	0.001
APACHE II	r	0.191
	р	< 0.001
	n	368
CCI	r	0.159
	p	0.002
SOFA	r	0.133
	р	0.011
WBC	r	0.114
	р	0.028
Procalcitonin	r	0.082
	р	0.118
CRP	r	-0.116
	р	0.026
HGB	r	-0.154
	р	0.003
НСТ	r	-0.060
	р	0.251

Table 4	5 The rel	ation het	veen RDW	and other	variahles i	n COPD	natients
I apre :	5. The rel	ation per		and other	variables		patients

RDW = Red blood cell distribution width, LOS H = Length of stay Hospital, LOS ICU = Length of stay Intensive Care Unit, MV = Mechanical Ventilation, APACHE II = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II, CCI = Charlson Comorbidite Index, SOFA = Sequential Organ Failure Assessment, WBC = White blood cell, CRP = C-reactive protein, HGB = Hemoglobin, HCT = Hematocrit

sive care patients [8, 9], patients with community acquired pneumonia [10], sepsis [15], gram-negative bacteremia [11]. Sadaka *et al.* [16] studied in patients with septic shock; they found that high RDW was associated with higher mortality. However, Budak *et al.* [17] did not find a relation between RDW and other inflammation markers like MPV, NRL and WBC count.

Zhang *et al.* [18] found that high RDW levels were associated with mortality on admission; however its

predictive performance was suboptimal. Similarly, this study showed that RDW might determine the mortality risk at COPD patients with an accuracy of 58%. There are some studies in the literature about relation with RDW and sepsis-mortality, but there is not enough study on COPD patients. Although RDW is shown as mortality indicator COPD patients in ICU, multicenter randomized studies with large number of the patients with other respiraory disease are required to confirm the role of RDW in prognosis of the patients in ICU.

Limitations

Our study's limitations are as follows; a singlecenter study and has retrospective design, we measured RDW only in admission into the ICU therefore we can not comment on the RDW change by time and we have only included the patients with COPD and we might not generalize our findings to all patients with other respiratory diseases.

CONCLUSION

The risk of 30-day mortality, LOS H, LOS ICU and MV duration was higher in COPD patients with high RDW levels but there is a low level correlation.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: GED, MÖC; Study Design: GED, MÖC; Supervision: GED, MÖC; Funding: GED, MÖC; Materials: GED, MÖC; Data Collection and/or Processing: GED, MÖC; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: GED, MÖC; Literature Review: GED, MÖC; Manuscript Preparation: GED and Critical Review: MÖC.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

 Vajpayee N, Graham SS, Bem S. Basic examination of blood and bone marrow. In: McPherson RA, Pincus MR., eds., Henry's Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory Methods, Chapter 30, Elsevier Saunders: Philadelphia, 2011: pp.509-35.
 Sangoi MB, Da Silva SH, da Silva JE, Moresco RN. Relation between red blood cell distribution width and mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 2011;146:278-80.
 Forhecz Z, Gombos T, Borgulya G, Pozsonyi Z, Prohaszka Z, Jaetnoskuti L. Red cell distribution width in heart failure: prediction of clinical events and relationship with markers of ineffective erythropoiesis, inflammation, renal function, and nutritional state. Am Heart J 2009;158:659-66.

4. Hampole CV, Mehrotra AK, Thenappan T, Gomberg-Maitland M, Shah SJ. Usefulness of red cell distribution width as a prognostic marker in pulmonary hypertension. Am J Cardiol 2009;104:868-72.

5. Zorlu A, Bektasoglu G, Guven FM, Dogan OT, Gucuk E, Refiker M, et al. Usefulness of admission red cell distribution width as a predictor of early mortality in patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Am J Cardiol 2012;109:128-34.

6. Ye Z, Smith C, Kullo IJ . Usefulness of red cell distribution width to predict mortality in patients with peripheral artery disease. Am J Cardiol 2011;107:1241-5.

7. Lou Y, Wang M, Mao W .Clinical usefulness of measuring red blood cell distribution width in patients with hepatitis B. PLoS One 2012;7:e37644.

8. Wang F, Pan W, Pan S, Ge J, Wang S, Chen M. Red cell distribution width as a novel predictor of mortality in ICU patients. Ann Med 2011;43:40-6.

9. Bazick HS, Chang D, Mahadevappa K, Gibbons FK, Christopher KB .Red cell distribution width and all-cause mortality in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 2011;39:1913-21.

10. Lee JH, Chung HJ, Kim K, Jo YH, Rhee JE,Kim YJ, et al. Red cell distribution width as a prognostic marker in patients with community-acquired pneumonia. Am J Emerg Med 2013;31:72-9.

11. Ku NS, Kim HW, Oh HJ, Kim YC, Kim MH, Song JE, et al. Red blood cell distribution width is an independent predictor of mortality in patients with gram-negative bacteremia. Shock 2012;38:123-7.

12. Scharte M, Fink MP. Red blood cell physiology in critical illness. Crit Care Med 2003;31:S651-7.

13. Osadnik T, Strzelczyk J, Hawranek M, Lekston A, Wasilewski J, Kurek A, et al. Red cell distribution width is associated with long-term prognosis in patients with stable coronary artery disease. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2013;13:113.

14. Lorente L, Martin MM, Gonzalez P, Violan JS, Ferreres J, Labarta L, et al. Red blood cell distribution width during the first week is associated with severity and mortality in septic patients. Plos One 2014;9:e105436.

15. Jo YH, Kim K, Lee JH, Kang C, Kim T, Park HM, et al. Red cell distribution width is a prognostic factor in severe sepsis and septic shock. Am J Emerg Med 2013;31:545-8.

16. Sadaka F, O'Brien J, Prakash S. Red cell distribution width and outcome in patients with septic shock. J Intensive Care Med 2013;28:307-13.

17. Budak YU, Huysal K, Gecgel SK, Ari H, Melek M, Yavuz S, et al. Red cell distribution width, other hematological parameters and atherogenic index of plasma in patients with clopidogrel and aspirin resistance. Eur Res J 2016;2:200-5.

18. Zhang Z, Xu X, Ni H, Deng H. Red cell distribution width is associated with hospital mortality in unselected critically ill patients. J Thorac Dis 2013;5:730-6.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.596108

Assessment of neonatal sepsis and associated factors among neonates admitted neonatal intensive care unit in selected public hospitals in Somali region, Ethiopia

Abdikani Nur[®], Mohamed Osman[®]

Department of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Science, Jigjiga University, Jigjiga, Ethiopia

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To assess neonatal sepsis and associated factors among neonates admitted neonatal intensive care unit in selected public hospitals in Somali region, Ethiopia.

Methods: Institution based cross sectional study design was conducted in selected public hospitals. Data was collected using structured questionnaire adopted from other literature, entered into Epi-data version 3.1 and then was exported to SPSS version 23 for analysis. Frequency was used for descriptive analysis. Bivariate analysis was used to determine the association between different risk factors and the outcome variable. Those variables which have significant association at 5% significance level and fulfilling the minimum requirement of 0.2 level of significance with neonatal sepsis was entered for further analysis to multivariate analysis, significance was taken at $\alpha = < 0.05$.

Results: The overall prevalence of this study was 42.9% CI = (38.4-47.8) and associated factors was age of the neonate AOR = 0.085 (CI = 0.01, 0.73), Residence shown AOR = 2.567 (CI = 1.01, 6.5) Gestational age AOR = 1.869 (CI = 1.05, 3.31), Meconium stained Amniotic fluid AOR = 2.718 (CI = 1.89, 6.74), Antenatal care AOR = 8.933 (CI = 4.9, 15.9), and Mechanical ventilation after birth OR = 3.376 (CI = 1.65, 6.88).

Conclusions: The present study found that the overall prevalence of neonatal sepsis in selected hospitals was 42.9%. The study identified, Age of the neonate, Residence, Gestational age, Meconium stained amniotic fluid. Antenatal care, Mechanical ventilation after birth. The findings underscore the importance of routine assessment and close monitoring of neonates. It is therefore recommended to have more skilled health personnel and advanced equipment while providing maternal and new-born health care services.

Keywords: Neonatal sepsis, associated factors, neonates admitted neonatal intensive care unit, selected public hospitals, Somali region, Ethiopia 2017/2018.

Sepsis is defined as a clinical syndrome describe by a set of hemodynamic, respiratory and metabolic shifts secondary to an infectious process that can prompt an unusual systemic inflammatory response syndrome of the organism (SIRS) [1].

Neonatal sepsis is a defined as a clinical syndrome characterized by signs and symptoms of infection in an infant 28 days of life or younger. And it is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in newborns [2]. Early onset of neonatal sepsis defined as occurring in the first 3 days of life and is caused by bacterial pathogens transmitted vertically from mother to infant before or during delivery while late-onset sepsis (LOS) is sepsis occurring after 72 h in NICU infants

Received: July 24, 2019; Accepted: June 18, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Nur A, Osman M. Assessment of neonatal sepsis and associated factors among neonates admitted neonatal intensive care unit in selected public hospitals in Somali region, Ethiopia. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):617-627. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.596108

Address for correspondence: Abdikani Nur, MPH., Jigjiga University, College of Medicine and Health Science, Department of Public Health, Jigjiga, Ethiopia. E-mail: jakemawlid7@gmail.com, Tel: +251915059327

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj and 7 days of life in term infants, has been variably defined as occurring up to the age of _90 or 120 days, and may be caused by vertically or horizontally acquired pathogens [3]. According to WHO the epidemiology of sepsis is better known in adults than in children, yet neonatal and child death due to sepsis is a major problem. There are an estimated 2.9 million deaths worldwide from sepsis every year (44% of them in children under 5 years of age) and one quarter of these is due to neonatal sepsis [4]. In 2012, an estimated 6.9 million (uncertainty range 5.5 - 8.3 million) possible severe bacterial infections occurred in neonates in Latin America, South Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa [5]. Neonatal sepsis is the third most common cause of death in this age group with an estimated 0.401 millions of deaths (uncertainty range [0.280-0.522], 6.8% [4.7-8.6]) in 2015, the vast majority of which are in developing countries [6].

Another report showed Globally the leading causes of death among children under age 5 included preterm birth complications (18%), pneumonia (16%), and intrapartum related events (12%), congenital anomalies (9%), diarrhea (8%), neonatal sepsis (7%) and malaria (5%) [7].

Based on the 2014 WHO/CHERG estimates for Ethiopia the major causes of children less than 5 years mortality, were acute respiratory infection (ARI) (18%), diarrhea (9%), prematurity (11%), sepsis (9%), birth asphyxia (14%), injuries (6%), and measles (2%) and others (21%) [8].

As it shows the 2016 Ethiopia Demographic and Health Surveys (EDHS), neonatal mortality declined from 49 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2000 to 29 deaths per 1,000 births in 2016, a reduction of 41% over the past 16 years and in Somali region is 41 deaths per 1000 live births [9].

Numerous factors associated with the high mortality due to infections were due to delays in the early identification and treatment of newborns with infection, particularly; under-recognition of illness, delay in care seeking at the household level, delay in initiation of treatment, and lack of access to both appropriately trained health workers and to high quality services to manage sepsis. It is particularly affecting that many neonatal deaths occur in the community, without the newborn ever having contact with the appropriate health care services [10, 11].

The third Sustainable Development Goal for child

health (United Nations 2015), which aims to end preventable deaths of neonates and children under five years of age by 2030, may not be met without substantial reduction of neonatal sepsis-specific mortality in the developing countries [12].

In the world and especially sub-Saharan African countries Newborn survival is a problem of great concern, although Ethiopia made big efforts on maternal and child health programs and advancing healthcare system, most of the neonatal admission to the NICU with sepsis, has been increased. Many studies have been done in Ethiopia but there were limited studies tried to substantiate the risk factors of neonatal sepsis in the study areas (pastoral areas) of the country as a whole. This study was therefore, carried out to find out neonatal sepsis and factors contributing among neonates in three public hospitals of Somali region, Ethiopia.

METHODS

Study Area

This, study was conducted in Jigjiga, Godey, Kabri-dahar hospitals of Somali Region, Eastern Ethiopia from December-May2017/2018. Jigjiga town is the capital city of Somali regional state located 626 km east from Addis Ababa, capital city of Ethiopia & 101 km east from Harar town. As of 2009 EFY Jigjiga city has total population of 199,431 of which 45,570 are in reproductive age group (15-49 years). Current it has 30 Kebles of which 20 are urban & 10 are rural. Majority of people are Somali ethnic (97%) & Muslim in religion (98%). People of Jigjiga city are mostly agro-pastoral, their main source of income depends on farming and livestock, other source of income like small business, government employees etc. Jigjiga city has one Referral hospital, one Zonal hospital, two health centers & ten health posts, Two public hospitals and two health center are providing delivery service [13].

Godey Council is located in the Shebelle Zone of the Somali Region it is located 600 km away from Regional capital, Jigjiga (capital town of Ethiopian Somali region). It is Semi-arid weather condition and low altitude with flat land surfaces [14]. Administratively, it consists 10 Kebeles. Total population of the council is estimated to be 75,000 in 2016 (33,000 male and 42,000 females). In terms of health delivery system, the council has one Hospital, 1 NGO clinics and 4 Health Posts [15].

Based on figures from the Central Statistical Agency in 2005, Kabri-dahar has an estimated total population of 100,191 of whom 51,327 are men and 48,864 are women. The two largest ethnic groups reported in this town were the Somali (89.02%), and the Amhara (2.58%); all other ethnic groups made up 8.4% of the population. City has one zonal hospital and two health centers 2 heath posts [14].

Study Design

An institution based cross-sectional study design was employed.

Source Population

All neonates who were admitted to NICU of hospitals during the study period in Somali region were the study population for this study.

Study Population

All new-born ≤ 28 days of life and who were admitted in neonatal ward randomly selected to involve in the study.

Inclusion Criteria: All neonates who were admitted to intensive care unit were included in this study.

Exclusion Criteria: Neonates who were early discharged before data collection was completed but only card was available, incomplete patient chart information, and died on arrival (neonates expired without taking any investigation and treatment on arrival) were excluded from this study.

Sampling Procedure and sampling technique

There are nine regional hospitals in Somali region and three of them were selected by using lottery method (Fig. 1). The number of study subjects for each hospital was allocated proportionally after identifying the number of admissions in each hospital for the specified period (last three months). The number of admission in karamara was 5210; Gode hospital was 3460 and 1571 was Kabri-dahar hospital.

Proportionally allocated sample size of 203, 135 and 61 for karamara, Gode and Kabri-daharHospitals respectively. Participants' was selected consecutively



Fig. 1. Sampling Procedure and sampling technique

recruitment and was continued until the sample size allocated fulfilled/met.

Data Collection Technique and Tools

A pre-tested interviewer-administered questionnaire and check lists were used to collect the data. The tools were developed by reviewing different literatures. The information was collected during the admission of neonate to NICU and by reviewing the registration book records in labor ward, NICU, and gynecologic ward in each hospital.

Sample Size Determination

The sample size was determined by using single population proportion formula and the proportion was taken from the previous literature in Ethiopia. According to study conducted at Black Lion specialized hospital, the prevalence of neonatal sepsis was 44.7% and by considering 95% confidence interval (CI) and 5% marginal error the, sample size was calculated as follows:

Where
$$n = (Z_{\partial/2})^2 - \frac{P(1-p)}{d^2}$$

n = required sample size

Z = the standard normal deviation at 95% confidence interval; =1.96

P = prevalence of neonatal sepsis among neonates admitted in NICU with prevalence of 44.7% (16).

d= margin of error that can be tolerated, 5% (0.05)

1-p = proportion of population that do not possess the character of interest.

Therefore,

 $n = (Z\partial/2)2 p (1-p)/d2 = (1.96)2 (0.447) (0.553)/(0.05)2= 380$

By adding non response rate 5%, our total sample size was 399 neonates.

Study Variables

Dependent Variable: Neonatal sepsis

Independent Variable: Socio-demographic characteristics of mothers, socio-demographic characteristics of neonates, and obstetric characteristics of mothers were independent variables for this study.

Data Quality Control

Three training was given for two data collectors in

each hospital with an academic background of diploma/degree in nursing/midwifery working outside the study hospitals The training was focused on introducing the data collection tools, the initial and end of the data collection period, how they are collected the data, using the time wisely, data handling, and submit the collected data. Pretest was done 5% to pave the way any solution/modification in appropriate time. Data completeness was checked, cleaned and compiled by the investigator on daily basis.

Operational Definition

Neonatal Sepsis: neonate with sepsis within 0-28 days of life

Early Onset Neonatal Sepsis: neonate with sepsis within 0-7 days

Late Onset Neonatal Sepsis: neonate with sepsis within 8-28 days

Low Birth Weight: weight of the child

Ethical Consideration

Ethical clearance letter was acquired from ethical Review Board of Jigjiga University, and after explaining about the purpose and the possible benefit of the study permission to gather datawas secured from regional health bureau and delivered to public hospital administrators. Confidentiality was maintained at all levels of the study.

Statistical Analysis

The data was cleaned for inconsistencies and missing values and modification was considered as necessitate, coded and entered into Epi-data version 4.1 and then was exported to SPSS (Statistical Package for Social science) version 20 for analysis. Frequency was used for the descriptive, after assessing the normality of distribution of the data; Bivariate and multivariate analyses were used to assess the association between each independent variable and the outcome variable by using binary logistic regression. All variables with P < 0.25 in the Bivariate analysis were included in the final model of multivariate analysis in order to control all possible confounders. The degree of association between dependent and independent variables was examined using odds ratio with 95% CI. P-value less than 0.05 was considered as significance level for associations between dependent and independent variables. Confidence interval of 95% was

used to be examined the precision of the study and the level of significance was taken at $\alpha = < 0.05$. Finally, result was presented in Texts, and Tables.

RESULTS

Socio-demographic Characteristics

A total of 380 neonates were involved in the study, with 95% response rate from December 2017 to May 2018 in three selected public hospitals (Karamara, Gode, Kabridahar). Regarding residence 340 (89.5%) resided urban, and 193 (50.8) of those were male and 61 (37.4%) developed neonatal sepsis. Concerning age of the neonates 365 (96.1%) aged between 0-7 days among these 149 (91.4%) developed neonatal sepsis, regarding maternal age 160 (42.1%) and 85 (52.1%) their neonates developed neonatal sepsis, Maternal education 274 (72.1%) of the mothers had never go to school, 114 (69.9%) of then had NS (Table 1).

Prevalence of Neonatal Sepsis

X7 - -- **!** - **!** - **!** - **!**

This study, the prevalence and associated risk factors of neonatal sepsis of neonates admitted in the three selected hospitals with in the December-May 2017/2018. The total prevalence of this study was 42.9%, with CI = (37-46) (Table 2).

Neonatal Characteristics

In terms of birth weight of the neonates, 286 (75.3%) of them had normal birth weight (< 2.5kg) and of these 139(85.3%) had EONS. Regarding gestational age 210 (55.3%) were term deliveries 102 (62.6%) had neonatal sepsis. About the Apgar score 323 (85%) had >7said to have Apgar score less than 7. About 225 (67.1%) of neonates who were reported as to have birth asphyxia, 102 (62.6%) of them developed neonatal sepsis (Table 3).

Maternal Characteristics

Among 206 (54.2%) neonates who had history of maternal UTI and developed NS were 77 (47.2%) during delivery and 151 (39.7%) had maternal history of ANC follow up, among these 113 (69.3) had neonatal sepsis, about 49 (12.9%) of the mothers of the neonates had premature rupture of membrane and 24 (14.7%) developed neonatal sepsis, 26 (81.3%) duration < 18 hours. Regarding meconium stained amni-

3 /1 N	variables	Category	Neonata	ai sepsis
			Yes	No
			Number (%)	Number (%)
1	Residence	Urban	138 (84.7)	202 (93.1)
		Rural	25 (15.3)	15 (6.9)
2	Sex of the neonate	Male	61 (37.4)	132 (60.8)
		Female	102 (62.6)	85 (39.2)
3	age of the neonate	0-7days	149 (91.4)	216 (99.5)
		8-28 days	14 (8.6)	1 (0.5)
4	Maternal age	< 19years	16 (9.8)	75 (34.6)
		20-30years	85(52.1)	75(34.6)
		30-40years	52(31.9)	57(26.3)
		>41 years	10 (6.1)	10 (4.6)
5	Maternal education	Never go to school	114 (69.9)	160 (73.7)
		Primary	45 (27.6)	48 (22.1)
		High school and above	4 (2.5)	9 (4.1)
6	Parity	Nulliparous	36 (22.1)	112 (51.6)
		Multiparious	127 (77.9)	105 (48.4)

Table 1. Socio-demographic Characteristics

Table 2. Prevalence of neonatal sepsis								
Variable	Category	Frequency	Percent					
7. Neonatal sepsis	Yes	163	42.9					
	No	217	57.1					

otic fluid 60 (15.8%) of the mothers had MSAF and 14 (8.6%) during delivery and 14 (8.6%) developed neonatal sepsis. Regarding duration of labor 255 (67.1%) labored between 6-12 hours of these103 (63.2%) had NS (Table 4).

Table 3. Neonatal characteristics

Medical Related Factors

Regarding mode of delivery about 275 (72.4%) delivered spontaneously and 117 (71.8%) had neonatal sepsis and also 305 (80.3%). About 154 (40.5%) were resuscitated by mechanical ventilation, 106 (65%) developed neonatal sepsis (Table 5).

Multivariate Analysis of the Association between Neonatal Sepsis and Other Neonatal Variables

In this study both Bivariate and multivariate level of analysis was investigated to determine the association between late onset neonatal sepsis and other different

S/N	Variables	Category	Neonatal sepsis		
		0 1	Yes No		
			Number (%)	Number (%)	
8	Birth weight	< 2.5kg	24 (14.7)	23 (10.6)	
		2.5-4kg	139 (85.3)	194 (89.4)	
9	Gestational age	< 37weeks	61 (37.1)	109 (50.2)	
		> 37weeks	102 (62.6)	108 (49.8)	
10	Apgarscore < 7	< 7	22 (13.5)	35(16.1)	
		> 7	141 (86.5)	182 (83.9)	
11	Birth asphyxia	Yes	102 (62.6)	153 (70.5)	
		No	61 (37.4)	64 (29.5)	
12	Not breast feeding	Yes	98 (60.1%)	138 (63.6%)	
		No	65 (39.9%)	79 (36.4%)	
13	Neonatal fever	Yes	78 (47.9%)	99 (45.6%)	
		No	85 (52.1%)	118 (54.4%)	

Table 4. Maternal characteristics

S/N	Variables	Category	Neonatal sepsis	
			Yes	No
14	Maternal UTI	Yes	77 (47.2)	129 (59.4)
		No	86 (52.8)	88 (40.6)
15	ANC	Yes	113 (69.3)	38 (17.5)
		No	50 (30.7)	179 (82.5)
16	History of chorioamnionitis	Yes	9 (37.5)	154 (43.3)
		No	15 (62.5)	202(56.7)
17	PROM	Yes	24(14.7)	25(11.5)
		No	139(85.3)	192 (88.5)
18	If yes duration	<18hrs	13 (76.5)	13 (86.7)
		>18hrs	4 (23.5)	2 (13.3)
19	MSAF	Yes	14 (8.6)	46 (21.2)
		No	149 (91.4)	171 (78.8)
20	Duration of labour	< 6hours	59 (36.2)	63 (29)
		6-12hrs	103(63.2)	152 (70)

risk factors. Variables those have significant association on Bivariate analysis was taken to multivariate analysis to control the confounders. The current study found that age of the neonate found to be significantly associated with neonatal sepsis, neonates aged 8-28 days were protective by 91% compared to neonates aged 0-7 days. AOR= 0.085 (CI= 0.01, 0.73) (Table 6). Regarding the residence, neonates who were from urban residence were 2.5 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates from rural residence. AOR=2.567 (CI=1.01, 6.5). Gestational age, neonates who gestational age were < 37 weeks of gestation were 1.8 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who gestational age were 37-42 weeks AOR= 1.869 (CI= 1.05, 3.31). Concerning antenatal care, neonates who's their mother had not history of ANC were 8.9 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who's their mother had history of ANC flow up AOR= 8.933 (CI= 4.9, 15.9). Neonates who's their mother had meconium stained amniotic fluid were 2.7 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who's their mother had not meconium stained amniotic fluid AOR= 2.718 (CI= 1.89, 6.74). About ventilation, neonates who had mechanical ventilation were 3.3 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who had not mechanical ventilation after birth AOR= 3.376 (CI = 1.65, 6.88) (see Table 6).

DISCUSSION

This study, the prevalence and associated risk factors of neonatal sepsis of neonates admitted in the three selected hospitals with in the December-May 2017/2018. The total prevalence of this study was 42.9%, with CI = (38.4-47.8) this was near to compared to study conducted in Black lion specialized hospital in 2010 which was 44.7% [16]. And also to different studies in different countries showed very close figures India 35.1% Saudi Arabia (37%), Nigeria 33.1% Tanzania (31.4%) [17-20]. But its large different study finding in Mexico this could be due to the difference in study design, and the sample size which shown 4.3 % considerable low when compared other studies. This difference may have been contributed by the presence of more skilled personnel in Mexico and advanced or modernized equipment compared to other studies [21].

The current study found that age of the neonate found to be significantly associated with neonatal sepsis, neonates aged 8-28 days were protective by 91. % compared to neonates aged 0-7 days. AOR= 0.085 (CI= 0.01, 0.73) compared to Study conducted in Nigeria showed almost similar significance < 3 days compared to above these days above. the possible explanation of the difference can be the sample included who were age of less than three days [22]. This could

S/N	Variables	Category	Neonatal sepsis	
			Yes No	
			Number (%)	Number (%)
21	Mode of delivery	Spontaneous	117 (71.8)	158 (72.8)
		C/S	15 (9.2)	25 (11.5)
		Instrumental	31 (19)	34 (15.7)
22	Place of delivery	Hospital	124 (76.)	181 (83.4)
		Health center	30 (18.4)	30 (13.8)
		Clinics	2 (1.2)	1 (0.5)
		Health center	7 (4.3)	5 (2.3)
23	Mechanical ventilation	Yes	23(20.5)	140 (52.2)
		No	89 (79.5)	128 (47.8)

Tablo 5. Medical related factors

Variables	Category	Neonatal sepsis				
		Neonatal		COR (CI: 95%)	AOR [95%CI]	<i>p</i> value
		sep	SIS			
~		Yes	No	// //		
Sex of the neonate	Male	61	132	2.5 (1.70, 3.94)	1.519 (0.87, 2.63)	0.127
	Female	102	85	1	1	
Age of the neonate	0-7days	63	173	1	1	
	8-28 days	100	44	0.16 (0.10, 0.25)	0.085 (0.01, 0.73)	0.025
Maternal age	< 19 years	16	75	4.68(1.67, 13.1)	2.504 (0.64,9.7)	0.186
	20-30 years	85	75	0.88 (0.34, 2.23)	0.930 (0.30, 2.80)	0.897
	30-40 years	52	57	1.09 (0.42, 2.84)	1.06 (0.34, 3.24)	0.919
	>41 years	10	10	1	1	
Parity	Nulliparous	36	112	3.7 (2.38, 5.93)	1.79 (0.85, 3.76)	0.123
	Multiparious	127	105	1	1	
Residence	Urban	138	202	2.44 (1.24, 4.8)	2.567 (1.01, 6.5)	0.047
	Rural	25	15	1	1	
Gestational age	< 37weeks	61	109	(1.15, 2.55)	1.869 (1.05, 3.31)*	0.032
	37-42 weeks	102	108	1	1	
Birth asphyxia	Yes	102	153	1.43 (0.92, 2.20)	0.943 (0.53, 1.66)	0.840
	No	61	64	1	1	
Maternal UTI	Yes	77	129	1.63 (1.08, 2.4)	1.287 (0.73, 2.25)	0.376
	No	86	88	1	1	
ANC	Yes	113	38	1	1	
	No	50	179	10.6(6.56, 172)	8.933(4.9, 15.9)	< 0.001
MSAF	Yes	14	46	2.86 (1.5, 5.4)	2.718 (1.89, 6.74)	0.031
	No	149	171	1	1	
Mechanical ventilation	Yes	23	140	4.23 (2.52, 71)	3.376 (1.65, 6.88)	0.001
	No	89	128	1	1	

Table 6. Multivariate analysis of the association between NS and other neonatal variables

be due neonates with smaller ages had low immunity compared to those aged greater than first week of life. This difference might be due to the nature of age transfer as the physiologic events and changes associated with it.

Regarding the residence, neonates who were from urban residence were 2.5 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates from rural residence. AOR= 2.567 (CI= 1.01, 6.5) this may be most

of the neonates from urban residence were born health facility and they might acquire the nosocomial infection. Other thing is that some of the neonates were living urban slum areas where hygiene and sanitation, maternal and child health services are most commonly low.

Gestational age, neonates who gestational age were < 37 weeks of gestation were 1.8 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who gestational age were 37-42 weeks AOR= 1.869 (CI= 1.05, 3.31).Compared to other studies also revealed Preterm delivery as significant risk factors for neonatal sepsis and in fact this factors has been well documented in previous studies [16, 23], In similar study conducted in Bishoftu city indicated that, preterm neonates did not showed significant association with the occurrence of neonatal sepsis [24] this may be due to health care service available or similarity of the design of the study used.

Concerning antenatal care, neonates who's their mother had not history of ANC were 8.9 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who's their mother had history of ANC flow up AOR= 8.933 (CI= 4.9, 15.9). This was consistent with study done in Uganda which showed that lack of ANC was significantly associated with neonatal sepsis. Thus Antenatal care is predictor to neonatal sepsis and it suggests to increase the awareness and strength maternal reproductive health utilization including this very important care during pregnancy [25].

The presence of meconium stained amniotic fluid is a significant predictor of neonatal infection to this study, Neonates whose their mother had meconium stained amniotic fluid were 2.7 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who's their mother had not meconium stained amniotic fluid AOR= 2.718 (CI= 1.89, 6.74).

Slightly more than this, studies conducted in Ghana displayed neonates who's their mother had meconium stained amniotic fluid were 3.6 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis AOR= 3.60 (CI=1.73, 8.1) [26]. Other studies done in Ethiopia and Mexico agreed that specifically women who had meconium stained amniotic fluid were more likely to give birth to infants who suffered from neonatal sepsis compared to those without meconium stained amniotic fluid [23, 27]. There is also evidence supporting that when there ismeconium in amniotic fluid there is a greaterchance of the fetus being born with low Apgarscore, which unfortunately has earlier been associated with neonatal sepsis [16]. Normally it is expected that the amniotic fluid should remain clear, however, in times of fetal hypoxia, it could be stained with meconium.

About ventilation, neonates who had mechanical ventilation were 3.3 times more likely to develop neonatal sepsis compared to neonates who had not mechanical ventilation after birth AOR = 3.376 (CI

=1.65, 6.88) Similar result of study conducted in Mexico revealed that mechanical ventilation was predictor to neonatal sepsis [23]. These similarities may be due deficiency of knowledge among some of the health care providers on aseptic precautions while resuscitating neonates in all settings.

CONCLUSION

The prevalence of neonatal sepsis in this study at selected public hospitals in Somali region is high. Study found that, the total prevalence of neonatal sepsis in selected hospitals was 42.9%, with CI = (38.4-47.8). The study identified Age of the neonate, Gestational age, Meconium stained amniotic fluid, antenatal care, Mechanical ventilation after birth as significant factors associated with neonatal sepsis. These findings suggest a possibility for routine assessment of neonates in order to identify risk factors for neonatal sepsis.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Policy Makers General

Based on the result the policy makers must It is therefore recommended to have more skilled health personnel and advanced equipment while providing maternal and neonatal health care services and the overall public health services more significantly health promotion and making available each laboratory equipment necessary.

For Regional Health Bureau

It must be focus on the prevention of risk factors rather than treating the disease after it occurs by planning necessary training program for health professionals who works in pediatrics and neonatal ward in these hospitals that helps them to improve their knowledge regarding the problem and strength maternal and child health services and making accessible each laboratory equipment necessary.

For Health Professionals

Based on the study finding, create awareness to the community by giving health education to mothers about different risk factors of sepsis during of ANC follow up which help them to screened and treated early. And when using treatment for neonatal sepsis they must consider the risk of misdiagnosis and mismanagement.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: AN; Study Design: MO; Supervision: MO; Funding: AN; Materials: AN; Data Collection and/or Processing: AN; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: AN; Literature Review: MO; Manuscript Preparation: AN and Critical Review: MO.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgement

All praise is for Allah who enabled us to develop this research successfully. We would like to convey our heart full gratitude to my advisors Dr. Abdiwahab Hashi (PhD) whom his valuable comments and advice and directions wouldn't be possible to execute this research. Our appreciation goes to Jigjiga University which gave us an opportunity to develop a research. Finally, we would like to appreciate people who had some involvement for the development and completion of this research.

REFERENCES

1. Dessì A, Pravettoni C, Ottonello G, Birocchi F, Cioglia F, Fanos V. Neonatal sepsis. Journal of Pediatric and Neonatal Individualized Medicine (JPNIM) 2014;3:e030273.

2. Edwards MS, Baker CJ. Sepsis in the newborn. In: Gershon A, Hotez P, Katz S, eds. Krugman's infectious diseases of children. 11th ed., Mosby, 2004: pp. 545-61.

 Simonsen KA, Anderson-Berry AL, Delair SF, Davies HD. Early-onset neonatal sepsis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2014;27:21-47.
 WHO, editor WHO Sepsis Technical Expert Meeting. Sepsis Technical Expert Meeting; 2018; Switzerland.

5. Seale AC, Blencowe H, Manu AA, Nair H, Bahl R, Qazi SA, et al. Estimates of possible severe bacterial infection in neonates in sub-Saharan Africa, south Asia, and Latin America for 2012: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis

2014;14:731-41.

6. Liu L, Oza S, Hogan D, Chu Y, Perin J, Zhu J, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet 2016;388:3027-35.

7. Lucia Hug DS, Kai Zhong and Danzhen You. Levels & Trends in Child Mortality. New York: UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation, 2018.

8. Health TFDRoEMo. National Strategy for Newborn and Child Survival in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Health MaCHDMo; 2015.

9. (Ethiopia) CSAC. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2016. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: The DHS Program, ICF, Rockville, Maryland, USA; 2016.

10. Edmond K, Zaidi A. New approaches to preventing, diagnosing, and treating neonatal sepsis. PLoS Med 2010;7:e1000213.

11. Qazi SA, Stoll BJ. Neonatal sepsis: a major global public health challenge. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009;28(1 Suppl):S1-2.

12. Ranjeva SL, Warf BC, Schiff SJ. Economic burden of neonatal sepsis in sub-Saharan Africa. BMJ Glob Health 2018;3:e000347.

13. FDRE. Population and Housing Census CSA; 2007.

14. CSA CSA. GODE. 2010.

15. Godey report. City council Health Office, 2016.

16. Shitaye D Asrat D, Woldeamanuel Y, Worku B. Risk factors and etiology of neonatal sepsis in Tikur Anbessa University Hospital, Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J 2010;48:11-21.

17. Abutaleb Arwa A, ALHadi Nusaybah F, Sadun Nouf S, Aldawsari Nouf M, Albalawi Ghadah A, Alnofaily Haider A, et al. Clinical epidemiology of neonatal sepsis among neonates admitted to King Khalid University Hospital in Riyadh. ECronicon Paediatrics 2018:48-57.

18. Jabiri A, Wella HL, Semiona A, Saria A, Protas J. Prevalence and factors associated with neonatal sepsis among neonates in Temeke and Mwananyamala Hospitals in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Tanzania J Health Res 2016;18(4).

19. Samaga MP. Prevalence of neonatal septicaemia in a tertiary care hospital in Mandya, Karnataka, India. Int J Res Med Sci 2016;4:2812-6.

20. West BA, Tabansi PN. Prevalence of neonatal septicaemia in the University of Port Harcourt Teaching Hospital, Nigeria. Niger J Paed 2014;41:32-7.

21. Leal YA, JoséÁlvarez-Nemegyei J, Velázquez JR, Rosado-Quiab U, Diego-Rodríguez N, Paz-Baeza E, et al. Risk factors and prognosis for neonatal sepsis in southeastern Mexico. BMC Pregnancy Cildbirth 2012;12:48.

22. Shobowale EO, Solarin AU, Elikwu CJ, Onyedibe KI, Akinola IJ, Faniran AA. Neonatal sepsis in a Nigerian private tertiary hospital: bacterial isolates, risk factors, and antibiotic susceptibility patterns. Ann Afr Med 2017;16:52-8.

23. Leal YA, JoséÁlvarez-Nemegyei J, Velázquez JR, Rosado-Quiab U, Diego-Rodríguez N, Paz-Baeza E, et al. Risk factors and prognosis for neonatal sepsis in southeastern Mexico. BMC Pregnancy Cildbirth 2012;12:48.

24. Woldu MA, Guta MB, Lenjisa JL, Tegegne GT, Dinsa H. Assessment of the incidence of neonatal sepsis, its risk factors, antimicrobials use and clinical outcomes in Bishoftu General

Hospital, Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, Debrezeit-Ethiopia. Int J Contemp Pediatr 2014;1:135-41.

25. Mugalu J, Nakakeeto MK, Kiguli S, Kaddu-Mulindwa. DH. Aetiology, risk factors and immediate outcome of bacteriologically confirmed neonatal septicaemia in Mulago hospital, Uganda. Afr Health Sci 2015;6:120-6.

26. Siakwa M, Kpikpitse D, Mupepi S, Semuatu M. Neonatal

sepsis in rural Ghana: a case control study of risk factors in a birth cohort. Int J Res Med Health Sci. 2014;4:72-83.

27. Tewabe T, Mohammed S, Tilahun Y, Melaku B, Fenta M, Dagnaw T, et al. Clinical outcome and risk factors of neonatal sepsis among neonates in Felege Hiwot referral Hospital, Bahir Dar, Amhara Regional State, North West Ethiopia 2016: a retrospective chart review. BMC Res Notes 2017;10:265



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.835339

Anesthesiology and Reanimation

The effect of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio on admission to postoperative intensive care and mortality in elderly patients undergoing hip fracture surgery with spinal anesthesia

Ökkeş Hakan Miniksar¹⁰, Osman Kaçmaz²⁰

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Yozgat Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Yozgat, Turkey ²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Turgut Özal University, Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Malatya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Hip Fractures (HF) affect the elderly in particular, and are associated with high mortality rates. Most geriatric patients are admitted to Intensive Care Unit (ICU) after HF surgery. In this study, the purpose was to investigate the prognostic value of preoperative NLR (Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio) on postoperative ICU admission and mortality in elderly patients with HF.

Methods: In the present study, the data of 188 geriatric patients who underwent surgery because of isolated HF (i.e. femur neck and intertrochanteric fracture) were examined retrospectively. The patients over 65 years of age, ASA score 3/4, whose preoperative duration was less than 72 hours, and who underwent spinal anesthesia were included in the study. The patients were divided into two groups as ICU admission (ICU, n = 58), and Non-ICU (Non-ICU, n = 130). The patients were also grouped as Survival (n = 168) and Non-survival (n = 20) according to postoperative mortality rates. NLR values were statistically compared between the groups. **Results:** The preoperative NLR values of the patients in the ICU Group were significantly higher than those in the Non-ICU Group (p < 0.001). The cut-off value of NLR for ICU admission was found to be 9.65 with 89% sensitivity and 67% specificity in the ROC analysis. The median NLR value was 6.42 (3.55-9.44) in the Survivor Group, and 9.5 (7.23-11.02) in the Non-Survivor Groups (p = 0.015).

Conclusions: It was shown in the study that high NLR values in elderly patients may be a risk factor for ICU admission, and for postoperative mortality after HF.

Keywords: Geriatrics; hip fracture; neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; intensive care unit; mortality

The population of the world is aging rapidly, and the number of Hip Fractures (HF) is increasing at the same rate. HF is a serious injury affecting the elderly in particular, and causes high mortality and morbidity. The mortality rate of patients after HF is approximately 15-20% [1-3].

Most of deaths following HFs are caused by cardiovascular events, such as heart failure, myocardial infarction, pulmonary thromboembolism, and infectious complications [1, 2]. It is seen that these highrisk patients, who are older and have comorbidities, are often admitted to ICUs whether in a planned or in an unexpected way according to their peroperative clinical status after HF surgery [3]. However, it is also known that patients who are admitted directly to the ICU in the postoperative period have better results

Received: December 3, 2020; Accepted: June 2, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Miniksar ÖH, Kaçmaz O. The effect of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio on admission to postoperative intensive care and mortality in elderly patients undergoing hip surgry with spinal anesthesia. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):628-XXX. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.835339

Address for correspondence: Ökkeş Hakan Miniksar, MD., Associate Professor, Yozgat Bozok University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Atatürk Road 7. Km., 66100 Yozgat, Turkey. E-mail: hminiksar@yahoo.com, Tel: +90 354 2127060

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj compared to those who are not [4]. For this reason, the planned admission of patients to ICU help to prevent negative complications, minimizing the likelihood of adverse outcomes [4]. No standard protocol was detected in the literature that will guide the decision of these patients for admission to ICUs. The decision for admitting a patient to ICU is complex, and it is important to identify preoperative predictors that will affect this decision.

Some laboratory findings, such as high urea/creatinine, high glucose, high potassium, low hemoglobin and low albumin were shown in clinical trials to be associated with increased mortality and admission to ICUs in patients with HF [5-7]. It was also reported that inflammation markers, such as C-Reactive Protein (CRP) are associated with mortality [8]. Neutrophil-Lymphocyte Ratio (NLR) is an easily measured, inexpensive and widespread hematological parameter, which can be used as an indicator of systemic inflammation [8-10]. It has been argued in recent years that NLR can be used as an indicator of postoperative mortality and poor prognosis in oncological and emergency abdominal surgeries [9]. It has also been shown that preoperative NLR is the predictor of negative outcomes and mortality following HF surgery in orthogeriatric patients [1, 8, 10].

Identifying patients who have the highest risk of life-threatening complications in the preoperative period is important in preventing the onset of postoperative negative outcomes. As a hematological parameter, the NLR value can help as a guide to the clinician in the controversial ICU admission decision after hip surgery. For this reason, in the present study, the purpose was to investigate the prognostic value of preoperative NLR on postoperative ICU admission and mortality rates in elderly patients undergoing hip fracture surgery with spinal anesthesia.

METHODS

Study Design

The present study was conducted by retrospectively examining the files of geriatric patients who underwent surgery because of isolated HF (e.g. femur neck and intertrochanteric fracture) in the Orthopedic Clinic of our hospital between January 2017 and May 2019. The inclusion criteria of the study were being over 65 years of age, ASA score 3/4, spinal anesthesia, and less than 72 hours preoperative duration. Exclusion criteria of the study were being under 65 years of age, under general anesthesia, having hematological, infectious and inflammatory disease, history of severe liver disease and malignancy, intraoperative mortality, revision surgery, multitrauma patients, and incomplete records.

The Patients

ASA score, intervention time, surgery duration, and preoperative laboratory parameters (NLR) of the patients were evaluated. The surgery duration was calculated by adding the anesthesia procedure to the duration of the surgical procedure. The time to operation was defined as the day from hospitalization to surgical intervention.

The patients who were operated under regional anesthesia were included in the study. The patients were divided into two groups as those admitted to ICU (ICU), and those who were not (Non-ICU). The decision to admit to ICU was made by the anesthesiologist according to the peroperative clinical condition of the patient. Also, the duration of the stay in ICU and postoperative mortality of the patients were recorded. The patients were also divided further into two groups as the Survivor and Non-Survivor Group according to Intensive Care Unit mortality. The first admissions of all the patients were routinely consulted for medical departments (cardiology, respiratory disease or internal medicine) in the preoperative period.

Laboratory Measurements

Venous blood samples (full blood count (CBC)) that were taken from each patient at the Emergency Department were examined. All venous blood samples were processed by the Blood Analyzer (Beckman Coulter®, LH 780, California, USA). The ratio between neutrophil and lymphocyte values was calculated and recorded as NLR.

Ethical Declaration

This retrospective study was approved by the Local Committee for Clinical Research in line with the Helsinki Declaration (Date: 24.07.2019, No: 2019/141).

Statistical Analysis

Admission and mortality groups of ICU were statistically compared in terms of preoperative NLR value. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS V.21 and MedCalc V.13 package. The significance level was described as p < 0.05. The descriptive statistics were given as mean, standard deviation, median, number and percentage. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to assess the normal distribution of the variables. Non-parametric parameters were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. To determine the cut-off values of the NLR between the ICU and Non-ICU groups, a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was generated, and the area under curve (AUC) was calculated.

RESULTS

Among the 250 patients who were operated with HF diagnosis during the study period, 188 patients who met the inclusion criteria were included in the study for statistical analyses. A total of 111 (59%) of the patients were female, and the median age (minmax) of all patients was 78 (65-103) years; and 58 patients (30.9%) were included in the ICU Group and 130 patients (69.1%) were included in the Non-ICU Group. The median age of the patients was 79 (65-96) for the ICU Group, and 78 (66-103) for the Non-ICU Group (p > 0.05). A total of 168 patients (89.4%) were included in the Survivor Group and 20 patients (10.6%) were included in the Non-Survivor Group. The median age of the patients was 78 (65-94) for the Survivor Group, and 78 (65-103) for the Non-Survivor Group (p > 0.05) (Table 1).

Homogeneity was found between the groups, the mean age, gender, ASA score, and time to operation did not differ at significant levels between the groups (p > 0.05) (Table 1).

The preoperative NLR values of the patients in the ICU Group were significantly higher compared to those of the Non-ICU Group (p < 0.001). The median NLR value was calculated to be 7.59 (4.75-10.43) for the ICU-Group and 4.45 (2.29-7.86) for the Non-ICU Group (Table 2). The cut-off NLR was obtained according to the differences between the ICU and Non-

Variables	ICU group	Non-ICU	<i>p</i> value	Survivor	Non survivor	<i>p</i> value
		group		group	group	
Age (years)	77.25 ± 7.5	78.5 ± 7.6	0.428 ^a	78.1 ± 7.5	78.3 ± 8.37	0.920 ^a
Sex (female),	35 (60.3)	76 (58.5)	0.808 ^b	102 (60.7)	9 (45.0)	0.177 ^b
n (%)						
ASA score, n (%)			0.694 ^b			0.118 ^b
3	27 (46.6)	79 (60.8)		98 (58.3)	8 (40)	
4	31 (53.4)	51 (39.2)		70 (41.7)	12 (60)	
Time to operation (days)	2.33 ± 1.7	2.24 ± 1.6	0.899ª	2.19 ± 1.6	2.85 ± 1.7	0.073 ^a

Table 1. Demographic and clinical data of patients

Data are presented as mean±standard deviation for continuous variables and number and percentage for categorical variable. ^aCompared by Independent Sample T-Test; ^bChi-square test

	1	J	1	v	8 1 (,	
Group				Median	Interquartile range 25	Interquartile range 75	<i>p</i> value*
					runge ze	runge /e	

Table 2. The neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio value of each group (Admission to ICU)

Group	wiculai	range 25	range 75	<i>p</i> value
ICU group ($n = 130$)	7.59	4.75	10.43	< 0.001
Non-ICU group $(n = 58)$	4.45	2.29	7.86	
Total (n = 188)	6.99	3.79	9.68	

*Compared by Mann Whitney U Testi



Fig. 1. Sensitivity and specificity assessment with ROC curve of the relationship between neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and admission of ICU.

ICU Group by using the ROC Analysis. For ICU admission NLR, the cut-off point was determined as 9.65 (AUC of 0.67 [95 % CI 0.59-0.76] with 89% sensitivity and 67% specificity (p < 0.001)) (Fig. 1).

When the NLR values of the patients were compared according to intensive care mortality of the patients, significant differences were detected (p < 0.05). The Survivor Group had a median NLR value of 6.42 (3.55-9.44), and the Non-Survivor Group had a median NLR value of 9.5 (7.23-11.02) (p = 0.015) (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, the prognostic value of preoperative NLR value on ICU admission and mortality was examined in geriatric patients who underwent HF surgery. The results of our study showed that higher NLR value was associated with ICU admission and postoperative mortality after HF in elderly patients.

In elderly patients, hip fractures are among the most common traumatic diseases [1-3], which can cause postoperative ICU requirement, with a high risk of complications and an incidence of mortality. These patients are quite susceptible to inflammation, dehydration, malnutrition, cardiovascular and respiratory problems, which might develop as a result of fractures as well as surgical stress [2-4, 11]. For these reasons, it is important to consider that postoperative care treatments of geriatric HF patients are a featured issue. Also, the planned follow-up of high-risk geriatric trauma patients in ICU after surgery decreases negative outcomes [4, 6]. In elderly patients, multidisciplinary evaluation of patients and planning of postoperative care treatments are mandatory in the preoperative period to minimize the negative outcomes of HF [4].

There are no clear and objective criteria regarding the decision for the admission of geriatric patients with HF, which is high risk, to ICUs. In addition to many clinical factors that affect the ICU admission, laboratory disorders, such as anemia, hypoalbuminemia, and high urea/creatinine levels also plays role in this decision [5, 12]. As a measure of inflammatory response, elevated CRP and NLR values are also associated with postoperative poor clinical outcomes [13, 14]. However, recent studies argue that preoperative high NLR value can be used as an indicator for high risk of complications and mortality after cardiovascular, oncological surgery, and HF surgery [9, 14-16]. For these reasons, the purpose of the present study was to test our hypothesis that higher NLR value, which was found to be associated with negative outcomes after surgery, may also be associated with admission to

Table 3. The neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio value of each group (ICU mortality)

Group	Median	Interquartile range 25	Interquartile range 75	p value*
Survivor group (n = 168)	6.42	3.55	9.44	0.015
Non-survivor group (n = 20)	9.36	7.23	11.02	
Total (n = 188)	7.35	3.79	9.68	

*Compared by Mann Whitney U Testi

Miniksar and Kaçmaz

ICU. As far as we are concerned, the relation of high NLR with postoperative negative results was studied by many studies in the literature [13-16], and its contribution to ICU admission was not investigated adequately.

Biomarkers, such as neutrophil and lymphocyte values, WBC count, acute phase reactants, adhesion molecules, and cytokines are used to determine the inflammatory response in the body. The CBC Test, which is used widely in practice, is very inexpensive and the result is obtained quickly [10, 17]. NLR value is a very simple and easy-to-calculate parameter. Many studies conducted in recent years have shown it to be a parameter determining the degree of stress and inflammation [1, 8-10].

Recent studies have been found in the literature examining the effects of high NLR on postoperative prognosis in various surgical patients [8-10, 13]. Forget et al. [8] conducted a study with 82 patients undergoing major abdominal surgery, and found that higher NLR values were associated with postoperative acute complications, but were not associated with CRP, which is an inflammatory parameter. Vaughan-Shaw et al. [16] conducted a study with elderly patients who underwent non-traumatic emergency abdominal surgery, and found that higher NLR was associated with increased mortality. Dilektasli et al. [15]reported that high NLR value was associated with mortality in 1.356 critical trauma patients in surgical Intensive Care Unit. These studies also show that higher NLR parameter is determined as a prognostic factor in many surgical and trauma patients.

The clinical characteristics of the patients (i.e. advanced age, high preoperative ASA score, comorbid diseases), type and duration of surgery, preoperative duration, anesthesia method, and factors, such as the ICU capacity of the hospital, surgeon and anesthesiology preference also play roles in postoperative ICU and complications [3, 6, 18-21]. Our study was conducted in a restricted geriatric population with ASA 3/4 and with surgical intervention time of < 72 hours, who underwent spinal anesthesia due to femur neck and intertrochanteric fracture. As a reflection of the severity of preoperative comorbidity, the elevated ASA physical condition is one of the most reliable prognostic indices for perioperative mortality, and is also used to predict postoperative complications [3, 6, 18]. In our study; however, no significant differences

were detected in inter-group ASA score comparisons. Akbas *et al.* [19] reported that HF patients undergoing general anesthesia over 80 years of age were admitted more to ICU, and mortality was higher in these patients. However, there are also several other studies reporting that the anesthesia method has no effects on admission to the ICU [18, 20]. In our study, homogeneity was ensured in the study population by including only geriatric patients who were operated under spinal anesthesia. Although time to operation was reported as an important risk factor in HF patients for peroperative complications [21], it was found that it did not differ at significant levels between the groups in our study.

Forget et al. [8] conducted a study with 237 patients who had HF, and found that the patients had an NLR cut-off value of 4.9 (sensitivity: 62.9%, specificity: 57.6%) for 1 year of mortality after the surgery. Fisher et al. [10] conducted a study with 415 patients who had HF, and reported that the elevated NLR (\geq 5.1) value at the time of admission was an important risk factor for postoperative myocardial damage, high inflammatory response/infection, and death in hospital. Temiz et al. reported that high NLR values after HA (hemi arthroplasty) were associated with mortality; and the cut-off value was 4.7 in elderly patients [1]. In the same study, the authors also reported that less invasive surgical techniques can be selected elevated NLR values to prevent inflammatory response, as well as using pharmacological agents, such as statins and aspirin to reduce systemic inflammation after surgery [1]. However, these prophylactic treatment recommendations should be examined with extensive clinical trials. Uzbek et al. [9] conducted another study with 55 patients who underwent proximal femoral nail surgery alone, and found that the cutoff value of preoperative NLR was 5.25 (sensitivity: 84.6%, specificity: 78.6%); and argued that it was predictive for the risk of postoperative death. In our study, NLR cut-off value (9.65) that was found for admission to ICU was higher than the cut-off values of mortality reported by studies in the literature. However, as far as we are concerned, no other studies were detected in the literature, which were planned with a similar patient population for the admission to ICUs. Similar to our results, Slate et al. [22] found that NLR 9.2 cutoff value (HR, 3.60 (1.44-9.18 CI 95%, p = 0.006) might be a predictor for 30-day short-term mortality in acute pulmonary embolism. Similarly, Dilektasli *et al.* [15] reported that an NLR greater than 8.19 was independently associated with in-hospital mortality on the 2nd day of surgery ICU in trauma patients.

When the literature was reviewed, it was found that there were various mechanisms to explain the effect of NLR on the prognosis after orthopedic surgery in the geriatric population [11, 13, 23, 24]. One of them, aging is associated with a high level of proinflammatory cytokines [11]. However, it was also reported that inflammatory markers were independent predictors of postoperative adverse outcomes in elderly trauma patients with reduced physiological reserves [13]. Also, it is considered that the inflammatory response after surgery probably plays roles in organ dysfunction in patients [11, 13, 23]. Lymphocytes are the main components of the humoral and cellular immune system, playing central roles in immune response. Although lymphopenia reflects the weakness of cellular immunity after multitraumas, Neutrophilia can occur due to unbalanced systemic inflammatory response [11, 13, 15]. In addition, previous studies reported that the increase in the neutrophil count in some diseases (e.g. pulmonary embolism, coronary artery disease, deep vein thrombosis) is associated with an increase in thrombus formation [22, 25]. Another mechanism might be the development of the inflammatory response with hormonal changes caused by post-traumatic stress (i.e. increases in serum cortisol levels), which also increases the number of neutrophils, reducing the number of lymphocytes [8, 11, 13, 24]. For these reasons, the inflammatory response that is already increased is expected to increase more with additional surgical trauma. These mechanisms are important in the intensive care management of elderly HF patients, and it is important to identify preventive planning.

Limitations

The study had some limitations. First of all, it was a retrospective and single-centered study; and therefore, we can only rely on the results of the patients in our center. Secondly, there were many factors that affected patient admission to the Intensive Care Unit. For this reason, the deduction of the causal relation between NLR and the results is limited although we kept the patient population limited.

CONCLUSION

Despite the limitations of the study, it was concluded that high admission NLR value may be a risk factor for postoperative ICU admission and mortality in elderly patients with hip fractures. NLR can be used as a prognostic parameter in the perioperative management of this critically ill patient population. The repeatability and generalizability of the results must be investigated with multi-centered further clinical trials.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ÖHM, OK; Study Design: ÖHM, OK; Supervision: ÖHM, OK; Funding: ÖHM; Materials: ÖHM; Data Collection and/or Processing: ÖHM; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ÖHM; Literature Review: ÖHM; Manuscript Preparation: ÖHM, and Critical Review: ÖHM.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Ethics Committee Approval

Approval was obtained from the Yozgat Bozok University ethics committee (2019 / 137). Helsinki Declaration guidelines were followed throughout the study.

REFERENCES

1. Temiz A, Ersözlü S. Admission neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and postoperative mortality in elderly patients with hip fracture. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2019;25:71-4.

2. Barbosa TA, Souza AMF, Leme FCO, Grassi LDV, Cintra FB, Lima RM, et al. [Perioperative complications and mortality in elderly patients following surgery for femoral fracture: prospective observational study]. Brazilian J Anesthesiol 2019;69:569-79. [Article in Portuguese]

3. Hu F, Jiang C, Shen J, Tang P, Wang Y. Preoperative predictors for mortality following hip fracture surgery : a systematic review and meta-analysis. Injury 2012;43:676-85.

4. Onwochei DN, Fabes J, Walker D, Kumar G, Moonesinghe SR. Critical care after major surgery: a systematic review of risk

factors for unplanned admission. Anaesthesia 2020;75(S1):e62-74.

5. Zeyneloğlu P, Pirat A, Candan S, Canikli Ş. Predictors of intensive care unit admission in geriatric patients undergoing hip replacement. J Turk Soc Intens Care 2006;6:108-11.

6. Jang IY, Lee YS, Jung HW, Chang JS, Kim JJ, Kim HJ, et al. Clinical outcomes of perioperative geriatric intervention in the elderly undergoing hip fracture surgery. Ann Geriatr Med Res 2016;20:125-30.

7. Mosfeldt M, Pedersen OB, Riis T, Worm HO, Mark S Van Der, Jørgensen HL, et al. Value of routine blood tests for prediction of mortality risk in hip fracture patients. Acta Orthop 2012;83:31-5.

8. Forget P, Dillien P, Engel H, Cornu O, De Kock M, Yombi JC. Use of the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as a component of a score to predict postoperative mortality after surgery for hip fracture in elderly subjects. BMC Res Notes 2016;9:1-6.

9. Özbek EA, Ayanoğlu T, Olçar HA, Yalvaç ES. Is the preoperative neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio a predictive value for postoperative mortality in orthogeriatric patients who underwent proximal femoral nail surgery for pertrochanteric fractures? Turk Assoc Trauma Emerg Surg 2020;26:607-12.

10. Fisher A, Srikusalanukul W, Fisher L, Smith P. The neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio on admission and short-term outcomes in orthogeriatric patients. Int J Med Sci 2016;13:588-602.

11. Keel M, Trentz O. Pathophysiology of polytrauma. Injury 2005;36:691-709.

12. Kaplan C, Araz C, Candan S, Pirat A, Zeyneloğlu P, Ayhan A, et al. Predictors of intensive care unit admission following cytoreductive surgery for Stage III-IV ovarian carcinoma. J Turk Soc Intens Care 2012;8:102-9.

13. Sun T, Wang X, Liu Z, Chen X, Zhang J. Plasma concentrations of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and outcome prediction in elderly hip fracture patients. Injury 2011;42:707-13.

14. Niessen R, Bihin B, Gourdin M, Yombi JC, Cornu O, Forget P. Prediction of postoperative mortality in elderly patient with hip fractures: a single-centre, retrospective cohort study. BMC Anesthesiol 2018;18:5-7.

15. Dilektasli E, Inaba K, Haltmeier T, Wong MD, Clark D, Benjamin ER, et al. The prognostic value of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio on mortality in critically ill trauma patients. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2016;81:882-8.

16. Vaughan-Shaw PG, Rees JRE, King AT. Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio in outcome prediction after emergency abdominal surgery in the elderly. Int J Surg 2012;10:157-62.

17. Emektar E, Corbacioglu SK, Dagar S, Uzunosmanoglu H, Safak T, Cevik Y. Prognostic value of the neutrophil-lymphocyte and platelet-lymphocyte ratios in predicting one-year mortality in patients with hip fractures and aged over 60 years. Eurasian J Emerg Med 2017;16:165-70.

18. Aslan A, Atay T, Aydoğan NH. Risk factors for mortality and survival rates in elderly patients undergoing hemi arthroplasty for hip fracture. Orthop Traumatol Turc 2020;54:138-43.

19. Akbas S, Ozkan A. Regional versus general anesthesia in patients underwent hip fracture surgery over 80 years old: a retrospective cohort study. Ann Med Res 2018;25:698.

20. Daşar U. One-year retrospective evaluation of hip fracture patients aged more than 80 years and postoperatively monitored in the intensive care unit. Turk Geriatr Derg 2018;21:81-6.

21. Anthony CA, Duchman KR, Bedard NA, Gholson JJ, Gao Y, Pugely AJ, et al. Hip fractures: appropriate timing to operative intervention. J Arthroplasty 2017;32:3314-8.

22. Kayrak M, Erdoğan HI, Solak Y, Akilli H, Gül EE, Yildirim O, et al. Prognostic value of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in patients with acute pulmonary embolism: a restrospective study. Hear Lung Circ 2014;23:56-62.

23. Bruunsgaard H, Pedersen M, Pedersen BK. Aging and proinflammatory cytokines. Curr Opin Hematol 2001;8:131-6.

24. Karahan MA. The effect of spinal anesthetic technique on neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and postoperative mortality in elderly patients with coronary artery disease undergoing hip replacement surgery. Turk Geriatr Derg 2019;22:305-14.

25. Afari ME, Bhat T. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and cardiovascular diseases: an update. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2016;14:573-7.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.792920

Family Medicine

The impact of weight loss on thyroid autoimmunity - Weight loss decreases thyroid peroxidase antibody levels: a retrospective cohort study

Hacer Hicran Mutlu[®], Hasan Hüseyin Mutlu[®]

Department of Family Medicine, İstanbul Medeniyet University, Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Within the last two decades, an increase has been seen both in autoimmune diseases and obesity, therefore, the correlation between obesity and autoimmunity has been questioned and many studies have been conducted on this issue. Based on this relationship, we aimed to determine whether the weight loss affects the thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibody levels of obese individuals with thyroid autoimmunity or not.

Methods: The patients who were aged over 18 years, had a Body Mass Index (BMI) \ge 30 Kg/m² and TPO antibody \ge 5.60 IU/mL were included in the study. The primary endpoint was the change in TPO antibody levels of the patients at the end of the sixth month of the follow-up. The correlations of TPO antibody levels with anthropometric and laboratory measurements were evaluated.

Results: At the end of the sixth month of follow-up of the patients, TPO antibody levels decreased after weight loss (p < 0.001). No significant correlations were found between the differences in weight, fat mass, muscle mass and TPO antibody levels (p = 0.171; p = 0.656; p = 0.939).

Conclusions: Weight loss caused a decrease in the levels of TPO antibody levels in the obese individuals having thyroid autoimmunity pointing that weight loss might be useful to stop the progression or lead to regression of the disease.

Keywords: autoimmunity, autoantibodies, obesity, thyroiditis, thyroid gland, weight loss

Obesity is defined as the accumulation of fat in the body so as to cause illness and is an increasing public health problem since it leads to hypertension, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes and some cancer types [1]. It is known that genetic factors as well as lifestyle and environmental factors play a role in the etiology of obesity. Thyroid autoimmunity is a disease characterized by the formation of special antibodies which target the thyroid gland [2, 3].

Thyroid peroxidase (TPO) is a molecule, which catalyzes very important reactions such as the activa-

tion of iodine, iodination of tyrosine residues and coupling of iodinated tyrosine [4]. Thyroid peroxidase antibody positivity is seen in 90% of patients with patients having thyroid autoimmunity and a better correlation has been found between histological findings of thyroiditis and TPO antibody compared to Thyroglobulin (Tg) antibody [5, 6]. Genetic and environmental factors have also been demonstrated in the etiology of thyroid autoimmunity. The environmental factors triggering thyroid autoimmunity include some nutrients (iodine, selenium, vitamin B12, vitamin D

Received: September 11, 2020; Accepted: June 17, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Mutlu HH, Mutlu HH. The impact of weight loss on thyroid autoimmunity- Weight loss decreases thyroid peroxidase antibody levels: a retrospective cohort study. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):635-644. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.938778

Address for correspondence: Hacer Hicran Mutlu, MD., Assistant Professor, İstanbul Medeniyet University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: hicranbeyca@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 535 9723603

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

etc.), pesticides, radiation, some medications (interferonalpha and gamma, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha), pregnancy, infection, stress, smoking and obesity [7].

Within the last two decades, an increase has been seen both in immune-mediated diseases and obesity, especially in the industrialized Western countries [8, 9]. Therefore, the correlation between obesity and autoimmunity has been questioned and many studies have been conducted on this issue [8, 10, 11]. It has been shown that white adipose tissue in obesity is not only an organ where the energy is stored, but also is an endocrine organ, which secretes cytokines that are named adipokines and have proinflammatory activities. It has been demonstrated that cytokines secreted from the white adipose tissue cause inflammation, and especially leptin among adipokines leads to proinflammatory effects by activating T helper (Th1) cells and suppressing T regulatory (Treg) cells. Immune-inflammatory response is exaggerated by increased leptin levels in persons with obesity, causing autoimmune response in people with predisposition. Conversely, decreased leptin levels can cause immune suppression [7, 12, 13]. Therefore, adipokines are thought to play a key role in the interaction between adipose tissue and immune system and in the relationship between obesity, autoimmune and inflammatory diseases [8].

In the result of these studies, the increasing prevalence of obesity and autoimmune diseases has been linked to the relationship between adipokines and the immune system; it has been suggested that complex immunological alterations yield to autoimmune reactions [1, 7, 14]. Based on this relationship, in this study, we aimed to determine whether weight loss of the obese patients with thyroid autoimmunity, who were followed up at an obesity outpatient clinic, caused a difference in the levels of TPO antibodies affecting the course of thyroid autoimmunity.

METHODS

Study Design

Data of this retrospective cohort study were obtained from registries of the patients who consecutively admitted to the the Istanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Obesity Outpatient Clinic for the purpose of losing weight between January and July 2016. The primary endpoint was the change in TPO antibody levels of the patients at the end of the 6th month of follow-up.

The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by Istanbul Medeniyet University Göztepe Research and Training Hospital Ethical Committee (2019/0187).

Participants and Data Sources

The inclusion criteria were being aged over 18 years, having a body mass index (BMI) \ge 30 kg/m², a TPO antibody \geq 5.60 IU/mL and having thyroid autoimmunity according to their TPO antibody levels. The patients having BMI < 30 kg/m², TPO antibody <5.60 IU/m L and patients on antithyroid drugs were excluded. Age, gender, the drugs used, weight, height, BMI, co-morbid diseases, fat mass, fat-free mass, muscle mass and among the laboratory measurements glucose, Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), insulin, Alanine transaminase (ALT), Aspartate transaminase (AST), thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), TPO antibody, triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) values were recorded from the files of 260 patients followed-up in the obesity outpatient clinic between January 2016 and July 2016, who met the inclusion criteria. The participants were followed-up every 15 days for the first three months and then monthly with dietary counseling sessions and were prescribed a reduced-calorie and balanced diet (50%-55% of energy as carbohydrate, 30% of energy as fat, and 15%-20% of energy as protein) of self--prepared foods to achieve weight loss. The correlations of TPO antibody levels with anthropometric and laboratory measurements were evaluated. The weight, BMI, fat mass, fat-free mass, muscle mass and TPO antibody levels of 78 patients who attended visits regularly, lost any amount of weight at the end of the 6th month and whom TPO antibody values were measured (Fig. 1) were recorded from their files. The effect of weight loss on TPO antibody levels was evaluated at the end of the 6th month. Seven of 78 patients were started on levothyroxine therapy during follow-up The levothyroxine doses used were as follows; 4 patients 25 mg, 1 patient 50 mg, 1 patient 75 mg, 1 patient 100 mg levothyroxine.

Anthropometric Measurements

The height of each patient was measured with a


Fig. 1. Flowchart of inclusion/exclusion of participitants.

stadiometer (SECA) without shoes and as standing. Weight, fat mass, fat-free mass and muscle mass of each patient was measured with bio-impedance analysis device (TANITA MC 780-MA, Tokyo, Japan). BMI was calculated with the quetelete index (kg/m²).

Laboratory Measurements

Blood samples were collected following a fasting period of 8 to 12 hours. Fasting blood glucose, TG, TC, LDL, HDL, ALT and AST levels were studied with Roche Cobas 8000 analyzer, while insulin was measured with Beckman Gulter Unicel Dx1 800 and HbA1c using Primus MRDV with HPLC technique. Serum reference ranges were accepted as 0.35-4.49mIU/L for TSH and a cut-off value of 5.60 IU/mL was taken for TPO antibody and these values were determined using the chemiluminescence (ICMA) method with Architect I2000SR. Patients with a TSH between 0.35-4.49 mIU/L were considered to be euthyroid, 4.50-10.0 IU/mL as subclinical thyroid and > 10.0

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were performed with the statistical software SPSS for IBM, version 25.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL). Normally distributed data were shown as mean \pm SD and the data that were not normally distributed were presented as median, minimum and maximum values. Significant differences of normally distributed data were assessed using a t-test and significant difference of not normally distributed data were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data were expressed as percentages. Pearson correlation test was applied to test if there is a correlation between weight loss and the decrease in TPO antibodies. A paired two sample test were applied to analyze the effect of weight loss on TPO antibodies.

P value < 0.05 was statistically significant.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of the initial and final sample included in the study are given in Table 1. Mean age of the participants was 49.23 ± 12.49 years. Because most patients presenting to our obesity clinic were women, 90.8% of the participants were female patients. The mean BMI was found as 37.19 ± 5.19 kg/m2, mean fat mass as 38.21 ± 9.78 kg, mean fat free mass as 57.55 ± 8.16 kg and mean muscle mass as 54.23 ± 8.16 kg. Median levels of TPO antibody was found as 169.55 (5.78-1000). The characteristics of the initial and the final sample was similar in terms of age (p = 0.08), gender (p = 0.09), weight (p = 0.64), BMI (p = 0.89), fat mass (p = 0.25), fat free mass (p = 0.54)

	Initia (n	l sample = 260)	Fin	aal Sampes (n = 78)	
	Mean ± SD	Median (Min-Max)	Mean ± SD	Median (Min-Max)	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)	49.23 ± 12.49	52(18-78)	$51.71 \pm 11,26$	53,5 (23-78)	0.08
Gender					0.009
Female n (%)	236 (90,8)		76 (96.2)		
Male n (%)	24 (9.2)		2 (3.8)		
Weight (kg)	96.26 ± 15.57	94.3 (70.4-149.2)	94.98 ± 15.97	92.98 (70.5-45.8)	0.64
BMI (kg/m ²)	37.19 ± 5.19	36.4 (30-57)	37.01 ± 5.92	35.7 (30-7)	0.89
Fat mass (kg)	38.21 ± 9.78	37 (22.5-80.3)	38.75 ± 10.64	36.5 (23.1-67.6)	0.25
Fat-free mass (kg)	57.55±8.16	56.25 (37.6-86)	56.9 ± 8.0	54.85 (43.6-81.5)	0.56
Muscle mass (kg)	54.23 ± 8.16	53.1 (27.7-91.8)	52.98 ± 8.16	51.85 (27.7-77.5)	0.85
AntiTPO (IU/mL)	315.18 ± 343.71	169.55 (5.78-1000)	321.70 ± 346.95	202 (5.85-1000)	0.54
TG (mg/dl)	153.35 ± 84.24	136.5 (42-779)			
TC (mg/dl)	212.03 ± 42.86	213 (49-322)			
LDL-C (mg/dl)	136.12 ± 36.28	133 (38-231)			
HDL-C (mg/dl)	49.1 ± 15.42	48 (25-188)			
TSH (mIU/l)	3.25 ± 4.11	2.17 (0.35-39.85)			
Glucose (mg/dl)	109.95 ± 43.54	99 (82-439)			
HbA1c (%)	6.47 ± 3.86	5.8 (4.8-14.6)			
Insulin(mIU/l)	$12,\!83\pm6.62$	11.2 (3-45)			
ALT (IU/l)	26.15 ± 16.56	21 (6-103)			
AST (IU/l)	21.93 ± 10.05	19 (9-70)			

Table 1. The baseline characteristics of initial and final samples

BMI = body mass index, Anti TPO = Thyroid peroxidase antibody, TG = triglyceride, TC = total cholesterol, LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, TSH = thyroid stimulating hormonel, T4 = thyroxin, HbA1c = glycated hemoglobin, ALT = Alanin transaminase, AST = Aspartat transaminase

(Table 1).

Metabolic syndrome was found in 52.04%, hypertension in 32.7%, diabetes in 15.9%, depression in 9.09%, chronic heart disease in 9.09%, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in 4.1%, and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) in 2% of the participants. 82.6% (n = 226) of the participants were in euthyroid, 12.8% (n = 25) of them were in subclinical hypothyroid and 4.6% (n = 9) of the patients were in an overt hypothyroid state (Table 2).

No significant correlation was found between age, weight, fat mass, fat free mass, muscle mass, and biochemical parameters, and TPO antibody levels of the patients. There was a weak correlation between TPO antibody and BMI values (p = 0.042) (Table 2). The correlation between TPO antibody and BMI values was disappeared after adjusting for age, gender and TSH values (p = 0.094). When the correlation between TPO antibody levels and BMI was analyzed separately, no correlations were detected among the patients in euthyroid, subclinical hypothyroid and overt hypothyroid state (Table 2).

After adjusted for age, smoking, menopause and TSH; no significant correlation was found between TPO antibody and BMI and HbA1c values in female patients (p = 0.84, p = 0.88). When both genders were evaluated and the values were adjusted for age, smoking and TSH values, no significant correlation was found between TPO and BMI and HbA1c values (p = 0.932, p = 0.879).

The characteristics of the final sample including 78 patients at the baseline and 6th month as well as the difference of the characteristics between the baseline and 6th month is shown in Table 3. The median TSH levels of the participants at baseline were 2.37 (0.00-39.85). 78.4% (n = 58) of the participants were in euthyroid, 18.9% (n = 14) of them were in subclinical hypothyroid and 2.7% (n = 2) of the patients were in overt hypothyroid state.

The effect of weight loss on TPO antibody in the final sample that lost weight (n = 78) was the primary endpoint of the study and it was found that TPO anti-

Table 2.	Correlations	of baseline	TPO	antibody	levels	with	anthropometric	and	biochemical
paramete	ers								

				TPO	antibody			
	Whole p (n =	opulation 260)	Euth (n =	yroid 226)	Subc hypot (n =	linical hyroid = 25)	Overt hy (n	pothyroid = 9)
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)	069	.268	154	.052	.304	.134	013	.974
BMI (kg/m ²)	.126	.042	.037	.645	.336	.100	.448	.226
Weight (kg)	.042	.497	037	.639	.262	.206	.492	.178
TC (mg/dl)	.004	.950	.022	.790	009	.966	104	.790
LDL (mg/dl)	010	.883	.012	.883	.004	.984	122	.755
HDL (mg/dl)	.014	.847	.085	.301	242	.254	509	.162
TG (mg/dl)	.062	.383	.038	.643	.077	.726	.923	0.003
Fat mass (kg)	.029	.675	007	.928	.165	.430	.106	.822
Fat free mass (kg)	.013	.855	091	.259	.310	.132	.571	.181
Muscle mass (kg)	.030	.666	055	.488	.314	.126	.395	.380
TSH (mIU/l)	.169	.015	.142	.072	.081	.700	329	.388
Glucose (mg/dl)	004	.951	103	.199	.041	.846	.413	.269
HbA1c (%)	029	.680	052	.518	.056	.791	.446	.268
AST (IU/l)	024	.740	092	.261	.431	.040	.049	.909
ALT (IU/l)	.072	.312	.011	.896	.537	.007	.289	.487
Insulin (mIU/l)	.048	.526	.016	.857	.097	.692	.469	.288

BMI = body mass index, TG = triglyceride, TC = total cholesterol, LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, TSH = thyroid stimulating hormone, T4 = thyroxin, HbA1c = glycated hemoglobin, ALT = Alanin transaminase, AST = Aspartat transaminase, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic Model of Assessment-Insulin Resistance

	Baseline (n = 78)	6^{th} months (n = 78)	The difference between baseline and 6 th month
	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)	Median (min-max)
Age (years)	53.00 (21.00-78.00)	53.00 (21.00-78.00)	
Weight (kg)	96.95 (71.10-134.60)	90.70 (67.00-117.90)	-5.95 (-22.3-0.80)
BMI (kg/m ²)	35.95 (31.20-50.00)	34.40 (28.10-42.30)	-2.00 (-8.2-0.10)
Fat mass (kg)	40.35 (23.10-60.20)	36.55 (20.90-50.90)	-3.50 (-12.50-0.90)
Fat-free mass (kg)	55.55 (47.40-81.50)	55.65 (45.30-78.70)	-1.30 (-4.20-2.20)
Muscle mass (kg)	52.00 (27.70-77.50)	51.75 (28.60-74.80)	-1.20 (-4.00-2.10)
TPOAb (IU/mL)	111.61 (7.92-1000)	84.5 (0.50-1000)	-25.41 (-283.74-5.45)
TSH (mIU/l)	2.37 (0.00-39.85) -		

Table 3. The characteristics of the 78 patients at baseline and 6 months later

BMI = body mass index; TPO Ab =: Thyroid peroxidase antibody, TSH = thyroid stimulating hormone

body values decreased after weight loss (p < 0.001) (Fig. 2). When the effect of weight loss on TPO antibody in euthyroid, subclinical hypothyroid and overt hypothyroid groups were analyzed separately, the effect of weight loss was more evident in the euthyroid group than the hypothyroid group. The effect of weight loss wasn't observed in the overt hypothyroid group, however the number of the patients in this group was too small (n = 2) (Fig. 3).

The correlation between weight difference and TPO antibody difference was also investigated in the study. Weight and TPO antibody difference were calculated by subtracting the weight and TPO antibody values obtained in the second visit from the first visit. Visually such correlation can be seen from a scatter plot as depicted in Fig. 4. Fig. 3 implies that there is not relationship between difference in weight and difference in TPO antibody levels (r = 0.167, p = 0.171).



Fig. 2. The effect of weight loss on TPO antibody.

Likewise, no significant correlation was found between the differences in fat mass and TPO antibody (r = 0.067, p = 0.656) (Fig. 5) and the muscle mass and TPO antibody values (r = -0.011, p = 0.939) at the end of the 6th month.

In our laboratory, antibody titers above 1000 IU/ml could not be calculated and were reported as > 1000 IU/ml. The values reported as > 1000 IU/ml were analyzed as 1000 IU/ml (n = 32). Therefore, the difference in TPO antibody values did not reflect the actual difference. This was the most important limitation of our study.

DISCUSSION

In this study it was observed that TPO antibody levels decreased after weight loss at the end of the 6th



Fig. 3. The effect of weight loss on TPO antibody in euthyroid, subclinical hypothyroid and overt hypothyroid group.



Fig. 4. The correlation between difference in weight and TPOAb difference in the 6th month.

month of follow-up and the effect of weight loss was more evident in the euthyroid group.

It has been demonstrated in a study that TPO antibody titers histopathologically show the degree of thyroid inflammation [6, 15]. In a study conducted by dividing euthyroid persons into two groups according to the presence of TPO antibody, higher TSH levels were shown in persons with a positive TPO antibody titer [7]. In a study including subclinical hypothyroidism, overt hypothyroidism and control groups; there was no significant difference between subclinical and overt hypothyroidism groups in terms of TPO antibody levels, while the lowest value was found in the control group [5]. In our study, TPO antibody levels were significantly higher in patients with overt hypothyroidism compared to those with subclinical hypothyroidism and in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism compared to the controls. There was a significant positive correlation between TPO antibody and TSH levels. Our findings supported the literature.

There are studies showing that the risk of thyroid autoimmunity is higher in persons with obesity and that being overweight in childhood increases the risk of development of thyroid autoimmunity between 60-64 years of age [16]. In addition, it was observed that thyroiditis is exaggerated as the level of obesity increases in patients with thyroid autoimmunity [17]. Studies investigating the relationship between BMI and TPO antibodies have reported different results. In the Danish National Birth Cohort study examining the correlation between BMI and the risk for development of autoimmune diseases; linear correlations were demonstrated between BMI and development of all



Fig. 5. Correlation between difference in fat mass and TPOAb in the 6th month.

autoimmune diseases except for ankylosing spondylitis, inflammatory bowel disease and sarcoidosis [14]. In a study from China, BMI was found to be correlated with TPO antibodies in women, while this correlation was not present in men. It has been reported that gender affects the correlation between obesity and autoimmune thyroiditis. This was thought to have resulted from the differences between women and men in terms of the distribution of body fat and secretion of adipokines and from the higher immune response in women [18, 19]. Unlike these studies, Knudsen et al. [20] could not detect a significant correlation between BMI and TPO antibody. In our study, there was a significant weak correlation between BMI and TPO antibody in patients with thyroid autoimmunity, but the significance was disappeared when the effect of TSH was considered.

In a study by Chen *et al.* [20], when adjusted for age, smoking, TSH, and menopause only in female patients, TPO antibody positivity was correlated with BMI, HbA1c, HDL, LDL, TC, TG, fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR). The same correlation was not found when considering both genders and only male patients [20]. In our study, 91% of all participants were female and similarly to the abovementioned study, no correlation was found between TPO antibody and these parameters when only female patients were considered. Again, no significant correlation was found between TPO antibody and these parameters when both genders were analyzed.

Studies have shown that obesity predisposes to many autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, psoriasis, type 1 DM, inflammatory bowel disease and autoimmune thyroiditis and increased severity of these diseases [8, 10, 21]. On the other hand, studies about the effect of weight loss on autoimmune diseases are limited. In a review of many clinical trials, it was reported that psoriasis symptoms decreased in patients who lost weight and weight loss facilitated the treatment in these patients [22]. In a study conducted in patients with obesity with rheumatoid arthritis, a correlation was reported between BMI and number of the joints with arthritis and severity of the disease, and improvement in body composition should be a part of rheumatoid arthritis treatment [23]. Previous studies have only investigated the relationship between change of thyroid hormone levels with respect to body weight, ignoring the levels of TPO antibodies [24]. We could not find any study conducted about investigating the relationship between weight loss and TPO antibodies levels in thyroid autoimmunity in the literature. We consider this is the first study about this topic.

In a study searching the relationship between lowcarbohydrate diet and thyroid autoimmunity, one group was given a diet rich in vegetables, protein, milk and dairy products, and poor in carbohydrates and the other group was given a reduced-calorie diet. In the carbohydrate-poor diet group a significant decrease in TPO antibodies was observed, while no change was detected in the reduced calorie diet group. However, those who were on a diet poor in carbohydrates had more weight loss. In our study, although the participants did not obey the same diet, weight loss led to decrease in TPO antibodies particularly in patients with euthyroid state [25].

Besides cytokines that have proinflammatory effect, adipokines which have anti-inflammatory effects are also secreted by the adipose tissue. Studies have shown that leptin which has proinflammatory effect was decreased and adipokines that have anti-inflammatory effects were increased in patients who lost weight after bariatric surgery [26-28] Other studies have reported that excessive inflammatory activity was decreased and anti-inflammatory activity was decreased and anti-inflammatory activity was increased in persons who lost weight with diet and increased physical activity [26, 29]. In a study on mice, it was found that first immune response was increased with weight loss and then the immune response was decreased as weight loss was continued [30]. In a genetical study, it was shown that inflammation related

gene expression in adipocytes and macrophages were modified and inflammatory response was decreased with weight loss [31]. This could explain our result as weight loss suppresses inflammation, and thus excessive immune response occurring against this, and accordingly provides a decrease in TPO antibodies.

In a study that compared the patients with and without obesity, weight loss was shown to decrease immune response in both groups, and this decrease was similar in these two groups [32]. In our study, all participants were affected with obesity, and therefore we could not perform this comparison, but we found that weight loss decreased TPO antibodies in persons with obesity and attributed this to the decreased immune response in these persons. On the other hand, to link the decrease in serum TPO antibody levels for six months, relatively a short observation period, to the reduced immune response, further controlled and long-term studies are needed.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, the number of participants was relatively small, and a large part of the participants lost from the follow up. However, due to the duration of the study, the high dropout is expected, especially in a study examining an obesity outpatient clinic. Second, antibody titers above 1000 IU/ml could not be calculated in our laboratory and reported as >1000 IU/ml (n = 32). Therefore, difference in the TPO antibody levels could not be calculated in an accurately. Third, the study was conducted retrospectively and as a result it was not possible to take a control group. Forth, since this was a retrospective study the patients who had TPO antibody levels at baseline and 6th month were included in the study. The baseline TSH values were recorded from the patient's files however most of the patients' TSH levels could not be obtained from their files because TSH values of the patients were checked at various times other than the 6th month. Last, hence, mostly women refer to our obesity outpatient clinic, a high female/male ratio was detected in the study.

CONCLUSION

Today, the reason for the increase in autoimmune diseases is an issue of concern. Many factors have

been held responsible for this increase. Many studies have shown obesity as the most important factor for this increase. In our study, weight loss was found to decrease TPO antibody levels in persons with thyroid autiimmunity. We attributed this to decreased autoimmunity by weight loss in thyroid autiimmunity. However, further comprehensive and randomized-controlled studies are needed to confirm this.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HHM, HHM; Study Design: HHM, HHM; Supervision: HHM, HHM; Funding: HHM; Materials: HHM; Data Collection and/or Processing: HHM, HHM; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: HHM, HHM; Literature Review: HHM, HHM; Manuscript Preparation: HHM, HHM and Critical Review: HHM, HHM.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Sims EAH. Characterization of the syndromes of obesity. Diabetes Mellit Obes 1982;219-26.

2. Duntas LH. Environmental factors and thyroid autoimmunity. In: Annales d'endocrinologie. Elsevier; 2011: p. 108-13.

3. Melmed S, Polonsky KS, Larsen PR, Kronenberg HM. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology E-Book. Elsevier Health Sciences; 2015.

4. Zhao M, Zhang X, Gao L, Song Y, Xu C, Yu C, et al. Palmitic acid downregulates thyroglobulin (Tg), sodium iodide symporter (NIS), and thyroperoxidase (TPO) in human primary thyrocytes: a potential mechanism by which lipotoxicity affects thyroid? Int J Endocrinol 2018;2018:421848.

5. Silva LM, Chavez J, Canalli MHB, Zanetti CR. Determination of IgG subclasses and avidity of antithyroid peroxidase antibodies in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism–a comparison with patients with overt hypothyroidism. Horm Res Paediatr 2003;59:118-24.

6. Rho MH, Kim DW, Hong HP, Park YM, Kwon MJ, Jung SJ, et al. Diagnostic value of antithyroid peroxidase antibody for incidental autoimmune thyroiditis based on histopathologic results. Endocrine 2012;42:647-52. 7. Duntas LH, Biondi B. The interconnections between obesity, thyroid function, and autoimmunity: the multifold role of leptin. Thyroid 2013;23:646-53.

8. Versini M, Jeandel P-Y, Rosenthal E, Shoenfeld Y. Obesity in autoimmune diseases: not a passive bystander. Autoimmun Rev 2014;13:981-1000.

9. Pedersen JK, Svendsen AJ, Hørslev-Petersen K. Incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the southern part of Denmark from 1995 to 2001. Open Rheumatol J 2007;1:18.

10. Crowson CS, Matteson EL, Davis III JM, Gabriel SE. Contribution of obesity to the rise in incidence of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65:71-7.

11. Karimi F, Omrani GR. Effects of selenium and vitamin C on the serum level of antithyroid peroxidase antibody in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis. J Endocrinol Invest 2019;42:481-7.

12. Cao H. Adipocytokines in obesity and metabolic disease. J Endocrinol 2014;220:T47-59.

13. Procaccini C, Pucino V, Mantzoros CS, Matarese G. Leptin in autoimmune diseases. Metabolism 2015;64:92-104.

14. Harpsøe MC, Basit S, Andersson M, Nielsen NM, Frisch M, Wohlfahrt J, et al. Body mass index and risk of autoimmune diseases: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2014;43:843-55.

15. Czarnocka B, Janota-Bzowski M, McIntosh RS, Asghar MS, Watson PF, Kemp EH, et al. Immunoglobulin Gκ antithyroid peroxidase antibodies in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: epitope-mapping analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997;82:2639-44.

16. Ong KK, Kuh D, Pierce M, Franklyn JA, Medical Research Council National Survey of Health and Development Scientific and Data Collection Teams. Childhood weight gain and thyroid autoimmunity at age 60–64 years: the 1946 British birth cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:1435-42.

17. De Pergola G, Ciampolillo A, Tarantino L, Trerotoli P. Possible evolution of autoimmune thyroiditis in hypothyroidism: role of obesity. Obes Control Ther 2014;1:1-5.

18. Wang B, Song R, He W, Yao Q, Li Q, Jia X, et al. Sex differences in the associations of obesity with hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmunity among Chinese adults. Front Physiol 2018;9:1397.

19. Cutolo M, Montagna P, Brizzolara R, Sulli A, Seriolo B, Villaggio B, et al. Sex hormones modulate the effects of Leflunomide on cytokine production by cultures of differentiated monocyte/macrophages and synovial macrophages from rheumatoid arthritis patients. J Autoimmun 2009;32:254-60.

20. Bulow I Perrild H Ovesen L Jorgensen T. Small differences in thyroid function may be important for body mass index and the occurrence of obesity in the population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:4019-24.

21. Khalili H, Ananthakrishnan AN, Konijeti GG, Higuchi LM, Fuchs CS, Richter JM, et al. Measures of obesity and risk of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2015;21:361-8.

22. Alotaibi HA. Effects of weight loss on psoriasis: a review of clinical trials. Cureus 2018;10:e3491.

23. Alvarez-Nemegyei J, Pacheco-Pantoja E, González-Salazar M, López-Villanueva RF, May-Kim S, Martínez-Vargas L, et al.

Association between overweight/obesity and clinical activity in rheumatoid arthritis. Reumatol Clín (English Ed) 2020;16:462-7.

24. Kawicka A, Regulska-Ilow B. Metabolic disorders and nutritional status in autoimmune thyroid diseases. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 2015;69:80-90.

25. Esposito T, Lobaccaro JM, Esposito MG, Monda V, Messina A, Paolisso G, et al. Effects of low-carbohydrate diet therapy in overweight subjects with autoimmune thyroiditis: possible synergism with ChREBP. Drug Des Devel Ther 2016;10:2939.

26. Moschen AR, Molnar C, Wolf AM, Weiss H, Graziadei I, Kaser S, et al. Effects of weight loss induced by bariatric surgery on hepatic adipocytokine expression. J Hepatol 2009;51:765-77. 27. Dalmas E, Rouault C, Abdennour M, Rovere C, Rizkalla S, Bar-Hen A, et al. Variations in circulating inflammatory factors are related to changes in calorie and carbohydrate intakes early in the course of surgery-induced weight reduction. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:450-8.

28. Miller GD, Nicklas BJ, Fernandez A. Serial changes in inflammatory biomarkers after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2011;7:618-24.

29. Beavers KM, Ambrosius WT, Nicklas BJ, Rejeski WJ. Independent and combined effects of physical activity and weight loss on inflammatory biomarkers in overweight and obese older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2013;61:1089-94.

30. Kosteli A, Sugaru E, Haemmerle G, Martin JF, Lei J, Zechner R, et al. Weight loss and lipolysis promote a dynamic immune response in murine adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 2010;120:3466-79.

31. Clement K. Viguerie N, Poitou C, Carette C, Pelloux V, Curat CA, et al. Weight loss regulates inflammation-related genes in white adipose tissue of obese subjects. FASEB J 2004;18:1657-69.

32. Nieman DC, Nehlsen-Cannarella SL, Henson DA, Butterworth DE, Fagoaga OR, Warren BJ, et al. Immune response to obesity and moderate weight loss. Int J Obes 1996;20:353-60.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.854706

Preferences of speech and language therapists for telepractice in the COVID-19 pandemic and factors affecting their acceptance of the delivery model

Mehmet Emrah Cangi¹^o, İbrahim Can Yaşa²^o, Ayşe Işıldar³^o

¹Department of Speech and Language Therapy, Üsküdar University, Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey ²Department of Speech and Language Therapy, Bahçeşehir University, Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey ³Department of Speech and Language Therapy, Medipol University, Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: With the COVID-19 pandemic, telepractice became a great option in speech-language therapy services, as in many healthcare utilities. However, the transition to this service model did not occur at a similar rate for every clinician. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the experiences, preferences and factors affecting the acceptance of speech-language therapists (SLT) regarding telepractice in Turkey.

Methods: Sixty-seven SLTs were presented with a questionnaire that addressed the professional tendencies, experiences and views on telepractice of them. Descriptive statistics regarding the preferences and experiences of SLTs were calculated. Moreover, factors that might be related to the number of sessions they held at the pandemic were examined with the Chi-squared test.

Results: The speech-language disorders that SLTs find the most suitable for telepractice were fluency disorders, voice disorders and speech sound disorders. Groups that SLTs deemed most suitable for receiving telepractice in terms of age were 12-21, 22-64 and 7-11, respectively. A significant relationship was found between the frequency of online meetings and telepractice sessions before the pandemic and the number of sessions during the pandemic. Furthermore, a significant relationship also was found between satisfaction with using clinician skills in telepractice and the number of telepractice sessions during the pandemic.

Conclusions: The importance of the first experiences of SLTs in the acceptance of the delivery method emerged. The necessity of in-service trainings and exemplary models to improve attitudes emerged. With these trainings, ensuring security, standardizing practices and increasing qualified services will be provided as well. **Keywords:** Telepractice, speech and language therapy, COVID-19 pandemic, technology acceptance, clinicians' perspective

A fter COVID-19 was first identified in Wuhan province of China, it spread all over the world at an unexpected speed. Thus, this process caused a great change in the daily lives of individuals in Turkey as well as in the world, and deeply affected their access

to services such as education and health [1, 2].

One of the professional professions that provide services in the field of health is speech and language therapy (SLT). Clinicians in this field actively serve in the evaluation and therapy of communication, lan-

Received: January 5, 2021; Accepted: August 31, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Cangi ME, Yaşa İC, Işıldar A. Preferences of speech and language therapists for telepractice in the COVID-19 pandemic and factors affecting their acceptance of the delivery model. Eur Res J 2021; 7(6):645-657. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.854706

Address for correspondence: Mehmet Emrah Cangi, PhD., Assistant Professor, Üsküdar University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Speech
 and Language Therapy, Altunizade Mah., Mahir Iz Cd., No: 23, 34674, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: mehmetemrah.cangi@uskudar.edu.tr, Tel: +90 216
 4002222

[©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj guage, speech, voice and swallowing disorders in the clinical field [3]. Before the pandemic, these services were widely offered in-person in clinics, rehabilitation centers or hospitals [4]. However, SLTs work in inperson sessions in environments with high risk of transmission of the virus due to services that require close contact like many healthcare professionals. For this reason, as recommended by the American Speech and Language Association (ASHA) [5] and the Association of Speech and Language Therapists (DKTD) in Turkish [3], in-person services were decommissioned in Turkey as a precaution against the risk of those clinicians getting infected. In this context, the search for alternative services increased in order to maintain the therapy service.

An important alternative to in-person services is telepractice (i.e. telehealth, telemedicine and telerehabilitation). This service model is the usage of telecommunication technologies for evaluation and therapy between clinician and client, and for consultation between clinicians [6]. There is evidence that this model can be suitable and effective in many disorders. Voice disorders [7], dysphagia [8], stuttering [9], aphasia [10], communication, speech and language impairments due to the autism spectrum disorder [11], and speech sound disorders [12] can be shown as examples to these disorders.

Telepractice is seen as an alternative service option with many advantages [13]. In some clients, telepractice may be the main way for clients to reach services, just as in the circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic [5]. In many studies, it is emphasized that the main advantage of telepractice is access to services and flexibility of time and place. Other advantages are reported as cost efficiency and user satisfaction [13-17]. However, there are also many limitations regarding telepractice. Some examples that can be given to this situation are that the application protocols are not clear yet, problems in material selection, technological problems, uncertainty in cost-benefit analysis, unclear candidate criteria and difficulties in ensuring active participation of the client over the Internet [18-20]. Studies examining the experience of clinicians regarding telepractice services have an important place in the literature of SLT. Wales et al. [21] reviewed studies on access to SLT services through telepractice in primary school children. The authors reported that there was

some promising evidence that telepractice could be used in this group. Weidner and Lowman [22] reviewed the role of some factors in telepractice services for adults. The main categories were issues such as client types, intervention approaches, and technology. The authors reported that there was evidence for the usage of telepractice in the management of many diseases such as aphasia, dysphagia and Parkinson's disease. Group therapies are also preferred in some studies. The authors also reported that teleconferencing systems such as Zoom and Adobe Connect are preferred in telepractice.

As in any new technology, determining the factors that make clinicians and clients accept this model is seen as an important issue regarding telepractice. For example, some socio-demographic characteristics such as education level, culture, age or gender were found to be effective in technology acceptance [22, 23]. As another example, Tucker [24] concluded that telepractice is mostly preferred by young SLTs. The fact that they are more competent and willing to use technology was stated as the reason for this. Another remarkable point in this context is the experience in technology according to Sun and Zhang [25] and Tucker [18]. Individuals who spend more time with these technologies have higher levels of acceptance.

Technology acceptance levels were also discussed in some models. For example, Dunkley *et al.* [26] discussed their telepractice experiences in SLT within the scope of the Technology Acceptance Model [27]. In this model, the two most critical components in the acceptance of technology are specified as "perceived ease of usage" and "perceived usefulness" regarding the technology in question. Dunkley *et al.* [26] also reached conclusions supporting this model.

There are also various barriers and concerns about providing telepractice services. One of the most important concerns about telepractice is related to the level of the therapeutic relationship established with the client. However, the first evidence is that there is not a great deficiency in telepractice in this regard [28, 29]. Moreover, there were many suggestions on how to improve the relationship in telepractice. For instance, in one study, SLTs emphasized the importance of staying in touch with families and sharing phone or e-mail information [29]. Another concern is that service delivery with telepractice will have a negative impact on the therapy process and clinician skills. However, it is argued that this barrier will decrease as technology develops [30, 18].

In Turkey, there is only one work containing the mixed-study method on telepractice in the SLT field [4]. In this study, the effectiveness of stuttering therapy through telepractice in adults and the participatory and clinician perspectives on this service were examined. Consequently, evidence was obtained that telepractice could be as effective as in-person therapy in adult stuttering and that this delivery method might be suitable for stuttering therapy.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the preferences and acceptance processes of SLTs who use telepractice, such as client groups, session duration or software used during the COVID-19 process. In line with the telepractice literature, some study questions and hypotheses regarding possible relationships between these variables were defined:

1. Does the number of telepractice sessions that SLTs do after the pandemic change according to their 'demographic characteristics'?

According to the hypothesis determined regarding this study question, the number of telepractice sessions performed after the pandemic does not change according to demographic characteristics (H0). In this decision, it was effective that the ratio of women to men was not balanced among the participants and that the working group was mostly composed of young participants.

2. Does the number of telepractice sessions performed by SLTs after the pandemic change according to their "online meeting and telepractice experience" and "computer use skills they perceive about themselves"?

According to the hypothesis related to the second study question, it is expected that the number of telepractice sessions performed by SLTs after the pandemic will change according to their "online meeting and telepractice experience" and "computer use skills they perceive about themselves (H1).

3. Do SLTs' satisfaction levels in telepractice-related issues (development of the client, therapeutic communication, ability to use clinician skills, software used and financial gain) vary according to the number of telepractice sessions they have held in the last month?

In the hypothesis related to the third study question, a higher level of satisfaction with this service delivery model of SLTs who perform a higher number of telepractice sessions after the pandemic is expected (H1).

In this pandemic period which significantly affected the level of SLT service, exposing the factors that affect acceptance levels for the SLT telepractice in Turkey is expected to contribute to the development and future maintenance of these services. Moreover, the groups to which the SLTs will provide with this service, the time they schedule, the approaches they prefer, their orientation to use software or hardware will provide an "initial guide" for clinicians who want to provide telepractice services.

METHODS

Participants

The participant group of the study consisted of 67 SLTs between the ages of 22-47. The average age of the participants was 29.57 ± 6.78 years. The basic criteria for the inclusion of SLTs in the study were determined as "to have at least a bachelor's degree in the field of SLT" and "to apply at least one session of telepractice". Participants were selected using the appropriate sampling method [31]. While 51 of the participants were men. Furthermore, 32 of this group were undergraduate, 34 had a master's degree and 1 was a doctoral graduate.

Research Ethics

The approval of the ethics committee of the study was obtained from Üsküdar University, Non-Interventional Research Evaluation Board (Number: 61351342 / 2020-244). The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Data Collection Tools

In order to collect the data, the questionnaire called "The Experiences of Speech and Language Therapists Regarding Telepractice Services in the COVID-19 Pandemic" was used. In the process of developing the questionnaire, the telepractice literature [16, 18, 19, 24] and guidelines on the maintenance of SLT services in the COVID-19 pandemic published by ASHA [5] and DKTD (ASLT) [3] were reviewed. Afterwards, related topics were discussed by the authors and various themes were determined. After the questionnaire items were written, clinician opinions were received from three experienced academicians. Finally, a pilot study was conducted with three experienced clinicians and the questionnaire was finalized in line with the feedback received.

The questionnaire consisted of four sub-dimensions which were demographic and occupational information, overview, disorders and satisfaction: (1) Within the scope of demographic information, there were multiple-choice questions and question that they could choose more than one answer about the age, gender, professional experience, and types of clients they worked with. (2) In the overview section, there were multiple choice questions that evaluate the general view of SLTs regarding telepractice. (3) In the disorders section, questions about the suitability of speech and language disorders to telepractice were included with scoring based on five-point Likert grading. (4) In the satisfaction section, there was a five-point Likert scale in which SLTs scored their satisfaction levels in various subjects from telepractice.

Procedure

The survey was uploaded to Google Surveys and the link of the survey was shared in professional email groups and social media accounts. When the targeted number of participants was reached, the questionnaire was closed to answer.

A directive was presented to the participants at the beginning of the survey. In the directive, information was given on the purpose of the questionnaire, participant criteria, and average response time and data confidentiality. No negative feedback was received from the participants that required correction.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics such as frequency, percentage and ratio were calculated in the analysis of the data. Participants' age, gender, perceived computer use skills, online meeting and telepractice experience before COVID-19, and the number of therapies and satisfaction levels of the COVID-19 pandemic were compared with the Chi-square test.

RESULTS

In this study, in which SLTs' preferences for telepractice services and their experiences regarding acceptance processes in the COVID-19 pandemic were examined, four sub-dimensions addressing the demographic and professional information of SLTs', their general view of telepractice, the disorders in which telepractice was deemed appropriate and their satisfaction level with telepractice were evaluated.

Findings on demographic and professional characteristics of the participants

Findings regarding the demographic information and professional characteristics of the participants were presented in Table 1.

At what level did SLTs see their computer skills?

SLTs often saw their computer use skills as normal or better. The most preferred option was 'good' level (n = 37). The number of SLTs (n = 15) using comput-

Table 1. Findings on demographic andprofessional characteristics of the participants

Variable	n = 67	%
Gender		
Woman	51	76.1
Man	16	23.9
Professional experience		
1-2 years	31	46.3
3-5 years	14	20.9
6-10 years	12	17.9
11-15 years	7	10.4
+16 years	3	4.5
Institutions Served ¹		
Private education and rehabilitation center	40	
Speech and language therapy clinics	37	
Private hospital	7	
Public hospital	1	
University	7	
Other	3	

¹Due to the fact that many SLTs served in more than one type of institution, the total number of frequencies in the category of institutions served was higher than N = 67.



Fig. 1. Number of telepractice sessions before and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

ers at 'normal' (n = 15) and 'very good' (n = 14) level was almost equal.

How often did SLTs have online meetings before the COVID-19 pandemic?

According to the findings regarding the frequency of SLTs having online meetings before the COVID-19 pandemic, almost half of the participants reported that they had 'never' online meetings (n = 33). 24 SLTs stated that they had 'almost never' online meetings and 10 SLTs stated that they had online meetings 'sometimes'.

How many telepractice sessions did SLTs have before and after the COVID-19 pandemic?

The comparative number of telepractice sessions performed by SLTs before and after the COVID-19 pandemic (in the last month) was given in Fig. 1. It was observed that almost half of the SLTs did not apply any telepractice sessions before the pandemic (n = 44). The number of SLTs applying 1-5 sessions was only 19. After the pandemic, 28 SLTs performed between 1-5, 16 SLTs between 6-10 and 10 SLTs 11-20 sessions. Four SLTs reported that they never performed telepractice after the pandemic.

What were the experiences and thoughts of SLTs about group telepractice?

According to the answers given by the participants to the questionnaire regarding group therapy applications, 65 SLTs stated that they had not used group therapy in telepractice applications before. SLTs preferred the most partially appropriate (n = 20) and absolutely appropriate (n = 15) options regarding the application of group therapy in telepractice.

Which technological problems were encountered most frequently in telepractice?

According to the responses of the participants to the questionnaire regarding whether they had any problems during telepractice, it was observed that 46 SLTs experienced various problems during telepractice, and 21 SLTs did not have any problems. Considering the distribution of the problems faced by SLTs who reported having problems, internet disconnections (n = 31), sound problems (n = 30) and visual problems (n = 29) were experienced most commonly. The least problematic issues were reported as software-related problems (n = 8), computer-related problems (n = 9) and other (n = 2) problems.

Which teleconferencing softwares were used most frequently in telepractice?

Considering the distribution of software preferred by the participants during telepractice applications, it was seen that the majority of them conducted their telepractice sessions via the Zoom (n = 53) application. The two most frequently used softwares following it were Whatsapp (Video Call) (n = 30) and Skype (n = 24). The frequency of the usage of FaceTime, Adobe Connect and other software was equal (n = 3). None of the participants reported that they used Webex and Discord programs.

How many minutes were the telepractice session duration determined?

Almost half of the SLTs (n = 35) reported that they generally determined the telepractice sessions as 30 minutes. The other SLTs stated that they had longer telepractice sessions of 40 minutes (n = 26), 45 min-

and 4-6 (n = 35), respectively.



Fig. 2. Age groups applied and appropriate for telepractice session.

utes (n = 22) and 60 minutes (n = 11). One participant marked the "other" option.

What were the age groups in which SLTs most frequently applied and deemed suitable for telepractice?

The age groups in which SLTs practiced telepractice and that they thought suitable for telepractice were given in Fig. 2 comparatively. The main age groups that SLTs found most suitable for telepractice were 12-21 (n = 63), 22-64 (n = 61) and 7-11 (n = 55). However, when looking at clinical applications, there was a situation that was not consistent with the age ranges found appropriate. Because, SLTs did the most telepractice sessions with children aged 7-11 (n = 40)

In which client groups were helpful support needed?

The distribution of the client groups that the participants worked and needed assistant support during their telepractice applications was given in Figure 3. As seen in Fig. 3, 66 SLTs preferred to work with SSD in telepractice, 64 SLTs delayed speech and language (DSL) and 58 SLTs stuttering and other fluency disorders. Among these client groups studied, those that most require helpful support were SSD (n = 41), DSL (n = 34), developmental communication disorders such as autism, etc.



Fig. 3. Client groups that participants worked and required assistant support during telepractice. SSD = Speech Sound Disorders, DSL = Delayed Speech and Language, ALD = Acquired Language Disorders, MSD = Motor Speech Disorders, SLI = Specific Language Impairment, CLP = Cleft Lip and Palate.



Fig. 4. Client groups that participants deem suitable for telepractice applications. SSD = Speech Sound Disorders, DSL = Delayed Speech and Language, ALD = Acquired Language Disorders, MSD = Motor Speech Disorders, SLI = Specific Language Impairment, CLP = Cleft Lip and Palate.

Which client groups was telepractice suitable for?

As shown in Figure 4, the main disorders that SLTs most frequently marked the 'absolutely appropriate' options were fluency disorders (n = 31), voice disorders (n = 16) and SSD (n = 18), respectively. The 'suitable' option was most frequently marked in speech and voice disorders (n = 30), fluency disorders (n = 29), voice disorders (n = 27) and specific language impairment (n = 26). The disorder that was considered to be absolutely unsuitable for telepractice was swallowing disorder (n = 26).

What were the satisfaction levels of SLTs in different

subjects related to telepractice?

In the last part of the questionnaire, five questions were asked to evaluate the satisfaction of SLTs regarding telepractice. As can be seen in Fig. 5, the highest satisfaction level was related to the software used in telepractice (n = 26) and the lowest level of satisfaction was related to the financial gain provided by telepractice (n = 10). Most of the SLTs stated that they were partially satisfied with the level of using the clinician skills (n = 24), the development of the clients (n = 25) and the financial gain (n = 24) in the telepractice process.



Fig. 5. Distribution of participants' satisfaction with telepractice according to different subjects

Findings on the relationships between the telepractice sessions of SLTs after the COVID-19 pandemic and some variables

According to the first findings of the study, there was no relationship between 'gender' and 'perceived computer use skill' and 'the number of therapies they performed during the pandemic period' in SLTs (relatively; x2 = 6.635, p = 0.203; x2 = 13.592, p = 0.734).

There was a significant correlation between 'the frequency of online meetings conducted by SLTs before the pandemic' and 'the number of sessions they had during the pandemic period' (x2 = 19.028; p = 0.012). There was a significant relationship between 'the telepractice sessions SLTs did before the pandemic' and 'the number of telepractice sessions they performed during the pandemic period' (x2 = 25.459; p = 0.013).

There is no significant relationship between 'the number of sessions' of SLTs in the last month and satisfaction from 'software used', 'development of clients', 'therapeutic communication' and 'financial gain' (relatively; x2 = 18.991, p = 0.640; x2 = 22.140, p = 0.225; x2 = 21.509, p = 0.216; x2 = 21.011, p = 0.229). Only a significant relationship was found between "satisfaction with the level of using clinician skills" and "the number of sessions they had in the last month" of SLTs (x2 = 25.903; p = 0.048).

DISCUSSION

In this study, the factors affecting the preferences and acceptance processes of language and speech therapists for telepractice in the COVID-19 pandemic were examined. As a result of the study, various findings were obtained regarding the demographic and professional information of the speech and language therapists, their general view on telepractice, the disorders they deem appropriate for telepractice, and their level of satisfaction with telepractice.

In this study, it was seen that the first two prominent findings were related to the familiarity and experience with telepractice. SLTs, who had pre-pandemic experience in the use of teleconferencing platforms socially or professionally, easily adapted to provide telepractice services under pandemic conditions. It was previously stated that experience with these technologies has a determining role in attitudes towards future use [4, 30, 32]. The effect of initial experiences on attitudes and preferences was also reported in studies in other health areas [33-36]. At this point, in the light of the studies on the subject, the importance of SLTs following the model telepractice sessions and of encouraging them for first trials emerged [34].

Another important finding of the study was that there was a significant relationship between "satisfaction of using clinician skills" and "the number of sessions they did in the last month" of SLTs in an online environment. It was stated by some authors that telepractice might have a negative effect on clinician skills [30, 24, 37]. Although there was no relationship between "satisfaction with the development of the clients" and "the number of sessions they held in the last month", this finding could be considered within the scope of the Technology Acceptance Model [27] More online sessions of SLTs, who reported that they had been satisfied with using their clinical skills in telepractice, emphasized how important perceived usefulness and utility were on attitudes. This finding was consistent with the findings of some telepractice (telepractice, telerehabilitation) studies [4, 38-41]. It became prominent once again that the more clinicians take a technology useful, the easier it is to adapt to these technologies. This finding provided clinical implications for what kind of incentive studies could be done for SLTs to easily switch to telepractice services. It can provide evidence, in-service trainings, models and supervision for the effectiveness of the method in developing the first attitudes of SLTs towards telepractice.

Considering the platforms preferred by the participants to use during telepractice applications, it was seen that they mostly conducted telepractice sessions via the Zoom application. Then, the two most frequently used softwares were Whatsapp (video call) and Skype. FaceTime, Adobe Connect and other software were found to be the last and equally preferred in terms of usage frequency. In spite of this situation, in a qualitative study in the literature, thoughts about the usage and accessibility of Adobe Connect software were reported [42]. The fact that the standard version of Zoom is free to use in one-to-one calls and is easy to use compared to software such as Adobe Connect and Webex may have led the participants to this preference. The issue that needs to be emphasized here is the importance of the "perceived convenience" factor within the scope of the Technology Acceptance Model [27]. The easier the usage of these systems is perceived in the beginning, the more positive user attitudes are [38] In their study, Bradford et al. [14] stated that most of the practitioners whose opinions they received initially doubted that telepractice would be effective and thought that the therapeutic relationship could not be established, but they concluded that their negative opinions on this issue changed in the opposite direction as the telepractice sessions progressed. Similarly, in our study, SLTs who performed telepractice sessions before the pandemic did not have any difficulty in providing telepractice services during the pandemic process.

SLTs reported that they most frequently used the standard version of Zoom, WhatsApp and Skype in telepractice. However, all these platforms do not have HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) certification. According to ASHA [5], the first issue that SLTs should look into when choosing these platforms is whether the systems have this security certificate. In this way, the security of the data regarding the client, the therapist or the service used will be ensured. Another issue considered secondary is that WhatsApp and Skype do not have file sharing and whiteboard features. This situation makes the applied telepractice more limited. Apart from the software used in providing telepractice service, technical issues are also important.

In this study, the most common technological problems that SLTs experienced during service delivery were internet disconnections, sound problems and video problems. These problems are highly anticipated problems in online usage in line with the literature [4, 43, 24]. Thus, the necessity of in-service training and how important it is to provide guidance and guides to SLTs revealed once again.

In this study, no relationship was found between the ages of SLTs and the frequency of telepractice sessions during the pandemic period. However, there are opinions that there is a relationship between these variables [18]. In Turkey, the SLT area is a developing area and an important part of personnel serving in this field is under 30 years of age. Thus, it was not possible to examine all participants by dividing them into certain age groups (eg, 20-40 and 40-60). It may be suggested future studies to examine the subject by considering different age groups.

SLTs reported the disorders in which telepractice can be used most effectively as speech voice disorders, fluency disorders and voice disorders, respectively. The least appropriate disorder was swallowing disorders. This situation is mostly compatible with the literature. In the field of research, it is seen that the disorders in which telepractice is effective are SSD [44, 45], fluency disorders [4, 15, 46, 47] and vocal disorders [13, 48-51] similar to our study. However, it is seen that there are many effectiveness studies in the literature, from autism [52-54] to swallowing disorder [55-57]. However, at this point, findings regarding user perspectives in terms of clients and clinicians in qualitative research are also extremely important. In this context, qualitative studies are also needed to determine the disorders for which telepractice is appropriate.

It was observed that the satisfaction levels of SLTs regarding the therapeutic relationship in telepractice were answered almost equally as "almost not satisfied", "partially satisfied" and "satisfied". This situation showed that the level of satisfaction of SLTs with the therapeutic relationship with the clients was not very high. In some studies in the literature, it was stated that the therapeutic relationship between the therapist and the client could be negatively affected in telepractice [28, 42, 58]. However, in telepractice, the therapeutic relationship between the client and the therapist needs to be studied in more detail. For example, although it was reported that telepractice might have some disadvantages in terms of therapeutic relevance [4], it is also important to examine which factors (e.g., clinician skills, natural approaches) minimize this disadvantage.

There was a significant relationship between the number of sessions that SLTs did in the last month and their level of using the skills of the clinician. With this finding, it was seen that the thoughts of SLTs on their level of using clinician skills were related to the number of sessions they had done. In this context, the increase in the telepractice experience of the therapist may lead to an increase in positive thoughts about the better use of the clinician's skills. In other words, it can be said that as the therapist's familiarity with the new service increases, he/she can use his/her skills regarding that service better over time.

With the increase in the number of sessions done by SLTs during the pandemic, their satisfaction level with the telepractice service they offer also increased. Especially in the high satisfaction level of the telepractice service they provide, e-helpers were of great importance. In this study, the most frequently needed disorder groups were SSD, DSL and autism etc. The younger age of the individuals in the relevant disorder groups may create a disadvantage in the processes of adapting and maintaining their cognitive or physical abilities to the service offered in front of the telepractice screen. This finding may be based on the assumption that the auxiliary support of SLTs in telepractice can facilitate efficient gain in the client. Moreover, it was found that SLTs had the most telepractice sessions with children aged 7-11 and 4-6, respectively. Considering that the disorder groups presenting in these age groups were disorders such as SSD, DSL and autism, it was seen that SLTs performed telepractice in the group where auxiliary support was most needed. However, the age groups that SLTs found most suitable for telepractice were 12-21, 22-64 and 7-11 years. An important reason why SLTs found these age groups suitable for telepractice may be that they do not need adult support in telepractice sessions applied for these age groups.

Finally, most of the participants stated that they did not do group therapy in telepractice applications before. Furthermore, half of the participants thought that telepractice was suitable for group therapy, while the other half stated that it was not. Group therapies differ in terms of therapy dynamics compared to individual therapies and contain different interaction elements. While individual therapies are based solely on client-therapist interaction, group therapies are based on the interaction of clients with one another and with the therapist. Since achieving these dynamics may require experience and competence for the therapist in telepractice processes compared to in-person therapy, SLTs may exhibit a timid attitude regarding the application of group therapy in telepractice.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

It was revealed that for SLTs, first trials on tele-

conferencing platforms and familiarity with the method were decisive in future preferences for using telepractice. Using these systems for social purposes or to provide therapy services, SLTs were able to adapt to provide these services at an early stage even in a difficult period such as the COVID-19 pandemic. This finding supports the model [27] that TAM's "perceived easiness" will positively affect future attitudes. At this point, it may be persuasive that professional organizations such as DKTD (ASLT) [3] provide guidelines for clinicians, model demonstrations of practices and evidence of effectiveness. Implementation protocols, practical trainings and guidelines for dealing with potential problems can accelerate this adaptation process, taking into account factors such as the current conditions of the country's legal, cultural or SLT field.

According to the SLTs, telepractice is not suitable for many client groups. As research evidence showed, telepractice can be used as an effective means of serving a variety of client groups, from autism to swallowing disorders, when properly prepared [22, 59, 60]. At this point, factors such as multiple disabilities, mobility, cooperation, and the importance of e-helpers came to light in candidate clients for telepractice.

It was also observed that the teleconferencing platforms used by SLTs were not compatible with ASHA [6] guidelines. SLTs probably preferred the software they were most familiar with and the easiest to use. However, according to ASHA [6], the most critical issue in software selection is the use of HIPAA compliant softwares that ensures the security of health-related data. Beyond that, the lack of features such as screen sharing and whiteboards in these softwares used will reduce the quality of the service provided.

The finding related to using clinician skills in telepractice can be evaluated in the context of TAM's perceived usefulness [27]. As SLTs believe that they use their skills effectively in telepractice, their attitudes towards the method will become more positive. Here again, clinicians should be provided with guidance and supervision on how to use the skills they use in the online environment as well, just like in in-person therapy.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MEC; Study Design: MEC, İCY, AI; Supervision: MEC; Funding: MEC, İCY, AI; Materials: MEC, İCY; Data Collection and/or Processing: MEC, İCY; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MEC, İCY, AI; Literature Review: MEC, İCY, AI; Manuscript Preparation: MEC, İCY, AI and Critical Review: MEC, İCY, AI.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgement

We thank Aylin Tamyaman (SLT) and Irem Bahar Koç (SLT) for actively being involved in the research by reaching appropriate participants and helping the collecting data process.

REFERENCES

1. World Health Organization. Naming the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and the virus that causes it. 2020. Available at:https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/naming-the-coronavirus-disease-(covid-2019)-and-the-virus-that-causes-it. Accessed September 12, 2020.

2. TR. Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Public Health. COVID-19 Guide. COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 Infection) Guide. Scientific Committee Study. Available at: https://covid19bilgi.saglik.gov.tr/depo/rehberler/COVID-19_Rehberi.pdf. Accessed September 13, 2020.

ASLT-Association of Speech and Language Therapists.
 COVID-19 pandemic guide for speech and language therapists.
 2020. Available at:

https://www.dktd.org/tr/files/download/p1e6m6ogp1142oouinq9 175s12oh4.pdf. Accessed: September 15, 2020.

4. Cangi ME, Toğram B. Stuttering therapy through telepractice in Turkey: a mixed method study. J Fluency Disord 2020;66:105793.

5. ASHA-American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Telepractice services and coronavirus/COVID-19. 2020. Available at: https://www.asha.org/practice/telepractice-services-and-coronavirus/. Accessed September 15, 2020.

6. ASHA-American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Telepractice. 2020. Available at: https://www.asha.org/prpprint-template.aspx?folderid=8589934956. Accessed September 15, 2020.

 Lin FC, Chien HY, Chen SH, Kao YC, Cheng PW, Wang CT.
 Voice therapy for benign voice disorders in the elderly: a randomized controlled trial comparing telepractice and conventional face-to-face therapy. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2020;63:2132-40.
 Burns CL, Ward EC, Gray A, Baker L, Cowie B, Winter N, et al. Implementation of speech pathology telepractice services for clinical swallowing assessment: an evaluation of service outcomes, costs and consumer satisfaction. J Telemed Telecare 2019;25:545-51.

9. Bridgman K, Onslow M, O'Brian S, Jones M, Block S. Lidcombe program webcam treatment for early stuttering: a randomized controlled trial. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2016;59:932-9.

10. Finch E, Lethlean J, Rose T, Fleming J, Theodoros D, Cameron A, et al. Conversations between people with aphasia and speech pathology students via telepractice: A Phase II feasibility study. Int J Lang Commun Disord 2020;55:43-58.

11. Neely L, Rispoli M, Gerow S, Hong ER, Hagan-Burke S. Fidelity outcomes for autism-focused interventionists coached via telepractice: a systematic literature review. J Dev Phys Disabil 2017;29:849-74.

12. Pullins V, Grogan-Johnson S. A clinical decision making example: implementing intensive speech sound intervention for school-age students through telepractice. Perspect ASHA Spec Interest Groups 2017; 2:15-26.

13. Towey M. Speech therapy telepractice. In: Kumar S, Cohn E., eds. Telerehabilitation. Springer, London, 2013:pp.101-23.

14. Bradford NK, Caffery LJ, Taylor M, Meiklejohn J, Smith AC, Langbecker D. Speech-language pathology services delivered by telehealth in a rural educational setting: the school's perspective. J Int Soc Telemed eHealth 2018;6:e20.

15. Carey B, O'Brian S, Onslow M, Packman A, Menzies R. Webcam delivery of the Camperdown Program for adolescents who stutter: a phase I trial. Lang Speech Hear Serv Sch 2012;43:370-80.

16. Mashima PA, Doarn CR. Overview of telehealth activities in speech-language pathology. Telemed J E Health 2008;14:1101-17.

17. Regina Molini-Avejonas D, Rondon-Melo S, de La Higuera Amato CA, Samelli AG. A systematic review of the use of telehealth in speech, language and hearing sciences. J Telemed Telecare 2015;21:367-76.

18. Tucker JK. Perspectives of speech-language pathologists on the use of telepractice in schools: the qualitative view. Int J Telerehabil 2012;4(2):47-60.

19. Lowe R, O'Brian S, Onslow M. Review of telehealth stuttering management. Folia Phoniatr Logop 2013;65:223-38.

20. Overby MS. Stakeholders' qualitative perspectives of effective telepractice pedagogy in speech-language pathology. Int J Lang Commun Disord 2018;53:101-12.

21. Wales D, Skinner, Hayman M. The efficacy of telehealth-delivered speech and language intervention for primary school-age children: a systematic review. Int J Telerehabil 2017;9:55-61.

22. Weidner K, Lowman J. Telepractice for adult speech-language pathology services: a systematic review. Perspect ASHA Spec Interest Groups 2020;5:326-38.

23. Houston KT. Telepractice in speech-language pathology. Plural Publishing, San Diego; 2013.

24. Tucker JK. Perspectives of speech-language pathologists on the use of telepractice in schools: quantitative survey results. Int J Telerehabil 2012;4:61-72.

25. Sun H, Zhang P. The role of moderating factors in user technology acceptance. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2006;64:53-78.

26. Dunkley C, Pattie L, Wilson L, McAllister LA. Comparison of rural speech-language pathologists' and residents' access to and attitudes towards the use of technology for speech-language pathology service delivery. Int J Speech Lang Pathol 2010;12: 333-43.

27. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 1989;13:319-40.

28. Freckmann A, Hines M, Lincoln M. Clinicians' perspectives of therapeutic alliance in face-to-face and telepractice speechlanguage pathology sessions. Int J Speech Lang Pathol 2017;19:287-96.

29. Akamoglu Y, Meadan H, Pearson JN, Cummings K. Getting connected: speech and language pathologists' perceptions of building rapport via telepractice. J Dev Phys Disabil 2018;30:569-85.

30. Irani F, Gabel R. Telerehabilitation: adult speech and swallowing disorders. In: Houston KT, eds. Telepractice in Speech-Language Pathology. Plural Publishing, San Diego; 2013: p.139. 31. Büyüköztürk Ş. Questionnaire development. J Turk Educ Sci 2005;3:133-51.

32. Alberta College of Speech-Language Pathologists and Audiologists (ACSLPA). Available at: www.acslpa.ca. Accessed May 15, 2020.

33. Bullock DR, Vehe RK, Zhang L, Correll CK. Telemedicine and other care models in pediatric rheumatology: an exploratory study of parents' perceptions of barriers to care and care preferences. Pediatric Rheumatol Online J 2017;15:55.

34. Campbell J, Theodoros D, Hartley N, Russell T, Gillespie N. Implementation factors are neglected in research investigating telehealth delivery of allied health services to rural children: a scoping review. J Telemed Telecare 2020;26:590-606.

35. Segrelles CG, López PD, Chiner E, Fernández FE, Granda-Orive JI. Acceptance of telemedicine among respiratory healthcare professionals. Eur Res Telemed 2017;6:147-55.

36. Taylor OD, Armfield NR, Dodrill P, Smith AC. A review of the efficacy and effectiveness of using telehealth for paediatric speech and language assessment. J Telemed Telecare 2014;20:405-12.

37. Valentine DT. Stuttering intervention in three service delivery models (direct, hybrid, and telepractice): two case studies. Int J Telerehabil 2014;6:51-63.

38. Almojaibel AA, Munk N, Goodfellow LT, Fisher TF, Miller KK, Comer AR, et al. Health care practitioners' determinants of telerehabilitation acceptance. Int J Telerehabil 2020;12:43-50.

39. Kowitlawakul Y. The technology acceptance model: predicting nurses' intention to use telemedicine technology (eICU). Comput Inform Nurs 2011;29:411-8.

40. Rho MJ, Choi I, Lee J. Predictive factors of telemedicine service acceptance and behavioral intention of physicians. Int J Med Inform 2014;83:559-71.

41. Zailani S, Gilani MS, Nikbin D, Iranmanesh M. Determinants of telemedicine acceptance in selected public hospitals in Malaysia: clinical perspective. J Med Syst 2014;38:111.

42. Hines M, Lincoln M, Ramsden R, Martinovich J, Fairweather C. Speech pathologists' perspectives on transitioning to telepractice: what factors promote acceptance? J Telemed Telecare

2015;21:469-73.

43. Jahromi ME, Ahmadian L. Evaluating satisfaction of patients with stutter regarding the tele-speech therapy method and infrastructure. Int J Med Inform 2018;115:128-33.

44. Crutchley S, Campbell M. Telespeech therapy pilot project: stakeholder satisfaction. Int J Telerehabil 2010;2:23-30.

45. Grogan-Johnson S, Schmidt AM, Schenker J, Alvares R, Rowan LE, Taylor J. A comparison of speech sound intervention delivered by telepractice and side-by-side service delivery models. Commun Disord Q 2013;34:210-20.

46. Carey B, O'BrianS, Onslow M, Block S, Jones M, Packman A. Randomized controlled non-inferiority trial of a telehealth treatment for chronic stuttering: the Camperdown Program. Int J Lang Commun Disord 2010;45:108-20.

47. Lewis C, Packman A, Onslow M, Simpson JM, Jones M. A phase ii trial of telehealth delivery of the lidcombe program of early stuttering intervention. Int J Med Inform Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2008;17:139-49.

48. Halpern AE, Ramig LO, Matos CE, Petska-Cable JA, Spielman JL, Pogoda JM, et al. Innovative technology for the assisted delivery of intensive voice treatment (LSVT LOUD) for Parkinson disease. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2012;21:354-67.

49. Mashima PA, Brown JE. Remote management of voice and swallowing disorders. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2011;44:1305-16.

50. Theodoros DG, Constantinescu G, Russell TG, Ward EC, Wilson SJ, Wootton R. Treating the speech disorder in Parkinson's disease online. J Telemed Telecare 2006;12 (Suppl. 3):S388-91.

51. Tindall LR, Huebner RA, Stemple JC, Kleinert HL. Videophone-delivered voice therapy: a comparative analysis of outcomes to traditional delivery for adults with Parkinson's disease. Telemed J e-Health 2008;14:1070-7.

52. Higgins WJ, Luczynski KC, Carroll RA, Fisher WW, Mudford OC. Evaluation of a telehealth training package to remotely train staff to conduct a preference assessment. J Appl Behav Anal 2017;50:238-51.

53. Iacono T, Dissanayake C, Trembath D, Hudry K., Erickson S, Spong J. Family and practitioner perspectives on telehealth for services to young children with autism. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;231:63-73.

54. Parmanto B, Lewis AN Jr, Graham KM, Bertolet MH. Development of the telehealth usability questionnaire (TUQ). Int J Telerehabil 2016;8:3-10.

55. Cassel SG, Edd AJH. A pedagogical note: use of telepractice to link student clinicians to diverse populations. Int J Telerehabil 2016;8:41-8.

56. Malandraki GA, McCullough G, He X, McWeeny E, Perlman AL. Teledynamic evaluation of oropharyngeal swallowing. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2011;54:1497-505.

57. Perlman AL, Witthawaskul W. Real-time remote telefluoroscopic assessment of patients with dysphagia. Dysphagia 2002;17:162-7.

58. Hill AJ, Miller LE. A survey of the clinical use of telehealth in speech-language pathology across Australia. J Clin Pract Speech Lang Pathol 2012;14:110-7.

59. Burns CL, Ward EC, Hill AJ, Kularatna S, Byrnes J, Kenny

LM. Randomized controlled trial of a multisite speech pathology telepractice service providing swallowing and communication intervention to patients with head and neck cancer: Evaluation of service outcomes. Head Neck 2017;39:932-9.

60. Ferguson J, Craig EA, Dounavi K. Telehealth as a model for providing behaviour analytic interventions to individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. J Autism Dev Disord 2019;49:582-616.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.866546

Type, source, adequacy and outcome of consultations requested from the department of general surgery: a retrospective cohort study

Metin Leblebici[®], Orhan Alimoğlu[®]

Department of General Surgery, Istanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To evaluate consultations requested from the department of general surgery in terms of type, source and adequacy and outcome regarding general surgery practice.

Methods: A total of 4706 consultations requested from the department of general surgery during the 2019 calendar year were included in this retrospective study. Data on patient demographics, type of consultation (urgent, routine), the requesting clinic, time of request, response time to consultation request (min), diagnosis and management of consulted patients by general surgery clinic and survivorship status were recorded.

Results: Consultations were urgent (69.0%) and made outside office hours (66.0%) in most of cases and more commonly requested by the emergency department (67.5%). The surgical pathology was confirmed only in 1338 (28.4%) consultations, while more commonly for urgent vs. routine requests (37.4 vs. 8.5%, p = 0.001), for consultations requested by emergency department (ranged 30.9 to 40.0%) vs. other clinics (ranged 0.0% to 19.1%, p = 0.001) and for diseases of colon-rectum-anus (100.0%, p = 0.001) than other disorders. The likelihood of urgent consultations (72.0% vs. 37.3%, p = 0.001) and post-consultation inpatient management (90.5% vs. 24.7%, p = 0.001) and were more likely among survivors vs. non-survivors.

Conclusions: In conclusion, our findings revealed that most of the consultations were urgent, outside the office hours and outpatient consultations requested by the emergency department, while surgical pathology was confirmed only in one third of consultations. Our findings indicate improved consultation practice particularly for routine requests by non-emergency clinics to prevent the incompatible or unnecessary consultation requests and related healthcare resource utilization.

Keywords: Consultation request, general surgery, urgent, routine, adequacy of request

Specialty consultation is a critical aspect of healthcare practice in terms of provision of the highquality medical and surgical services via follow-up and treatment of a patient in accordance with clinical knowledge, experience and recommendations of consultant doctor related to the specific condition that requires care beyond the scope of the clinic in charge of the patient [1-4]. Specialty consultation also considered a laborious task necessitating appropriate specialist triage to ensure timely evaluation of consulted patients as well as appropriate co-management between primary care and specialty care, given the likelihood of potential hazards (i.e. life-threatening outcomes, legal issues) in case of consultation delays 1, 4-6].

General surgery is the most comprehensive surgi-

Received: January 22, 2021; Accepted: February 16, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021

How to cite this article: Leblebici M, Alimoğlu O. Type, source, adequacy and outcome of consultations requested from the department of general surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):658-666. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.866546

Address for correspondence: Metin Leblebici, MD., Assistant Professor, Istanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Göztepe-Kadıköy, Istanbul, Turkey. E-mail: drleblebici@yahoo.com, Tel: +90 533 328 8665, Fax: +90 216 359 9797

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj cal discipline that deals a wide range of diseases [3], while surgical yield is considered a unique measure of efficiency among surgical services that shows the percentage of ambulatory surgical consultations resulting in a scheduling of an operative intervention [6, 7].

This single center retrospective study was therefore designed to evaluate consultations requested from the department of general surgery during the 2019 calendar year at a tertiary care hospital in terms of type and source of consultations as well as their adequacy and outcome regarding general surgery practice.

METHODS

Study Population

In this retrospective study, a total of 4706 electronic consultations (mean age: 53.7 ± 21.3) years, 54% were females) requested from the department of general surgery at hospital between January 1st 2019 and December 31st 2019 were included.

The study was conducted in full accordance with local Good Clinical Practice (GCP) guideline and current legislations, while the permission was obtained from the institutional ethics committee for the use of patient data for publication purposes (Date of Approval: 5/02/2020; Reference number/Protocol No:2020/0088). The work has been reported in line with the STROCSS criteria [8] and was registered by Research Registry with the Unique Identifying Number 5998.

Hospital Characteristics

The study hospital is a 660-bed tertiary university hospital located in a city within the metropolitan area and serving for all medical specialties including a single general surgery clinic for entire surgery sub-specialties as well as anesthesia and internal medicine intensive care units.

Assessments

Data on patient demographics (age, gender), type of consultation (urgent, routine), the requesting clinic, time of request, response time to consultation request (min), type of admission, diagnosis and management of consulted patients by general surgery clinic and survivorship status were retrieved from hospital records. Patient demographics and consultation parameters were evaluated with respect to confirmation of operative or non-operative surgical pathology (yes vs. no) after consultation, general surgery ward hospitalization (yes vs. no) and type of consultation made by the consulting service based on indication (urgent vs. routine).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was made using NCSS (Number Cruncher Statistical System) 2007 (Kaysville, Utah, USA). Pearson Chi-square test, Fisher's exact test and Fisher-Freeman-Halton tests were used for the comparison of categorical data, while numeric data were analyzed using Student-t test and Mann-Whitney U test depending on the normality findings. Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), median (minimum-maximum) and percent (%) where appropriate. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Overall Characteristics

Overall, mean patient age was 53.7 (range, 17 to 102) years, and 2541 (54.0%) of 4706 consultations were requested for female patients. The median response time to the consultation was 89 (range, 20 to 1440) min. Consultations were urgent (69.0%) and made outside office hours (66.0%) in most cases and more commonly requested by the emergency department (67.5%, 45.9% from green zone) and mostly for outpatients (68.5%) and upper GI disorders (58.7%) (Table 1). The surgical pathology was confirmed only in 1338 (28.4%) consultations, while for 3368 (71.6%) consultations there was no surgical pathology or need for treatment by general surgery physicians. Of 1338 consultations with confirmed surgical pathology, 1086 (81.2%) were managed on an inpatient basis in the general surgery ward, while the treatment decisions involved medical treatment in 49.2% of cases, surgical treatment in 36.8% of cases, and transfer to another clinic in 14% of patients. Overall, mortality occurred in 394 (8.4%) of 4706 consultations patients and 190 (48.2%, 14.2% of those with surgical pathology) were patients with confirmed surgical pathology (Table 1).

Study Variables According to Confirmation of Surgical

		Total	Confirmation	of a surgical pa	athology
			No	Yes	<i>p</i> value
Age (year)	Mean \pm SD	53.7 ± 21.3	54.0 ± 21.3	53.1 ± 21.3	0.197 ^a
	Median (min-max)	54 (17-102)	54 (17-102)	53.5 (18-96)	
Gender, n (%)	Female	2541 (54.0)	1942 (76.4)	599 (23.6)	0.001 ^b
	Male	2165 (46.0)	1426 (65.9)	739 (34.1)	
Type of consultation, n (%)	Urgent	3250 (69.0)	2036 (62.6)	1214 (37.4)	0.001 ^b
- (//)	Routine	1456 (30.9)	1332 (91.5)	124 (8.5)	
Requested by, n (%)	Emergency department (green zone)	2158 (45.9)	1294 (60.0)	864 (40.0)	0.001 ^b
	Emergency department (yellow zone)	962 (20.4)	637 (66.2)	325 (33.8)	
	Emergency department (red zone)	55 (1.2)	38 (69.1)	17 (30.9)	
	Internal medicine	737 (15.7)	642 (87.1)	95 (12.9)	
	Anesthesia	94 (2.0)	76 (80.9)	18 (19.1)	
	Obstetrics and Gynecology	319 (6.8)	310 (97.2)	9 (2.8)	
	Infectious diseases	68 (1.4)	65 (95.6)	3 (4.4)	
	Neurosurgery	38 (0.8)	38 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	
	Neurology	41 (0.9)	41 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	
	Orthopedics	70 (1.5)	65 (92.9)	5 (7.1)	
	Urology	85 (1.8)	84 (98.8)	1 (1.2)	
—	Other	79 (1.7)	78 (98.7)	1 (1.3)	a aa th
Time of request, n (%)	Within office hours	1600 (34.0)	1233 (77.1)	367 (22.9)	0.001
	Outside office hours	3106 (66.0)	2135 (68.7)	971 (31.3)	
Type of admission, n (%)	Outpatient	3223 (68.5)	2017 (62.6)	1206 (37.4)	0.001 ^b
	Inpatient	1483 (31.5)	1351 (991.1)	132 (8.9)	
Diagnosis, n (%)	Upper GI disorder	2761 (58.7)	1810 (65.6)	951 (34.4)	0.001 ^b
	Hepatobiliary disorder	281 (6.0)	151 (53.7)	130 (46.3)	
	Colon, rectum, anus disorder	107 (2.3)	0 (0.0)	107 (100.0)	
	Trauma	210 (4.5)	160 (76.2)	50 (23.8)	
	Skin-soft tissue disorder	131 (2.8)	121 (92.4)	10 (7.6)	
	Other	1216 (25.8)	1126 (92.6)	90 (7.4)	Ŀ.
Hospitalization after consultation, n (%)	No	3620 (76.9)	3368 (93.0)	252 (7.0)	0.001 ^b
	Yes	1086 (23.1)	0(0.0)	1086 (100.0)	.
Treatment plan, n (%)	Medical treatment	658 (14.0)	0 (0.0)	658 (100.0)	0.001
	Surgery	492 (10.5)	0 (0.0)	492 (100.0)	
	Transfer to another ward	392 (8.3)	204 (52.0)	188 (48.0)	
	No need for treatment by GS	3164 (67.2)	3164 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	
Mortality, n (%)	No	4312 (91.6)	3164 (73.4)	1148 (26.6)	0.001 ^b
	Yes	394 (8.4)	204 (51.8)	190 (48.2)	
Response time to consultation (min)	Mean \pm SD	116.7 ± 103.2	117.7 ± 102.2	114.2(105.7)	0.115 ^c
	Median (min-max)	89 (20-1440)	89 (20-1440)	88 (20-1440)	

Table 1. Study variables according to confirmation of surgical pathology after consultation

^aStudent-t test; ^bPearson Chi-Square test; ^cMann Whitney U test

Pathology

Amongst the consultations requested from the department of general surgery, confirmation of a surgical pathology was significantly more likely for male vs. female patients (34.1 vs. 23.6%, p = 0.001), for urgent vs. routine requests (37.4 vs. 8.5%, p = 0.001), for consultations requested by emergency department (ranged from 30.9 % in red zone to 40.0% in green zone) vs. other clinics (ranged 0.0% to 19.1%, p =0.001) as well as those requested by internal medicine (12.9%) and anesthesia (19.1%) vs. clinics other than emergency department (ranged 0.0% to 7.1%, p =0.001) (see Table 1). Confirmation of surgical pathology was also more likely for consultation requests made outside vs. within office hours (31.3 vs. 22.9%, p = 0.001) and for consultations requested for outpatients vs. inpatients (37.4 vs. 8.9%, p = 0.001) (Table 1). The likelihood of confirmed surgical pathology was higher for gastrointestinal disorders (ranged 34.4% to 100.0) vs. trauma (23.9%), soft tissue (7.6%) and other (7.4%) disorders, and for trauma vs. soft tissue and other disorders (p = 0.001). Specifically, diseases of colon-rectum-anus (100.0%) were associated with the highest likelihood of confirmed surgical pathology, as followed by hepatobiliary disorder (46.3%), upper GI disorder (34.4%) and trauma (23.8%) (p = 0.001) (see Table 1). Consultations resulted in confirmed surgical pathology were more likely to managed on an inpatient basis than on an outpatient basis (100 vs. 7.0%, p = 0.001) and also with medical or surgical treatment (100.0% for each) rather than transfer to another ward (48.0%) (p = 0.001) (see Table 1). The likelihood of a confirmed surgical pathology was higher among non-survivors vs. survivors (48.2 vs. 26.6%, p = 0.001), while no significant difference was noted in the likelihood of confirmed surgical pathology after consultations in terms of patient age and response time to consultation (see Table 1).

Study Variables According to General Surgery Ward Hospitalization

Inpatient management via hospitalization at general surgery ward was more likely for consultations requested for younger vs. older patients (mean age: 51.7 \pm 20.8) vs. 58.9 \pm 22.6 years, p = 0.001), for outpatients vs. inpatients (85.1 vs. 45.5%, p = 0.001) and for urgent vs. routine requests (84.6 vs. 47.6%, p =

0.001). Consultations requested by emergency (green zone, 99.4%) and obstetrics-gynecology (88.9%) departments were associated with highest rate of hospitalization at a general surgery ward, as followed by those requested by yellow zone (76.6%) and red zone (76.5%) emergency, internal medicine (46.3%) and anesthesia (22.2%) departments (p = 0.001) (Table 2). The skin-soft tissue disorders (100.0%) were associated with the highest (100.0%) likelihood of hospitalization, as followed by upper GI disorder (87.2%), hepatobiliary disorder (86.2%) and trauma (84.0%), while likelihood of hospitalization was lowest for diseases of colon-rectum-anus (6.5%) (p = 0.001). Hospitalization was required for all of upper GI, hepatobiliary and hernia surgeries, whereas only for 40.0% of proctology surgeries (p = 0.001) (see Table 2). General surgery ward hospitalization was also more likely in survivors vs. non-survivors vs (90.5% vs. 24.7%, p = 0.001), while no significant difference was noted in the likelihood of hospitalization in terms of patient gender, time of request and response time to consultation (see Table 2).

Study Variables According to Type of Consultation

Urgent vs. routine general surgery consultations were associated with younger patient age $(51.6 \pm 21.5 \text{ vs.})$ 58.4 ± 20.3 years, p = 0.001), predominance of requests by emergency department (ranged 99.8 to 100.0%) than by other clinics (ranged 0.0 t 16.3%, p= 0.001), higher rates of outside than within office hours requests (79.8 vs. 48.1%, p = 0.001), outpatient than in-patient admissions (99.7 vs. 2.5%, p = 0.001) and presence than absence of inpatient management by general surgery clinic (94.6 vs. 61.4%, p = 0.001) (Table 3). The likelihood of urgent consultations was significantly higher for colon, rectum, anus disorders (98.1%) and upper GI disorder (87.3%) than for hepatobiliary disorder (60.9%), skin-soft tissue disorder (65.6%) and trauma (69.0%) (p = 0.001). Urgent vs. routine general surgery consultations were associated with higher rate of medical (95.9%) or surgical treatment (93.5%) than transfer to another ward (37.8%)(see Table 3). Urgent vs. routine consultations (72.0% vs. 37.3%, p = 0.001) were more likely among survivors vs. non-survivors, and associated with lower response time to consultation request (median 77 vs. 122 min, p = 0.001), while no significant difference was noted in the likelihood of hospitalization in terms of

		Hospitalizatio	n at general surgery	ward
		No $(n = 252)$	Yes (n = 1086)	<i>p</i> value
Age (year)	Mean \pm SD	58.9 ± 22.6	51.7 ± 20.8	0.001 ^a
	Median (min-max)	63.5 (18-92)	52 (18-96)	
Gender, n (%)	Female	116 (19.4)	483 (80.6)	0.654 ^b
	Male	136 (18.4)	603 (81.6)	
Type of consultation, n (%)	Urgent	187 (15.4)	1027 (84.6)	0.001 ^b
× /	Routine	65 (52.4)	59 (47.6)	
Requested by, n (%)	Emergency department (green zone)	100 (11.6)	764 (88.4)	0.001°
	Emergency department (yellow zone)	76 (23.4)	249 (76.6)	
	Emergency department (red zone)	4 (23.5)	13 (76.5)	
	Internal medicine	51 (53.7)	44 (46.3)	
	Anesthesia	14 (77.8)	4 (22.2)	
	Obstetrics and	1 (11.1)	8 (88.9)	
	Gynecology			
	Infectious diseases	3 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	
	Orthopedics	3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)	
	Urology	0 (0.0)	1 (100.0)	
	Other	0 (0.0)	1 (100.0)	
Time of request, n (%)	Within office hours	78 (21.3)	289 (78.7)	0.164 ^b
	Outside office hours	174 (17.9)	797 (82.1)	
Type of admission, n (%)	Outpatient	180 (14.9)	1026 (85.1)	0.001 ^b
	Inpatient	72 (54.5)	60 (45.5)	
Diagnosis, n (%)	Upper GI disorder	122 (12.8)	829 (87.2)	0.001 ^b
	Hepatobiliary disorder	18 (13.8)	112 (86.2)	
	Colon, rectum, anus (proctology)	100 (93.5)	7 (6.5)	
	Trauma	8 (16.0)	42 (84.0)	
	Skin-soft tissue disorder	0 (0.0)	10 (100.0)	
	Other	4 (4.4)	86 (95.6)	
Type of surgery, n (%)	Upper GI	0 (0.0)	343 (100.0)	0.001 ^c
	Hepatobiliary	0 (0.0)	87 (100.0)	
	Hernia surgery	0 (0.0)	42 (100.0)	
	Proctology	9 (60.0)	6 (40.0)	
	Other	2 (13.3)	13 (86.7)	
Mortality, n (%)	No	109 (9.5)	1039 (90.5)	0.001 ^b
	Yes	143 (75.3)	47 (24.7)	
Response time (min)	Mean \pm SD	116.4 ± 123.9	113.6 ± 101.0	0.892 ^d
	Median (min-max)	85.5 (20-1440))	89 (20-1440)	

Table 2. Study variables according to hospitalization after consultation

^aStudent-t test; ^bPearson Chi-Square test; ^cFisher Freeman Halton test; ^dMann Whitney U test

		Туре	of consultation	
		Urgent (n = 3250)	Routine (n = 1456)	<i>p</i> value
Age (year)	Mean \pm SD	51.6 ± 21.5	58.4 ± 20.3	0.001 ^a
	Median(min-max)	51 (18-102)	60 (17-96)	
Gender, n (%)	Female	1726 (67.9)	815 (32.1)	0.068^{b}
	Male	1524 (70.4)	641 (29.6)	
Requested by, n (%)	Emergency department	2157 (100)	1 (0)	0.001 ^b
	Emergency department (vellow zone)	960 (99.8)	2 (0.2)	
	Emergency department (red zone)	55 (100)	0 (0)	
	Internal medicine	18 (2.4)	719 (97.6)	
	Anesthesia	2 (2.1)	92 (97.9)	
	Obstetrics and Gynecology	52 (16.3)	267 (83.7)	
	Infectious diseases	0 (0)	68 (100)	
	Neurosurgery	1 (2.6)	37 (97.4)	
	Neurology	2 (4.9)	39 (95.1)	
	Orthopedics	0 (0)	70 (100)	
	Urology	0 (0)	85 (100)	
	Other	3 (3.8)	76 (96.2)	
Time of request, n (%)	Within office hours	770 (48.1)	830 (51.9)	0.001 ^b
	Outside office hours	2480 (79.8)	626 (20.2)	
Type of admission, n (%)	Outpatient	3213 (99.7)	10 (0.3)	0.001 ^b
	Inpatient	37 (2.5)	1446 (97.5)	
Diagnosis, n (%)	Upper GI disorder	2409 (87.3)	352 (12.7)	0.001 ^b
	Hepatobiliary disorder	171 (60.9)	110 (39.1)	
	Colon, rectum, anus (proctology)	105 (98.1)	2 (1.9)	
	Trauma	145 (69.0)	65 (31)	
	Skin-soft tissue disorder	86 (65.6)	45 (34.4)	
	Other	334 (27.5)	882 (72.5)	
Hospitalization after consultation, n (%)	No	2223 (61.4)	1397 (38.6)	0.001 ^b
	Yes	1027 (94.6)	59 (5.4)	
Treatment plan, n (%)	Medical treatment	631 (95.9)	27 (4.1)	0.001 ^b
	Surgery	460 (93.5)	32 (6.5)	
	Transfer to another ward	148 (37.8)	244 (62.2)	
	No need for treatment by GS	2011 (63.6)	1153 (36.4)	
Type of surgery, n(%)	Upper GI	318 (92.7)	25 (7.3)	0.800°
	Hepatobiliary	82 (94.3)	5 (5.7)	
	Hernia surgery	41 (97.6)	1 (2.4)	
	Proctology	14 (93.3)	1 (6.7)	
	Other	14 (93.3)	1 (6.7)	
Mortality, n (%)	No	3103 (72.0)	1209 (28)	0.001 ^b
	Yes	147 (37.3)	247 (62.7)	h
Response time (min)	Mean \pm SD	101.8 ± 84.0	149.9 ± 130.7	0.001 ^a
	Median (min-max)	77 (20-704)	122 (20-1440)	

Table 3. Study variables according to type of consultation

^aStudent-t test; ^bPearson Chi-Square test; ^cFisher Freeman Halton test; ^dMann Whitney U test

patient gender and type of surgery (see Table 3).

DISCUSSION

The current analysis of overall consultations requested from the department of general surgery during the 2019 calendar year at a tertiary care hospital revealed that most of consultations to be urgent outpatient consultations related to upper GI disorders and to be requested outside the office hours and by emergency department in most of cases. Notably, the surgical pathology was confirmed only in one third of consultations, while two third of consultations requested from the department of general surgery were not associated with a surgical pathology or a need for treatment by general surgeons. Majority of consultations with confirmed surgical pathology were managed on an inpatient basis in the general surgery ward either with medical or surgical treatment.

Our findings seem in accordance with data from a recent study in Turkey regarding the analysis of 221 consultations requested from the department of general surgery over 6-month, which indicated that majority (91.9%) of consultations were requested by the emergency services and the rate of patients who were found to have surgical disease was 33% [3]. This emphasizes the considerably high possibility of a consultation requested from the department of general surgery not to be associated with a confirmed surgical pathology. Nonetheless, while high rates of inappropriate consultations which resulted in no need for management by general surgeon in our cohort seems notable, it should be noted that urgent outside-officehours consultations and consultations requested by emergency department were more likely to be confirmed with surgical pathology after reviewed by general surgeons. Hence, the consultation practice should be improved particularly for the routine within-officehours consultations as requested by clinics other than emergency service.

Accordingly, in the current study, urgent consultations and those related to proctology were both more likely to have a surgical diagnosis after general surgery assessment, while basically treated on an inpatient and an outpatient basis, respectively. This seems in line with well-established efficacy, safety and tolerability of day care proctological procedures a strategy that reduces costs and release beds for major surgeries without increasing morbidity or mortality [9, 10].

Notably, general surgery consultations for lower GI disorders were more likely to be associated with confirmed surgical pathology than those for upper GI and hepatobiliary disorders as well as those for trauma, while the lowest rate of confirmation was evident for consultation related to skin-soft tissue disorders. This seems also notable given that when confirmed to be associated with a surgical pathology after consulted by general surgeon, the main treatment strategy seems to be an outpatient management in case of lower GI disorders, whereas an inpatient management for all other disorders. Moreover, urgent consultations and inpatient management of confirmed surgical pathologies were more common among survivors.

Indeed, upper gastrointestinal bleeding per se comprised nearly two thirds of consultations requested from the department of general surgery in our study. Although this seems in accordance with consideration of acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding is very a common medical emergency [11], surgical pathology was confirmed only in one third of these cases when consulted by a general surgeon. Thus, our findings emphasize likelihood of incompatible or unnecessary consultations to be requested from the department of general surgery particularly in case of suspected upper gastrointestinal bleeding, possibly in relation to avoid a delayed endoscopy referral as early endoscopy within 24h of admission has strongly been recommended by the international guidelines [12, 13].

In the current study, trauma comprised less than 5% of consultations requested from the department of general surgery, which seems to be related to location of the study hospital in an exurban area outside major metropolitan with relatively low traffic accident or crime rates.

The higher rate of mortality among consulted patients who subsequently managed via medical treatment rather than surgery seems to be in accordance with higher mortality, re-admission and consultation/referral rates reported in patients admitted to surgical departments who are not operated than those operated, as associated with greater medical complexity and urgency of admission in these patients [14]. Hence the association of urgent consultations with lesser likelihood of mortality seems also consistent with the fact that they were managed by hospitalization to general surgery ward in most of cases.

Although the lower response time to urgent vs. routine consultations in our study support that the urgency of the patient is the most important factor affecting the duration of consultation [15], median response time of 77 min seems longer than the recommended 30-minute response period for urgent consultations [16]. Similarly, in a past study on consultations requested by emergency department in Turkey, authors also noted a longer than expected response time (median: 96 min) for urgent consultations [16]. Although prolonged response time to urgent consultations requested by an emergency department has been considered to adversely affect the operation of the emergency service [16], response time to consultation from general surgery was not associated with likelihood of consultation to result in confirmed surgical pathology or inpatient management by general surgery in our study.

Possibility of inappropriateness of required consultation was also reported in other departments; for example, in a 2-year retrospective study regarding 338 consultations requested from pulmonary diseases department authors reported that majority of the consultations were from the emergency department, while confirmation of pathology regarding pulmonary diseases was evident only in 42% of consultations [17].

High-functioning healthcare systems aim to safely optimize surgical yield, with the highest percentage of ambulatory general surgery patients receiving indicated elective surgery without any need for unanticipated emergent or urgent interventions [6]. Thus, consultations requested from the department of general surgery should also comply with the best practice in surgical care delivery in terms of enabling the patients who would most benefit from a surgical intervention to be evaluated by surgical clinicians during limited ambulatory clinic visit times and scheduled for surgery and those who would not benefit from a surgical intervention to remain in primary care [6].

Indeed, in past study of 1743 electronic consultations submitted to general surgery, authors reported the association of using an integrated electronic consultation and referral system (in which all referrals are submitted electronically and reviewed by a general surgery clinician) with a significant increase in the rate of patients scheduled for a subsequent surgical intervention and thus surgical yield of an ambulatory general surgery service (from 35% to 46%) [6].

Notably, the request of consultation after proper triage and evaluation by the responsible physician based on predefined written algorithms, as well as continuous evaluation and follow-up of the quality of consultation service by each clinic are considered important steps to prevent the incompatible or unnecessary consultation requests [6, 16].

It should also be emphasized that on the basis of knowledge and practice on general surgery gained during medical education, emergency department or outpatient physicians are in fact capable of discriminating non-urgent general surgery issues that could be referred directly to outpatient clinic instead of requiring a formal consult by the inpatient service. Hence, unnecessary consultations seem to be prevalent due to malpractice concern or low self-confidence, and improved consultation practice in terms of these concerns seems important given its potential impact on efficiency and patient care.

Limitations

Certain limitations to this study should be considered. First, due to the retrospective design it is impossible to establish any cause-and-effect relationships. Second, potential lack of generalizability seems another important limitation due to single-center design.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this retrospective analysis of consultations requested from the department of general surgery during the 2019 calendar year at a tertiary care hospital revealed that most of the consultations were urgent, outside the office hours and outpatient consultations requested by the emergency department. The surgical pathology was confirmed only in one third of consultations, while urgent consultations and those related to proctology were both more likely to have a surgical diagnosis after general surgery assessment and basically treated on an inpatient and an outpatient basis, respectively. Moreover, urgent consultations and inpatient management of confirmed surgical pathologies were more common among survivors. Our findings indicate improved consultation practice and in-clinic feedback assessment of quality of requested consultations, particularly for routine requests and request by clinics other than emergency service to enable surgical evaluation for the patients who would most benefit from a surgical intervention and thereby to increase the efficiency of consultation practice by preventing the incompatible or unnecessary consultation requests and related healthcare resource utilization.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ML, OA; Study Design: ML, OA; Supervision: ML, OA; Funding: ML, OA; Materials: ML, OA; Data Collection and/or Processing: ML, OA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ML, OA; Literature Review: ML, OA; Manuscript Preparation: ML, OA and Critical Review: ML, OA.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Lee RS, Woods R, Bullard M, Holroyd BR, Rowe BH. Consultations in the emergency department: a systematic review of the literature. Emerg Med J 2008;25:4-9.

2. Woods RA, Lee R, Ospina MB, Blitz S, Lari H, Bullard MJ, et al. Consultation outcomes in the emergency department: exploring rates and complexity. CJEM 2008;10:25-31.

3. Kahramanca Ş, Kaya O, Azılı C, Güzel H, Özgehan G, İrem B. The role of general surgery consultations in patient management. Ulus Cerrahi Derg 2013;29:20-4.

4. Jung KY, Kim S, Kim K, Lee EJ, Kim K, Lee J, et al. Frequent mobile electronic medical records users respond more quickly to

emergency department consultation requests: Retrospective Quantitative Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8:e14487.

5. Tuot DS, Leeds K, Murphy EJ, Sarkar U, Lyles CR, Mekonnen T, et al. Facilitators and barriers to implementing electronic referral and/or consultation systems: a qualitative study of 16 health organizations. BMC Health Serv Res 2015;15:568.

6. Ulloa JG, Russell MD, Chen AH, Tuot DS. A cohort study of a general surgery electronic consultation system: safety implications and impact on surgical yield. BMC Health Serv Res 2017;17:433.

7. Irfan M, McGovern M, Robertson I, Waldron R, Khan I, Khan W, et al. Operative surgical yield from general surgical outpatient clinics; time to change the way we practice? Ir Med J 2013;106:209-11.

8. Gupta PJ. Ambulatory proctology surgery-an Indian experience. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2006;10:257-62.

9. Sobrado CW. Outpatient surgical proctology--past, present and future. Arq Gastroenterol 2005;42:133-5.

10. Siau K, Hodson J, Ingram R, Baxter A, Widlak MM, Sharratt C, et al. Time to endoscopy for acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding: Results from a prospective multicentre trainee-led audit. United European Gastroenterol J. 2019;7:199-209.

11. NICE. Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding in over 16s: management, 2012. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg141. Accessed 20 February 2019.

12. Gralnek IM, Dumonceau JM, Kuipers EJ, Lanas A, Sanders DS, Kurien M, et al. Diagnosis and management of nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2015;47:1-46.

13. Montero Ruiz E, Barbero Allende JM, Melgar Molero V, Rebollar Merino Á, García Sánchez M, López Álvarez J. Do surgeons have more difficulties in the hospital care of non-surgery patients than with surgery patients? Cir Esp 2015;93:334-8.

14. Hexter DA, Henry GL. Working with consultants. Foresight 2002;53:1-7.

15. Yılmaz E, Yılmaz MA, Cander B. Evaluation of the request for consultations in the emergency department of Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital between 2014 and 2015. Eur Arch Med Res 2018;34:182-7.

16. Çobanoğlu U. [Evaluation of the cases consulted by chest surgery department in a university hospital]. Tur Toraks Der. 2009;11:117-21. [Article in Turkish]



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.693536

Hypofibrinogenemia caused by tigecycline use in a patient with acute cholecystitis: a case report and review of the literature

Müge Ayhan¹[®], Ferda Can²[®], Selma Karaahmetoğlu³[®], Rahmet Güner⁴[®]

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

²Department of Hematology, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

³Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

⁴Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Tigecycline is the first member of glicylcycline class of antibiotics, which has a broad spectrum of action. In previous reports, coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia caused by tigecycline use was described. We aimed to present a case of hypofibrinogenemia in association with tigecycline use. A 79-years-old male was admitted to medical intensive care unit for acute cholecystitis and acute renal failure. He had no history of coagulation disorder. He was receiving meropenem for septic shock on the admission. On the 7th day of meropenem, his infection didn't improve and fever continued. Because of that tigecycline was added to treatment. Patient's infection parameters improved, his fever dropped under treatment, but his prothrombin time, international normalized ratio and activated partial thromboplastin time levels increased and fibrinogen level decreased (0.96 g/L). Tigecycline was discontinued that day. On the fifth day after cessasion of tigecycline, his fibrinogen levels and other coagulation parameters returned to normal ranges. The mechanisms of coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia should be elucidated in futher studies. We strictly suggest, regular monitoring of coagulation parameters in patients receiving tigecycline treatment.

Keywords: Tigecycline, hypofibrinogenemia, adverse effect, coagulopathy, antibiotics

Tigecycline is the first member of glicylcycline class of antibiotics, which is structurally similar to tetracyclines. It has broad spectrum activity, particularly against multi-drug resistant bacteria (e.g Methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, vancomycin resistant enterococcus, *Acinetobacter baumannii*) [1, 2]. It is indicated in patients who are 18 years or older for complicated intraabdominal infections, complicated skin and skin structure infections and community acquired pneumonia [3]. Tigecycline was well tolerated in registry trials, with the exception of increased rates of nausea and vomiting. But after postmarketing data signaling increased mortality rates in tigecycline treated patients have brought its use in patients with complicated infections into question, prompting other clinicians to consider other potential adverse effects which was not found in initial studies [4]. Some previous case reports showed that tigecycline seems to cause coagulation disorders, which manifested with bleeding or abnormalities in coagulation paremeters [1-5]. In this report we presented a case of hipofibrinogenemia in a patient treated with tigecycline.

Received: February 24, 2020; Accepted: April 21, 2021; Published Online: November 4, 2021

How to cite this article: Ayhan M, Can F, Karaahmetoğlu S, Güner R. Hypofibrinogenemia caused by tigecycline use in a patient with acute cholecystitis: a case report and review of the literature. Eur Res J 2021;7(6):667-671. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.693536

Address for correspondence: Müge Ayhan, MD., Ankara City Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bilkent/Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: dr.mugeayhan@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 542 4187882

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

CASE PRESENTATION

A 79-year-old male who had a history of diabetes, hypertension, congestive heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease was admitted to medical intensive care unit with diagnosis of acute cholecystitis and acute renal failure from another healthcare facility. He had no history of coagulation disorder, and family history did not shown any bleeding condition. He had no underlying disorder or family history of hereditary coagulation disorder. He had been initiated on meropenem therapy for acute cholesistitis. He was on first day of meropenem and in septic shock on the admission day, and was taking noradrenaline. Blood and urine cultures were provided. Selected laboratory findings (and institutional normal ranges) were as follows: Serum creatinine level, 5.9 mg/dL (normal range 0.7-1.3 mg/dL); blood urea nitrogen 217 mg/dL (normal range 19-49 mg/dL); alanine aminotransferase (ALT), 340 U/L (normal range < 50 U/L); aspartate aminotransferase (AST), 309 U/L (normal range < 50 U/L); white blood cell count, 29.020 cells/mm³ (normal range 3600-10500 cells/mm3); hemoglobin concentration, 15 g/dL (normal range 12.5-17.2 g/dL); platelet count 108×109 /L (normal range 160-400×109 /L); INR, 1.37 (normal range 0.8-1.2). Liver enzymes of patient, C-reactive protein (CRP) 0.155 g/L (0-0.005 g/L) and fibrinogen level 8.7 g/L (1.7-4.2 g/L) were high, INR was slightly elevated on the admission

day. Peripheral blood smear on the admission showed leukocytosis with neutrophilia and platelet count was consistent with counter. On the 7th day of meropenem, patient's acute phase reactant levels increased, his fever continued and tigecycline was added to the treatment (tigecycline dose: 100mg q24 h loading dose, 50mg q12 h maintenance dose) The coagulation parameters were within the normal range before tigecycline treatment. On the 14th day of tigecycline, patient's infection improved with a dropped temperature (36.2°C), white blood cell count (9.200 cells/mm3), platelet count 130×10^9 /L, and CRP (0.0259 g/L). Erythrocyte morphology was normal in the peripheral smear and platelet count was consistent with 150×10^9 /L.

Nevertheless, prolonged prothrombin time (PT), INR, and activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) were observed; furthermore, fibrinogen levels were obviously decreased (Table 1). Liver failure findings were not observed, and the abdominal ultrasound was normal. As the patient's clinical signs of infection recovery, peripheral smear or other laboratory tests did not support disseminated intravascular coagulation, at that point we did not consider low fibrinogen, aPTT and PT elongation associated with disseminated intravascular coagulation. On that day tigecycline treatment was discontinued, meropenem was continued. After cessation of tigecycline, on the fifth day fibrinogen level became within the normal ranges and other

	Fibrinog en (g/L)	aPTT (s)	PT (s)	INR	AST (U/L)	ALT (U/L)	Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	CRP (g/L)
ICU admission	8.7	32.6	16.7	1.4	184	143	2.2	0.155
Tigecycline started	4.16	23.3	14.6	1.2	55	9	1.8	0.0564
5th day of tigecycline	2.04	30.7	16.3	1.4	19	7	1.9	0.0815
14th day of tigecycline	0.96	38.9	18.5	1.6	28	16	1.9	0.0259
5th day after tigecycline cessation	2.91	24.2	14.7	1.2	37	28	1.7	0.0731
10th day after tigecycline cessation	3.18	24.6	12.9	1.1	52	79	0.9	0.060

Table1. Laboratory parameters of patient according to time course of antimicrobial therapy

aPTT = activated partial thromboplastin time, PT = prothrombin time, INR = international normalized ratio, AST = aspartate aminotransferase, ALT = alanin aminotransferase, CRP = C-reactive protein, ICU = intensive care unit



Fig. 1. Fibrinogen levels of patient according to time course of antimicrobial therapy

coagulation parameters became normal (Fig. 1). On the 67th day of ICU admission, patient was transferred to ward and after than discharged from ward.

DISCUSSION

Tigecycline is a broad spectrum antibiotic, which is generally used for infections due to multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacteria [2]. It requires intravenous administration with a loading dose of 100 mg followed by a maintenance dose 50 mg every 12 hours. No dose adjustment is needed in patients with renal impairment, but only in patients with severe hepatic disfunction (Child-Pugh class C), the dosage should be reduced to 25 mg every 12 hours [1, 3]. Adverse reactions, in terms of haematologic and lymphatic system, as increased partial tromboplastin time, increased PT, increased INR, eosinophilia, and trombocytopenia, might be observed during usage was stated in the instructions of tigecycline [4]. But hypofibrinogenemia was not referred and a new adverse reaction. Life threatening coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia cases, induced by tigecycline use, were reported in the literature, by Wu and Wu [1], Wu et al. [3], Routsi et al. [6], Sabanis et al. [7], Pieringer et al. [8], Rossito et al. [9], and Yılmaz Duran et al. [10] (Table 2).

A few clinical studies reported hypofibrinogenemia and other coagulation abnormalities caused by tigecycline use [5, 6]. Our patient received routine dose, but in the literature some cases, which developed hypofibrinogenemia had received off-label higher doses of tigecycline [3, 6]. The mechanism in which tigecycline induced coagulopathy and caused hypofibrinogenemia, is unknown. Fibrinogen is produced by hepatocytes. It could be converted to insoluble fibrin to form blood clots, when trauma or sepsis occurs [1]. Effects of vitamin K deficiency on gut flora and inflammation due to serious infections are also commonly cited mechanisms resulting in coagulopathy. However, vitamin K replacement is reported not to improve coagulopathy, which is caused by tigecycline use [2]. In our case, serious infection might be thought to cause hypofibrinogenemia, but patient's infection parameters improved when fibrinogen level started to decrease. Furthermore, effect of tigecycline on liver functions could implicate decreased levels of fibrinogen [7]. Therefore, the underlying mechanisms of coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia and risk factors for these adverse effects should be elucidated. Also we suggest, regular monitoring of coagulation parameters, including fibrinogen level in patients receiving tigecycline. If patients develop hypofibrinogenemia, discontinuation of drug should be considered.

CONCLUSION

We presented a patient who developed hypofibrinogenemia because of tigecycline use. The underlying mechanisms of coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia and risk factors for these adverse

Table 2. Previous	case reports	and clinical stu	udies ab	out hypofibr	inogenemia becau	se of tigecycline	e use		
References	Country	Study Type	Sex	Age	Admission Diagnosis	Renal/Liver Disease	TGC dose	Time of hypofibrinogenemia	Prognosis (days after TGC cessation)
Pieringer et al. [8]	Austria	Case report	Ц	54	Peritonitis	CRD	NM	Day 5	Within 6 days
Rossito et al.[9]	Italy	Case report	ц	43	Acute kidney injury	CRD+ Liver cirrhosis	100mg loading dose 25 mg twice daily	Day 5	Within 1 day
Sabanis et al.[7]	Greece	Case report	ц	74	Prosthetic joint infection	CRD	100 mg loading dose, 50 mg twice daily	Day 5	Within 4 days
Routsi et al.[6]	Greece	Retrospective study	31 M 14 F	48 ± 20	20 severe sepsis 25 septic shock	MN	100mg loading dose6 patients 75mg teiceDaily39 patients 100mg twice daily	Day 1	Within 10 days
Yılmaz Duran et al.[10]	Turkey	Case report	ц	06	Pneumonia	CRD	NM	Day 10	Within 8 days
Wu X et al. [3]	China	Case report	Μ	47	Acute cholangitis	No	100mg loading dose, 100mg twice daily	Day 2	Within 5 days
Wu and Wu ^[1]	China	Case report	Μ	87	Pneumonia	CRD	100mg loading dose 50 mg twice daily	Day 7	Within 5 days
Zhang et al.[4]	China	Retrospective control	16 M 4 F	62.5 ± 22.1	4 intraabdominal1 skin and soft tissue4 bacteremia11 pneumoniae	4 patients CRD 4 patients CHD		WN	MM
F = female, M = male,	CRD = chronic	c renal disease, CH	D = chron	ic hepatic disea	se, NM =not mentioned	l, TGC = Tigecycli	ne		

10

effects should be elucidated. We suggest, regular monitoring of coagulation parameters including fibrinogen level in patients receiving tigecycline. If patients develop hypofibrinogenemia, discontinuation of drug should be considered.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HRG, MA, SK, FC; Study Design: RG, MA, SK, FC; Supervision: RG, MA, SK, FC; Fundings: MA; Materials: MA, SK, FC; Data Collection and/or Processing: MA; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MA, RG; Literature Review: MA; Manuscript Preparation: MA and Critical Review: MA, RG.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this case and any accompanying images.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Wu PC, Wu CC. Tigecycline-associated hypofibrinogenemia: a case report and review of the literature. IDCases 2018;11:56-7.

2. Cui N, Cai H, Li Z, Lu Y, Wang G, Lu A. Tigecycline-induced coagulopathy: a literature review. Int J Clin Pharm 2019;41:1408-13. 3. Wu X, Zhao P, Dong L, Zhang X. A case report of patient with severe acute cholangitis with tigecycline treatment causing coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenemia. Med (United States) 2017;96:2016-8.

4. Zhang Q, Zhou S, Zhou J. Tigecycline treatment causes a decrease in fibrinogen levels. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015;59:1650-5.

5. Zhang J, Yu L, Fu Y, Zhao Y, Wang Y, Zhao J, et al. Tigecycline in combination with other antibiotics against clinical isolates of carbapenem-resistant klebsiella pneumoniae in vitro. Ann Palliat Med 2019;8:522-631.

6. Routsi C, Kokkoris S, Douka E, Ekonomidou F, Karaiskos I, Giamarellou H. High-dose tigecyclineassociated alterations in coagulation parameters in critically ill patients with severe infections. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2015;45:90-3.

7. Sabanis N, Paschou E, Gavriilaki E, Kalaitzoglou A, Vasileiou S. Hypofibrinogenemia induced by tigecycline: a potentially life-threatening coagulation disorder. Infect Dis (Lond) 2015;47:743-6.

8. Pieringer H, Schmekal B, Biesenbach G, Pohanka E. Severe coagulation disorder with hypofibrinogenemia associated with the use of tigecycline. Ann Hematol 2010;89:1063-4.

9. Rossitto G, Piano S, Rosi S, Simioni P, Angeli P. Life-threatening coagulopathy and hypofibrinogenaemia induced by tigecycline in a patient with advanced liver cirrhosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014;26:681-4.

10. Yılmaz Duran F, Yıldırım H, Şen EM. A lesser known side effect of tigecycline: hypofibrinogenemia. Turkish J Hematol 2018;35:83-4.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.